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1. INTRODUCTION

1. The Trial Chamber of the Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia
(“Chamber” and “ECCC”, respectively), seised of Case File 002/19-09-
2007/ECCC/TC (“Case 0027), renders its Judgement against NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan in Case 002/01.

1.1. Brief Procedural Overview of the Case

2. On 18 July 2007, the Co-Prosecutors filed an Introductory Submission
pursuant to Internal Rule 53 alleging that NUON Chea, IENG Sary, KHIEU
Samphan, IENG Thirith and KAING Guek Eav alias Duch committed various crimes
within the jurisdiction of the ECCC.! On 19 September 2007, the Co-Investigating
Judges ordered the severance of the charges under investigation into two case files:
Case 001, the scope of which was limited to the allegations against KAING Guek Eav
concerning S-21, and Case 002 which incorporates all remaining charges.2 On 26 July
2010, KAING Guek Eav was convicted of crimes against humanity and grave
breaches of the Geneva Conventions.’ The Co-Investigating Judges dismissed the

charges against KAING Guek Eav in Case 002 on 14 September 2010.*

3. Between 19 September and 19 November 2007, NUON Chea, IENG Sary,
KHIEU Samphan and IENG Thirith were arrested by order of the Co-Investigating
Judges, transferred to the ECCC detention facility and notified of the charges against
them.” On 15 September 2010, following a three-year judicial investigation during

! Introductory Submission, D3, 18 July 2007. The Co-Prosecutors have sole jurisdiction to initiate

prosecution of crimes under ECCC jurisdiction by issuing an Introductory Submission (Internal Rules
49(1) and 53). This initiates a judicial investigation conducted by the Co-Investigating Judges (Internal
Rule 53(1)). Once this judicial process has started, a judicial investigation is compulsory for crimes
within the jurisdiction of the ECCC (Internal Rule 55(1)). The Co-Prosecutors cannot reduce or
withdraw all or part of the charges which must be determined by judicial decision.
2 Separation Order (OCIJ), D18, 19 September 2007.
*  Case 001, Judgement, 26 July 2010 (“KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement”); See also, Case 001,
Appeal Judgement (SCC), 3 February 2012 (“KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement”).

Dismissal Order (OCIJ), D420, 14 September 2010.
5 Written Record of Arrest of NUON Chea (OCIJ)), C7, 19 September 2007; Provisional Detention
Order of NUON Chea (OCIJ), C9, 19 September 2007; Detention Order of IENG Sary (OCLJ)), C23, 14
November 2007; Police Custody Decision (OCIJ), C14, 12 November 2007; Written Record of Arrest
of KHIEU Samphan (OCHJ), C24/1, 19 November 2007; Provisional Detention Order (OCIJ), C26, 19
November 2007; Police Custody Decision (OCI), C15, 12 November 2007; Written Record of Arrest
(OCI)), C13/1, 12 November 2007; Arrest Warrant (OC1J), C13, 8 November 2007.
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which 3,866 persons were admitted as Civil Parties, the Co-Investigating Judges
charged the Accused for crimes against humanity, genocide, grave breaches of the
Geneva Conventions and violations of the 1956 Penal Code.® On appeal, the Pre-Trial
Chamber confirmed the extensive Closing Order, with some amendments, formally

remitting the four Accused to trial on 13 January 201 1.7

4. Following resolution of applications for release on bail and having received
requests by the parties to hear a cumulative total of 1,054 witnesses and to tender
approximately 7,600 documents, the Trial Chamber held a Trial Management Meeting
on 5 April 2011 with a view to expeditiously commencing trial proceedings. An initial
hearing took place between 27 and 30 June 2011 in order to provide early indications
to the parties of priority witnesses, experts and Civil Parties for the earliest phases of
Case 002.% The Chamber also heard submissions on numerous preliminary objections
to jurisdiction. Those considered as constituting a barrier to the commencement of
trial were decided over the months that followed.” In particular, having decided that it
was not validly seised with the offences in the 1956 Penal Code in the dispositive part
of the Closing Order in Case 002, and that trial in relation to these domestic crimes

cannot proceed, the Trial Chamber granted IENG Sary’s motion to strike out that part

®  Closing Order (OCIJ), D427, 15 September 2010 (“Closing Order”), para. 1613.

Decision on IENG Thirith and NUON Chea’s Appeal against the Closing Order (PTC),
D427/2/12, 13 January 2011, p. 6; Decision on KHIEU Samphan’s Appeal against the Closing Order
(PTC), D427/4/14, 13 January 2011, p. 4; Decision on IENG Sary’s Appeal against the Closing Order
(PTC), D427/1/26, 13 January 2011, pp. 4-5. The Pre-Trial Chamber amended the Closing Order to
require a nexus between crimes against humanity and an armed conflict and affirmed that rape may be
categorised as another inhumane act. The Trial Chamber later rejected the nexus requirement (Decision
on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Exclude Armed Conflict Nexus Requirement from the Definition of
Crimes against Humanity, E95/8, 26 October 2011, para. 33).
®  Direction to the Parties (In Advance of Discussion at Initial Hearing of Provisional List of
Witnesses, Experts and Civil Parties) (TC), E108, 29 June 2011.
®  Decision on NUON Chea’s Preliminary Objection alleging the Unconstitutional Character of the
ECCC Internal Rules, E51/14, 8 August 2011; Decision on NUON Chea motions regarding faimness of
judicial investigations (ES51/3, E82, E88 and E92), E116, 9 September 2011; Decision on the
Applicability of Joint Criminal Enterprise, E100/6, 12 September 2011; Decision on IENG Sary’s Rule
89 Preliminary Objection (ne bis in idem and Amnesty and Pardon), E51/15, 3 November 2011. Other
submissions, while described as preliminary objections by the parties, were instead considered by the
Chamber as more appropriate for resolution in the judgement or deferred to future trials in Case 002
insofar as they concerned matters beyond the scope of Case 002/01 (Response to Issues Raised by
Parties in Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting with Senior Legal Officer on 18
November 2011 (TC), E141, 17 November 2011).
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of the Closing Order insofar as it pertains to the trial of domestic crimes before the
ECCC.!®

5. On 22 September 2011, in order to safeguard its ability to reach a timely
judgement in Case 002 given the length and complexity of the Closing Order as well
as the physical frailty and advanced age of all Accused, the Chamber issued a
severance order pursuant to Internal Rule 89fer. This severance order limited the
scope of the first trial in Case 002 to factual allegations described in the Closing
Order as movement of population (phases one and two) and crimes against humanity
committed in their course."’ The Chamber subsequently expanded the scope of Case
002/01 to include the executions of former Khmer Republic officials at Tuol Po
Chrey.12

6. In February 2011, NUON Chea and IENG Thirith requested that experts be

appointed to assess their fitness to stand trial."?

The Chamber appointed medical
experts for this purpose in April 2011." On 17 November 2011, the Chamber found
IENG Thirith unfit to stand trial due to the impact of a progressive, dementing illness
(most likely Alzheimer’s disease) and ordered the severance of the charges against her

from Case 002, a stay of the proceedings against her and her release.!* The Chamber

19 Decision on Defence Preliminary Objections (Statute of Limitations on Domestic Crimes), E122,

22 September 2011.

' Qeverance Order.Pursuant to Internal Rule 89zer, E124, 22 September 2011; Annex: List of
Paragraphs and Portions of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, Amended further to the Trial
Chamber’s Decision on IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial Chamber’s Decision
on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case 002/01
(E163), E124/7.3.

Notification of Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the
Scope of the Trial in Case 002/01 (E163) and Deadline for Submission of Applicable Law Portion of
Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5, 8 October 2012.

3 Urgent Application for Appointment of Fitness Expert, E30, 2 February 2011; Defence Request
for Appointment of a Neuropsychiatrist to Assess Madame IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial, E52,
21 February 2011; See also, IENG Sary’s Motion to Conduct the Trial through Half-Day Sessions,
E20, 19 January 2011.

4 Order Assigning Expert, E62/3, 4 April 2011.

5 Decision on IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial, E138, 17 November 2011.Following an appeal
by the Co-Prosecutors, the Supreme Court Chamber ordered further medical treatment of (Decision on
Immediate Appeal against Trial Chamber’s Order to Release IENG Thirith (SCC), E138/1/7, 13
December 2011). The Trial Chamber, following consultation with medical experts, oversaw further
medical treatment of during the first half of 2012 and re-called the Court-appointed experts to assess
the Accused’s fitness to stand trial in August 2012. On the basis of the experts’ conclusions, the Trial
Chamber on 13 September 2012 affirmed its finding that IENG Thirith was unfit to stand trial, again
ordering her release (Decision on Reassessment of Accused IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial
following Supreme Court Chamber Decision of 13 December 2011, E138/1/10, 13 September 2012).
Following a further appeal by the Co-Prosecutors, the Supreme Court Chamber ordered the Trial
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found NUON Chea fit to stand trial on 15 November 2011'° and reaffirmed his fitness
on 29 March 2013.!” IENG Sary and KHIEU Samphan did not contest initial expert
reports concluding that they were fit to stand trial.'"® Following periods of
hospitalisation and remote participation, however, the Chamber again appointed
experts to evaluate IENG Sary’s fitness in August and November 2012."° Based on
the resulting expert reports, the Chamber found IENG Sary fit to stand trial on
26 November 2012.%° IENG Sary’s death on 14 March 2013 extinguished all criminal

and civil actions against him.?!

7. Opening statements in Case 002/01 commenced on 21 November 2011. On 8
February 2013, following the Co-Prosecutors’ appeal against the Trial Chamber’s
refusal to expand the scope of the trial to include S-21 and District 12, the Supreme
Court Chamber annulled the Trial Chamber’s severance order and all related
decisions.”? Accordingly, the Trial Chamber invited further submissions from the
parties on the envisaged scope of trial in Case 002/01. On 29 March 2013, the
Chamber again severed the proceedings in Case 002, limiting the scope of Case

002/01 to crimes against humanity committed during the course of movement of

Chamber to implement a series of post-release conditions on IENG Thirith (Decision on Immediate
Appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Order to Unconditionally Release IENG Thirith (SCC),
E138/1/10/1/5/7, 14 December 2012). Following clarification from the Supreme Court Chamber
concerning these conditions, the Trial Chamber implemented them on 27 June 2013 (IENG Thirith
Defence Request for Clarification of the Execution of the Supreme Court Chamber’s Decision on
Immediate Appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Order to Unconditionally Release the Accused IENG
Thirith (E138/1/10/1/5/8), E138/1/10/1/5/8/3 (TC), 27 June 2013; Order on Measures to be Imposed on
IENG Thirith, E138/1/10/1/5/8/4 (TC), 19 July 2013).
1 Decision on NUON Chea’s Fitness to Stand Trial and Defence Motion for Additional Medical
Expertise, E115/3, 15 November 2011.
7 T. 29 March 2013, p. 2; Second Decision on Accused NUON Chea’s Fitness to Stand Trial,
E256/5, 2 April 2013.
18 Scheduling Order for Preliminary Hearing to Stand Trial (TC), E110, 11 August 2011.
' Medical Examination of Accused IENG Sary, E222, 24 August 2012; Medical Report on Mr.
IENG Sary, E222/1, 10 September 2012; Re-appointment of Professor A. John CAMPBELL (IENG
Sary) (TC), E238, 8 October 2012.

Decision on Accused IENG Sary’s Fitness to Stand Trial, E238/9, 26 November 2012.
2l Termination of the Proceedings against the Accused IENG Sary, E270/1, 14 March 2013. In the
interests of justice, the Chamber still took into account relevant submissions made by the IENG Sary
Defence prior to his death that remained pertinent to issues in Case 002/01 (see e.g. Decision on
Severance of Case 002 following Supreme Court Chamber Decision of 8 February 2013, E284, 26
April 2013, para. 53; Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed for Admission Before the
Trial Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013, fn. 2).
2 Decision on the Co-Prosecutors’ Immediate Appeal of the Trial Chamber’s Decision concerning
the Scope of Case 002/01 (SCC), E163/5/1/13, 8 February 2013.
2 Memorandum on Directions to the parties in consequences of the Supreme Court Chamber’s
Decision on Co-Prosecutor’s Immediate Appeal of the Trial Chamber’s Decision concerning the Scope
of Case 002/01 (TC), E163/5/1/13/1, 12 February 2013.
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population (phases one and two), and the executions of Khmer Republic officials at
Tuol Po Chrey.?* The Trial Chamber again identified the specific paragraphs of the
Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01.2 Trial proceedings in Case 002/01 resumed
on 8 April 2013.

8. The hearing of evidence in Case 002/01 concluded on 23 July 2013 after 214
hearing days. The parties submitted Closing Briefs on 26 and 27 September 2013.
They made Closing Statements between 16 and 31 October 2013.

1.2. Summary of the Charges against the Accused

9. The Closing Order alleges that, between 17 April 1975 and 6 January 1979,
NUON Chea, alias “Brother Number Two”, served as Deputy Secretary of the
Communist Party of Kampuchea (“CPK”) Central and Standing Committees and at
times also filled various other roles within the government of Democratic
Kampuchea, including Minister of Propaganda and Information, Acting Prime
Minister, Chairman of the People’s Representative Assembly (“PRA”) and Chairman
of the Standing Committee of the PRA %

10. The Closing Order alleges that, between 17 April 1975 and 6 January 1979,
KHIEU Samphan, alias “Haem”, “Hem”, “Khang” and “Nan”, had various positions
and roles in the CPK and Democratic Kampuchea including President of the State
Presidium, Chairman of Political Office 870 and member of the CPK Central

Committee.”’

11. The Closing Order alleges that, while serving in these various capacities, the

Accused committed (via a joint criminal enterprise) the crimes against humanity of

2% T, 29 March 2013, pp. 2-4; See also, Decision on Severance of Case 002 following Supreme Court

Chamber Decision of 8 February 2013, E284, 26 April 2013. On 23 July 2013, the Supreme Court
Chamber dismissed appeals by the Co-Prosecutors and NUON Chea against the Trial Chamber’s
decision to again sever the proceedings and limit the scope of Case 002/01 (Decision on Immediate
Appeals against Trial Chamber’s Second Decision on Severance of Case 002, Summary of Reasons,
E284/4/7, 23 July 2013; See also, Decision on Immediate Appeals against Trial Chamber’s Second
Decision on Severance of Case 002, E284/4/8, 25 November 2013).

#  Annex: List of Paragraphs and Portions of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, Amended
further to the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial
Chamber’s Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of
Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3.

% Closing Order, paras 869-894.

2T Closing Order, paras 1131-1150.
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murder, political persecution and other inhumane acts comprising forced transfer and
attacks against human dignity during movement of population (phase one); political
persecution and other inhumane acts comprising forced transfer and attacks against
human dignity during movement of population (phase two); and murder and
extermination of Khmer Republic Officials at Tuol Po Chrey.”® The Closing Order
further alleges that the Accused planned, instigated, ordered, aided, abetted and/or
were responsible as superiors for the following crimes against humanity falling within
the scope of Case 002/01: murder; extermination; persecution on political grounds;
and other inhumane acts comprising attacks against human dignity, forced transfer

and enforced disappearances.”

28 Closing Order, para. 1525(i), 1525(iv); Annex: List of Paragraphs and Portions of the Closing

Order relevant to Case 002/01, Amended further to the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG Thirith’s
Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial Chamber’s Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include
Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3; See also,Section 14:
Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 780-781, 812-813; In this judgement, the Chamber refers to both
“Khmer Republic Soldiers and Officials” and at other times to “Khmer Republic Officials.” The latter
term is inclusive of Khmer Republic Soldiers.

Annex: List of Paragraphs and Portions of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, Amended
further to the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial
Chamber’s Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of
Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3.
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2. PRELIMINARY ISSUES

2.1. Jurisdiction

12.  Following the signing of the Agreement between the United Nations and the
Royal Government of Cambodia on 6 June 2003, the Cambodian parliament adopted
the “Law on the Establishment of Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia
for the Prosecution of Crimes Committed during the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea” which was promulgated in its final version on 22 October 2004.%°
According to Article 2(1) of the Agreement and Articles 1 and 2 (new) of the ECCC
Law, the ECCC has personal jurisdiction over “senior leaders” of Democratic
Kampuchea and those who were “most responsible” for the crimes and serious
violations of Cambodian penal law, international humanitarian law and international
conventions recognised by Cambodia, committed between 17 April 1975 and 6
January 1979.%!

13. The Co-Investigating Judges ruled that they had personal jurisdiction over
NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan, finding that they were senior leaders of
Democratic Kampuchea and/or those most responsible for crimes committed between
17 April 1975 and 6 January 1979.** These findings were not challenged before the
Pre-Trial Chamber.

14. KHIEU Samphan nevertheless maintains that the ECCC has no personal
jurisdiction over him. He contends that during the Democratic Kampuchea regime he

was never a political decision maker, nor did he have effective or operational power

3 Agreement between the United Nations and the Royal Government of Cambodia concerning the

Prosecution under Cambodian Law Of Crimes Committed during the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, 6 June 2003 (“ECCC Agreement”), Articles 1, 2; Law on the Establishment of
Extraordinary Chambers in the Courts of Cambodia for the Prosecution of Crimes Committed during
the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, 10 August 2001 with inclusion of amendments as promulgated
on 27 October 2004 (NS/RKM/1004/006) (“ECCC Law™), Article 2.
31" The Supreme Court Chamber has held that the qualification of an Accused as a senior leader or a
person most responsible is primarily a matter of prosecutorial and investigative policy within the sole
discretion of the Co-Prosecutors and Co-Investigating Judges. As such, it is not justiciable before the
Trial Chamber unless an abuse of discretion is alleged. Whether or not an Accused is a Khmer Rouge
official, however, is a jurisdictional requirement justiciable before the Trial Chamber (KAING Guek
Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 79-80).

Closing Order, paras 1327-1328.
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even when he became nominal head of state as President of the State Presidium.>> The
power and control the Accused had as a member of the CPK Central Committee or as
head of state are matters of fact relevant to a determination of his criminal
responsibility and therefore cannot constitute a barrier to jurisdiction at the trial stage.
Additionally, according to the overwhelming weight of the evidence and by their own
admission, the Chamber finds that the Accused were Khmer Rouge officials between
1975 and 1979.> The Chamber therefore affirms that it has personal jurisdiction over
NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan.

15. The crimes against humanity with which the Accused are charged in Case
002/01, allegedly committed between 17 April 1975 and 6 January 1979, fall within
the subject-matter and temporal jurisdiction of the ECCC as defined in Articles 1 and
9 of the Agreement and Articles 1 and 5 of the ECCC Law.

2.2. The Principle of Legality

16.  Both the Cambodian and international principles of legality, connected with the
general principles of nulla poena sine lege (no penalty without law) and nullum
crimen sine lege (no crime without law), require that the law concerning crimes and
modes of criminal liability be clear, ascertainable and non-retrospective.*® Thus, in the
specific context of the ECCC, the principle of legality requires that the offences and
modes of responsibility charged must be recognised under Cambodian or international

law as it existed between 17 April 1975 and 6 January 1979, and sufficiently

3 Preliminary Objections Concerning Jurisdiction, E46, 14 February 2011, paras 11-15; See also,

Directions to Parties concerning Preliminary Objections and Related Issues (TC), E51/7, 5 April 2011,
p. 3 (considering that resolution of KHIEU Samphan’s objections concerning personal jurisdiction
entail a mixed assessment of law and fact, the Chamber deferred consideration of these submissions
until after the hearing of evidence).

3 See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, paras 347-348; Section 8: Roles and Functions —
Khieu Samphan, paras 408-409.

3 KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 91; Cambodian Criminal Code, Articles 1 (“The
criminal law defines the offenses, determines those who may be found guilty of committing them, sets
penalties, and determines how they shall be enforced”), 3 (“Conduct may give rise to criminal
conviction only if it constituted an offence at the time it occurred. A penalty may be imposed only if it
was legally applicable at the time the offence was committed”), 5 (“In criminal matters, the law shall
be strictly construed. A judge may neither expand its scope of application nor interpret it by analogy”),
8 (“The provisions of this Code may not have the effect of denying justice to the victims of serious
offences which, under special legislation, are characterised as violations of international humanitarian
law, international custom, or international conventions recognised by the Kingdom of Cambodia”).
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foreseeable and accessible to the Accused.®® This principle does not prohibit a
Chamber from interpreting and clarifying the law or from relying on those decisions
that do so in other cases, even where those cases post-date the period under review. It
does, however, prevent a Chamber “from creating new law or from interpreting

existing law beyond the reasonable limits of acceptable clarification.”’

17. KHIEU Samphan and NUON Chea submit that the ECCC does not have
jurisdiction to try international crimes because the ECCC is not an international
tribunal where international law is directly applicable and crimes against humanity
did not constitute criminal offences under national law at the time they were allegedly
committed. They also claim that, in any case, international customary law did not, at
the time of the offence, provide a detailed definition of the crimes and the applicable
punishment as required by the principle of legality.”® The Chamber finds no merit in

these submissions.

18.  As a matter of principle, an accused is not relieved of criminal responsibility
under international law merely because an international crime is not proscribed by
national law.*® Where national law does not provide the specific characteristics of an
international crime, a court may rely on international law without violating the
principle of legality.® It is clear that, in accordance with the Agreement, the
Cambodian lawmakers intended to grant the ECCC jurisdiction over crimes against

humanity as defined in international law and that such definition was considered

3% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 26-34; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 89-
97; Cambodian Criminal Code, Article 3.

3 KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 95 citing Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, paras 126-
127.
3% Consolidated Preliminary Objections, E51/3, 25 February 2011, paras 43-48, 53; Preliminary
Objections Concerning Jurisdiction, E46, 14 February 2011, paras 4-5, 19, 24; See also, Summary of
IENG Sary’s Rule 89 Preliminary Objections & Notice of Intent of Noncompliance with Future
Informal Memoranda Issued in Lieu of Reasoned Judicial Decisions subject to Appellate Review”,
E51/4, 25 February 2011, para. 24(e) referring tolENG Sary’s Appeal against the Closing Order,
DA427/1/6, 25 October 2010, paras 106, 108, 125.

% Nuremberg Principles, Principle II (“The fact that internal law does not impose a penalty for an act
which constitutes a crime under international law does not relieve the person who committed the act
from responsibility under international law”); Justice Judgement, p. 975 (“to apply the ex post facto
principle to judicial decisions of common international law would have been to strangle that law at
birth”).

# Kononov v. Latvia, ECtHR (Application No. 36376/04), Judgement, 17 May 2010, para. 208; See
also, KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, fn. 188.
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directly applicable before the Chamber.” The Constitutional Council has deemed the
ECCC Law to be valid, including its provisions granting the ECCC jurisdiction over

international law.*

19. The Chamber notes that Article 9 of the Agreement defines crimes against
humanity by reference to the Rome Statute, while Article 5 of the ECCC Law does
not make such reference in its definition of the crimes. The Supreme Court Chamber
has already ruled that the jurisdiction of the ECCC over crimes against humanity is
limited by the definition of the crimes as it stood under international law at the time of
the alleged criminal conduct.*® Therefore, neither Article 5 of the ECCC Law, nor
Article 9 of the Agreement, can be interpreted as a retroactive amendment to that
definition.** The Chamber therefore affirms that it has jurisdiction over those

international crimes identified in the ECCC Law which satisfy the principle of
legality.

20. Insofar as the Trial and Supreme Court Chambers did not previously evaluate
whether the crimes and modes of responsibility at issue in Case 002/01 were
recognised in domestic or international law by 1975, the Chamber does so in this
judgement.* The Chamber also considers whether the relevant crimes and modes of

responsibility were sufficiently foreseeable and accessible to the Accused.*®

“' When adopting the new Criminal Code, which incorporates definitions of genocide, crimes against

humanity and war crimes into national law, the Cambodian lawmakers further expressly stated in
Article 8 that the “provisions of this Code may not have the effect of denying justice to the victims of
serious offenses which, under special legislation, are characterised as violations of international
humanitarian law, international custom, or international conventions recognised by the Kingdom of
Cambodia”.

#  Constitutional Council Decision on EC Law, E9/7.2, Decision No. 040/002/2001, Case No.
038/001/2001, 12 February 2001, pp. 1-2 (original text in Khmer. Unofficial translation in English).
Similarly, the Pre-Trial Chamber held that the Royal Government of Cambodia included an exception
for international crimes in their formulation of the principle of legality in national law (Decision on
Appeals by NUON Chea and IENG Thirith Against the Closing Order, D427/3/15, 15 February 2011,
paras 96-97).

® KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 99-100.

*  KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 99-100.

4 See Section 9: Applicable Law: Crimes Against Humanity, paras 411, 415, 426, 435-436.

% See Section 13: Individual Criminal Responsibility, paras 689, 691, 697, 699, 701, 703, 714. The
Pre-Trial, Trial and Supreme Court Chambers, in determining whether a crime or mode of
responsibility was sufficiently foreseeable and accessible to , took into account whether a crime
constituted customary international law, whether a crime was codified in conventional law, the grave
nature of the crimes, a record of charges and convictions for the charged crimes at international
tribunals and other courts prosecuting international crimes, whether a crime was also criminalised in
domestic law and the position of the accused in the (Decision on IENG Sary’s Appeal Against the
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2.3. Evidentiary and Procedural Principles

2.3.1. Introduction

21.  The 2007 Cambodian Code of Criminal Procedure governs proceedings before
the ECCC. Guidance may also be drawn from international law in situations where
existing procedures do not deal with a particular matter, there is uncertainty regarding
their interpretation or application, or where they may be inconsistent with
international standards.*’ The Internal Rules consolidate the Cambodian procedures
applicable before the ECCC and adopt international procedure in order to ensure
justice, faimess and due process of law.”® Within this framework, the Chamber must
“ensure that trials are fair and expeditious [...] with full respect for the rights of the

accused and for the protection of victims and witnesses”.*

2.3.2. Burden and Standard of Proof

22.  The Accused are presumed innocent until proven guilty.® The Co-Prosecutors
bear the burden of proof>! In order to convict, the Chamber must be convinced of an
accused’s guilt “beyond reasonable doubt”.’* In order to resolve any discrepancy
between the different language versions of Internal Rule 87(1) that reflect the
common law “beyond reasonable doubt” standard and the civil law concept of “intime
conviction”, the Chamber has adopted a common approach that evaluates the
sufﬁciency of the evidence. Upon a reasoned assessment of the evidence, the

Chamber interprets any doubt as to guilt in the Accused’s favour.’ 3

Closing Order (PTC), D427/1/30, 11 April 2011, paras 253, 257, 263, 331-332, 355, 460; KAING Guek
Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 96, 160-162, 211-212, 280; KAING Guek Eav Judgement, paras 31-32).
47 ECCC Law, Articles 20 new, 23 new, 33 new; ECCC Agreement, Article 12(1); Internal Rule 2.

®  ECCC Agreement, Article 12(2); Internal Rules, Preamble; KAING Guek Eav Judgement, para. 35.
% ECCC Law, Article 33 new. An accused is guaranteed certain fundamental rights during the trial
phase of proceedings (see ECCC Agreement, Article 13(1) (referring to ICCPR, Articles 14 and 15);
ECCC Law, Articles 34 new, 35 new).

0 Internal Rule 21(1)(d).

' Internal Rule 87(1).

52" Internal Rule 87(1).

3 The English and Khmer versions of Internal Rule 87(1) provide a “beyond reasonable doubt”
standard, while “intime conviction” is provided in the French version (KAING Guek Eav Judgement,
para. 45).
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2.3.3. The Case File

23. The Trial Chamber was seised with the Case File following resolution of all
appeals against the Closing Order on 13 January 2011.>* Material on the Case File,
but not ultimately put before the Chamber pursuant to Internal Rule 87, is not relied
upon by the Chamber in considering the Accused’s guilt.> Once notified of the
charges, a Charged Person and after an indictment, an Accused, has on-going access
to the Case File throughout the proceedings.”® Thus NUON Chea has had access to
the Case File since 19 September 2007 and KHIEU Samphan since 19 November
2007.”

2.3.4. Admissibility of Evidence

2.3.4.1. Legal Framework

24.  Unless provided otherwise, all evidence is admissible’® and, subject to the
criteria set out in Internal Rules 87(3)-(4), the parties may propose the admission of
any evidence at any stage of the trial’® The Chamber has broad discretion in

determining the witnesses to be heard and the evidence to be admitted.®

25. All evidence must be summarised, read out or otherwise appropriately

identified.®! Prior to the commencement of the trial, the Chamber may order all

5% Order to File Material in Preparation for Trial (TC), E9, 17 January 2011, p.1; See also, Decision

on IENG Thirith and NUON Chea's Appeal against the Closing Order (PTC), D427/2/12, 13 January
2011, p. 6; Decision on KHIEU Samphan’s Appeal against the Closing Order (PTC), D427/4/14, 13
January 2011, p. 4; Decision on IENG Sary’s Appeal against the Closing Order (PTC), D427/1/26, 13
January 2011, pp. 4-5.
3 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 38.
% Internal Rules 9(5)~(6), 10(4), 55(6), 55(11), 86; See also, Decision on Defence Requests
Concerning Irregularities Alleged to Have Occurred during the Judicial Investigation (E221, E223,
E224, E224/2, E234, E234/2, E241 and E241/1), E251, 7 December 2012, para. 18.

Written Record of Initial Appearance of NUON Chea (OClJ), D20, 19 September 2007; Written
Record Initial Appearance of KHIEU Samphan (OCH), D42, 19 November 2007.
% Internal Rule 87(1).
% Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012, para.2l;
NUON Chea Defence Notice to the Trial Chamber Regarding Research at DC-Cam (E211) (TC),
E211/2, 13 August 2012, para. 4; Case 001, Decision on Parties Requests to Put Certain Materials
before the Chamber pursuant to Internal Rule 87(2), E176, 28 October 2009, para. 13.
8 Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012, para. 20;
Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements and
Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 18-20; Decision on Defence
Requests Concerning Irregularities Alleged to Have Occurred During the Judicial Investigation (E221,
E223, E224, E224/2, E234, E234/2, E241 and E241/1), E251, 7 December 2012, para. 25.
' Internal Rule 87(3).
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parties to file initial lists identifying, briefly describing and indicating the relevance of
all proposed evidence.5? All proposed evidence not available at the time the Chamber
1s seised with the case is considered “new” evidence subject to the requirements of
Internal Rule 87(4). Parties must demonstrate that new evidence was not available
prior to the opening of the trial and/or could not have been discovered earlier with the
exercise of reasonable diligence.”> Before placing new material on the Case File, the

Chamber must determine if it is conducive to ascertaining the truth.%*

26. The Chamber may reject any material that is irrelevant or repetitious,
impossible to obtain within a reasonable time, unsuitable to prove the facts it purports
to prove, not allowed under the law or intended to prolong proceedings.®’> Thus
evidence put before the Chamber must be prima facie relevant and reliable. The
parties must have the opportunity to subject evidence to adversarial debate and to
object to the admission of evidence, even if they do not avail themselves of this

opportunity.*®

2.3.4.2. Sources of Evidence Put Before the Chamber

2.3.42.1.  Evidence of the Accused

27. Following opening statements, the substantive hearing commenced with
statements by and questioning of the Accused in the order named in the Closing
Order.”’ Pursuant to Internal Rules 21(1)(d) and 90(1), the President informed each
Accused, prior to his opening statement, of his fundamental right to remain silent.%® In

addition to those statements foreseen in the Internal Rules, when the Accused were

2 Internal Rules 80(1)-(3).

8 Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012, paras 17,
23, 28, 38.

% Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012, para. 27, fn.
38. This standard is based on that applied at the investigation phase for investigative acts which result
in the placement of material on the case file (Internal Rule 55(5)).

% Internal Rules 87(3).

%  See e.g. Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements
and Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013, paras 40-43.

57 Trial Chamber Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Requests concerning Testimony of the Accused
(E101 and E101/1) (TC), E101/5, 27 October 2011, p. 1; Response to Issues Raised by Parties in
Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting with Senior Legal Officer on 18 November 2011
(TC), E141, 17 November 2011, p. 3.

8 T. 5 December 2011, pp. 39-40 (NUON Chea); T. 13 December 2011, pp. 58-59 (IENG Sary); T.
13 December 2011, p. 66 (KHIEU Samphan).The Accused were exempt from taking an oath (Internal
Rule 90).
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willing to respond, the Chamber put all questions it considered pertinent, whether or
not they would tend to prove or disprove the guilt of the Accused. The parties were
also provided an opportunity for questioning the Accused.” The Accuseds’

statements constitute evidence before the Chamber.

28. KHIEU Samphan made an opening statement and gave evidence on
13 December 2011 and 12 January 2012, but thereafter declined to answer questions,
indicating that he first wanted to hear the evidence against him.”! In May 2013,
KHIEU Samphan responded to questions posed by some Civil Parties.”” On 9 July
2013, KHIEU Samphan again invoked his right to remain silent.”” On 31 October
2013, KHIEU Samphan made a final statement.”_

29. Between December 2011 and April 2012, NUON Chea made various
statements and responded to questions from the Chamber and parties.”” On 18 April
2012, NUON Chea invoked his right to remain silent.”® NUON Chea made additional
statements and responded to questioning on various occasions between June 2012 and
July 2013.” NUON Chea again invoked his right to remain silent on 17 July 2013.78
NUON Chea made a final statement on 31 October 2013.”

¢ Internal Rule 90(1); Trial Chamber Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Requests concerning Testimony

of the Accused (E101 and E101/1) (TC), E101/5, 27 October 2011, p. 1; Response to Issues Raised by
Parties in Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting with Senior Legal Officer on 18
November 2011 (TC), E141, 17 November 2011, p. 3.
7 T.18 April 2012, p. 40; See also, Internal Rule 87(5).
" T. 13 December 2011, pp. 62-96; T. 12 January 2012, pp. 51-83; See also, T. 16 January 2012, pp.
77-79.
2 T, 29 May 2013, pp. 18-24, 28, 54-55, 85-88; T. 30 May 2013, pp. 16-18, 80-83; T. 4 June 2013,
pp- 24-25, 68-70, 109-110.

T. 9 July 2013, pp. 41-43.
7 T.31 October 2013, pp. 68-73.
 T. 5 December 2011; T. 6 December 2011, pp. 4-31; T. 13 December 2011, pp. 2-55; T. 14
December 2011, pp. 2-55; T. 15 December 2011, pp. 29-102; T. 10 January 2012, pp. 10-72; T. 11
January 2012, pp. 9-53; T. 12 January 2012, pp. 8-51; T. 30 January 2012, pp. 1-31; T. 31 January
2012, pp. 1-55; T. 8 February 2012, pp. 8-53; T. 9 February 2012, pp. 39-50; T. 16 February 2012, pp.
4-10; T. 20 March 2012, pp. 52-53; T. 19 March 2012, p. 23; T. 18 April 2012, pp. 3-4.
" T.18 April 2012, pp. 4-7.
7 T. 20 June 2012, pp. 71-73; T. 10 October 2012, pp. 6-7; T. 6 June 2013, pp. 37-41; T. 9 July
2013, pp. 16-27; T. 29 May 2013, pp. 26-27, 28, 55-56; T. 30 May 2013, pp. 18-20, 83-85; T. 4 June
2013, p. 26, 70-71.
& T.17 July 2013, pp. 16-17.
™ T.31 October 2013, pp. 1-34.
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23.42.2.  Evidence of Civil Parties, Witnesses and Experts

30. By virtue of their special status, Civil Parties were not required to take an
oath.*® Witnesses were informed of their right not to self-incriminate and, upon
request, were assisted by counsel.’! Expert opinion was also heard by the Chamber on

specific technical issues, to assist it in understanding evidence presented during trial. ¥

31. The Chamber admitted written witness, expert and Civil Party statements and
transcripts from prior proceedings in conjunction with or in place of oral evidence.
Prior statements of witnesses, experts and Civil Parties heard at trial were admitted
before the Chamber.*® Beginning in June 2012, in the interests of expeditiousness, the
President began asking witnesses and Civil Parties appearing in court to affirm the
accuracy of their prior statements made to the Office of the Co-Investigating Judges,
and as reflected in the written records of interview. Upon affirmation, while noting
that the parties have the right to test a witness’s credibility on areas within or beyond
his prior statements, the Chamber invited the parties to ask further questions only
where there was a need for clarification relevant to matters that are insufficiently
covered by these statements or not dealt with during questioning before the Co-

Investigating Judges.®*

Absent the opportunity for examination, the Chamber
excluded statements going to proof of the acts and conduct of the Accused as alleged
in the Closing Order. Exceptionally, the Chamber admitted statements going to proof
of the Accused’s acts and conduct as charged where the witness was deceased,
thereby preventing the opportunity for confrontation. For example, TCW-699 died

before the close of the hearing, preventing the Chamber from hearing him. Instead,

% Internal Rule 23(4); KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 52; T. 5 April 2011, p. 100; Trial
Chamber Response to Motions E67, E57, E56, ES8, E23, E59, E20, E33, E71 and E73 following Trial
Management Meeting of 5 April 2011 (TC), E74, 8 April 2011, p. 1.

8 All witnesses, however, testified under oath unless exempt by virtue of their age or special
relationship with an Accused or Civil Party.

82 Internal Rules 31, 80bis(2).

8 Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements
and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 2, 26.

8 Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements
and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, para. 31; Notice to the Parties
Regarding Revised Modalities of Questioning and Response to Co-Prosecutor’s Request for
Clarification Regarding Use of Documents during Witness Testimony (E201) (TC), E201/2, 12 June
2012, para. 1; Scheduling of Trial Management Meeting to enable planning of the remaining trial
phases in Case 002/01 and implementation of further measures designed to promote trial efficiency
(TC), E218, 3 August 2012, para. 7 (in the interests of accessibility, the Chamber occasionally
summarised these statements in court).
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the Chamber admitted his prior statement, noting that it would not base any

conviction decisively thereupon and thereby safeguarding the rights of the Accused.¥

32.  Over the course of Case 002/01, 92 individuals appeared before the Chamber
concerning the substantive matters at issue including 58 witnesses (of whom, five
were character witnesses called on behalf of KHIEU Samphan), three experts and 31
Civil Parties. Five appeared by video-link.*® The Chamber admitted 1,124 written
statements and transcripts of witnesses and Civil Parties who did not appear before

the Chamber in place of oral testimony.*’

23.423. Documentary Evidence

33.  Following the opportunity for public, adversarial debate, the Chamber admitted
5,824 pieces of documentary evidence, including contemporaneous and analytical
documents, audio and video recordings and the written evidence of witnesses, experts

and Civil Parties.®®

8 Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements

and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 21-22, 32-33; Decision on
Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and Case 001
Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013,
paras 29-30.

% LONG Norin, Denise AFFONCO, Sydney SCHANBERG, Phillipe JULLIAN-GAUFRES and
CHAU Sockon. Internal Rule 26(1) permits testimony by real-time audio or video link where it is not
“seriously prejudicial to, or inconsistent with, defence rights”.

Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and

Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013.
8 Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to be Put Before the Chamber in the Co-
Prosecutors’ Annexes A1-A5 and to Documents Cited in Paragraphs of the Closing Order Relevant to
the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9 April 2012; Decision on Objections Proposed to
be Put before the Chamber in Co-Prosecutors’ Annexes A6-A11l and by the Other Parties, E185/1, 3
December 2012; Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed for Admission Before the Trial
Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013; Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim
and Civil Party Statements and Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party
Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013. In addition to that evidence admitted in these written
decisions, parties were also permitted to tender evidence through an individual appearing live (Notice
to the Parties Regarding Revised Modalities of Questioning and Response to Co-Prosecutor’s Request
for Clarification Regarding Use of Documents during Witness Testimony (E201) (TC), E201/2, 13
June 2012, para. 2).
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2.3.5. Final Assessment of the Evidence

2.3.5.1. Probative Value

34. The Chamber bases its findings on evidence put before it and subjected to
adversarial debate.®’ In conjunction with final submissions, the Chamber considers
objections to the probative value of evidence made at trial, particularly those that went
beyond the prima facie relevance and reliability of proposed evidence.”® Various
factors are relevant to the probative value of evidence including the criteria set out in
Internal Rule 87(3),°! the circumstances surrounding the creation or recording of
evidence, whether the original or a copy was admitted, legibility, discrepancies with
other versions, deficiencies credibly alleged, whether the parties had the opportunity
to challenge the evidence and other indicia of reliability including chain of custody
and provenance.‘”2 The Chamber also considers the identification, examination, bias,

source and motive — or lack thereof — of the authors and sources of the evidence.”

% Internal Rule 87(2). The Chamber notes that the English version of this rule requires that evidence

be “subjected to examination” while the French version requires that it be “débattues
contradictoirement’.

% Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to be Put Before the Chamber in the Co-
Prosecutors’ Annexes A1-A5 and to Documents Cited in Paragraphs of the Closing Order Relevant to
the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9 April 2012, paras 21, 30; Decision on Objections
Proposed to be Put before the Chamber in Co-Prosecutors’ Annexes A6-All and by the Other Parties,
E185/1, 3 December 2012, paras 13, 19; Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed for
Admission before the Trial Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013, paras 20, 24, 26; Decision on
Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and Case 001
Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013,

aras 21, 23, 26, 30, 32.

' The Chamber takes into account whether evidence is irrelevant or repetitious, impossible to obtain
within a reasonable time, unsuitable to prove the facts it purports to prove, not allowed under the law or
intended to prolong proceedings (Internal Rule 87(3)).

2 See e.g. Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to be Put Before the Chamber in the Co-
Prosecutors’ Annexes A1-A5 and to Documents Cited in Paragraphs of the Closing Order Relevant to
the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9 April 2012, paras 30, 34 and fn. 49; Decision on
Defence Requests Concerning Irregularities Alleged to Have Occurred During the Judicial
Investigation (E221, E223, E224, E224/2, E234, E234/2, E241 and E241/1), E251, 7 December 2012,
paras 26, 28, 36; Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of
Witness Statements and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 17,
25-29.

»  Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements
and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, para.24; Decision on
Assignment of Experts, E215, 5 July 2012, para. 15; Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to
be Put Before the Chamber in the Co-Prosecutors’ Annexes Al-A5 and to Documents Cited in
Paragraphs of the Closing Order Relevant to the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9
April 2012, para. 14. .
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Absent the opportunity to examine the source or author of evidence, less weight may

be assigned to that evidence.”

35. In order to convict, all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the
evidence must be consistent with the guilt of the accused.”® Additionally, certain
evidence admitted for a limited purpose, such as proof that a statement was obtained
through torture, may be relied upon only for that limited purpose and not as to the
truth of the statement.”®

36. The Chamber ordered the parties to ensure that all admitted evidence was
available in all three official languages of the ECCC by the filing of Closing Briefs.
An exception applied to certain categories of evidence which self-evidently did not
require translation.”” Nevertheless, when the parties filed their Closing Briefs on 26
September 2013, various documents put before the Chamber remained on the Case
File in only one or two official languages of the ECCC. In the interests of justice, the
Chamber still considers this evidence in reaching its judgement. However, the
Chamber only relies on such evidence where it is corroborated by another reliable
source. Additionally, the Chamber considers whether the Accused have demonstrated

an understanding of the evidence or have relied upon such evidence in their

% KAING Guek Eav Judgement, para. 43; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 547, 557;
Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements and
Other Documents before the Trial Chamber, E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 21-22, 32-33; Decision on
Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and Case 001
Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013,
paras 19, 23, 29-30.

* Decision on the Applicability of Joint Criminal Enterprise, E100/6, 12 September 2011, para. 16;
See also, Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, para. 88; Delali¢ et al. Appeal Judgement, para.
458.

% 1.5 April 2011, pp. 96-97; Trial Chamber Response to Motions E67, E57, E56, E58, E23, E59,
E20, E33, E71 and E73 following Trial Management Meeting of 5 April 2011 (TC), E74, 8 April 2011,
p. 3; Case 001, Decision on Parties Requests to Put Certain Materials before the Chamber pursuant to
Internal Rule 87(2), E176, 28 October 2009, para. 8.

Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Establish Procedure Regarding Admission of Documents
not Translated in All ECCC Languages (E223/2/6) and Lead Co-Lawyers’ Response to Trial Chamber
Directives on Tendering Civil Party Statements and Other Documents (E223/2/7 and E223/2/7/1) (TC),
E223/2/6/1, 17 June 2013, p. 2 (The Chamber extended the deadline for the filing of evidence in all
three languages from 4 March 2013 to the date on which the Closing Briefs in Case 002/01 were filed.
The Chamber also determined that S-21 prisoner records were among the types of evidence that did not
require translation into all three languages, a category which also included photos, diagrams, drawings
and maps).
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submissions before the Chamber.”®

2.3.5.2.  Spelling of Names and Locations

37. The spelling of certain names and locations on the Case File at times differ due
to a number of factors ranging from a source’s origins, pronunciation of a name or its
subsequent interpretation. The Chamber accepts that names and locations with
similar, but not identical, spelling may refer to the same individuals or places. Further,
given the Cambodian practice of adopting different names, as well as the prevalence
of aliases and revolutionary names within the CPK, the Chamber notes that some

individuals had various appellations.”

2.3.53.  Interpretation, Translation and Transcription Discrepancies

.38.  Even with the safeguards and levels of review employed at the ECCC, errors in

interpretation, translation and transcription may occur. The Interpretation and
Translation Unit (ITU) and various Judges and Chambers took measures throughout
the proceedings in an effort to reduce the number of errors and provide for their
correction upon identification.'® Throughout the investigation and trial, the Defence
had access to interpreters and translators. All parties had capabilities in all three
official languages of the ECCC'®' and therefore were well-positioned to identify

% See e.g. Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I

Made, E3/18, p. vi, ERN (En) 00103721 (KHIEU Samphan noted that he often refers to Sideshow:
Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia (E3/88) by William SHAWCROSS and that he
learned a “great deal” about events in the 1970s and 1980s from book by David CHANDLER, Ben
KIERNAN and Michael VICKERY), pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00103728 (Referring to excerpts from
E3/88), pp. 11-12, ERN (En) 00103728-29 (Referring to excerpts from Cambodia 1975-1982
(E3/1757) by Michael VICKERY), pp. 20-21, ERN (En) 00103733 (Referring to excerpts from
Brother Number One: A Political Biography of Pol Pot (E3/2816) by David CHANDLER), p. 73, ERN
(En) 00103759 (Citing Brother Enemy: The War After the War (E3/2376) by Nayan CHANDA); Book
by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia from the Early Stage to the Period of
Democratic Kampuchea, E3/3855, pp. 54-58, ERN (En) 00498275-7 (Referring to and citing Pol Pot:
A History of a Nightmare (E3/9) by Philip SHORT and The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and
Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge (E3/1593) by Ben KIERNAN); NUON Chea’s Closing
Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, n. 581 (Relying on Book by W.
SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, 1979).

% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 58.

1% Memorandum from Chief of Court Management Section to the President of the Trial Chamber,
E195/2, 15 August 2012, paras 2-3; Decision on Defence Notification of Errors in Translations (PTC),
No. 2, 17 December 2010, para. 10.

1" Decision on Request by the Defence for KHIEU Samphan for Trilingual Notification of the
Supreme Court Chamber’s Decisions (SCC), E163/5/1/15, 30 April 2013, para. 4.
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102

errors in translation and transcription and request their correction. - Where relevant,

the Chamber took these errors into account in assessing probative value.

2.3.5.4. Classified Information

39. At the conclusion of closing submissions, 5,102 documents and other materials
put before the Chamber pursuant to Internal Rule 87(3) remained ‘confidential’. The
vast majority of this material retains the classification automatically assigned during
the judicial investigation. Reclassification of material generated by, and collected
during, the judicial investigation no longer poses a generalised risk of prejudice to the
rights of the parties or the integrity of the investigation.'® Nevertheless, certain
justifications for non-disclosure continue to be valid.'® Thus, in reaching its
judgement and publicly relying upon and/or referring to classified information, the
Chamber considers whether, beyond the confidentiality of the judicial investigation,
any justification for such classification exists.'® The Chamber, on its own motion,
determined that confidentiality is no longer justified for that information publicly

disclosed in this judgement.'%

12 See e.g. Decision on KHIEU Samphan’s Request for Revision of Translations of Evidence on the
Case-File concerning “870” (E296), E296/1, 15 August 2013; Decision on KHIEU Samphan’s Appeal
against Order on Translation Rights and Obligations of the Parties (PTC), A190/1/20, 20 February
2009, paras 46-49; KHIEU Samphan Defence Motion E195 and Envisaged Future Procedures for
Correction of Transcripts (T'C), E195/1, 24 July 2012; Memorandum from Chief of Court Management
Section to the President of the Trial Chamber, E195/2, 15 August 2012, para. 4; Review of Translation
of Written Records of Witness Interview in Case File 002 (ITU), No. 3, 26 January 2011, p. 3;
Decision on Defence Notification of Errors in Translations (PTC), No. 2, 17 December 2010, para. 11.
13 Case 001, Decision on Guidelines for Reclassification of Documents on the Case File (SCC), 26
July 2012, para. 6.

104" Classification  and Management of Case-Related Information, Practice Direction,
ECCC/004/2009/Rev.1, 7 March 2012, Articles 5-7.

195 In this regard, the Chamber is mindful of its obligation to deliver its judgement in public including
the essential findings, evidence and legal reasoning (Internal Rules 102(1), 79(6)(d); ICCPR, Article
14(1); General Comment No. 32: Right to Equality before Courts and Tribunals and to a Fair Trial,
Human Rights Committee, CCPR/C/GC/32, 23 August 2007, para. 29).

1% Insofar as the Chamber reclassified particular portions of a document in this judgement, the
Chamber clarifies that this partial disclosure does not affect the classification pertaining to those
undisclosed portions of, and information in, a document or other material as a whole.
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2.4. Fair Trial Rights

2.4.1. Introduction

40.  Over the course of the proceedings in Case 002/01, NUON Chea and KHIEU
Samphan alleged violations of their rights to a fair and impartial investigation and
trial. The Chamber addressed these allegations on a case-by-case basis, providing
relief where it was in the interests of justice. Although both Accused had initially
signalled their intent to answer the parties’ and the Chamber’s questions at the
conclusion of the hearing of evidence, they ultimately refused to do so, citing as a
basis for this refusal the Chamber’s alleged violation of their fair trial rights
throughout the proceedings.'”” The Accused further developed these submissions in
their Closing Briefs and Closing Statements requesting the Chamber to dismiss all or
part of the charges, stay the proceedings and/or consider alleged violations of their

rights in the final assessment of the evidence.'®®

41. The Chamber addresses these submissions below, taking decisions as required
to supplement those already taken during the course of the trial. The Chamber will
also examine whether procedural errors, if any, have a cumulative effect on the

overall faimess of the trial.'®®

197 T. 9 July 2013, pp. 41, 42-43; T. 17 July 2013, pp. 67-68; Withdrawal of Notice of Intent pursuant
to Internal Rule 90, E287/2, 30 July 2013, paras 3-4, 18.

'% NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, paras 16-115; T. 22 October 2013
(NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 2, 5-8, 21-25, 28-44, 51-52, 55-60; T. 31 October 2013
(NUON Chea), pp. 3, 29-31; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Rebuttal), pp. 35-38, 41-44;
[KHIEU Samphan’s] Conclusions finales, E295/6/4, 26 September 2013, paras 4-8, 94-101, 109; T. 25
October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan Defence Closing Statements), pp. 2-23, 26-27, 32-40, 54; T. 31
October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan Defence Rebuttal), pp. 63-65. Allegations concerning the faimess of
the proceedings also formed the basis of an interlocutory appeal by the KHIEU Samphan Defence
(Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan for an Immediate Stay or Proceedings,
E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013). The Supreme Court Chamber considered that KHIEU Samphan failed to
demonstrate that appellate intervention was warranted at the time the appeal was lodged, considered
that the Defence could still raise the matter before the Trial or Supreme Court Chambers on appeal
from the trial judgement, and declared the appeal inadmissible (Decision on Request by Defence for
KHIEU Samphan for Immediate Stay of Proceedings, E275/2/1/4, 18 October 2013, paras 7-8).

1% Even if no individual error results in prejudice to the Accused, the Chamber must still assess the
overall effect of harmless error to determine whether the Accused received a fair trial (NVtagerura et al.,
Appeal Judgement, para. 114).
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2.4.2. Alleged Defects in the Judicial Investigation

42. Repeating arguments and submissions made previously over the course of the
proceedings in Case 002/01, in their Closing Statements, the Accused submit that the
judicial investigation was so impaired by procedural defects and tainted by political
interference that the Trial Chamber could not rely on it without infringing the right of
the Accused to a fair trial.''” The Chamber has already ruled that, during the pre-trial
stage, the Accused had made extensive use of the procedural safeguards existing in
the ECCC legal framework to address alleged defects in the investigation either
before the Co-Investigating Judges or on appeal to the Pre-Trial Chamber. The
Accused have also failed to satisfy the Trial Chamber that alleged procedural defects
1.1

or allegations of government interference had a tangible impact on Case 002/0

Appeals against these decisions were dismissed by the Supreme Court Chamber.'*?

1% NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, paras 16-26 (alleging unfairness
arising from selective prosecution and the allegation that the ECCC represents the “basest form of
victor’s justice™), 27-37 (systematic flaws in the conduct of the judicial investigation), 45-46 (failure of
the Co-Investigating Judges to summons key witnesses), 51 (failure of the Co-Investigating Judges to
explore the historical context of the crimes), 71 (failure of the Co-Investigating Judges to explore the
chain of custody and origins of evidence), 73-77 (the investigatory practices during the judicial
investigation were flawed), 80-81 (the Co-Investigating Judges were biased and subject to government
interference); T. 22 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 6-8, 28-37, 45-47,
49-51, 55-60; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Rebuttal), p. 44; T. 31 October 2013 (KHIEU
Samphan Defence Rebuttal), pp. 63-64.

"1 See e.g. Decision on IENG Sary’s Motion for a Hearing on the Conduct of the Judicial
Investigations, E71/1, 8 April 2011 (The Chamber dismissed the Defence motion finding that no
specific matter or alleged procedural defect was raised and that no specific relief was requested. The
Chamber referred to Internal Rule 76(7) which states “Subject to any appeal, the Closing Order shall
cure any procedural defects in the judicial investigation. No issues concering such procedural defects
may be raised before the Trial Chamber or the Supreme Court Chamber”); Decision on NUON Chea
Motions regarding Fairness of Judicial Investigation (ES1/3, E82, E88 and E92), E116, 9 September
2011; Decision on NUON Chea’s Request for a Rule 35 Investigation regarding Inconsistencies in the
Audio and Written Records of OCIJ Witness Interviews, E142/3, 13 March 2012 (discrepancies
between audio and written records are a matter which is relevant to the final assessment of evidence),
Decision on Defence Requests Concerning Irregularities Alleged to Have Occurred During the Judicial
Investigation (E221, E223, E224, E224/2, E234, E234/2, E241 and E241/1), E251, 7 December 2012;
Decision on Rule 35 Applications for Summary Action, E176/2, 11 May 2012; Decision on
Application for Immediate Action Pursuant to Rule 35, E189/3, 22 November 2012. NUON Chea
argues that the Chamber’s decisions concerning political interference were “systematically weak and
evasive” (NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, para.
89). Beyond this general assertion, he fails to either identify those decisions he believes to be deficient
or substantiate this argument. The Chamber is therefore unable to assess this submission and
summarily dismisses it.

"2 Decision on Immediate Appeal by NUON Chea against the Trial Chamber’s Decision on Fairness
of the Investigation (SCC), E116/1/7, 27 April 2012; Decision on NUON Chea’s “Immediate Appeal
against Trial Chamber Decision on Application for Immediate Action pursuant to Rule 35” (SCC),
E189/3/1/8, 25 March 2013; Decision on NUON Chea’s Appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Decision
on Rule 35 Applications for Summary Action (SCC), E176/2/1/4, 14 September 2012.
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The Accused allege no new facts or circumstances arising since these decisions were
issued and their requests, which amount to requests for reconsideration of these prior
decisions, are therefore inadmissible. Nevertheless, where defects in the investigation
were alleged with sufficient particularity and have clear relevance to Case 002/01, the

Chamber will consider them in its final assessment of the evidence.!!>
2.4.3. Impartiality of the Trial Chamber

43. NUON Chea challenges the impartiality of the Trial Chamber, as well as the
sufficiency of measures taken to counter alleged improper pressure and
interference.!'* These challenges repeat submissions previously made in Case 002/01,
which were deemed unsubstantiated and dismissed.!’®> In February and August 2012,
the Accused alerted the Chamber to public pronouncements of senior government
officials concerning the guilt of the Accused and the rights of the defence.!'® Both the
Supreme Court and Trial Chambers issued warnings against further improper
pronouncements by senior government officials, affirmed the impartiality of the Trial
Chamber and emphasised the duty and ability of the Chamber to disregard these
statements in considering the alleged guilt of the Accused.''” NUON Chea alleges no
new facts or circumstances arising since these decisions were issued and what
amounts to a request for reconsideration of these prior decisions is therefore
inadmissible. The Chamber nevertheless re-affirms its impartiality and that it will
disregard any irrelevant information not put before it pursuant to Internal Rule 87 in

reaching its judgement.

3 Decision on NUON Chea Request for a Rule 35 Investigation regarding Inconsistencies in the
Audio and Written Records of OCIJ Witness Interviews, E142/3, 13 March 2012, paras 6-15.

4 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 23-26,
58, 80-86; T. 22 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 6-8, 28-31, 49-52.

15 Decision on IENG Sary’s Application to Disqualify Judge NIL Nonn and Related Requests, E5/3,
28 January 2011; Decision on IENG Thirith, NUON Chea and IENG Sary’s Applications for
Disqualification of Judges NIL Nonn, Silvia CARTWRIGHT, YA Sokhan, Jean-Marc LAVERGNE
and THOU Mony, E55/4, 23 March 2011.

116 Application for Summary Action against HUN Sen pursuant to Rule 35, E176, 22 February 2012,
paras 17-23; Rule 35 Request Calling for Summary Action against Minister of Foreign Affairs HOR
Nambhong, E219, 13 August 2012, paras 12-22.

"7 Decision on NUON Chea’s Appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Decision on Rule 35 Applications
for Summary Action (SCC), E176/2/1/4, 14 September 2012; Decision on Rule 35 Applications for
Summary Action, E176/2, 11 May 2012,
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2.4.4. Facilities and Time Available for the Preparation of a Defence

44.  The Accused raise a number of issues related to the time and facilities available
for preparation of a defence including belated translations into their working
languages, equality of arms between the Co-Prosecutors and the Defence, and the
period between notification of the charges and deadlines for proposing evidence.''®
Each of these issues has already been addressed by the Chamber and relief has been
provided where it was in the interests of justice (for example, the provision of
interpreters and adjustment of relevant procedures). Considering in particular the
lengthy judicial investigation, the Chamber re-affirms that the Accused had
proportional and adequate time and facilities for the preparation of a defence
throughout the proceedings.'!” The parties also had procedural equality in presenting
their case and the Accused have failed to substantiate any violation of the principle of
equality of arms.'® The Accused allege no new facts or circumstances arising since
prior decisions concerning the time and facilities available for preparation of a

defence and what amounts to requests for reconsideration of these prior decisions by

the Accused are therefore inadmissible.

18 Some of these issues were revisited by the Defence at the close of the hearing (NUON Chea’s
Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 63-67, 87-88 (concerning
the allegedly witra vires procedure for filing initial lists of evidence); T. 31 October 2013 (NUON
Chea), pp. 3, 29-30 (equality of arms); Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan
for an Immediate Stay or Proceedings, E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 76, 93-94 (concerning
translations of evidence and filings)).

19 See e.g. Order to File Material in Preparation for Trial (TC), E9, 17 January 2011; Notification of
the Trial Chamber’s Disposition of Request for Extension of Deadlines (E9/6) (TC), E9/6/1, 14
February 2011; Decision on Requests for Extension of Time to File Lists of Documents and Exhibits,
E9/16/4, 29 March 2011; Response to IENG Sary Defence Request for Access to Strictly Confidential
Documents on the Case File (E118) (TC), E118/4, 28 November 2011; Reclassification of Additional
Documents on the Case File, E118/5 (TC), 12 January 2012; Notification of Strictly Confidential
Documents related to the Health of the Accused (TC), E118/6, 19 January 2012; Reclassification of
Additional Documents on the Case File (TC), E118/7, 30 August 2013; Decision on NUON Chea’s
Preliminary Objection alleging the Unconstitutional Character of the ECCC Internal Rules, E51/14, 8
August 2011; Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012;
Decision on KHIEU Samphan Request for Declaration of Inadmissibility of the Co-Prosecutors’
Closing Brief (E295/7), E295/7/2, 14 October 2013, para. 6.

120 Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and
Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013, para. 21 (“the role the Co-Prosecutors played in the Preliminary Investigation and other
case does not impact the equality of arms so long as all parties have procedural equality in presenting
their case”).
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2.4.5. Notice of the Charges and the Conduct of the Trial in Case 002/01

45. The Accused argue that the severance of the Closing Order was unmanageable
and that uncertainty regarding the contours of Case 002/01, division of the trial into
topical segments, uncertainty concerning the admissibility of evidence outside the
scope of Case 002/01, and uncertainty concerning future trials impaired their ability to

present an effective defence.'?!

46. On 5 April 2011, the Chamber notified the parties that it would commence the
trial by hearing evidence relating to the structure of Democratic Kampuchea, the roles
of each Accused during the period prior to the establishment of Democratic
Kampuchea, the roles of each Accused in the Democratic Kampuchea government,
and the policies of Democratic Kampuchea.'” Subsequently, on 3 June 2011, the
Chamber indicated that evidence of facts falling outside the scope of Case 002/01 was
admissible if demonstrably relevant.' Throughout the proceedings, the Chamber
admitted evidence of facts outside the scope of Case 002/01 where it was
demonstrably relevant to proof of, inter alia, the Democratic Kampuchea policies
alleged in the Closing Order, the contextual elements of crimes against humanity or

the impact of crimes on victims.'**

121 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 93-101;
T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Rebuttal), pp. 35-38; [KHIEU Samphan’s] Conclusions
finales, E295/6/4, 26 September 2013, paras 4-8, 94-101, 109; T. 25 October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan
Defence Closing Statement), pp. 2-23, 26-27, 30-32, 35-40; T. 31 October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan
Defence Rebuttal), pp. 63, 65-66; Submissions by Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s Defence regarding the
Questioning of the Accused, E288/4, 5 July 2013, paras 8, 30; Urgent Request for Clarification of the
Trial Chamber Decision of 15 August 2013 concerning Objections to the Admissibility of Written
Statements and Deferral of the Timeline for Filing Final Briefs, E299/1, 2 September 2013, paras 33-
36; Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan for an Immediate Stay of
Proceedings, E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 20-68; Immediate Appeal against Second Severance
Order and Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Appeal against Same, E284/4/1, 27 May 2013, paras 12, 33;
Indications of Witnesses and Documents Germane to the Initial Phases of the First Trial, E131/1/6, 2
November 2011, para. 16; Request for Additional Witnesses & Continuation of Initial Hearing, E93/9,
5 July 2011, paras 2-11.
122 7.5 April 2011 (Trial Management Meeting), pp. 56-57; See also, Directive in Advance of Initial
Hearing concerning Proposed Witnesses (TC), E93, 3 June 2011, p. 2; T. 27 June 2011 (Initial
Hearing), pp. 7-8.

3 Directive in Advance of Initial Hearing concerning Proposed Witnesses (TC), E93, 3 June 2011, p.
2.
124 See e.g. Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to be Put Before the Chamber in the Co-
Prosecutors’ Annexes A1-A5 and to Documents Cited in Paragraphs of the Closing Order Relevant to
the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9 April 2012, para. 29; Third Decision on
Objections to Documents Proposed for Admission before the Trial Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013,
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47. On 22 September 2011, the Chamber severed the charges in Case 002,
notifying the parties of the scope of Case 002/01 and informing them that additional
charges could later be included within the scope of Case 002/01.">° On 18 October
2011, the Chamber clarified that, although the development of the five policies as a
general matter fell within the scope of, and could be examined in Case 002/01, there
would be no examination of the implementation of policies other than those pertaining
to the specific factual allegations falling within the scope of Case 002/01.'% The same
day, the Chamber also notified the parties of the topical and procedural sequence in
which the Chamber would hear the evidence in Case 002/01.!*" Following the first
two trial segments concerning the historical background, Democratic Kampuchea
policies and administrative and communication structures, the Chamber began hearing
evidence relating to the factual allegations falling within the scope of Case 002/01 and
the responsibility of the Accused on 2 October 2012.

48. On 8 October 2012, the Chamber extended Case 002/01 to include executions
of former Khmer Republic officials at Tuol Po Chrey.'”® After the Supreme Court
Chamber annulled the Trial Chamber’s severance order and all related decisions,129
the Trial Chamber consulted the parties as directed by the Supreme Court Chamber
and decided again to sever the case along the lines previously determined.”® The
hearing of evidence concerning executions at Tuol Po Chrey commenced the week of

29 April 2013.

paras 23-24; Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party
Statements and Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-
Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013, para. 20; Decision on Severance of Case 002 following Supreme
Court Chamber Decision of 8 February 2013, E284, 26 April 2013, para. 117.
125 Severance Order Pursuant to Internal Rule 89zer, E124, 22 September 2011, paras 5-6.
12 Decision on Co-Prosecutor's Request for Reconsideration of the Terms of the Trial Chamber's
Severance Order (E124/2) and Related Motions and Annexes, E124/7, 18 October 2011, para. 11; See
also, Response to Issues Raised by Parties in Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting
with Senior Legal Officer on 18 November 2011 (TC), E141, 17 November 2011, p. 2.
127 Decision on Co-Prosecutor's Request for Reconsideration of the Terms of the Trial Chamber's
Severance Order (E124/2) and Related Motions and Annexes, E124/7, 18 October 2011; See also,
Response to Issues Raised by Parties in Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting with
Senior Legal Officer on 18 November 2011 (TC), E141, 17 November 2011, p. 2.
128 Notification of Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the
Scope of the Trial in Case 002/01 (E163) and Deadline for Submission of Applicable Law Portion of
Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5, 8 October 2012.

® Decision on the Co-Prosecutors’ Immediate Appeal of the Trial Chamber’s Decision concerning
the Scope of Case 002/01 (SCC), E163/5/1/13, 8 February 2013.
130 Decision on Severance of Case 002 following Supreme Court Chamber Decision of 8 February
2013, E284, 26 April 2013, para. 88.
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49. In sum, the Chamber provided the parties sufficient, timely and clear notice of
the charges falling within the scope of Case 002/01 and the conduct of the trial. The
Chamber also re-iterates that generalised submissions conceming the scope and
conduct of future trials in Case 002 cannot demonstrate any concrete impact on the
faimess of the trial in Case 002/01."'

2.4.6. Right to Propose Witnesses

50. NUON Chea argues that the Chamber preferred inculpatory witnesses and
failed to call witnesses important to his Defence.'** Both Accused argue that the
Chamber failed to provide reasons for its decisions not to call certain witnesses, thus

obliging the Accused to speculate and adopt a splintered approach to their defence.'*>

51. Inresponse to the Trial Chamber’s Preparation Order of 17 January 2011, the

parties proposed a cumulative total of 1,054 witnesses.'**

In considering which of
these individuals to summons, the Chamber weighed the rights of all parties to
propose evidence, the need to hold a public hearing following the confidential
investigation, the Accused’s right to confront witnesses and the right of each Accused
to a fair and expeditious trial.'** During the Initial Hearing in June 2011 and during
Trial Management Meetings in April 2011, August 2012 and June 2013, the Chamber
provided the parties indications as to those witnesses it intended to call or not call in
relation to upcoming segments of the trial, invited oral and written submissions, and

repeatedly encouraged parties to indicate those witnesses they deemed most vital to

3! See e.g. T. 13 June 2013, pp. 47, 54.

132 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 41-59,
91; T. 22 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 37-40, 43-44; T. 31 October
2013 (NUON Chea), pp. 30-31; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Rebuttal), p. 38.

133 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, para. 89; T. 13
June 2013, pp. 79-80; Request for a Public Oral Hearing regarding the Calling of Defence Witnesses,
E212, 22 June 2012, paras 13, 18-24; Indications of Witnesses and Documents Germane to the Initial
Phases of the First Trial, E131/1/6, 2 November 2011, paras 4-8, 11-14.

13 Order to File Material in Preparation for Trial (TC), E9, 17 January 2011.

135 See e.g. Agreement, Article 13(1); Final Decision on Witnesses and Civil Parties to be Heard in
Case 002/01, E312, 7 August 2014; Scheduling of Trial Management Meeting to enable planning of the
remaining trial phases in Case 002/01 and implementation of further measures designed to promote
trial efficiency (TC), E218, 3 August 2012, para. 12; Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission
Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber,
E96/7, 20 June 2012, para. 1.
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their cases.!**All individuals requested by the parties were kept under review over the

course of the trial.

52. Ultimately, the Chamber heard 92 individuals, including 20 proposed by
NUON Chea and 23 proposed by KHIEU Samphan (the latter including 5 character
witnesses). The majority of the other individuals proposed by NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan, including some identified as vital, were rejected as being irrelevant
to Case 002/01 (and accordingly deferred to future trials); irrelevant to Case 002
generally (including many proposed regarding the course and conduct of the judicial
investigation or in support of general allegations regarding the independence of the
judiciary and political interference); repetitive; or inadequately identified.”*” The
Chamber also notes that some witnesses proposed by the Accused died prior to the
conclusion of the evidentiary hearing in Case 002/01 (see e.g. TCW-482 and TCW-
699) or could not be located with the exercise of reasonable diligence."*® Other
mechanisms were nonetheless provided to enable the parties to introduce in written
form relevant statements and other information concerning witnesses not called or the

topics upon which they had been expected to testify.'*

53. In order to show that fair trial rights have been violated as a result of the non-
appearance of a witness, an accused must demonstrate that he exhausted all available
measures to obtain that witness’s testimony or tender the evidence sought in another

form, such as a witness statement.'?

1% Final Decision on Witnesses and Civil Parties to be Heard in Case 002/01, E312, 7 August 2014.
137 Annexes II and III of Final Decision on Witnesses and Civil Parties to be Heard in Case 002/01,
E312.2, 7 August 2014.

3% Memorandum from the Witness and Expert Support Unit to the President of the Trial Chamber
entitled “Potential Witnesses - Unable to Locate”, E292/1/2, 4 July 2013.

139 See e.g. Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness
Statements and Other Documents before the Trial Chamber,E96/7, 20 June 2012, paras 20-26;
Scheduling of Trial Management Meeting to enable planning of the remaining trial phases in Case
002/01 and implementation of further measures designed to promote trial efficiency (TC), E218, 3
August 2012; Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed for Admission Before the Trial
Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013, para. 24.

190 Renzaho Appeal Judgement, paras 169 (the accused’s “failure to seek a remedy at trial undermines
his claim of prejudice”), 191, 196, 216, 217 (“Any party is, of course, free to refrain from applying for
such measures. However, a party cannot circumvent its obligation to exhaust all available means to
present its case by unilaterally determining that certain measures are unreasonable or futile”), 218;
Luki¢ and Luki¢, Appeal Judgement, paras 44-45, 58; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 55.
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54. The Chamber considers that all parties were able to propose those witnesses
they deemed most important to their case and, where those witnesses were not called,
to put before the Chamber other evidence they considered to be exculpatory or
conducive to ascertaining the truth, including witness statements. Pursuant to Internal
Rule 84(4), the parties may appeal decisions concerning the summonsing of
witnesses, experts and Civil Parties only at the same time as the final appeal from the

judgement.m

2.4.77. Ability of the Defence to Place the Crimes in their Context

55. NUON Chea argues that limitations on the hearing of evidence concemning the
historical context of the crimes hindered his ability to mount a full and effective
Defence. In particular, he submits that historical topics including the American
bombing of Cambodia between 1969 and 1973, living conditions in Cambodia prior
to 1975 and the post-1979 political context (insofar as it relates to the collection of
evidence and the role Vietnam played in recording the history of the CPK “to suit its
political agenda”) should have been included in order to permit the Chamber to assess
the context of his actions. He also submits that the Co-Prosecutors were permitted to
adduce evidence of the historical context, while he was not, thus violating the

principle of equality of arms.'*?

56. Where an accused argues that his fair trial rights were violated by limitations
on his ability to adduce evidence concerning the historical context of the crimes, he
must demonstrate concrete prejudice, namely how it would impact on his guilt or

innocence.'?

14! See Final Decision on Witnesses, Experts and Civil Parties to be Heard in Case 002/01, 7 August
2014, Section 3.2.8, Separate Opinion of Judges NIL Nonn, YA Sokhan and YOU Ottara and Final
Decision on Witnesses, Experts and Civil Parties to be Heard in Case 002/01, 7 August 2014, Section
3.2.8, Separate Opinion of Judges Silvia CARTWRIGHT and Jean-Marc LAVERGNE.

42 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 51-55,
57-59, 91;T. 22 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 21-25, 40-42; See also,
Immediate Appeal against Second Severance Order and Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Appeal against
Same, E284/4/1, 27 May 2013, paras 13-19; Motion in Support of ‘IENG Sary’s Motion to Add New
Trial Topics to the Trial Schedule’ and Request to Add Additional Topics, E89/1, 25 May 2011, paras
2, 8-9; Request to Hear Defence Witnesses and to Take Other Procedural Measures in Order to
Properly Assess Historical Context, E182, 16 March 2011, paras 14-29.

3" Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 249-250.
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57.  The first trial segment in Case 002/01 focused on the historical context of the
crimes. During this segment and throughout the trial, the Chamber heard evidence
concerning the American bombing campaign in Cambodia between 1969 and 1973,
living conditions prior to 17 April 1975 and the post-1979 context from witnesses and
experts, including seven proposed by NUON Chea. Various pieces of documentary
evidence, proposed by all parties and relevant to the historical context (including the
American bombing campaign in Cambodia between 1969 and 1973, living conditions

prior to 17 April 1975 and the post-1979 context) were also admitted."*

58. The Chamber notes that it is bound by the facts contained in the Closing Order
pursuant to Internal Rule 98(2), as severed in Case 002/01, and its obligation to ensure
that trials are fair and expeditious. The Chamber therefore excluded some evidence of
facts falling outside the scope of Case 002/01 or the Closing Order, including some

145 NUON Chea, however, fails to demonstrate either

relating to the historical context.
that the evidence admitted concerning the historical context of the crimes was
insufficient or how other evidence would have had a concrete impact on his guilt or
innocence. Indeed, NUON Chea indicated that he chose not to fully explore the
historical context and other matters outside the scope of Case 002/01, in part, as a
matter of strategy, not inability.'*® Accordingly, the Chamber finds that the rights of

the Accused to present a defence were not violated.
2.4.8. Right to Examine Witnesses, Civil Parties and Experts

59. The Accused submit that their right to effectively examine witnesses, Civil
Parties and experts and the principle of equality of arms were infringed by arbitrary

and unfair limitations on the scope of questioning and the material that could be used

14 David CHANDLER, SAO Sarun, Al ROCKOFF, Sydney SCHANBERG, KAING Guek Eav,
Stephen HEDER and Philip SHORT. NUON Chea initially proposed 132 witnesses relevant to the
historical background (Summaries of Proposed Witnesses, Experts and Civil Parties, E9/10, 23
February 2011); See e.g. Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed to be put before the Chamber
on the Co-Prosecutor’s Annexes A1-AS5 and to Documents Cited in Paragraphs of the Closing Order
Relevant to the First Two Trial Segments of Case 002/01, E185, 9 April 2012.

145 See e.g. Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed for Admission before the Trial
Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013, para. 27; Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness,
Victim and Civil Party Statements and Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil
Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013, para. 34.

46 Immediate Appeal against Second Severance Order and Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Appeal
against Same, E284/4/1, 27 May 2013, paras 18-19.
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to challenge the credibility of the individuals heard in court.'*’ Further, NUON Chea
and KHIEU Samphan argue that the Chamber violated their rights by admitting
statements and prior testimony of witnesses, Civil Parties and experts absent the

opportunity for confrontation.'*®

60. Pursuant to Internal Rules 85 and 87, the President and Chamber excluded
proceedings and lines of questioning that unnecessarily delayed the trial or were not
conducive to ascertaining the truth. The Chamber encouraged all parties to limit their
examination of persons called at trial to matters falling within the scope of Case
002/01."* Further, taking into account the capacity in which individuals were called
to give evidence, the Chamber limited the scope of questioning in order to ensure that

examination did not stray into irrelevant topics.'>

61.  All parties were permitted to use any of the documents on their Internal Rule
80(3) lists in questioning individuals to refresh their memory, corroborate or draw

relevant inferences from the substance of a document based on their direct knowledge

151

or to test credibility. ~ Further, all parties were able to propose new evidence for use

47 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 58, 60-
79, 91; T. 22 October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), pp. 41-47; T. 31 October 2013
(NUON Chea), p. 31; Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan for an Immediate
Stay or Proceedings, E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 95-96; Withdrawal of Notice of Intent pursuant
to Internal Rule 90, E287/2, 30 July 2013, paras 2, 10-11, 13-14; Immediate Appeal against Second
Severance Order and Response to Co-Prosecutors’ Appeal against Same, E284/4/1, 27 May 2013, para.
77. NUON Chea argues that the Chamber’s decisions concerning the scope and procedure for
examining individuals heard in court had “no or virtually no reasoning” thereby violating the
Accused’s right to a reasoned decision (NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3,
26 September 2013, para. 89). Beyond this general assertion, he fails to either identify those decisions
he believes to be deficient or substantiate this argument. The Chamber is therefore unable to assess this
submission and summarily dismisses it.

148 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 102-115
(requesting the Chamber to take this fact into account in its final assessment of evidence and disregard
statements going to proof of live issues in Case 002/01 absent the opportunity for confrontation); T. 22
October 2013 (NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement), p. 44; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea
Defence Rebuttal), p. 36; T. 25 October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan Defence Closing Statement), p. 89.

149 Response to Issues Raised by Parties in Advance of Trial and Scheduling of Informal Meeting
with Senior Legal Officer on 18 November 2011 (TC), E141, 17 November 2011, p. 2; Consolidated
Schedule of Witnesses and Experts for Early 2013 (TC), E236/4, 8 January 2013, para. 2.

1% For example, Stephen HEDER declined appointment as an expert and was therefore called as a
witness solely in relation to the numerous documents he authored on the case file (Announcement of
Remaining Hearings Prior to the Close of Evidentiary Proceedings in Case 002/01 and Scheduling of
Final Trial Management Meeting for 13 June 2013 (TC), E288, 31 May 2013, para. 4). Examination on
topics beyond those documents he authored on the case file was therefore not allowed.

1 Notice to the Parties Regarding Revised Modalities of Questioning and Response to Co-
Prosecutors’ Request for Clarification Regarding Use of Documents during Witness Testimony (E201)
(TC), E201/2, 13 June 2012.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public S f/ 31



01005699

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

during questioning provided that they satisfied the requirements of Internal Rule 87(4)
or demonstrated that the proposed evidence was in the interests of justice, for example
because it was exculpatory or related closely to the testimony of a witness.'** Finally,
in the interest of just and expeditious proceedings, the Chamber admitted statements
of certain individuals not called to give oral evidence, noting that no conviction would
be solely or decisively based thereupon.’® For example, the Chamber admitted
statements of witnesses and Civil Parties in place of their oral evidence insofar as
such statements were relevant to proof of matters other than the acts and conduct of
the Accused as charged in the Closing Order, including the historical background,
administrative and communications structures, the crime base, Democratic
Kampuchea policies, the impact of the crimes on victims and/or the contextual

elements of crimes against humanity.'**

62. Insofar as the Accused allege unfair limitations on their ability to challenge
evidence and examine witnesses, they fail either to demonstrate prejudice or that they
exhausted other available means, for example by submission in rebuttal or the
proposal of documentary evidence. The Chamber finds that the right of the Accused

to challenge evidence and examine witnesses was not infringed.
2.4.9. Right to Adversarial Debate

63. KHIEU Samphan argues that the key document presentation hearings were
limited to presentation of documents and excluded real adversarial debate, since the

opportunity to challenge the entirety of the evidence submitted at trial can take place

52 Decision Concerning New Documents and Other Related Issues, E190, 30 April 2012, para. 36;
Response to Internal Rule 87(4) Requests to Place New Documents on the Case File concerning the
Testimony of Witnesses Frangois PONCHAUD and Sydney SCHANBERG (E243) and Experts Philip
SHORT (E226, E226/1 and E230) and Elizabeth BECKER (E232 and E232/1) (TC), E260, 18 January
2013, para. 5; Response to Your Letter of 21 June 2012 concerning the Trial Chamber’s Decision on
IENG Sary’s Rule 87(4) Request (E172/24/4/1) (TC), E172/24/4/4, 16 July 2012, para. 4.

13 Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and
Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013, paras 28 (noting that the Chamber would not rely upon statements admitted in place of
oral testimony in considering the acts and conduct of the accused as charged), 29; See also, Decision on
Co-Prosecutors’ Rule 92 Submission Regarding the Admission of Witness Statements and Other
Documents before the Trial Chamber,E96/7, 20 June 2012, para. 21.

134 Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and
Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013.
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only at the end of the hearing.'> Further, KHIEU Samphan and NUON Chea argue
that the time and facilities provided for closing submissions were insufficient
considering the thousands of documents admitted in Case 002/01 (particularly those
admitted late in the trial), the appearance of 92 individuals, the complexity of the case

and discrepancies in translations.'*®

64. A court may provide the opportunity for adversarial debate in various ways, but
“whatever method is chosen, it should ensure that the other party will be aware that
observations have been filed and will get a real opportunity to comment thereon”."’
For the reasons that follow, the Chamber decides that the parties have had the

opportunity for adversarial debate.

2.4.9.1.  [nitial Lists of Evidence (Internal Rule 80(3))

65. Following a judicial investigation lasting more than three years during which
the Accused had access to the Case File including the inculpatory and exculpatory
information collected, the Chamber ordered the parties to file lists of proposed
evidence by 13 April 2011 pursuant to Internal Rule 80(3).°® Following the severance

of Case 002 and again after the extension of the trial to include executions of former

135 Urgent Request for Clarification of the Trial Chamber Decision of 15 August 2013 concerning

Objections to the Admissibility of Written Statements and Deferral of the Timeline for Filing Final
Briefs, E299/1, 2 September 2013, paras 37-43; Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU
Samphan for an Immediate Stay or Proceedings, E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 67, 78-91, 97-98; T.
9 July 2013, pp. 44-46, 70-85 (arguing, inter alia, that there is uncertainty regarding the totality of
evidence to be admitted and therefore, until these uncertainties are resolved, the Defence cannot make
submissions on probative value); Submissions by Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s Defence regarding the
Questioning of the Accused, E288/4, 5 July 2013, paras 31-32; T. 13 June 2013, pp. 10-19; Mr.
KHIEU Samphan’s Motion Reasserting His Right to a Fair and Adversarial Criminal Trial, E263, 11
February 2013, paras 4, 35-36, 39-40, 46, 55; T. 19 October 2012, pp. 9, 62-64, 69-70; Motion in
Response to the Numerous Difficulties Raised by Ms. LAMB’s E-Mail dated 2 February 2012, E167, 3
February 2012, paras 10, 13, 14, 22.
1% Submissions by Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s Defence regarding the Questioning of the Accused,
E288/4, 5 July 2013, paras 33-34; Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s Motion Reasserting His Right to a Fair and
Adversarial Criminal Trial, E263, 11 February 2013, paras 41, 48, 51-53; T. 13 June 2013, pp. 9-10,
39-43 (KHIEU Samphan requested a 300-page briefs); T. 9 July 2013, pp. 47, 74; Observations
concerning Trial Chamber’s Request to Receive Final Legal Submissions by 21 December 2012,
E163/5/5, 26 November 2012, paras 3-9, 13, 23-24, 26 (NUON Chea requested a 180-page brief);
Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan for an Immediate Stay or Proceedings,
E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 73-74, 77; See also, T. 25 October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan Defence
Closing Statement), pp. 32-33.
57 Ocalan v. Turkey, ECtHR (Application No. 46221/99), Judgement, 12 May 2005, para.146 citing
Brandstetter v. Austria, ECtHR (Application No. 11170/84, 12876/87 and 13468/87), Judgement, 28
August 1991, para. 67; See also, Kayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement, para. 80.

8 Order to File Material in Preparation for Trial, E9, 17 January 2011.
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Khmer Republic officials at Tuol Po Chrey, the Chamber directed the parties to file
revised lists of evidence relevant to the factual allegations falling within the scope of
Case 002/01."*° On an on-going basis, the Chamber admitted that evidence which was
relevant to various topic segments and witnesses. Where the Co-Prosecutors or Civil
Party Lead Co-Lawyers failed to exercise reasonable diligence in presenting evidence,
thereby impeding the opportunity for adversarial challenge, the Chamber excluded
that evidence.'® In the absence of demonstrated prejudice, an accused is expected to
rely on the initial lists of evidence provided by the other parties in preparing and

presenting his case.'®!

2.49.2.  Admissibility Hearings

66. The Chamber provided the parties the opportunity to object to the admissibility
of evidence in oral and written submissions throughout the proceedings,'® inviting
and entertaining submissions from the parties as to the time and facilities required to
adequately make such objections.163 Even though objections that go beyond the prima

facie relevance and reliability of proposed evidence do not impact upon their

159 Geverance Order Pursuant to Internal Rule 89ter, E124, 22 September 2011; Notification of
Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of the Trial in
Case 002/01 (E163) and Deadline for Submission of Applicable Law Portion of Closing Briefs (TC),
E163/5, 8 October 2012.

10 See e.g. Decision on Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements
and Case 001 Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15
August 2013, paras 40-42; Response to Internal Rule 87(4) Requests of the Co-Prosecutors, NUON
Chea and KHIEU Samphan (E236/4/1, E265, E271, E276, E276/1) (TC), E276/2, 10 April 2013, para.
4; Decision on Internal Rule 87(4) Request of the Co-Prosecutors to Put before the Chamber Document
D366/7.1.366 (TC), E298, 14 August 2013.

181 Kanyarukiga Appeal Judgement, paras 52-53 (an accused’s “general claim that he had to address
immaterial information [due to decisions on the admissibility of evidence issued at the end of the trial}
is insufficient to show that he suffered prejudice and that the faimess of the proceedings was
undermined”).

62 In addition to the opportunity to file written objections, the parties were also provided the
opportunity to make oral submissions concerning the admissibility of evidence during hearings totaling
14 days (16-19 January 2012, 16 February 2012, 12-15 March 2012 and 21-24 January 2013).

163 Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (16-19 January 2012) (TC), E159, 11 January 2012;
Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (13-16 February 2012) (TC), E170, 9 February 2012, paras
6-7; Further Oral Hearing on Documents (commencing 12 March 2012) (TC), E172/1, 24 February
2012; Updated Memorandum for next document hearing (12-19 March 2012) (TC), E172/5, 2 March
2012, para. 2; Forthcoming Document Hearings and Response to Lead Co-Lawyers’ Memorandum
Concerning the Trial Chamber’s Request to Identify Civil Party Applications for Use at Trial (E208/4)
and KHIEU Samphan Defence Request to Revise Corroborative Evidence Lists (E223) (TC), E223/2,
19 October 2012; Revised Schedule for Forthcoming Document Hearing (Commencing Monday 21
January 2013) (TC), E223/3, 17 January 2013; Third Decision on Objections to Documents Proposed
for Admission Before the Trial Chamber, E185/2, 12 August 2013, paras 4-12 (setting out the
procedural history of admissibility hearings before the Chamber).

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Publi% ¢4/ 34



01005702

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

admissibility, the parties availed themselves of these opportunities to make detailed
submissions on matters relevant to probative value and thus weight to be assigned to
evidence at the conclusion of proceedings. The Chamber considers these submissions

and objections in its final assessment of the evidence.'®*

2.49.3. Key Document Presentation Hearings

67. After having invited and considered submissions from the parties as to the time
necessary for presentation of key documents, the Chamber provided the parties a
proportional opportunity in four different hearings, totalling 16 days, to highlight
those documents they deemed most relevant to particular segments of the trial.'®® As
documentary evidence at the ECCC need not be tendered during the examination of
individuals appearing before the Chamber, these hearings were intended to assist the
Chamber and the parties in identifying those documents particularly relevant to a
given trial segment and provide public accessibility to the documentary aspect of the
trial.'®

68. During the first two key document presentation hearings, all counsel were
precluded from responding to those documents presented by the other parties.'®’ The
Accused, however, were given the opportunity to comment on the key documents

presented.'® During the second two key document presentation hearings, the

164 See Section 2: Preliminary Issues, 2.3.3 and 2.3.4 (on impartiality of the Trial Chamber and
facilities and time available for the preparation of a defence).

165 Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (13-16 February 2012) (TC), E170, 9 February 2012;
Direction to Parties following Hearing of 21 September 2012 (TC), E233, 24 September 2012;
Forthcoming Document Hearings and Response to Lead Co-Lawyers’ Memorandum Concerning the
Trial Chamber’s Request to Identify Civil Party Applications for Use at Trial (E208/4) and KHIEU
Samphan Defence Request to Revise Corroborative Evidence Lists (E223) (TC), E223/2, 19 October
2012;Revised Schedule for Forthcoming Document Hearing (Commencing Monday 21 January 2013)
(TC), E223/3, 17 January 2013; Announcement of Remaining Hearings Prior to the Close of
Evidentiary Proceedings in Case 002/01 and Scheduling of Final Trial Management Meeting for 13
June 2013 (TC), E288, 31 May 2013; Schedule for the Final Document and Other Hearings in Case
002/01, for the Questioning of the Accused and Response to Motions E263 and E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1,
17 June 2013.

16 Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (13-16 February 2012) (TC), E170, 9 February 2012,
Para. 2; T. 13 June 2013, pp. 7-8.

67 Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (13-16 February 2012) (TC), E170, 9 February 2012;
Direction to Parties following Hearing of 21 September 2012 (TC), E233, 24 September 2012, paras 3-
4.

198 Scheduling of Oral Hearing on Documents (13-16 February 2012) (TC), E170, 9 February 2012;
Direction to Parties following Hearing of 21 September 2012, E233, 24 September 2012, paras 2-3.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public o, / 35



01005703

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

Chamber permitted all parties and counsel to comment on the documents presented.169
Further, during the final key document presentation hearing, the Accused and their
counsel were given the opportunity to comment on all documents presented in any
key document presentation hearing and invited indications as to the time required to
do this.'"”® KHIEU Samphan and his counsel declined to avail themselves of this

opportunity.'”!

2.494. Closing Submissions

69. On 3 August 2012, the Chamber notified the parties that it proposed an
expedited schedule for final submissions and directed the parties to allocate the
necessary resources to enable them to prepare their final briefs in parallel with the on-
going trial.'” The parties were given the opportunity to make submissions concerning
the procedure for closing submissions during a Trial Management Meeting on 27

August 2012.

70. In October and November 2012, the Chamber notified the parties of the
procedure and schedule for closing submissions.'”> Closing Briefs were limited to 200
pages for the Co-Prosecutors, 80 pages for the Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers and 100
pages for each Accused and were due 30 days following the last day of the

19 Forthcoming Document Hearings and Response to Lead Co-Lawyers’ Memorandum Concerning
the Trial Chamber’s Request to Identify Civil Party Applications for Use at Trial (E208/4) and KHIEU
Samphan Defence Request to Revise Corroborative Evidence Lists (E223) (TC), E223/2, 19 October
2012;Revised Schedule for Forthcoming Document Hearing (Commencing Monday 21 January 2013)
(TC), E223/3, 17 January 2013; Announcement of Remaining Hearings Prior to the Close of
Evidentiary Proceedings in Case 002/01 and Scheduling of Final Trial Management Meeting for 13
June 2013 (TC), E288, 31 May 2013; Schedule for the Final Document and Other Hearings in Case
002/01, for the Questioning of the Accused and Response to Motions E263 and E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1,
17 June 2013.

10 Announcement of Remaining Hearings Prior to the Close of Evidentiary Proceedings in Case
002/01 and Scheduling of Final Trial Management Meeting for 13 June 2013 (TC), E288, 31 May
2013; T. 13 June 2013, pp. 7-8; T. 9 July 2013, pp. 69-70, 89-90; Schedule for the Final Document and
Other Hearings in Case 002/01, for the Questioning of the Accused and Response to Motions E263 and
E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1, 17 June 2013.

71T, 13 June 2013, pp. 10-19; T. 9 July 2013, pp. 73-74, 76-78, 80-85.

172 Scheduling of Trial Management Meeting to enable planning of the remaining trial phases in Case
002/01 and implementation of further measures designed to promote trial efficiency (TC), E218, 3
August 2012, para. 20.

17 Notification of Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crimes Sites within the
Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163) and Deadline for Submission of Applicable Law Portion of
Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5, 8 October 2012; Further Notification of Modalities for Closing Briefs
(TC), E163/5/4, 26 November 2012.
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substantive hearing in Case 002/01.7* The parties also had the opportunity to file
separately 20-page submissions on the applicable law by 21 December 2012."7 In the
event the parties did not avail themselves of this opportunity, they were free to make
any submissions in the pages allotted for Closing Briefs or time allotted for Closing
Statements.!”® Subsequently, the Chamber twice extended the deadline for Closing
Briefs, resulting in a 26 September 2013 deadline. The Chamber also extended each
party’s page limit by 25 pages, clarifying that end notes did not count towards the
page limit.!”’

71.  On 17 June 2013, the Chamber notified the parties of the schedule for Closing
Statements, allotting three days to the Co-Prosecutors, one day to the Civil Party Lead
Co-Lawyers and two days to each of the Accused.!” The Civil Party Lead Co-
Lawyers and the Co-Prosecutors were together provided a day for rebuttal and the
Accused two hours each for rejoinder and final statements.'” Closing statements were
initially scheduled for 30 days after the filing of Closing Briefs in one official
language of the ECCC and later adjusted to 16-31 October 2013."® In order to assist
the parties in preparing for Closing Statements, the Chamber and the Defence Support

Section provided the Accused access to interpreters.'®!

1% Further Notification of Modalities for Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5/4, 26 November 2012.

175 Notification of Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crimes Sites within the
Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163) and Deadline for Submission of Applicable Law Portion of
Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5, 8 October 2012, para. 4.

176 Further Notification of Modalities for Closing Briefs (TC), E163/5/4, 26 November 2012; T. 13
June 2013, pp. 27-28.

177 Adjusted Schedule for Closing Submissions (E295/1, E295/1/2, E295/1/3, E295/2 and E295/3)
(TC), E295/4, 22 August 2013, para. 2 (extending the deadline to 19 September 2013); Response to E-
mailed Requests for Extension of Time (TC), E295/6, 12 September 2013, para. 5; Schedule for the
Final Document and Other Hearings in Case 002/01, for the Questioning of the Accused and Response
to Motions E263 and E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1, 17 June 2013; T. 23 July 2013, p. 71 (resulting in a 225
page limit for the Co-Prosecutors, a 125 page limit for each Accused and a 105 page limit for the Civil
Party Lead Co-Lawyers)

178 Schedule for the Final Document and Other Hearings in Case 002/01, for the Questioning of the
Accused and Response to Motions E263 and E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1, 17 June 2013; See also, Internal
Rule 94; Adjusted Schedule for Closing Submissions (E295/1, E295/1/2, E295/1/3, E295/2 and
E295/3) (TC), E295/4, 22 August 2013, para. 6.

17 Adjusted Schedule for Closing Submissions (E295/1, E295/1/2, E295/1/3, E295/2 and E295/3)
(TC), E295/4, 22 August 2013, paras 4, 6; See also, Internal Rule 94,

18 Adjusted Schedule for Closing Submissions (E295/1, E295/1/2, E295/1/3, E295/2 and E295/3)
(TC), E295/4, 22 August 2013, paras 5-6.

81 Adjusted Schedule for Closing Submissions (E295/1, E295/1/2, E295/1/3, E295/2 and E295/3)
(TC), E295/4, 22 August 2013, para. 5;Response to E-mailed Requests for Extension of Time (TC),
E295/6, 12 September 2013, para.4; See also, Decision on KHIEU Samphan Request for Declaration of
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72. Between the first day of Opening Statements on 21 November 2011 and the
first day of Closing Statements on 16 October 2013, there were 480 days on which the
Chamber did not sit (including weekends, national holidays, recesses and various
adjournments, for example those resulting from the health of the Accused). The
Accused were on notice from 3 August 2012 that they were expected to allocate
facilities and resources, including non-sitting days, during the trial in preparing
Closing Briefs. Finally, the Chamber extended deadlines and adapted page limits and
other facilities as circumstances required and in the interests of justice. Thus the
Chamber does not consider that the Accused’s rights to adversarial debate or to

present a defence were violated by the procedures set for closing submissions.'®?

2.495. Conclusion

73. The Accused fail to demonstrate how the various procedural rulings, alone or
taken together, precluded a real opportunity for adversarial debate. The Chamber
cannot be held accountable for the failure of the Accused or his counsel to use the
various opportunities provided, in particular when the Chamber repeatedly attempted
to accommodate their concerns by providing further time or opportunities to comply.
Accordingly, the Chamber considers that the right of the Accused to adversarial

debate was not infringed.

2.4.10.  Right of the Accused to Make Statements and Respond to

Questioning

74. KHIEU Samphan submits that the Chamber impeded his right to present a
defence and comment on the evidence against him when it denied his requests to:
receive lists of questions and documents to be used in his questioning; limit
questioning to half-day sessions; and be provided three weeks to consult with his

counsel prior to questioning. He also alleges prejudice arising from the failure of the

Inadmissibility of the Co-Prosecutors’ Closing Brief (E295/7), E295/7/2, 14 October 2013, para.6
(noting that the KHIEU Samphan Defence in fact availed itself of this facility).

182 The ICTY Appeals Chamber considered that a deadline for closing briefs 11 days after the close of
the hearing of evidence was not prejudicial to an accused’s rights insofar as there were numerous non-
sitting days over the course of the trial and the parties had sufficient notice (one year) that they were
expected to allocate resources in such a way as to allow for development of their brief over the course
of the trial (Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 94).
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Chamber to ensure his counsel had access to the detention facilities on weekends.'®3

Thus, considering that the Chamber refused to give the Accused a “worthy, fair and
composed question time”, the Accused “exercised the only right he ha[d] left, to
remain silent until the closure of the ‘proceedings’ and to make a final statement after
closing argumen’cs”.184 Further, both KHIEU Samphan and NUON Chea indicated that
they refused to submit to questioning at the conclusion of the hearing of evidence on

the basis that their fair trial rights were violated throughout the proceedings.185

75. Pursuant to Internal Rules 85 and 90, the President, in consultation with the
judges of the Trial Chamber, may decide on reasonable procedures for the statements

or questioning of an accused so long as the rights of the accused are respected.186

76. The Chamber granted KHIEU Samphan’s request for prior notification of the
documents the parties intended to use in questioning and to testify in half-day
sessions. The Chamber, however, specifically indicated that it was unable to calculate
how long the Accused would be able or willing to answer questions and therefore
declined to place any further time limitations on questioning. Considering the length
of the investigation and trial and the fact that the Accused was on notice of the
charges against him throughout, the Chamber also denied KHIEU Samphan’s requests
for a three week adjournment to prepare for questioning and notification of the topics

and questions the other parties planned to canvas.'®’

77. In relation to the request for a list of topics or questions to be covered in
questioning, the Chamber affirms its previous finding that the Accused was expected

to know the case against him and the context of questioning, particularly by the

18T, 9 July 2013, pp. 40-43; T. 13 June 2013, pp. 37-38; Submissions by Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s
Defence regarding the Questioning of the Accused, E288/4, 5 July 2013, paras 11-22, 26-27, 38;
Urgent Request by the Defence Team of Mr. KHIEU Samphan for an Immediate Stay or Proceedings,
E275/2/1/1, 1 August 2013, paras 71-72, 75, 99.

18 Submissions by Mr. KHIEU Samphan’s Defence regarding the Questioning of the Accused,
E288/4, 5 July 2013, para. 5, 23-24, 40; T. 9 July 2013, pp. 41, 42-43.

185 T, 9 July 2013, pp. 41, 42-43; T. 17 July 2013, pp. 67-68; Withdrawal of Notice of Intent pursuant
to Internal Rule 90, E287/2, 30 July 2013, paras 3-4, 18.

18 See also, Seromba Appeal Judgement, paras 19-20; Blagojevi¢ and Jokié Appeal Judgement, paras
27-29.

187 Schedule for the Final Document and Other Hearings in Case 002/01, for the Questioning of the
Accused and Response to Motions E263 and E288/1 (TC), E288/1/1, 17 June 2013, paras §-9; T. 13
June 2013, pp. 26-27.
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conclusion of the hcaring.188

In any event, the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead
Co-Lawyers were willing to provide KHIEU Samphan with lists of questions.'®’
Further, the Chamber’s refusal to place time limits on the questioning of the Accused
was reasonable and intended to accommodate the willingness and ability of KHIEU
Samphan to continue at any given point. Finally, the Chamber notes that the Accused
and his counsel both indicated that, even if all Defence requests concerning the
manner and procedure for the Accused’s questioning were granted, KHIEU Samphan
still would not have responded to questioning on the basis that his rights were violated
throughout the proceedings.'*® In this regard, the Chamber affirms its findings above,
and throughout the proceedings, that both Accused’s fair trial rights were respected

over the course of the trial.

78.  NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan exercised their right not to give evidence
when the opportunity was provided.'” The Accused had various opportunities
throughout the hearing to make statements and respond to questions. On various
occasions they availed themselves of these opportunities.192 Pursuant to Internal Rule
94(3), the Accused also had a final opportunity to make statements on 31 October
2013. They took advantage of this opportunity.'®®> The Chamber therefore finds that
there was no infringement of the Accused’s right to make statements or respond to

questions as provided in Internal Rules 81(6), 89bis, 90, 91bis and 94.'**

'8 Krajisnik Appeal Judgement, para. 370 (considering the indictment, pre-trial brief, witness and
evidence lists, and his presence during trial, the Chamber found that the accused was “well-aware of
the context of the Prosecution’s questions and of the Prosecution’s case against him” when he testified
in his own defence).

18 T, 9 July 2013, pp. 32-39; Co-Prosecutors’ Response to KHIEU Samphan’s Withdrawal from
Testifying and a Request for Adverse Inferences to be Drawn, E288/4/1, 16 July 2013, para. 10.

199 T, 9 July 2013, pp. 41-47.

Y1 Blagojevié and Joki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 28 (where an accused’s own choices interfere with
his right to give evidence, he cannot claim a violation of his fair trial rights).

192 See Section 2: Preliminary Issues, 2.3.4.2 (on sources of evidence).

13T, 31 October 2013, pp. 68-73; T. 31 October 2013, pp. 1-34.

19 The Chamber notes that insofar as these rules provide the other parties the right to question an
accused, they confer on an accused a corresponding right to respond, if he/she intends to do so,
emanating from his/her rights to remain silent, to adversarial debate and to present a defence.
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3. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND®

79.  The events during the Democratic Kampuchea era must be understood within
the context of events that preceded it and in particular the development of the
Communist Party of Kampuchea (“CPK”). As the CPK grew, it developed and put
into practice a number of policies in order to achieve its goals. The existence of each
of these policies is examined in this section in order to provide a full picture of the
situation prior to 17 April 1975. This section considers the historical development of
CPK policies while their overall implementation will be the subject of subsequent
chapters which comprise a general overview of events during the temporal scope of
the charges or the specific crimes charged in this case.®® Two of these policies, the
forced movement of the population and the targeting of Khmer Republic soldiers and
civilian officials, are the subject of charges within Case 002/01 and are consequently
examined in greater detail. Further to the existence and, where relevant, the
implementation of the CPK policies, the Chamber examines below the general
conditions in Phnom Penh leading up to the final assault of the city which began in
January 1975 and culminated in the takeover and evacuation of Phnom Penh on 17
April 1975.

3.1. General Overview and Establishment of the CPK

80. In establishing the history of the CPK set out below, the Chamber has relied
upon the testimony of NUON Chea and on a number of key documents, including
Revolutionary Flag magazines and the transcript of a 1998 interview'®’ given by
NUON Chea to KHEM Ngun, a former assistant to Ta Mok.'®® When questioned
about this interview, NUON Chea attempted to discredit KHEM by stating before the
Chamber that the latter was a spy for HUN Sen, a Co-Prime Minister of the

195 The evidence discussed in this section is for the purpose of establishing the historical and factual
context of events within the temporal jurisdiction of the ECCC. Such may include: clarifying a given
context, establishing by inference the elements of criminal conduct within the temporal jurisdiction of
the ECCC, or demonstrating a deliberate pattern of conduct. See Nahimana Appeal Judgement, para.
315.

19 See Section 4: General Overview; Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One); Section
11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two); Section 12: Tuol Po Chrey.

7 T, 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 40-43; Video Record of NUON Chea testimony,
E1/23R, 15 December 2011 (session 2) at 50:00-50:15 (Counsel repeating 1998 as date of interview).
1% NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, fn. 1; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON
Chea), pp. 45-46.
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Cambodian government at the time the interview was recorded. At the beginning of
the interview, NUON Chea emphasised that his recollections were incomplete and
that it was difficult to recall particular events going back over many years. The
Chamber finds his answers in the interview consistent with other statements he made,
including in court. There was no suggestion that he was being untruthful in the
interview or that the transcript was inaccurate. In court, NUON Chea acknowledged
that he had “mostly” told the truth to KHEM Ngun in this interview, noting only that
he had possibly withheld certain information from him.'” As it is the truth of the
contents of the interview, not the reliability of KHEM Ngun’s record of the interview
which is at issue, the Chamber is satisfied that the transcript of the interview

constitutes a reliable basis for factual findings.

81. The first developments of the history of communism in Cambodia are closely
linked with the fight against French colonial authorities and especially the armed
struggle after World War II, carried out by Khmer Issaraks and the Indochina
Communist Party.zoo In 1951, the Indochina Communist Party, led by HO Chi Minh
and with branches in Vietnam, Laos and Cambodia,”®' held a Congress attended by
NUON Chea. During the Congress, the Vietnamese-led Party renamed its branches,
with the branch in Cambodia becoming the Khmer People’s Revolutionary Party
(KPRP). 22

82. In late 1953, after NORDOM Sihanouk had successfully launched his “Royal
Crusade for Independence,” Cambodia again became autonomous. Following the

signing of the Geneva Accords in 1954 which nominally ended the first Indochina

199 T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 45 (“as for whether 1 was truthful or not, it depended on
the situation at that time, it depended on what I saw Khém Ngun as a person. At some point, I talked
truthfully, but at some other point, I refrained from saying things”).

20 Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution,
E3/20, 1986, pp. 51-53, ERN (En) 00237756-58 (In addition to communists and Issaraks, the
nationalists of the Democrat Party asked for Cambodian independence but disavowed armed resistance
and promoted moderate social change through legal means).

201 T 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 51 (“Everything was under the control of Vietnam from the
Hanoi headquarters or from the Ho Chi Minh headquarters™), pp. 63-64.

22 NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 5, ERN (En) 00184656; T. 5
December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 64; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 40-41; Article by NUON
C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 6, ERN (En)
00716414.
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war’?, Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam obtained their full independence and foreign
troops in Indochina, including Viét Minh soldiers stationed in Cambodia, were
obliged to withdraw from their positions.”** Cambodian communist representatives,
however, were not permitted to participate in the negotiations, nor did they obtain any
concessions arising from their support of Viét Minh forces during the common fight
against the French army.”® After the withdrawal of Viét Minh forces from Cambodia,
all Cambodian communist organisations were dissolved**® leaving former members of
the KPRP vulnerable to repression by NORODOM Sihanouk’s State authorities.?"’
This situation was later described by SALOTH Sar alias POL Pot, NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan as the first sign that Viét Minh leaders could not be trusted to
safeguard Cambodian interests and that their sole purpose was to establish and control

an Indochinese Federation.?®

2% Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution,
E3/20, 1986, pp. 77-79, ERN (En) 00237782-84.

2% Comité des Patriotes du Kampuchéa Démocratique en France publication: For the Survival of
Kampuchea as a Nation, E3/617, September 1979, p. 8, ERN (En) S 00721503 (alleging that:
“Pursuant to the Geneva Agreements (20 July 1954), the Vietnamese were obliged to withdraw from
Kampuchea. However, they returned with close to 2,000 Khmers, the majority of whom were youth.
After 15 years of indoctrination, they succeeded in training some of them to become servile agents”).
See also, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 6, ERN (En) 00184657 (pursuant
to “the agreement regarding Kampuchea, all foreign armies had to withdraw from Kampuchea™).

25 By contrast, the Lao communists were given two Lao provinces near the Vietnamese border as
their own territory and they were given all rights denied to the Cambodian communists: Book by E.
BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution, E3/20, 1986, p. 77,
ERN (En) 00237782.

26 KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of
Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 4-5, ERN (En) 00498223-24.

27 T, 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p- 11 (after the Geneva Agreements there were only a handful
of combatants remaining who were allied with the Communist cause); NUON Chea Interview by
KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 7, ERN (En) 00184658 (“According to the Geneva Agreement of
1954, all of our comrades who were called the Khmer Viet Minh who had rejoined and who were then
living in Kampuchean society were suppressed, arrested, imprisoned, put in chains, and secretly killed
by Sihanouk’s state authorities [...] In general, the Khmer Peoples [sic] Revolutionary Party had
almost dissolved™); See aiso, T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 48-49 (The situation worsened
with the defection of SIEU Heng, the husband of NUON Chea’s aunt who was then at the head of the
KPRP and who rallied to Sihanouk and LON Nol in 1959).

28 Comité des Patriotes du Kampuchéa Démocratique en France publication: For the Survival of
Kampuchea as a Nation, E3/617, September 1979, p. 8, ERN (En) S 00721503 (alleging that between
1945-1954 “[t]he Vietminh, under the pretext of fighting French colonialism, came and settled in
Kampuchea and in Laos and took advantage of that circumstance to recruit agents devoted to them on
the basis of a false ‘proletarian internationalism’ and the ‘Indochinese Federation’ cult”); See also,
KHIEU Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4027, ERN (En) 00790536 (the establishment of the Khmer
Revolutionary Armed Forces was “based upon the stance of independence and mastery that originated
from study of the experience gained from the 1954 Geneva Agreement {and which] concluded that it
was impossible to rely upon Vietnam, to rely upon other foreign countries.”)
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83. In 1955, NORODOM Sihanouk renounced the throne in order to become the
Chief of the Cambodian state. He won an election and launched the Sangkum party
which established a neutral foreign policy that included as a policy a refusal to join
the Southeast Asia Treaty Organization.209 At that time, SON Ngoc Minh went to
Hanoi and SIEU Heng controlled the Khmer communist movement particularly in the
countryside, while TOU Samuth was Deputy Party Secretary responsible for Phnom
Penh. Later, when SIEU Heng’s defection to NORODOM Sihanouk and LON Nol
was revealed, TOU Samuth replaced SIEU Heng as the head of the party.”'° NUON
Chea worked in secret on behalf of the KPRP and, in late 1955, was appointed party
secretary for Phnom Penh,?!! where he and POL Pot acted as TOU Samuth’s
assistants.”'? Between 1955 and 1960, however, the party remained disorganised and

nearly dissolved.”"

84. In 1959, TOU Samuth, POL Pot and NUON Chea began the process of
creating a new Cambodian party free of the Vietnamese influence characterised by the
Indochina Communist Party.?'* According to KHIEU Samphan, the three men formed
the Phnom Penh City Committee pending the election of new leadership.?'> Expert
Philip SHORT notes that KHIEU Samphan was assigned the task of rallying

intellectual support and reaching out to potential communist sympathisers in

2 Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution,
E3/20, 1986, pp. 80-83, ERN (En) 00237785-88.

219 NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00184661-62.

21! NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 7, ERN (En) 00184658; See Section 7:
Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 308.

12 NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, pp. 7-8, ERN (En) 00184658-59; Article
by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp. 8-9, ERN
(En) 00716416-17.

13 'NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 7, ERN (En) 00184658; NUON Chea:
Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 8, ERN (En) 00716416.

2% T, 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 27-28; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the
History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 7-11,
ERN (En) 00498226-30; Two other founding members, MEI Mann and CHAN Saman, abandoned
their work early on: Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early
Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 7, ERN (En) 00498226; Book by E.
BECKER, When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, 1986, p. 92, ERN (En) 00237797 (“since the Khmer
communists held their meeting to elect leaders for the Khmer People’s Revolutionary Party, the
Cambodians had ceased to be a carbon copy of the old Vietnamese ICP”).

215 Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the
Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 7, ERN (En) 00498226, 00498229.
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mainstream political life.2'® IENG Sary was also a member of the Phnom Penh City

Committee.?!’

85.  Around the same time, NORODOM Sihanouk coined the term “Khmer Rouge”
to refer to the Pracheachon, a semi-legal arm of the communist party in Cambodia.*'®
The term “Khmer Rouge” however was never used by members of the Communist

movement to describe themselves.?!®

86. POL Pot and NUON Chea drafted the Party Statute and the Party’s strategic
and tactical lines either on orders from TOU Samuth or of their own initiative.”’
According to NUON Chea, the strategic line was based on a social analysis of
Cambodian society which was divided into classes: half-colonialist and half-feudalist.
The first task was to conduct a national revolution based on the worker-peasant
alliance assembling the forces of the people, including capitalists (whose spirit of
patriotism encompassed attacking America), imperialists and feudalists, in order to

liberate the nation. The Party Statute also adopted Marxism-Leninism and

26 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 132, ERN (En)
00396332; T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 24-25; See also, Book by IN Sopheap: KHIEU
Samphan: Agrandi and Réel, E3/4602, ERN (Fr) 00906858-59 (reporting NUON Chea’s statement as
follows: “Certes, tout ce que faisait Khieu Samphan n’était pas de son initiative: il le faisait sur
instructions du parti et avec l'assistance du parti, envers lequel il a toujours été honnéte, droit et loyal
[...] Le Parti lui indiquait les grandes lignes. Il les développait et les propageait dans son journal et
dans I’assemblée et les faisait parvenir aux masses populaires. [...] Khieu Samphan était trés peu au
courant des activités réelles du parti. Son réle consistait a travailler parmi les intellectuels car il était un
érudit. Il menait trés bien son travail de Ranaksé Sratoap Leu (front uni avec les couches sociales
supérieures”), ERN (Fr) 00906757 (reporting KHIEU Samphan as stating “Tous [les étudiants]
propageaient les activités de lutte de leurs organisations préférées. Je les écoutais, ne demandant qu’a
les croire, mais sans m'engager. Tout cela était trop ‘politique’ pour moi. [...] ‘J'étais bien étranger a ce
qui se passait & I'époque’), ERN (Fr) 00906760 (IN Sopheap adds, “Khieu Samphan n'était pas connu
pour étre un militant démocrate. Il était resté un bon fils de bourgeois et un éléve plutdt sage, (et tres
moyen, précise-t-il). En comparaison des autres camarades lycéens que nous venons de voir, Sau Ngoy,
Vorn Vet, Hu Nim, Tiv O], (qui avaient a peu prés son age), il semblait présenter peu de dispostions
[sic] pour la révolution.”)

2I7 "NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 9, ERN (En) 00184660.

218 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 114-115, ERN (En)
00396306-07; Book by D. CHANDLER: Brother Number One: A Political Biography of Pol Pot,
E3/17, 1999, pp. 66, 214, ERN (En) 00392980, 00393128; Book by E. BECKER: When the War was
Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution, E3/20, 1986, p. 100, ERN (En) 00237805.

219 Book by D. CHANDLER: Brother Number One: A Political Biography of Pol Pot, E3/17, 1999,
pp- 66, 214, ERN (En) 00392980, 00393128.

20 T, 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 13-14; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp. 11-12, ERN (En) 00716419-20 (NUON Chea
states: “Ta TOU Samut was not useful because he was old and not so knowledgeable. Therefore, there
were only SALOTH Sa [sic] and me. IENG Sary was a leftist and stubborn person.”); Book by KHIEU
S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00498229-30.
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“democratic centralism” as founding principles of the Party. According to NUON
Chea, “the Party had to be built from the countryside [and] the city, using the

countryside as a support base, [and] the city as the fuse.”**!

87. From 28 to 30 September 1960°%, the First Party Congress was secretly
convened in a disused building where UK Sokun resided at the railway station in
Phnom Penh to adopt the statute and to appoint the leadership committee.”*> This new
party was initially called the Workers’ Party of Kampuchea and later renamed the
Communist Party of Kampuchea.** According to KHIEU Samphan, the members of
the Phnom Penh City Committee later formed the membership of the Central
Committee of the CPK.?* TOU Samuth was appointed Secretary and NUON Chea
was appointed Deputy Secretary of the Party, with POL Pot, SAO Phim and MA
Mang as the other members of the Standing Committee.?® In addition, Central
Committee members were recruited, including TOU Samuth, NUON Chea, POL Pot,
MA Mang, IENG Sary, KEO Meas, Chong and VORN Vet.”?’ According to NUON
Chea, SON Sen was also appointed a candidate or alternate member of the Standing
Committee at that time and Chong was not.**® In addition to representatives of urban

areas, the Party invited ten to fifteen representatives from rural areas to study the

21 NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 15, ERN (En) 00184666; See Section
5: Administrative Structures, paras 223-228 (on democratic centralism).

2 Two weeks before the First Congress, Vietnamese in Hanoi made official their decision to fight in

South Vietnam “to liberate the south from the rule of the American imperialists and their henchmen”
and three months later the National Liberation Front was established to that end. Book by E. BECKER:
When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution, E3/20, 1986, p. 93, ERN (En)
00237798.

223 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 82; Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 15,

ERN (En) 00486226; IENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, pp. 33-34,
ERN (En) 00417631-32 (UK Sokun); Book by KHIEU 8.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia
From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 10-12, ERN (En) 00498229-
31; NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 11, ERN (En) 00184662.

2% T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 65-66, 69; Book by E. BECKER: When the War was

QOver: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution, E3/20, 1986, 1986, p. 93, ERN (En) 00237798.

25 Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the
Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 10, ERN (En) 00498229.

226 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 82; IENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17
December 1996, p. 33, ERN (En) 00417631; NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated,
?. 11, ERN (En) 00184662.

7 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, ,
pp- 11-12, ERN (En) 00716419-20; T. 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 19-25, 35; IENG Sary
Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 33, ERN (En) 00417631; See Section 5:
Administrative Structures, para. 202.

228 T, 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 24-25, 32-36; See Section 5: Administrative Structures,
paras 202-203 for the distinction between the Central and Standing Committees.
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Party lines and the Party Statute.”® There is no surviving documentation from the

meeting, possibly because nothing was prepared other than the Party Statute itself.>°

88. According to NUON Chea, the First Congress decided to use arms only if
necessary to protect their forces.”>' Throughout the period of Democratic Kampuchea
(“DK era”),®2 however, the CPK leaders, including NUON Chea, IENG Sary and
POL Pot stated on many occasions that the First Congress in 1960 adopted
“revolutionary violence” and decided to use “armed struggle” to achieve its goals.’*>
The use of “revolutionary violence” had been the subject of disagreement between
Khmer Rouge leaders and Vietnamese communists from the signing of the Geneva
Agreement throughout the 1960s. In January and May 1959 for example, the
Vietnamese Workers’ Party agreed to change from political to armed struggle against
the Republic of South Vietnam, but they opposed the Cambodian communists

adopting the same strategy.?>*

2 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, , p.
12, ERN (En) 00716420; Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 15, ERN (En) 00486226; Pol
Pot’s Press Conference in Peking (in SWB Collection), E3/2072, 3 October 1977, ERN (En) S
00080547.

B0 Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the
Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 12, ERN (En) 00498231.

21T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 83; T. 11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 32-33, 38-40.
P2 See ECCC Agreement (defining the period of Democratic Kampuchea from 1975-1979 and
establishing temporal jurisdiction from 17 April 1975 to 6 January 1979); See also, ECCC Law,
Articles 1-8.

33 Nuon Chea Speaks on Cambodian Army Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/147, 17 January
1977, ERN (En) 00168467 (“Since 1960, our Cambodian Revolutionary Organization had drawn up
the strategic and tactical lines for revolution in a democratic nation [...] after 1960 our Revolutionary
Organization clearly decided that political action and armed violence must be used to overthrow and
crush the enemy.”); Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 19, ERN (En)
00491412 (“revolutionary political and armed violence” and “armed violence”), p. 24, ERN (En)
00491417 (“beginning in 1960 [...] the Party had a strategic line and a tactical line including making
ready for revolutionary violence and setting up an army”); Book by KHIEU 8S.: Considerations on the
History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 12,
ERN (En) 00498231 (“‘exploiting classes®” were the primary enemy of the Cambodian revolution and
‘the tools of the American imperialists.” Thus, the Cambodian people had to smash the ‘feudalist
regime’ whether by peaceful methods or by other means.”); Article by D. BURSTEIN: Interview with
Deputy Prime Minister Ieng Sary, in Kampuchea Today: An Eyewitness Report From Cambodia,
E3/707, December 1978, p. 42, ERN (En) S 00049323 (“armed struggle™); Pol Pot’s Press Conference
in Peking (in SWB Collection), E3/2072, 3 October 1977, ERN (En) S 00080547 (“We attached
special importance to violent struggle, unfolding both violent political struggle and armed struggle with
armed struggle as the main form.”)

2% Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the Khmer Rouge Revolution,
E3/20, p. 89, ERN (En) 00237794; See also, Book by KHIEU S.. Considerations on the History of
Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 11-12, ERN (En)
00498230-31 (According to KHIEU Samphan in a letter to the Cambodian Party leadership in late
1959, the Vietnamese Workers’ Party noted its support of the Sihanouk regime and encouraged the
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89. Around February 1962, Party Secretary TOU Samuth was probably arrested
and then disappeared, necessitating the appointment of a new Party Secretary during
the Second Party Congress held in February 1963 on Charles de Gaulle Street in
Phnom Penh.”** Members of the Standing Committee at the time were POL Pot, SAO
Phim, IENG Sary and NUON Chea.”*® Other members present included Keu (alias
Sophal), Chong, VORN Vet, MUOL Sambath alias ROS Nhim, Ta Mok, and MA
Mang.>*’ It is possible that SON Sen was present, although NUON Chea’s statements
in this regard are not entirely clear.”>® The Second Party Congress appointed POL Pot
as the Party Secretary and NUON Chea as Deputy Party Secretary. It reaffirmed the
use of political and armed revolutionary violence.”® In 1963, together with other
individuals, IENG Sary and POL Pot, both listed as “progressive”, were summoned
by NORODOM Sihanouk under the pretext of forming a new government. Fearing

arrest they joined the underground near the Vietnamese border.”*

90. In 1965, POL Pot travelled to Vietnam and China to unveil the recently-
formulated strategic lines of the CPK.2*!
the CPK failed to consult them in establishing the CPK Statute, the Communist Party

Although the Vietnamese were unhappy that

of China considered that the CPK party lines were in accordance with doctrine and

Cambodian Communist Party to seek power through elections thereby avoiding class struggle and the
use of revolutionary force. In support of this strong recommendation they referred to Khrushchev’s
views regarding “the parliamentary road to socialism” espoused during the 20" Party Congress of the
Soviets in Moscow.)

35 T, 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 10; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 76-78; NUON
Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, pp. 14-15, ERN (En) 00184665-66; IENG Sary
Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 34, ERN (En) 00417632; Article by
NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp. 14-15, ERN
(En) 00716422-23 (referring to third general assembly, but in 1963).

% NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, p. 16, ERN (En) 00184667; T. 12
January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 15.

#7  Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp.
15-16, ERN (En) 00716423-24.

28 T, 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 16; NUON Chea Interview by Khem Ngun, E3/3, Undated,
ERN (En) 00184667; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to
1970, E3/131, pp. 16-17.

3% Revolutionary Flag, E169/4/1.1.2, Dec 1975-Jan 1976, p. 7, ERN (En) 00865697; T. 7 May 2013
(Philip SHORT), pp. 26-28 (Sihanouk allowed no room for opposition so violence was the only option
available to the Khmer Rouge).

20 T, 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 65-67; See also, Book by KHIEU S.:
Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 17-18, ERN (En) 00498236-37.

21T, 13 December 2011, p. 26 (NUON Chea); T. 31 January 2012, p. 17 (NUON Chea); Article by
NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 17, ERN (En)
00716425 (POL Pot travelled to North Vietnam to seek contacts for the party and to China to explain
the movement).
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this enabled the CPK to liaise with other communist parties at the time.2*? Around this
time, the CPK headquarters of Office 100 moved to Ratanakiri.2*?

91. In 1967, there was a spontaneous uprising in Samlaut village in Battambang that
was the result of land disputes caused by members of the army and civil servants
taking land from Samlaut villagers.”** The party leadership considered it was
premature to initiate an armed revolution at the time.”** Nonetheless, the 1967
Samlaut rebellion in Battambang marked the beginning of armed struggle and civil

war in Cambodia.**$

92. Because he never thought the peasants would rebel against him, NORODOM
Sihanouk was very upset by the Samlaut rebellion and moved to quash it with great
force.?*’ He blamed the influence of the Chinese Cultural Revolution and ordered the
Cambodian-Chinese Friendship Association, of which HU Nim was the President,
dissolved>*® KHIEU Samphan, who had joined the CPK with HU Nim, was
threatened with arrest and to be brought to the military court under the pretext that he
was a ringleader of the rebellion.>* NUON Chea then took KHIEU Samphan, HU
Nim and the other intellectuals, including HOU Youn, to the forest because they were

now in danger in Phnom Penh.**

22 T, 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 26; T. 31 January 2012, p. 17 (NUON Chea); Article by
NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 17, ERN (En)
00716425.

23T, 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 18-21 (discussing his travels to Office 100, “As I recall it,
they moved to Rattanakiri before 1966”).

2 T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 10-16; T. 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 34-35;
T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 71-72; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 17, ERN (En) 00716425.

5 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p.
17, ERN (En) 00716425.

246 T, 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 34-35.

*7 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 32, ERN (En) 00103739; T. 13 December 2011, p. 88 (KHIEU Samphan); T. 13 December
2011, pp. 11-12 (NUON Chea); T. 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 35.

¥ Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 32, ERN (En) 00103739.

2% T.13 December 2011, pp. 87-88, 91 (KHIEU Samphan).

20T, 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 87; T. 25 July 2012 (David CHANDLERY), pp. 40-41;
T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 54; T. 9 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 40, 44; KHIEU
Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/581, 6 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00659103; Book by
KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 21-
22, 23, 25-26, ERN (En) 00103733-00103734, 00103735-00103736; Article by NUON C.: Past
Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp. 18, 20, ERN (En) 00716426,
00716428.
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93. The events at Samlaut triggered further revolt and, on 17 January 1968, there
was an armed attack at Bay Damram, Battambang, by which CPK forces were able to
confiscate some weapons from police posts.””' The Party subsequently adopted this

event as the birth of the Revolutionary Army of Kampuchea (“RAK”).252

94. The North Vietnamese needed the Sihanouk government’s support, or at least
its continuing neutrality, to supply the war against the Americans in Vietnam.?** They
therefore continued to oppose armed struggle in Cambodia and requested that the
CPK cease making armed attack or at least to leave bridges intact to permit the
transport of weapons and rice from Kampong Thom to the Cambodia-Vietnam

254

border.”" Because of this opposition, the Communist Vietnamese did not provide

arms or any form of support to the Khmer Rouge forces. >

95. . The Third Party Congress was held in 1971 in the Party office near Trapeang
Prei village in the jungle.2*® It was presided over by POL Pot and NUON Chea. It was
attended by all members of the CPK leadership and representatives from each zone,

many of whom appeared in photographs taken at the Congress.”>’ Although

31 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, pp.
17-18, ERN (En) 00716425-26.

22 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p.
18, ERN (En) 00716426; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 10-16 (NUON Chea does not
clearly recall the founding date or event; he states: “To the best of my recollection, the founding date of
the Revolutionary Army of Kampuchea was on the 12th of January 1968”); Central Committee
Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00182810; Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December
1976-January 1977, pp. 18-19, ERN (En) 00491411-12; Revolutionary Flag, E3/744, February 1978,
ERN (En) 00464050-00464069.

253 Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p.
18, ERN (En) 00716426 (the Vietnamese party opposed the armed attacks, accusing the CPK of
attacking their fathers because at that time Sihanouk was practising neutral politics. The Chinese did
not agree either); See Section 3; Historical Background, paras 153-156.

% T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 39-41; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 18, ERN (En) 00716426.

5 T, 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 40-41; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, p. 18, ERN (En) 00716426 (“We asked for some
weapons from the Vietnamese, but they did not give them to us. So we stole the weapons.”).

238 T, 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 8-10, 33.

27 T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 33-34. Witness stated the following
were present at the Third Party Congress (Zone 304 - KOY Thuon, KE Pauk and Doeun; Zone 203 -
SO Phim, Phuong, and Ta Tum; Special Zone — VORN Vet; Southwest Zone — Ta Mok, Ta Chong, Ta
Si; Northwest Zone — ROS Nhim, Ta Keu, and Ta Ktal; Sector 103 — unnamed leader; Northeast Zone
— Ya and Vong; Mondulkiri — Laing); Photograph, E3/136, P 00416593; Photograph, E3/137, P
00416592; Photograph, E3/1595, P 00416590. NUON Chea was unable to identify the persons in the
photo labelled ERN (EN) P00416593 except KOY Thuon. See T. 10 January 2012, pp. 25-27-28.
NUON Chea was provided a copy of each photograph and his counsel indicated they would respond in
due course. See T. 14 February 2012, p. 101.
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ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon did not recall KHIEU Samphan being present,
KHIEU Samphan himself stated that he had attended the 1971 Party Congress and
that he became a candidate member of the Central Committee in 1971.*°® The
Congress ratified the change in party name from Worker’s Party of Cambodia to the
CPK, and created the Special Zone encompassing Phnom Penh and controlled by
VORN Vet? It reiterated the Party’s strategic lines adopted at the 1% and 2"

260
Congresses. 6

3.2. Sihanguk’s Overthrow and the Creation of FUNK and GRUNK

96. By 1969 the economy in Cambodia was flagging and there was uncertainty as
to whether it would be dragged into the war in Vietnam despite Sibanouk’s official
policy of neutrality.”®' From 1969, American bombings in Cambodia served to push
North-Vietnamese troops further into Cambodia which heightened the crisis.*** On 12
March 1970, while NORODOM Sihanouk was in Paris, the Vice-President of South
Vietnam, NGUYEN Cao Ky, secretly visited Phnom Penh and formed an alliance
with Prime Minister LON Nol.2**

97.  Encouraged by his Deputy SIRIK Matak, on 18 March 1970, LON Nol signed
a decree approving the overthrow of NORODOM Sihanouk who was in Moscow and
on his way to Beijing at the time.?** The same day, the Cambodian National Assembly

approved a vote of no confidence in NORODOM Sihanouk and required that he

2% T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 34; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations
on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p.
76, ERN (En) 00498295; T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 92; KHIEU Samphan Interview
Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751.

2 Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the
Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 76-77, ERN (En) 00498295-96; T. 5 December 2011
(NUON Chea), pp. 15-16, 69-70.

260 Revolutionary Flag, E169/4/1.1.2, Dec 1975-Jan 1976, p. 14, ERN (En) 00865704.

1 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 185-187, ERN (En)
00396385-87.

%2 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 185, ERN (En)
00396385; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia
E3/88, pp. 67-68, ERN (En) 00429754-55; See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 153-156.

263 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 195-196, ERN (En)
00396395-96.

24 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 197, ERN (En)
00396397 (“Sihanouk was told [of the coup] in Moscow by Premier Alexei Kosygin as they were
driving to the airport for his departure to Beijing”); Norodom Sihanouk Declaration, E3/1756, 23
March 1970, ERN (En) 00852373; Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over: Cambodia and the
Khmer Rouge Revolution, E3/20, 1986, pp. 115-117, ERN (En) 00237820-22.
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relinquish his office as Chief of State.”®® Confronted with these events, NORODOM
Sihanouk on 23 March 1970 announced in a radio broadcast from Beijing the creation
of a political movement, the National United Front of Kampuchea (“FUNK?”), called
upon his compatriots to join the resistance and to fight against those who instigated
the coup, and promised to provide them with military training and weapons.266
According to POL Pot, NORODOM Sihanouk first presented a draft of this message
to the Chinese Prime Minister ZHOU Enlai who then obtained comments from POL
Pot, who was in Beijing and removed any reference in the statement to socialism.?%’
POL Pot then drafted a message of support to NORODOM Sihanouk in the name of
KHIEU Samphan, HOU Youn and HU Nim and had it delivered to NORODOM
Sihanouk on 26 March 1970 without meeting him or disclosing his presence in

Beijing.**® This account is corroborated by KHIEU Samphan.”*®

98. In May 1970, NORODOM Sihanouk formed a new government in exile, the
Royal Government of National Union of Kampuchea (“GRUNK”). NORODOM
Sihanouk served as the head of state of GRUNK as well as chairman of FUNK.*"
Officially, KHIEU Samphan was the Deputy Prime Minister and the Minister of
National Defence of GRUNK.?”' KHIEU Samphan testified that POL Pot appointed

%5 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 197, ERN (En)
00396397.

266 Message and Solemn Declaration of Samdech Norodom Sihanouk, E3/1756, 23 March 1970; T. 9
October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 50, 53-55; T. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea) p. 90; T. 2 August
2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 69-70.

267 DK Publication: Black Paper, E3/23, September 1978, pp. 35, 38, ERN (En) 00082530, 00082532
(“When the coup d'etat broke out in Kampuchea, the delegation of the Communist Party of Kampuchea
was then in Peking. As for Prince Norodom Sihanouk, he had left Paris, paid an official visit to
Moscow and arrived in Peking on March 19, 1970 [...] The delegation of the Communist Party of
Kampuchea examined and modified the political programme of the National United Front drawn up by
Prince Norodom Sihanouk [...] That was why [in] the March 23, 1970 declaration denouncing and
condemning the coup d’etat of national treason [...] There was no question of socialism or communism
in that document.”); Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 200,
488, ERN (En) 00396400, 00396704.

2% DK Publication: Black Paper, E3/23, September 1978, pp. 35, 38, ERN (En) 00082530, 00082532;
Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 200, 488, ERN (En)
00396400, 00396704.

2% T, 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 88-89; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the
History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 39-40,
ERN (En) 00498258-59.

20 T, 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 90; T. 8 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 8, 10-
11; T. 14 August 2012 (ONG Thong Hoeung), pp. 13-14; GRUNK Report: Cambodia’s Seat in the
United Nations, E3/28, 1973, pp. 24-27, ERN (En) 00068116-17.

21! GRUNK report: Cambodia’s Seat in the United Nations, E3/28, 1973, p. 31, ERN (En) 00068119.
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him to these positions without his knowledge and that the titles were meaningless.272

He admitted however that he served as the link between NORODOM Sihanouk and
POL Pot, stating that, “I had to agree to assume the role as an important leader of the
country’s internal resistance. Frankly, this greatly embarrassed me a lot. But it was a
‘sacrifice’ 1 could not refuse if I wanted to contribute, in accordance with my
possibilities at the time, to the battle for the salvation of our country.”?”® KHIEU
Samphan confirmed that since NORODOM Sihanouk did not know POL Pot, it was
incumbent upon him to establish relations between the CPK and GRUNK.?™

99. The FUNK’s official policy was to unite and mobilise the social classes and to
“overthrow the fascist and racist dictatorship of the American imperialists’ flunkeys
headed by Lon Nol-Sirik Matak.”?”> The FUNK also guaranteed to all Cambodians
basic freedoms including the freedom of religions and beliefs.”’® The GRUNK, and
KHIEU Samphan in particular, officially supported this vision.*”’

100. In reality, the GRUNK administration in Cambodia was a fagade, although
GRUNK/FUNK had certain propaganda functions outside of Cambodia.””® SUONG
Sikoeun testified that NORODOM Sihanouk retained influence overseas and in
diplomatic relations while the CPK was responsible for the armed struggle in
Cambodia.?” In 1973, for instance, NORODOM Sihanouk visited the Khmer Rouge
liberated territories in Cambodia, providing support to the CPK in their fight against

72 T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 90-91; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27,
13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745.

213 T, 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 90; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History
and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 42, ERN (En) 00103744.

274 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745.

215 FUNK Political Programme, E3/1391, ERN (En) S 00012636 [(Fr) 0029139189].

276 FUNK Political Programme, E3/1391, ERN (En) S 00012638 [(Fr) 00291391] (The FUNK’s
objective as to “build a democratic and prosperous Cambodia [and to] Guarantee to all Cambodians,
except traitors known to the country, the freedom of speech, the press opinion, association,
demonstration, residence, travel at home and going abroad etc [...] Safeguard the inviolability of the
person, property, wealth and privacy of correspondence. Guarantee equality to both sexes [...]
Buddhism is and will remain to be the State religion, but the NUFK recognizes and guarantee the
freedom of all other religions and beliefs [...]”.)

27 GRUNK Report: Cambodia’s Seat in the United Nations, E3/28, 19 June 1973, ERN (En)
00068116-7 [(Fr) 00068109-10]; T. 8 February 2012, p. 35; KHIEU Samphan Issues Statement on
Current Situation (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 1 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166898 (“Now the seven
traitors have already forsaken you; you must follow the path of honor and national solidarity by joining
the NUFC [...] to build a prosperous nation in accordance with the policy of independence, peace,
neutrality, sovereignty, democracy, territorial integrity and nonalignment.”)

28 See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 230-239.

2 T. 8 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 41; T. 15 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 60-61.
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the LON Nol regime.280 According to NORODOM Sihanouk, however, he had
relinquished any power he had to the Khmer Rouge, remaining only a symbol of
national unity.”®' He stated, “I am giving everything up to the Khmer Rouge [...] Mr
Khieu Samphan, the vice-Prime Minister and Minister of Defence is the leader of the
resistance within Cambodia, in coordination with the North-Vietnamese and the
Vietcong.”?*? For its part, the FUNK established a radio station, directed by IENG
Thirith, that was used to recruit cadres for the Party and to disseminate propaganda

both inside and outside Cambodia.?®?

Although commentary on FUNK radio was
often unattributed, KHIEU Samphan issued statements on FUNK radio on at least
several occasions.”®* The establishment of the FUNK was therefore intended to unite
the communists and NORODOM Sihanouk, but was also used to attract a large

number of peasants to join the CPK and their cause.”®’

20 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 242-244, ERN (En)
00396442-44; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage
to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 59, ERN (En) 00498278; Video of KHIEU
Samphan entitled “Justice Delayed, Justice Denied”, E3/3902R (depicting KHIEU Samphan and
NORODOM Sihanouk in the jungle during Sihanouk’s 1973 visit to the liberated zones); Video of
KHIEU Samphan entitled “Justice Delayed, Justice Denied”, E3/3904R (depicting KHIEU Samphan,
Hu Nim alias Phoas, HOU Yuon and POL Pot with NORODOM Sihanouk, during Sihanouk’s 1973
visit to liberated zones); Video of NORODOM Sihanouk entitled “Pol Pot et les Khmer Rouges”,
E3/3942R (depicting NORODOM Sihanouk visiting CPK leaders in 1973 and saying: “Here I’m
talking about my country with my collaborators, M. IENG Sary alias Van.”)

31 Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia E3/482, p. 16, ERN (En) 00524000 [(Fr)
00385704] (on 13 April 1973, NORODOM Sihanouk told Chinese and foreign journalists “After the
war is over, Prince Sihanouk will only be a symbol of national unity, a head of state who will no longer
have the powers he had before the events of 18 March 1970. In reality, power will be in the hands of
the Khmer Rouge essentially”) and p. 20-21 ERN (En) 00524004-00524005 [(Fr) 00385706-
00385707] NORODOM Sihanouk later replied in one interview: “I am fighting for them to allow me
to live in Cambodia with them. [...] What do they have in store for me? I would like to know how their
views regarding my status. Am I an ordinary citizen or a head of state? {...] I have virtually no relations
the Khmer Rouge now [... ).

%2 Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, p. 9 ERN (En) 00523993; [(Fr)
00385701].

¥ T.7 December 2011 (LONG Norin), pp. 65-66, 69-70 (IENG Thirith was in charge of the radio in
Hanoi); T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), 95-97 (IENG Thirith was the director; KHIEU Samphan
and IENG Sary had no authority over the radio station).

24 T, 25 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 93-94 (KHIEU Samphan encouraged
people to gather all forces inside and outside the country); T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias
PHY Phuon), p. 66 (KHIEU Samphan urged LON Nol soldiers to join the revolution); T. 9 May 2013
(Philip SHORT), pp. 4-5 (statement regarding 7 traitors was a double-edged sword — implying those
who did not join the revolution would meet the same fate); Cambodians Urged to Unite in New Year’s
Offensive (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 31 December 1974, ERN (En) 00166659-61; U.S. Embassy
Telegram, Subject: Cambodian Sitrep, E3/3292, 1 October 1970, ERN (En) 00418909; U.S. Embassy
Telegram, Khmer Report, E3/3294, 8 November 1971, ERN (En) 00418938.

85 T, 23 November 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 12-13; T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan),
pp. 89-92; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745;
Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of
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101. Having surveyed the early history of the CPK and the events leading to the
1970-1975 civil war, the Chamber now examines the CPK policies that were being

developed within the areas ’liberated’ by the CPK prior to 1975.

3.3. Development of CPK Policies

102. According to the Closing Order, starting prior to 17 April 1975, CPK leaders
designed and implemented a series of reforms, including the formulation of five

policies that are the subject of Case 002:

1. The repeated movement of the population from towns and cities to rural
areas, as well as from one rural area to another;

2. The establishment and operation of cooperatives and worksites;

3. The re-education of “bad elements” and killing of “enemies”, both inside
and outside the Party ranks;

4. The targeting of specific groups, in particular the Cham, Vietnamese,
Buddhists and former officials of the Khmer Republic, including both civil
servants and former military personnel and their families; and

5. The regulation of marriage.286

103. Of these, the two policies concerning forced movement and the targeting of

former officials of the Khmer Republic are the subject of the charges at issue in Case

002/01, though the existence of the other policies is also relevant. 2’

Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 40, ERN (En) 00498259; Book by Khieu S.: Cambodia’s Recent
History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, 2004, pp. 41-42, ERN (En) 00103743-
44; Documentary by D. ARONOWITSCH and S. LINDBERG entitled “Facing Genocide - Khieu
Samphan and Pol Pot”, E3/4201R (also available at E109/2.3R); T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se),
. 35; CHHAOM Se Interview Record, E3/405, 31 October 2009, p. 2, ERN 00406211.

% Closing Order, paras 156-157, 1524-25.

27 From the outset of Case 002/01, the Chamber informed the parties that they could lead evidence in
relation to all five policies as background, but that the Chamber would examine the implementation of
only those policies relevant to Case 002/01 (i.e. forced movement and execution of purported enemies
of the regime). See Decision on Severance of Case 002 Following Supreme Court Chamber Decision of
8 February 2013, E284, 26 April 2013, para. 118 (“the inclusion within the scope of Case 002/01 of the
alleged population movement and executions committed at Tuol Po Chrey, and associated crimes
against humanity, enable examination of two of the five main themes of the Case 002 Closing Order,
i.e. forced movement and execution of purported enemies of the regime.”); See also, Response to issues
raised by parties in advance of trial and scheduling of informal meeting with Senior Legal Officer on
18 November 2011, E141, 17 November 2011, p. 2 (“Regarding the examination of policies other than
those relating to forced evacuation, the purpose of including reference to them in the first trial is to
enable the manner in which policy was developed to be established. What is therefore envisaged is
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3.3.1. Pre-1975 Movements of the Population

104. Prior to 1975, the CPK carried out population movements in areas within their

control. The policy was explained in the July 1973 issue of Revolutionary Flag:

In the evacuation of people from the areas under the control of the
enemy to the liberated zones, we took strong and optimistic views of
mass population to successfully send them away to the countryside
with no worry that people could be fraught with difficulty due to the
[lack] of everything. In addition, we were not afraid that people in the
liberated areas could not help the evacuated people. With strong
popular views, we believe that our people could do everything.
Although we were in the situation that we were lack of rice as we are
now, we dared to evacuate many more people. Based on our past
experiences, we see that people could resolve the problems.?*®

105. Therefore, Khmer Rouge forces removed people from enemy-controlled areas
to the countryside despite the lack of rice there. Expert Philip SHORT explained that
from 1970, villagers within Khmer Rouge controlled territory were transferred and
sent to remote mountain and jungle areas. “Their original homes, if not already
destroyed, were burned down to stop them returning [...] [T]hey were dragooned into

cooperatives of thirty or forty families who farmed the land in common.”*®’

106. For example, about two months after NORODOM Sihanouk was deposed, the
town of Kratic was taken by the Khmer Rouge and evacuated later in 1973.%°
Witness YUN Kim recalls that the town’s markets were initially unaffected and

commercial trade continued.?*’ However, it was explained in the Revolutionary Flag

presentation in general terms of the five policies, although the material issue for examination in the first
trial is limited to the forced movement of the population (phases one and two). It follows that there will
be no examination of the implementation of policies other than those pertaining to the forced
movement of the population (phases one and two).”) The existence of other policies is examined for
background purposes only. Their implementation will be the subject of future trials; See also, Decision
on KHIEU Samphan’s Immediate Appeal against the Trial Chamber’s Decision on Additional
Severance of Case 002 and Scope of Case 002/02, E301/9/1/1/3, 29 July 2014, paras 84-85.

288 Revolutionary Flag, E3/785, July 1973, ERN (En) 00713996; The Chamber notes that the term
“evacuate” was used by the Khmer Rouge themselves to describe their own policy. While this word
suggests the idea of moving people from a dangerous place or of providing a safer venue, the Chamber
only uses this term to describe the movement of the population of cities and of Phnom Penh in
particular. The proper characterisation of the movements is addressed in the judgement but the
Chamber does not endorse the meaning indicated by Khmer Rouge usage of this term.

% T.6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 91-92 (confirming the accuracy of the relevant excerpt of his
book); Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 246, ERN (En)
00396446.

%0 T 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim) pp. 29-31; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 91.

#' .19 June 2012 (YUN Kim) pp. 29-31.
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of August 1975 that the Kratie Market could not be permitted to continue as
“commerce could not serve the lives of the people and could not serve the war of
national liberation. It was clearly seen by mid-73 that there was no way out for us. We
could not gather up the people. The businessmen were the masters.”>*> Therefore the
solution was to impose collectivisation. After the people were collectivised and
communal eating began, money stopped being circulated, the markets were closed in

Kratie, and the town was evacuated.””

107. In another example, Witness Frangois PONCHAUD testified as to the transfer
of the population of Kampong Cham in 1973, where he had lived prior to 1970.2*
Based on accounts of villagers who were expelled from their homes, the Witness
testified that when Khmer Rouge soldiers captured a village, the houses in the village
would be set on fire, the commune chiefs would be executed and people would be
moved to the forest.””> While Witness PHY Phuon claimed that the Khmer Rouge did
not control Kampong Cham long enough to evacuate the population and the people
quickly returned after the Khmer Rouge withdrew, the Chamber does not find this

296

evidence reliable concerning this specific issue.”” His opinion was speculative and

differs markedly from other, more detailed, accounts describing the transfer of the

city’s population.297

22 Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, ERN (En) 00401481.

% T.19 June 2012 (YUN Kim) pp. 32-33; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 91.

2% T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD) pp. 13, 53-54, 56; T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois
PONCHAUD), p. 8; Written record of Witness Interview, E3/370, ERN 00333952, p. 4 (Frangois
PONCHAUD); Unique among foreign witnesses, Frangois Ponchaud testified in Khmer for much of
his testimony. Concerned by the quality of the interpretation of his testimony (see e.g., T. 10 April
2013, p. 96), the ECCC Interpretation and Translation Unit reexamined his testimony and recently
amended the relevant transcripts. The Chamber notes that the amendments to the parts of the transcript
cited in this judgement appear to have no impact on the substance of this evidence. In any event, the
Chamber relies on the original language of the testimony where there is any doubt.

5 T.9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD) p. 61; T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD) p. 3-4.
2% T, 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 39.

7 T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 91-92; Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a
Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 257, ERN (En) 00396465 (discussing the evacuation of 15,000 dwellers
from Kampong Cham in the second half of 1973, stated that some died of hunger and from bombings
along the way, but most were resettled in villages where, as one peasant put it, ‘they lived a normal
life’); Document by KE Pauk: Autobiography of Ke Pauk from 1949-1985, E3/2782, undated, ERN
(En) 00089710 (explaining that there was to be a two-pronged attack of Kampong Cham, but KOY
Thuon’s forces did not attack and they were unable to liberate the town completely, surrounding it
instead); See also, Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow:Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of
Cambodia, E3/88, 1991, p. 312 (“The day after the [American] bombing ended, the Communists
launched an assault on the provincial capital of Kompong Cham, a vital road and river junction
northeast of Phnom Penh. Through the summer they had easily rolled up the garrisons defending the
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108. The strategy of evacuation of liberated territories was further explained in the

Revolutionary Flag of December 1976 and January 1977:

Throughout the world, they never capture [or seize] the people. Our
line was to capture the people: one, we took him; two, we took them;
100, we took them; 1,000, we took them, and so on until we captured
the people from Phnom Penh too. The line of taking away [or drying
up)] the people from the enemy was very correct. This never
happened in the world. When the enemy has the people, the enemy
has an army and an economy. When the enemy has no people, the
enemy has no military and no economic strength. Our reasoning is
correct. Thus, our line is very correct. We fight to capture the people
at every location.”® (emphasis added).

109. The same issue of the Revolutionary Flag cited the town of Banam as an
example of the application of this strategy: “The fighting [...] in Banam Town,
expelling the ethnic Vietnamese, the ethnic Chinese, the military, the police; we took

everyone, taking away the people from the enemy.”*

110. There were varying interpretations of what it meant to “seize” or “capture” the
people. In Philip SHORT’s view “seizing the people” meant to exercise control over
the population rather than over territory, and recalled the same tactic had previously
been used by the communists in China.**® Witness Stephen HEDER noted that “seize
the people” could mean literally physically grasping a group of people but that it
could also mean the change in administrative control or management of a contested

area.>®! NUON Chea agreed with this latter interpretation stating that the CPK needed

approaches to the town along National Road Nos. 6 and 7. Now they captured a large part of the city,
led 15,000 people away into the countryside, and came within one hundred meters of the governor's
mansion. [...] After a long and bloody street battle the Communists finally withdrew. Sihanouk later
complained bitterly that, but for the treachery of Hanoi in withholding supplies, the town would have
been captured.”); Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 246, ERN
(En) 00396446 [(Fr) 00639773] (citing an American consular officer in Vietnam who, on the basis of
interviews with refugees fleeing relocations in 1973, stated “stories carried back by those who had
survived earlier relocations told of people dying en route and forced labour after arrival™).

28 Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 31, ERN (En) 00491424; The ECCC
translation unit on 28 July 2014 amended the translation of this document, changing the phrase “seize
the people” to “capture the people”. In addition, the term “drying up the people” has been changed to
“taking away the people”. The Chamber has relied on the Khmer original document which remains
unchanged, but refers to the revised translation in the French and English documents in this judgement.

%9 Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 31, ERN (En) 00491424,

300 T, 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 79; French Embassy Telegram, Subject: POL Pot Press
Conference, E3/1762, 6 October 1977, p. 2, ERN (En) 00751832 (“Drawing inspiration from Mao’s
strategy, the CPK decided to surround the towns with countryside”).

301 T .15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 22-23.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public . f/ 58



01005726

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

to bring the population within its newly-established economic order.>”? Consonant
with NUON Chea’s interpretation, POL Pot explained to KHIEU Samphan that the
emptying of the cities was part of a collectivisation policy pre-dating the war that
enabled the CPK to maintain control over the rice supply.’*® According to POL Pot,
the CPK’s ability to control the supply of rice forced Vietnam to respect Cambodia’s
sovereignty while Vietnamese troops operated in Cambodia.’®* The Chamber is
satisfied that there was an economic rationale underlying the evacuation of cities in
order to establish CPK control over the food supply and to provide workers for the

fields.>*

111. Nonetheless, the evacuations also constituted an attack on the enemy. On this
point the Chamber finds Expert David CHANDLER’s assessment to be convincing.
He noted that there was a repetitive pattern in Khmer Rouge policy that reached its
climax in the evacuation of Phnom Penh and other cities following the 17 April 1975
victory. The people in the cities were considered intrinsically disloyal and had to be
removed.*®® As confirmed by several sources of evidence, the CPK leaders had
concluded that city-dwellers would remain politically and ideologically corrupt if they
were allowed to stay in the cities and would be difficult to control.>*’ This was a long-
held belief of NUON Chea who explained that urban people from an earlier time were
“the corrupt society, the womanizing society, the society with alcohol” and contrasted
them with the rural people living in the forests who were “clean”.>® As mentioned in
various statements and testimonies, the people were “captured” and “taken away”
from the enemy by moving the population out of urban areas such as Oudong, Kratie,

Banam and Kampong Cham into the countryside.*”’

302 NUON Chea Closing Brief, paras 255-256. This is also consonant with the closure of markets in
Kratie discussed above.

3 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 57, ERN (En) 00103751.

3% Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 57, ERN (En) 00103751.

305 See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 113-116.

306 T, 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 60-63.

397 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 256-257, ERN (En)
00396456, 00396465; T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 9-10; T. 26 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 14.

3% T.15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 70.

39 Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 31, ERN (En) 00491424; T. 19 June
2012 (YUN Kim) pp. 29; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 91; T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois
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112. Prior to the DK period, the Khmer Rouge built up a huge reservoir of hatred of
city people among their followers.>'® The evacuation of cities therefore served a dual
purpose, namely to prevent enemies from destabilising CPK forces, and also to
prevent cadres from being corrupted by the urban population.®!! Based on the above,
the Chamber is satisfied that a policy of repeated movements from towns and cities to
rural areas existed before the DK period. There was an economic as well as a political

rationale behind these movements.
3.3.2. Establishment of Cooperatives and Worksites pre-April 1975

113. In a process initiated in May 1972 and officially confirmed one year later, the
Central Committee decided to close markets in the liberated zones and to establish
cooperatives in order to “[attack] the power of the classes of feudalists, land owners,
and capitalists and to cut off private trading.”*'* The process of gradually establishing
cooperatives varied depending on the zones and on the level of the cooperatives, but
the central objective was to eliminate private ownership of land and the means of
production and to replace it with a system of cooperative ownership with the State in
complete control of commerce and executing an “absolute democratic revolution.”!?
The CPK distributed circulars prohibiting people from selling food and supplies to the
enemy and assigning them to produce crops collectively.3 “ In 1972-1973,

cooperatives were established in a number of regions within the control of the CPK,

PONCHAUD) p. 61 ; T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD) p. 3-4 ; T. 19 June 2013 (NOU Mao),
. 42.
Bl T. 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 49.
31T, 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 32 (he learned this during study sessions
chaired by POL Pot, NUON Chea or KHIEU Samphan discussing the CPK’s positive experiences with
forced evacuations); T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 26 (to fight the American
imperialists and the regime everyone had to be absolute and determined so that “we” could not be
bought by the American imperialists: “We had to be the very clean and proper people to achieve this
triumph”); T. 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 63; T. 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 114
(similarly learned through Revolutionary Flag magazines that people were evacuated to ensure that
when the enemy was attacked they would be deprived of people to support them, and this would isolate
and render the enemy helpless).
312 Report on Third Year Anniversary of the Organization of Peasant Cooperatives, E3/50, 20 May
1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00636009; Revolutionary Flag, E169/4/1.1.2, Dec 1975-Jan 1976, pp. 18-19,
ERN (En) 00865708-09; Revolutionary Flag, E3/10, September-October 1976, pp. 10-11, ERN (En)
00450510-11.
33 Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, pp. 3-9, ERN (En) 00401478-84.
* Revolutionary Flag, E3/783, Sept-Oct 1972, p. 9, ERN (En) 00720210.
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in some cases based on orders coming from the sector.>’> This process was further
developed and, for example, as discussed more fully below, in March 1974, the town
of Oudong was captured by the Khmer Rouge and an estimated 15,000 to 20,000

people were forcibly moved to rural areas and resettled in cooperatives.>'®

114. In parallel with the control of the economy a widespread system of bartering
began, and the use of LON Nol regime currency was either partly restricted or
prohibited altogether.’'” The CPK imposed increasingly difficult working conditions
on members of cooperatives.>’® According to KAING Guek Eav alias Duch, who had
created a cooperative at M-13B for suspects and those who had committed minor

319

offences,” ” the CPK required those in cooperatives to work ten hours a day, seven

days a week. 20

115. The Chamber heard contrasting evidence regarding the purpose behind the
creation of cooperatives. NUON Chea acknowledged that around 1972, the Standing

315 T, 12 November 2012 (PECHUY Chipse), pp. 86-87; T. 26 January 2012 (PRAK Yaut), pp. 106-
107; T. 21 May 2013 (PROM Sou), p. 8; T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 8.

316 T, 10 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 86-87; T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 5; Book by
P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 257, ERN (En) 00396465.

317 T, 6 May 2013 (Phillip SHORT), pp. 99-100; Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, p. 9, ERN
(En) 00401484,

318 T. 12 December 2012 (KHAM Phan alias PHAN Van), pp. 37-38 (cooperatives were established
in Sector 105 well before the liberation of Phnom Penh where people ate communally and worked
collectively); T. 17 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 80-81 referencing Book by S. HEDER,
Cambodia Communism and the Vietnamese Model, E3/22, p. 169, ERN 00393932, fn. 84 (the CPK
became even more violent and repressive after mid-1973 by insisting on agricultural cooperatives in
zones under its control, curtailing the practice of religion, and imposing restrictions on villagers’
movements); T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 18 (particularly after 1973, American intelligence
material indicates that conditions were difficult in Khmer Rouge areas and people tried to flee); Book
by D. CHANDLER: A History of Cambodia, E3/1686, 2000, p. 208, ERN (En) 00422836 (in early
1973, authorities in Phnom Penh were aware that the CPK introduced compulsory cooperatives in some
areas which were rumoured to be uncompromising as insurgents herded villagers into the forest
whenever a town or village was captured); BUN Loengchauy Interview Record, E3/5636, 19 August
2001, p. 11, ERN (En) 00711201 (from 1973, private property was transferred to collective
ownership); Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War after the War, E3/2376, 1986, pp. 71-72,
ERN (En) 00192256-57 (in mid-1973, private ownership of land and the use of money were abolished,
agricultural cooperatives introduced and Vietnamese traders and fishermen were driven out of
Cambodia. Those Vietnamese residents who remained in Cambodia were forced into cooperatives
which, according to Sihanouk, were virtual concentration camps); Book by B. KIERNAN: How Pol
Pot Came to Power: A History of Communism in Kampuchea, 1930-1975, E3/1815, 1985, p. 372, ERN
(En) 00487492 (one peasant reported “We were forced to work very hard, and got nothing.” The
wearing of black clothing became compulsory, and the death penalty was commonly applied,
particularly for evasion of the CPK draft).

319 T, 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 41, 49; T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15-
16.

320 T, 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 14.
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Committee decided to pool labour resources for rice—production.321 He admitted that
the population of Oudong had been evacuated in order to establish cooperatives with
the purpose of cultivating food to counter food shortages.’*? Expert Philip SHORT
also considered that the practical reason for collectivisation was to organise the
production of rice and to prevent the Vietnamese from disturbing its supply.**> More
important, in his view, was the ideological rationale for collectivisation: it was a
choice of communism over capitalism and an attempt to enforce equality for all

citizens in levels of wealth.3**

116. The Chamber is satisfied that prior to 1975 there existed a CPK policy to create
cooperatives, which imposed difficult working conditions on cooperative members
including those who had been forcibly moved there. As noted above, there was an

economic as well as an ideological reason for the collectivisation policy.*
3.3.3. Re-education of bad elements and killing of enemies

117. There is evidence to suggest that the CPK established a further policy of re-
education of “bad elements” and “smashing” those who had been found to be
enemies.””® From 1971 until June 1975, KAING Guek Eav was the head of M-13
which was tasked with receiving people who had been arrested from the
battlefields.”>” Other security offices were established in this time period as well, such
as the security office at Krang Ta Chan created in 1972.3% In security centres, those
who had been accused of being spies, or who were perceived as enemies, were
interrogated and smashed.’” To “smash” meant more than just to kill; it meant to

arrest secretly, to interrogate and execute a person without the knowledge of family

321 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 3-6.

3227, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 12.

32T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 95.

324 1.6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 28-30; See also, T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p.
14-16; T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 44-45.

325 See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One), para. 534.

326 T, 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 18; T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 24; T. 29
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15; T. 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73; T. 9 April 2012
(KAING Guek Eav), pp. 4-5; Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 24, ERN (En) 00486235;
KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 99; T. 18 May 2009 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15.

327 T, 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 40-41; T. 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15.
322 PHAN Chhen Interview Record, E3/72, 2 March 2010, ERN (En) 00490542.

329 T. 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 41, 49; Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, p. 8,
ERN (En) 00401483 (elimination of government agents, spies and pacifist agents was also described as
part of the outcome of the process of establishing cooperatives).

&
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members.>*® Those who had been accused of being spies were enemies and were to be
interrogated in security centres and smashed.*! The way in which “enemy” was
defined was tactical, remaining vague enough to allow various interpretations and to
create an uncertain atmosphere.”>> However, the term was interpreted liberally and
even Khmer Rouge cadre considered that innocents were falsely identified as

enemies.>3?

118. The policy to smash enemies continued throughout the DK era though the
policy evolved.*** From 1970, spies, including CIA, KGB and Vietnamese (“Yuon™),

were regarded as the key enemies.’® Starting before 1975, former soldiers and

330 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 100; T. 18 May 2009 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 14; T. 24
October 2012 (LAY Bony), p. 40 (a former detainee at Trach Kraol Prison, explaining that the party
would smash persons who tried to escape; they would be beheaded or executed); T. 11 January 2013
(CHHAOM Se), p. 104 (when he was in charge of a security centre, he received orders to execute
prisoners); See also, T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 7-8 (to smash was to smash those who were
not whole-heartedly with the revolution. Asking questions about the regime was a form of mental
private property. If you had your own personal ideas which were different from those of the
organisation (Angkar), this was a sign of being outside the revolution. Those with private views against
the collective view were liable in the end to be smashed).

331 T, 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 41; Revolutionary Flag, E3/785, July 1973, ERN (En)
00713997, 00713999 (spies must be eliminated; “The stance to smash the spies is correct but it is
inappropriately carried out”); T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 67-68 (the guiding principle was:
Executing people is right when they are counter-revolutionary, when they are against the Revolution,
but it must be done in a way which does not harm the Revolution’s goals. For example, you do not
execute people in front of others. Through the KR period, people disappeared, they were taken away
and didn’t come back.)

332 T, 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 11-12 (opining that the definition of enemy was
intentionally kept vague for its menacing effect and creation of an uncertain atmosphere);
Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 24, ERN (En) 00486235(the CPK favoured a tactical
approach to defining the enemy during the first phase of the Revolution and it was important to gather
“all forces that could be gathered”. Enemies were divided in three groups depending whether or not it
was possible to win them over, to neutralise them, or to isolate them in order to be attacked).

333 T. 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 49 (stating that not all those who were sent to M-13
were in fact spies and he chose to release some of them); T. 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp.
19-20 (other groups were arrested without reason and sent to S-21, including Kong Socheat alias
Soeun, son of Kong Sophal alias Keu, the chief of the regiment in 1975); T. 3 April 2012 (KAING
Guek Eav), pp. 36-37 (members of the monarchy were also smashed between 1972 and 1973, including
Prince Sirivudsara and his wife and Sisowath Pach).

334 T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 26; T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 22-24; T.
20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 17-19, 129; T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 57; See
also, T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 125 (enemies included all urban deportees); Book by P.
SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 255, ERN (En) 00396455.

335 T.21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 26; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15; T. 3
April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 36; T. 9 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 4; T. 23 April 2013
(CHHOUK Rin), p. 34 (study session taught by POL Pot and NUON Chea discussed the elimination of
the enemy that was burrowing from within including the KGB and CIA); T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM
Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 23-28 (IENG Sary identified American imperialists, CIA and KGB as the
enemy); T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 54-55; Article by S. HEDER: Reassessing the Role of
Senior Leaders and Local Officials in Democratic Kampuchea Crimes: Cambodian Accountability in
Comparative Perspective, E3/4527, p. 11, ERN (En) 00661465, fn. 57, 59; Nuon Chea Speaks on
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officers of the LON Nol regime were also identified as the key enemies.**® The Party
also looked inward to find its enemies identifying those within the party who stood in
the way of the “great leap forward”, including soldiers, people in the North and
Northwest Zones, and even members of the leadership.”>’ For example, in 1974,
Prasith, a member of the Central Committee from the Southwest and an ethnic Thai,

3% He was

was accused by Mok of working for the Bangkok government and the CIA.
taken to the forest and killed. The policy of re-education and killing of enemies was
also linked to the policy of collectivisation, as the process of moving people to rural
areas and the reorganisation of people’s modes of life and production through the
establishment of cooperatives helped Khmer Rouge cadres to ferret out and eliminate
all those who were perceived to oppose the revolution, including government agents,
spies and pacifist agents.”® For example, Khmer who had previously studied in
Vietnam and had returned to Cambodia to assist in the revolution were later suspected

of being enemies, brought together and smashed.>*® Evidence concerning the nature

Cambodian Army Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/147, 17 January 1977, ERN (En) 00168467
(NUON Chea stating after 1961 it was the role of the secret defence units to defend the cadres and the
?eople and to crush enemy intelligence agents).

36 T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p- 26; T. 2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 67 (Phnom Penh
was evacuated to facilitate the cleaning of the enemies which were the LON Nol soldiers).

337 T, 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 26, 41; T. 23 August 2012 (Civil Party EM Oeum), pp.
82-83 (this civil party attended several trainings where speakers, including POL Pot, NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan, explained the meaning of the “great leap forward” which required moving to
communism without going through socialism and insisting that those who could not make it would be
considered to be the ‘enemy’); T. 27 August 2012 (Civil Party EM Oeum), pp. 32-33 (This civil party
further clarified that those who obstructed the party’s affairs or did not perform well should be
considered to be the ‘enemy’, adding that the Party expected any ‘good element’ to be able to
distinguish a friend from an enemy without taking into account the fact that they may be a child, spouse
or any other direct relative); T. 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 57-59 (according to this former
Khmer Rouge soldier, many senior leaders of the Khmer Rouge army were arrested. They accused one
another of being the enemy even though witness could not comprehend them being CIA or KGB
agents); ¢f. T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), p. 51 (those who did not work hard enough were re-
educated, but not tortured); Document by KE Pauk: Aurobiography of Ke Pauk from 1949-1985,
E3/2782, undated, ERN (En) 00089713 (“Some soldiers served me since 1968, but they were accused
of being CIAs.”)

338 T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp.19-20; See also, T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 76-77;
Book by P. SHORT: Po! Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 259-260, ERN (En)
00396467-68 (“Prasith was not the first CPK cadre to be liquidated. Mok had already eliminated a
number of lower-ranking officials [...] This was the first time, however, that intra-Party conflict had
reached into the ranks of the Central Committee. It was the first time, too, that the Party leadership had
authorised the execution of one of its own number.”); T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY
Phuon), pp. 44-47 (recalling that Prasith did not attend the June 1974 Central Committee meeting and
remarking this was not normal).

339 Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, p. 8, ERN (En) 00401483.

340 T, 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 82-83 (Khmer who went to study in Hanoi during the
Issarak regime and later returned to Cambodia in 1973 were targeted for arrests in Kampot. Several
became Khmer Rouge, but the rest all disappeared); T. 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 52 (700
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and implementation of the policy of re-education of bad elements and killing of

enemies, and its extent, will be the subject of Case 002/02.

3.3.4. Targeting of Specific Groups — Cham, Vietnamese, Buddhists, and
Jormer officials of the Khmer Republic

119. The Chamber notes that while a policy of targeting Cham, Buddhist and
Vietnamese is alleged in the Closing Order**', limited evidence has been heard to date
on this policy. It will therefore be examined in detail in Case 002/02 and any

subsequent trial.>*?

3.34.1. Targeting of Khmer Republic Soldiers and Officials

120. In the months leading to the final assault on Phnom Penh, the FUNK struck a
conciliatory tone in radio broadcasts directed at Khmer Republic officials and
soldiers, informing them that they could join the Khmer Rouge should they defect 3

to 800 Hanoi Khmer returned to join the Cambodian revolution in 1970 many of whom were purged);
T. 19 June 2013 (NOU Mao), pp. 31-34, 82 (Ta Mok told the witness that 2,000 or 3,000 Khmer-Viet
Minh who had returned to Cambodia to help fight LON Nol forces were gathered up on orders from the
upper echelon,disappeared and probably died); T. 10 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 102-105;
Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, pp. 33-34, ERN (En) 00170724-25 (“We called
those Khmers from Hanoi to come to study and someone led them away {...] And so we were able to
get rid of almost all of them. Very few realized what was happening in time and escaped to Vietnam”);
Book by B. KIERNAN: How Pol Pot Came to Power: A History of Communism in Kampuchea, 1930-
1975, E3/1815, 1985, pp. 372-373, ERN (En) 00487492-93 (“the Vietnamese asked the Khmers
working with them [in Kampong Thom] if they wished to transfer to CPK units. Most volunteered to
do so, but not long afterwards two of them returned with the news that the others had been executed
because they allegedly had ‘Vietnamese minds’”).

3#1 " Closing Order, D427, 15 September 2010 (“Closing Order”), para. 205.

2 Decision on Additional Severance of Case 002 and Scope of Case 002/02, E301/9/1, 4 April 2014,
p. 21; Annex, List of paragraphs and portions of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/02, paras
(2)(iv)(a), (b), and (©).

3 KHIEU Samphan Issues Statement on Current Situation (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 1 April
1975, ERN (En) 00166897-98 (“The NUFC, RGNUC and CPNLAF would like to appeal to all
officers, men and members of armed organizations of all categories of the traitorous clique on all
battlefields, including those around Phnom Penh and in some provinces under temporary enemy
control, to lay down their weapons immediately and join the NUFC at once. Functionaries of all ranks
are asked to immediately stop working for the seven traitors and join the NUFC. All brother soldiers
and civilians who have been forced by the archantinational, archfascist and archrotten clique of traitors
to serve them and the U.S. imperialists’ aggressive war: Now the seven traitors have already forsaken
you; you must follow the path of honor and national solidarity by joining the NUFC. The NUFC,
RGNUC, CPNLAF and the Cambodian people in the entire liberated zone would like to appeal to you
[word indistinct] and congratulate you for enduring and overcoming untold misfortune over the past 5
years. The NUFC and RGNUC have ordered all front organizations and all CPNLAF units to warmly
welcome you.”); KHIEU Samphan Appeals to Phnom Penh Citizens to Join NUFC (in FBIS
Collection), E3/118, 14 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166948 (“[Oln behalf of the NUFC, headed by Chief
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These messages were a calculated attempt to reduce opposition to the Khmer Rouge
advance and lull the Khmer Republic officials into a false sense of security.>**As he
was perceived to be a moderate capable of unifying Khmer people from various sides,
Khmer Rouge leaders called upon KHIEU Samphan to give deceptive assurances that
once the CPK forces took control of the country, only the “seven supertraitors”,
including LON Nol and his inner leadership, would be executed.>*> The messages
invited the Khmer Republic soldiers and civil servants to join the revolution, but
wamed implicitly that if they delayed in doing so, they would be in the same category
as the supertraitors.>*® At the same time, cadre were taught at study sessions prior to
the attack on Phnom Penh that the enemies of the Khmer Rouge were those who
worked under the LON Nol regime and LON Nol soldiers.>*’

of State Norodom Sihanouk, and on behalf of the RGNUC with Samdech Penn Nouth as prime
minister, I make the following appeal to all brother countrymen, including Buddhist monks, laymen,
soldiers, civilians in Phnom Penh and the few provincial capitals still under temporary enemy control:
1. All brother officers and troops in the traitorous army are requested to immediately lay down your
weapons and join in the NUFC. The NUFC is proud to welcome you and is ready to greet you as
brothers and compatriots.”); KHIEU Samphan Congratulates CPNLAF on Neak Luong Victories (in
FBIS Collection), E3/118, 3 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166925 (naming the seven members of the LON
Nol regime as traitors: LON Nol, SIRIK Matak, SON Ngoc Thanh, CHENG Heng, IN Tam, LONG
Boret, SOSTHENE Fernandez); Sihanouk Addresses 22 March NUFC-CPNLAF Reception in Peking
(in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 31 March 1975, ERN (En) 00166907 (noting that Khmer Republic
soldiers who surrender will be pardoned and granted amnesty by FUNK, GRUNK and the CPK forces,
but that the seven supertraitors are to be hanged).

3% T.11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 68-69; Article by S. HEDER: Pol Pot and Khieu Samphan,
E3/3169, 1991, p. 7, ERN (En) 00002752 (“In what appears to have been a calculated abuse of the trust
in which he was held, Khieu Samphan actively helped just before the end of the war to set up Lon Nol
military personnel and civil servants for easy execution. The esteem in which he was held meant that
some of them allowed themselves to become sitting ducks for murder. Thus, as the Communist Party of
Kampuchea advanced towards an all-out military victory during the first four months of 1975, Khieu
Samphan twice signalled those who had been fighting against it that only the seven top leaders among
them would be executed upon defeat.”).

35 KHIEU Samphan Chairs NUFC Congress Session; Communique Issued (in FBIS Collection),
E3/117, 26 February 1975, ERN (En) 00166772 (“Concerning the seven traitors in Phnom Penh [...]
On behalf of the NUFC, RGNUC and CPNLAF, the national congress declares it absolutely necessary
to kill these seven traitors for their treason against the nation. [...] The Cambodian nation and people,
the NUFC and RGNUC will welcome and duly reward those army officers, troops, militiamen,
policemen, functionaries, politicians and high dignitaries in the areas under temporary enemy control
who dare to oppose the traitors, fight them and turn their weapons on them.”); T. 8 May 2013, p. 35
(Philip SHORT); AKI Reports Sihanouk’s 26 Mar War Criminals Statement (in FBIS Collection),
E3/118, 1 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166896 (“Though not sentenced to death [...], the other
supertraitors such as [list of Khmer Republic officials] are no less true war criminals who, following
the liberation of Phnom Penh, will have to answer before state justice for their innumerable evil deeds
and terrible crimes [...].”).

3% T.9 May 2013, pp. 3-5 (Philip SHORT).

%7 T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 52-55, 60-61.
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121. There is consistent evidence of a radicalisation of the policy regarding captured
Khmer Republic soldiers and officials from 1970 until 1975. Initially, there was a
distinction made between LON Nol soldiers and “agents.” Soldiers were often re-
educated and forgivcn348 whereas agents were usually executed.**® This distinction
may have been difficult to put into effect as one refugee, likely a former party
member, noted, “We did not know who was a Lon Nol officer or who was a CIA
agent. So we were afraid that our enemy might rise up again.”*>° But around 1972 or
1973, Khmer Republic soldiers were less likely to be forgiven and more likely to be
executed if captured by CPK forces.”>’ American bombings, which lasted until mid-
1973, had made people very angry and suspicious of outsiders, some of whom were
4.3%2

accused of being agents from LON Nol camps and execute

LON Nol soldier stated, “In 1972 there were lots of Lon Nol soldiers captured, about
9353

For example, a former

500 of them. All were executed, none were forgiven.

122. There was some evidence of the uneven application of this policy. This can be

attributed to two factors. First, there was no initial written directive on the targeting of

3% Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980 ERN (En) 00170716 (“Most Lon Nol soldiers were
reeducated for a short time and told not to rejoin the Lon Nol army and then released.” ERN (En)
00170732 (“most POW’s were forgiven while most agents were executed.”) ERN (En) 00170741-42
(“Also there were cases of capture of LON Nol soldiers, some were forgiven, some were not. But in the
case of agents, none were ever forgiven, but they were sent to higher levels for execution” ERN (En) ,
3% Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, ERN (En) 00170716,

30 Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, ERN (En) 00170728.

351 See e.g. KHIEU Samphan, HOU Yun and HU Nim Statement, E3/637, 17 April 1975 ERN (En)
00740933 (“according to an interim report, some 1,550 heads of enemy's military personnel and
officers including hundreds colonels, captains, lieutenants and major-lieutenants have been smashed,
while ten thousands of people have been liberated”); ERN (En) 00740938 (“All in all, up to mid-
January 1973, the Kampuchean people’s liberation armed forces and our people have obtained great
victories. We have smashed a total of 10,245 heads of the enemies and liberated dozens of bases,
Mekong River and tens of thousands of people, and confiscated thousands of rifles and the enemies
have become hot-blooded and more panic-stricken. They have run out of strength, bases, territories,
people, food-supply, gasoline and particularly means of transport including both land transport and
waterway”).

352 Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, ERN (En) 00170741-42; Book by B. KIERNAN:
How Pol Pot Came to Power: A History of Communism in Kampuchea, 1930-1975, E3/1815, 1985,
ERN (En) 00487493 (after a change in leadership and the increase in American bombing in 1973, there
were large-scale executions of all captured Lon Nol troops and militia, and also of traders”).

333 Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, ERN (En) 00170758 (statement made by a refugee
and former LON Nol Soldier who defected in 1974 to the liberated zones where his relatives vouched
for his loyalty).
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Khmer Republic soldiers and officials.”>* Despite the lack of a written policy, it was
Philip SHORT’s view that that the uniformity of the treatment of Khmer Republic
soldiers indicates that such a policy must have existed.’>> Second, the evidence
concerning the CPK treatment of former soldiers or officials of the Khmer Republic
prior to 1975 within the liberated zone arises mainly from post-1979 interviews of
refugees outside of Cambodia, many of whom were former Khmer Rouge cadre who
would have an incentive to minimise evidence of mistreatment. Nonetheless, even
these accounts support the conclusion that there was an increasing use of

revolutionary violence.**

123. The radicalisation of CPK policy targeting groups of individuals considered to
be enemies such as former Khmer Republic soldiers or officials is also consistent with
the Party’s increasing use of revolutionary violence against enemies both internal and
external, including, as noted above, former Central Committee member Prasith and
so-called Hanoi Khmer who had studied in Vietnam.**’ If violence was now

appropriate for internal enemies, it would also be required against external enemies.

3.34.2 The “Experience”’ of Oudong

124. The CPK’s merciless policy is cogently illustrated by the execution of Khmer
Republic soldiers following the evacuation of the town of Oudong. On 18 March
1974, CPK forces under the overall charge of Ta Mok and ultimately the head of the

Special Zone, SON Sen,**® captured the town of Oudong.’* Based on interviews with

3% T. 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 100-102 (Because there was not written directive setting forth
the policy of extermination, the policy was not absolutely uniform and not every LON Nol soldier was
killed.”); cf- Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 814-818 (noting later directives to kill Khmer
Republic officials).

335 T, 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 100-102.

3% See e.g. Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at
Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, ERN (En) 00170732 (PHAK Lim who is
described as one of the top leaders of KR refugees and likely a member of the CPK states, “At that time
[around 1974} if we have captured anyone in the area in which I was fighting he would have been sent
to the Special Region, not to the Southwest Region. This was the case for example with POW’s and
agents. At that time agents were considered more vicious than POW’s., most POW’s were forgiven
while most agents were executed.”); Book by B. KIERNAN: How Pol Pot Came to Power: A History
of Communism in Kampuchea, 1930-1975, E3/1815, 1985, ERN (En) 00487493 (“the increased
bombing, however, were following in 1973 by large-scale executions of ‘all’ captured Lon Nol troops
and militia, and also of traders, the district chief reports.”)

357 See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 117-118.

358 T.3 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 111; T. 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 38.

3% T. 10 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 86-87; T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 5; T. 19 June
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several villagers and other sources, Expert Philip SHORT reported that several
thousand, “[o]fficials and uniformed soldiers were separated from the rest, led away
and killed.”*® Two witnesses also confirmed that after the fall of Oudong many
people, including children were first sent to M-13, where some were interrogated, and
later to Battambang Province.*®! Witness Stephen HEDER visited Oudong around 19
March 1974 and interviewed some of the few remaining inhabitants who told him
about mass executions of some categories of people including Buddhist nuns by
Khmer Rouge troops entering Oudong.*®? Although he did not recall seeing the bodies
of Khmer Republic military personnel or hearing specific reports of such executions,

he personally saw half a dozen bodies of Buddhist nuns on a hillside near a Pagoda.363

125. Witness NOU Mao testified that he attended a commune committee meeting
after the evacuation and was told that Khmer Republic soldiers had been defeated at

364

Oudong and the population ‘evacuated’ to the Trapeang Treunh village.”" He was

told that evacuees died due to starvation and disease, but there was no

acknowledgement that soldiers were executed.*®

One month later however in a
speech given in North Korea, KHIEU Samphan gave a clear indication of what had
happened and who had been targeted: “On 18 March, our People’s National
Liberation Armed Forces liberated another city, Oudong, by annihilating all the
puppet soldiers there along with their reinforcements; in other words over 5,000

enemies were eliminated, 1,500 of whom were captured.”**® He did not specify

2013 (NOU Mao), pp. 6, 41-43; Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 19 ERN
(En) 00491424; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 25-26; T. 20 March 2012
(KAING Guek Eav), p. 13; The testimony of NY Khan, SON Sen’s brother, was ambivalent on this
issue. He testified that Oudong had never been evacuated, but also responded that people were
evacuated for security reasons because of the fear of aerial bombings. See T. 28 May 2012 (NY Khan)
pp. 22-23. Due to the contradictions in his testimony, the Chamber does not find this witness to be
reliable on the subject of the 1974 evacuation of Oudong.

360 Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 255, ERN (En)
00396455; T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 73; T. 19 June 2013 (NOU Mao), pp. 6, 41-43.

31T, 7 April 2009 (KAING Guek Eav alias Duch), Case 001, p. 31; T. 9 April 2009 (UCH Sorn),
Case 001, pp. 104-105 (many children were sent to M-13 when Oudong was defeated).

362 710 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 86-87; T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 5.

363 T, 10 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 86-87.

364 7. 19 June 2013 (NOU Mao), p. 42.

365 T, 19 June 2013 (NOU Mao), pp. 41-42.

366 FUNK Publication: Nouvelles du Cambodge No.698, E3/167, 11 April 1974, ERN (En) 00280586;
See also, Document by KE Pauk: Autobiography of Ke Pauk from 1949-1985, E3/2782, undated, ERN
(En) 0089711 (stating that after recapturing Oudong from Khmer Republic Division 80, CPK forces
“annijhilated the enemies and confiscated tanks, artilleries and thousands of tons of ammunition™); T.
11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER) p. 55 (on the origins of E3/2782).
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whether the enemies who were annihilated had been killed during the fighting or
instead after they had been captured and disarmed.

126. In “Nouvelles du Cambodge” the official publication of the FUNK, dated April
1974 the capture of Oudong was described somewhat differently: “On 18 March 1974
Oudong was totally liberated. An enemy division was totally wiped out and 30,000
inhabitants of that town and surrounding areas successfully crossed over the liberated
zone. It is only after the FAPLNK had totally destroyed the military positions, the
administrative power, detention camps, the pacification centres at Oudong that the
traitors rushed reinforcement troops. But they too were totally trounced and decimated

in great numbers.”¢’

127. Based on the foregoing, the Chamber is satisfied that a CPK policy targeting
soldiers and officials of the Khmer Republic existed prior to 1975. There were some
variations in this policy depending on circumstances and locations.*®® But with the
escalation of the war in Cambodia and the power exercised by the CPK on cadres
within their control increasing, this policy which was initially relatively lenient,
became more radical and in several instances there were mass killings of Khmer
Republic soldiers after their capture. The policy as effected was in marked contrast
with the official policy disseminated by the FUNK once the country was under CPK
control promising the death penalty only for the ‘seven super-traitors’. Furthermore
the Chamber finds that Khmer Republic soldiers, likely numbering in the thousands,
were executed en masse immediately after the seizure of Oudong, the CPK leadership
was aware of the event, and, as noted below, discussed it during the Central

Committee meeting held in June 1974.> 6

367 FUNK Publication, E3/114, ERN (En) 00280556-57 ; See also, Khieu Samphan Appeals for
Intensified Struggle 15 March (FBIS Collection of March 1975), 15 March 1975, ERN (En) 00166827
(“We liberated Oudong and several important townships [...] In brief, the enemy is in agony
everywhere. The enemy troops are demoralized, desperate and being routed everywhere [...] the enemy
forces can clearly see that if they accept orders to carry on the fighting against us they will die.”)

368 T, 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 100-102.

3% See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 132-152.
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3.3.5. The Regulation of Marriage

128. The Closing Order states that prior to 1975,%” and thereafter, the CPK arranged
marriages and encouraged procreation in order to increase the population of

37! The Chamber heard some evidence concerning arranged

Democratic Kampuchea.
and involuntary marriages, including that those who did not agree were sometimes
beaten, raped or killed.>”* There were also instances where couples wed by Angkar
(literally ‘organisation’) were put under surveillance in order to enforce

procreation.*”

129. According to others, marriages were arranged by Angkar, but not forced. These

witnesses asserted that Angkar took the place of the parents and in Cambodian

3% Closing Order para. 1447.

' T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 21-22 (Cambodia had much land and it was said that the
country needed 20 to 30 million people in order to defend the territory); T. 7 May 2013 (Philip
SHORT), pp. 9-10 (marriages were often between soldiers and young women for the practical purpose
of creating children); T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 118 (The policy was to create as big a
population as possible. Forced marriages and insistence that married couples should produce children
was consistent with this policy.); Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9,
2004, pp. 325-326, ERN (En) 00396533-34 (“Free choice of spouses' was explicitly condemned. To
underline the social aspect, weddings were celebrated collectively for a minimum of 10 couples. After
a marriage had been consummated the couple often lived apart.”); Thirty-Second Session of the United
Nations General Assembly (statement of IENG Sary), E3/1586, 11 October 1977, at ERN (En)
00079815 (DK requires a population of 15 to 20 million in 10 years’ time); CPK Central Committee
Discussion with Belgium-Cambodian Delegation, E3/5715, 5 August 1978, ERN (En) 00574566 (The
Communist Party of Kampuchea and the Government of Democratic Kampuchea plan to increase the
number of its population from 15 to 20 million within 10 to 15 years); Reuter’s News Report, E3/1591,
2 November 1979, ERN (En) 00015914 (IENG Thirith states the population increased between 1975-
1979 as many babies were born and are being fed plentifully); CPK Youth Publication: Revolutionary
and Non-Revolutionary World News Regarding the Matter of Family Building, E3/775, 2 September
1975, ERN (En) 00417940-47; Revolutionary Flag, E3/748, October-November 1975, ERN (En)
00495808 (to increase agricultural production, there must be a rapid increase in population);
Revolutionary Flag, December 1976 January 1977, E3/25 ERN (En) 00491435 (“We need from 15 to
20 million people to meet the needs of our land™); Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, ERN
(En) 00486262 (we need to increase our Kampuchean population to 15 to 20 million over the next 10
years); NOB Kan Civil Party Application, E3/4884, ERN (En) 00891261 (told to deliver babies for
Angkar).

372 T, 30 May 2013 (PO Dina), pp. 104-105 (civil party forced to marry someone after her husband
died and she was beaten and imprisoned when she refused); Civil Party Application of KES Khan,
E3/5008, ERN (En) 00891040-41 (fearing she would be summoned for re-education or killed, Civil
Party married person chosen by Angkar and to have babies; militiamen spied on them on their wedding
night); Civil Party Application of PEN Sokchan, E3/4779, ERN (En) 00891280 (16 year-old forced to
marry, assaulted and raped when she refused to have sex with her husband as militiamen watched);

" Civil Party Application of PEOM Nen, E3/5044, ERN (En) 00891047 (“The next morning, he
reported to the Youth Chief, SAU Vin, the fact that 1 had not agreed to sleep with him. After the report,
the Unit Chief called me for instruction and warned me 1 would be executed if 1 did not sleep with my
husband,”); Civil Party Application of MANN You Suh, E3/4745, ERN 00855588 (militiamen
monitoring a forcibly married couple saw they did not “get along” and took them away to be killed.);
Civil Party Application of SMAN Chhavy, E3/5066, ERN (En) 00890594 (Angkar followed a couple
and found that neither got along well so she was sent to be re-educated.).
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tradition the parents arrange the marriage for children, although a few witnesses had a
different understanding.*”* KHIEU Samphan claimed not to know anything about

forced marriage and, according to him, no such event took place in Phnom Penh.*”

130. There is however, some evidence of arranged and involuntary marriages. The
Chamber is therefore able to find that regulation of marriage was a CPK policy.
Evidence concerning the nature and implementation of the policy of regulation of

marriage, and its extent will be the subject of Case 002/02.

131. Having examined the existence of the CPK policies that are relevant to Case
002/01, the Chamber now considers the events immediately preceding the 17 April
1975 evacuation of Phnom Penh.

3.4. Decision to ‘Liberate’ and Forcibly Evacuate Phnom Penh and Other

Urban Centres

132. The Trial Chamber is satisfied that the CPK Central Committee over a series of
meetings starting in 1973, decided collectively to forcibly evacuate Phnom Penh’s

inhabitants.>’®

3.4.1. June 1974

133. In June 1974, the CPK leaders met in Meak village, Prek Kok commune near
the bank of the Mekong River for more than a fortnight to discuss plans for the final

assault and liberation of Phnom Penh and other urban centres.’’’ By his own

7% T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 73-74; T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 21-22,
81 (marriage was not forced, but it was arranged in respective units, and had to be approved by
Angkar); T. 8 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 64 (marriage was regulated but couple must first meet
and consent); T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 28-29, 32-33, 76-77 (marriage of cadre was
arranged by superiors and she consented to it); T. 4 June 2012 (SAKIM Lamut), p. 72 (marriages
arranged but not forced); T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 59-60 (marriages arranged but women’s
consent first sought); ¢f. T. 7 December 2011 (ROMAM Yun), pp. 45-46 (during the POL Pot time,
people did not get married; they just live together); ¢f T. 21 June 2012 (KHIEV Nou), p. 66 (superiors
in the commune must agree to the marriage, but they were merely informed they would be married).

375 T, 27 Mary 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 84.

376 T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 26-29; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 14-17.
Although NUON Chea indicated that the meetings on this topic started in 1973, the Chamber was only
presented with detailed evidence of meetings starting in June 1974.

377 Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 36, ERN (En) 00486247; Revolutionary Flag,
E3/747, August 1978, p. 20, ERN (En) 00499785; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY
Phuon), p. 39; T. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 103-104, 108, 110; T. 14 December 2011
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admission, NUON Chea attended the meeting and participated in the decision to
evacuate the cities.’’® Other attendees included POL Pot, SAO Phim, KOY Thuon, Ta
Mok, VORN Vet, ROS Nhim, and SON Sen.”” Those attending the June 1974

meeting endorsed the evacuation of Phnom Penh.**

134. Although IENG Sary claimed he did not attend the June 1974 meeting, a claim
supported by NUON Chea®®!, he admitted in an interview with Stephen HEDER that
he had discussed the evacuation of Phnom Penh with POL Pot upon his return from
China. Based on the timing of this discussion, and the testimony of PHY Phuon
placing IENG Sary at the June 1974 meeting, the Chamber is satisfied that this
conversation occurred around the same time as, if not during, the June 1974 Central
Committee Meeting. With the prompting of the Chinese leadership, IENG Sary asked
POL Pot what plans were in place following the liberation of Phnom Penh for its three
million inhabitants. POL Pot told IENG Sary that “they already had all the experience
they needed [...] [IJt was a very easy matter to resolve [...] because we Khmer had
clear-cut notions in this regard after having been able to solve the problem in Stung
Treng and Kracheh [Kratie] provinces. So the solution to the problem was to
evacuate.””** The events at Oudong were also discussed extensively and, according to
Philip SHORT, “it was the success [of] what happened at Oudong, which convinced
the leadership that this was the way they should go with Phnom Penh [...]"*** Despite
POL Pot’s representation to the international community that the plan to evacuate

Phnom Penh was not “pre-established,” it is clear that the matter was in fact discussed

(NUON Chea), p. 2; Based on his interviews with Phy Phuon, Philip SHORT initially placed this
meeting in September 1974, but later testified that he now believed it took place in June 1974. See
Book by P. SHORT: POL Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 256, ERN (En) 00396456;
T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 73-75, 129-132.

8 .13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 26-29; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 14-17; T.
26 July 2012 (ROCHEOM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 10-11, 39, 43-44; See Section 3: Historical
Background, para. 133.

379 T, 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 10-11, 39, 43-44,

380,26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 16, 23-25.

331 T, 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 2-4.

%2 |ENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, pp. 5-6, ERN (En)
00417603-04 (Although the matter of whether it would be a full evacuation or a partial evacuation of
only the peasants was not determinatively resolved).

38 "T.7 May 2013 (Philip Short), pp. 79-80.
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at Central Committee meetings starting in June 1974 and a plan was put in motion to

liberate and then evacuate Phnom Penh.***

135. There were conflicting accounts as to whether KHIEU Samphan attended the
meeting at which the decision to evacuate Phnom Penh was made. KHIEU Samphan
asserts that he did not participate and that he was not in Cambodia at the time of the
meeting.*®> NUON Chea supports this rendition of events, stating that KHIEU
Samphan was not present at the meeting and therefore he did not know of the
decisions taken.’®® According to PHY Phuon, however, KHIEU Samphan was at the

June 1974 meeting in Meak and agreed with the plan to evacuate the city. 3

136. Although KHIEU Samphan, along with IENG Sary, visited multiple countries
from March to May 1974 in a tour of Africa, Europe, and Asia in his capacity as
FUNK Deputy Prime Minister,®® he returned to Cambodia in June 1974 when the
meeting occurred.*®® Several news articles report on KHIEU Samphan’s visits to
foreign countries in April and May 1974, including China and Vietnam. Two articles,

one quoting KHIEU Samphan’s speech, indicate his presence in Laos in June 1974.%*°

3% Interview with Comrade POL Pot (News from Kampuchea), E3/1583, 1 May 1978, ERN (En)
00011316-00011317; French Embassy Telegram, Subject: POL Pot Press Conference, E3/1762, 6
October 1977, ERN (En) 00751831-32; POL Pot’s Press Conference in Peking (in SWB Collection),
E3/2728, 4 October 1977, ERN (En) 00390927, Cambodian Offers Evacuation Motive (New York
Times), E3/2316, 5 October 1977; The Chamber notes the term “liberate” was used by the Khmer
Rouge themselves to describe overcoming Khmer Republic forces, capturing areas held by them, and
bringing people under their own control. The proper characterisation of these events is addressed in the
judgement but the Chamber does not endorse the meaning indicated by Khmer Rouge usage of this
term.

335 T. 31 October 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 69; [KHIEU Samphan’s] Conclusions finales,
E295/6/4, 26 September 2013, para. 32.

386 T, 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 2-4.

387 T, 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 16, 44.

3 US State Department Telegram, Subject: KHIEU Samphan Visit to the PRC, E3/2939, 27 May
1974, para. 1, ERN (En) 00377050 (issued at the conclusion of KHIEU Samphan’s visit to the PRC on
27 May); U.S. State Department Telegram, Subject: KHIEU Samphan’s Visit, E3/3315, May 1974,
para. 4, ERN (En) 00412755 (KHIEU Samphan to leave Romania for Algiers on 2 May); KHIEU
Samphan Greets DPRK Armed Forces Minister (in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 12 February 1975, ERN
(En) 00166753 (KHIEU Samphan recalling official visit to DPRK in April 1974); Report by L.
TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, p. 23, ERN (En) 00524007; SUONG
Sikoeun Book manuscript, E3/40, ERN (Fr) 0078987.

3% T, 10 June 2013 (SOE Socheat), p. 69-70; T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 89-91
(KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary were in Vietnam starting in May 1974 for at least one week before
returning to Cambodia).

3% Summary of World Broadcasts, E3/1379, 5-7 October 1977, ERN (En) 00419557 (summary report
of an editorial notes of a June 1974 visit of KHIEU Samphan to Lao liberated area); KHIEU Samphan
Greets LPLA on 26" Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 20 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166713
(referring to goodwill visit to the Lao liberated zone in June 1974).
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These reports do not indicate the precise date or the duration of KHIEU Samphan’s
visit. However, a contemporaneous Australian Embassy Cable indicates that an
Australian delegation’s visit to Laos was postponed because KHIEU Samphan had

spent the week of 2-8 June in Sam Neua, Laos.*!

137. This is consistent with the detailed testimony and memoire of SUONG
Sikoeun. SUONG travelled from Beijing to Hanoi with IENG Sary and KHIEU
Samphan on 25 May 1974, SUONG’s wife’s birthday.’**> After staying one week in
Hanoi,>* they travelled to Laos for two days before KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary
returned to the liberated zone in Cambodia along the HO Chi Minh trail *** SUONG
stated that the two had to return to Cambodia because the war between
FUNK/GRUNK and Marshall LON Nol had intensified and as leaders of the
Resistance Movement, KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary were obliged to join the
Resistance in the country.>”® The Chamber is therefore satisfied that KHIEU Samphan
was in Laos in the first week of June 1974 before returning to the liberated zone in
Cambodia with IENG Sary.

138. The official visit to China, noted above, was particularly significant. During it,
KHIEU Samphan secured for the first time since the January 1973 Paris Peace
Agreement between the North Vietnam Republic and the U.S., a publicly-announced
agreement whereby China would provide military equipment and supplies to the CPK

forces.>®® The visit was also significant for the open support and encouragement

3! Australian Embassy Telegram, Subject: More Information from Australian Ambassador’s Visit to
Pathet Lao Headquarters in Sam Neua, E282.1.14, 19 June 1974, ERN (En) 00899053. The Chamber
notes that it has denied the Co-Prosecutors’ request, opposed by the KHIEU Samphan Defence, to put
this document before the Chamber because the Co-Prosecutors failed to exercised due-diligence in
obtaining the cable prior to trial (E282/2/1/2, para. 4). However, the Chamber now considers it in the
interests of justice to put before it E282.1.14 insofar as it partially supports the alibi put forward by the
KHIEU Samphan Defence (See E190, paras 19-21).

392 Suong Sikoeun Book manuscript, E3/40, ERN (Fr) 00078987; T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG
Sikoeun), p. 90.

3% T.2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 90.

3% T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 89-91; SUONG Sikoeun Book manuscript, E3/40, ERN
(Fr) 00078987, 00078989, 00078992; See also, Laurence PICQ Interview Record, E3/353, 29 October
2008, ERN (En) 00323626 (SUONG Sikoeun went on many official trips with IENG Sary and
NORODOM Sihanouk. SUONG left Beijing for Cambodia in May 1974); My Life under IENG Sary:
Crying against the shame and horror (Phnom Penh Post), E3/2381, 4-17 October 1996, ERN (En)
(00189076) (Sikoeun left for the resistance in 1974).

395 7.2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 91

3% U.S. State Department Telegram, Subject: KHIEU Samphan Visit to the PRC, E3/2939, 27 May
1974, para. 1, ERN (En) 00377050 (describing the first openly announced military agreement since the
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offered by the senior leadership in China to the CPK leadership in its battle against
the Khmer Republic and its U.S. supporters.”’ KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary’s
visits around the same time to the liberated zone in Laos and to Vietnam were equally
important given the level of official recognition they received and the issues
concerning military and political cooperation discussed with the highest authorities of
these countries.*”® Considering its geographic location between China and Cambodia,
Vietnam had the ability to facilitate arms transfers from China to the CPK, or in the
alternative, to block them.> Therefore, the visit to Vietnam was crucial to the fate of
the on-going fight in Cambodia. The Chamber considers it very likely that the June
1974 meeting was scheduled to enable KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary to attend and
report to the members of the CPK Central Committee on the highly successful

meetings with senior Chinese, Vietnamese and Laotian leaders.

139. SO Socheat, KHIEU Samphan’s wife, places KHIEU Samphan’s return to
Cambodia from abroad either in June or July 1974. But given the contradictions in her
testimony, her motivation to assist her husband, the clear testimony of PHY Phuon
and the equally clear information provided by SUONG Sikoeun, the Chamber finds
that SO Socheat’s evidence is unreliable. She first testified that KHIEU Samphan was

Paris Peace Agreement and the gratis provision of military equipment and supplies); CPK Media
Report, E3/113 (stating that military solidarity between China and Cambodia had been strengthened
and consolidated); CPK Media Report, E3/1254 (describing KHIEU Samphan’s discussions with
Chinese representatives following which KHIEU Samphan affirmed the solidarity in combat between
the two peoples and the two armies); Section 3: Historical Background, fn. 451.

37 US State Department Telegram, Subject: KHIEU Samphan Visit to the PRC, E3/2939, 27 May
1974, para. 1, ERN (En) 00377050 (“the Chinese accorded Samphan and his delegation honors
normally reserved for a Head of State. In addition to meetings with MAO, Premier CHOU and Vice
Premier TENG, CHIANG Ching’s personal invitation [...] also provided the Leftists’seal of approval.
Throughout the occasion, Sihanouk found himself relegated to [a] role similar to that of an extra. The
visit, in fact, seemed to indicate Peking’s abandonment of the Prince as its main card in Cambodian
affairs.”)

3% KHIEU Samphan Greets LPLA on 26" Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 20 January 1975,
ERN (En) 00166713 (KHIEU Samphan referring to “militant solidarity and fraternal friendship”
expressed during June 1974 visit to Lao liberated zone); FUNK Publication: Nouvelles du Cambodge
No. 691, E3/1238, 2 April 1974, ERN (En) 00278740 (describing 31 March 1974 visit of
FUNK/GRUNK delegation to Hanoi, represented by Mr. KHIEU Samphan, Deputy Prime Minister,
Minister of National Defence of GRUNK and Commander-in-Chief of FAPLNK; Mr. IENG Sary,
Special Advisor to the Deputy Presidency of the GRUNK Council; IENG Thirith; Mr. TIV 01 and Mr.
SIEN An).

3% T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 19-20 (between 1968 and 1975, China supplied some
arms, but Vietnam was responsible for transporting them and retained one third of the shipments); T.
13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 28-29 (after the June 1974 meeting, China provided 13
truckloads of weapons to CPK forces which were transported through Vietnam. The weapons were
destroyed by an American bombing raid before the CPK forces could put them to use).
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not with her when she gave birth to her child on 6 June 1974 and that he returned
from China only one month later. However, she then stated that KHIEU Samphan was
in Cambodia with her in June 1974, asserting that he stayed with her at K-17 and B-
20 and went to Meak village only when Phnom Penh was close to being liberated.*®
After the birth of her first child, she said that KHIEU Samphan stayed by her side for
about one month to assist her.*! However she had also mentioned previously that she
went to Meak’s office in the early days after the birth of this child.*? She again
contradicted herself, saying first that KHIEU Samphan had stayed with her for four or
five months, then correcting herself to state it was three months.**® In addition to these
contradictions, and the implausibility of some aspects of her testimony,*™* the

Chamber views SO Socheat’s testimony in the light of her desire to assist her husband

and to absolve him of culpability for the criminal conduct for which he is charged.

140. While SO Socheat’s statements concerning the date of KHIEU Samphan’s
travel to Meak village are contradictory, she has confirmed that KHIEU Samphan did
in fact travel there. The Chamber further notes that Meak village was located in
Kampong Cham very near to B-20*" and travel between these places was feasible.
Therefore the Chamber does not find that her testimony raises a reasonable doubt as

to KHIEU Samphan’s presence in Meak village in June 1974.

400 T, 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 69-70.

1 T, 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 61-62.

42 T 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 63, 69-70.

03T, 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 69-70; T. 11 June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 80.

44 Ms. SO Socheat’s testimony was also implausible in many respects. She stated that it was only
after she arrived in Phnom Penh (more than one week after 17 April) that she realised that the city had
been ‘evacuated’. T. 11 June 2013, p. 19. She also stated that during NORODOM Sihanouk’s visit to
the liberated zone in 1973, she was not aware that her husband was officially in charge of welcoming
the prince. T. 11 June 2013, pp. 15-16. Neither assertion is credible.

405 SUONG Sikoeun Book manuscript, E3/40, ERN (Fr) 00078996 (there were many CPK camps in
the area of Stung Trang, Kampong Cham province, including B-20, a re-education camp for
intellectuals returning from abroad, which was about 10 kilometres away); T. 26 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 28 (“S-24 was [...] near Phum [village] Meak, near the Dei
Kraham area, which was situated close to the district town of Stueng Trang”); T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN
Tan), pp. 28-29 (former Khmer Rouge guard who joined the Khmer Rouge in 1968 when he was in
Rattanakiri and who moved with Pang and POL Pot from Rattanakiri to Kampong Cham province in
1970. IENG Sary, NUON Chea, KHIEU Samphan attended meetings chaired by POL Pot from 1970-
1975 at Trapeang Thum village, Kampong Cham); KHAM Phan alias PHAN Van Interview Record,
E3/58, 21 November 2008, ERN (En) 00250087-88 (B-20 was next to kilometre 10, Boeng Két, in
Stung Trang district, Kampong Cham province); See also, Book by P. SHORT: POL Pot: The History
of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, ERN (En) 00396191 (map).
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141. After the June 1974 meeting, everyone was instructed to disseminate
information about the conclusions reached at the meeting in their respective zone of
competence.””® A committee chaired by SON Sen and including KOY Thuon and
other zone members was established to manage the evacuationof Phnom Penh.*”’ POL
Pot and NUON Chea led a delegation to Vietnam to inform the Vietnamese leaders of
the CPK plan to ‘liberate’ Phnom Penh and to request further supplies of weapons.**®

142. Considering all of the above circumstances, the Chamber is satisfied that both
KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary were present at the June 1974 meeting at which the
decision was made to evacuate Phnom Penh. Pursuant to the principle of democratic
centralism, both acceded to the decision.*”® KHIEU Samphan could have opposed the

evacuation of Phnom Penh, but chose not to.*'°

3.4.2. February 1975

143. There was evidence to suggest that the evacuation of Phnom Penh was again
discussed within the CPK in February 1975. Although Expert David CHANDLER

411 it was his view that the decision to

recognised that opinions differ about this date,
evacuate the cities was made in February 1975,* by which time the inhabitants of
several smaller towns including Oudong and Kratie had already been forcibly
transferred and the policy had been tested.*’* In an interview given at a press
conference in Beijing in IENG Sary’s presence POL Pot also stated that the decision

to evacuate city residents to the countryside was one of the major factors for the

406 T, 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 2-4.
“7 1. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 18; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 37-38; IENG
Thirith Interview by Kassekampen, E3/656, p. 1, ERN (En) S 00799180; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON
Chea), pp. 23-24.
%% T.13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 27-29.
409 See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 223-228; NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun,
E3/3, p. 22, ERN (En) 00184673 (“And since then, liberation in 75, it was united. As I see it, taking
then people from the city, but the smashing, that was not known, the group down below went bad
#19 "KHIEU Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4051, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00788872-73; Video of
KHIEU Samphan Interview, E152.1.52R; NUON Chea Interview by Japanese Journalist, E3/26,
undated, p. 8-9, ERN (En) 003929511-12 (“He [KHIEU Samphan] had power as well, he never said he
had no power at all. But various and different duties. [...} He did have some [power], but he had no
?ower on his own. He pushed on the perimeters, helped with opinions, helped things.”)

1" T.25 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 54-55.
412 T 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 70-71, 74-75.
43T, 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 44-45; T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim) pp. 32-33 (Kratie);
T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 47-50.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public e % 78



01005746

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

success of the revolution and that the decision was made in February 1975.4'* While
NUON Chea did not recall any subsequent meeting on the issue of the evacuation of
Phnom Penh after the mid-1974 meeting, he confirmed that the decision to evacuate

was discussed at more than one mceting.415
3.4.3. Early April 1975

144. The Chamber is satisfied that in early April 1975, senior leaders of the CPK
gathered at B-5, the command centre for the attack on Phnom Penh located in Tang
Poun village, Kampong Tralach district, Kampong Chhnang province to discuss the
forcible transfer of the inhabitants of Phnom Penh.*'® Witness PHY Phuon was
present in the vicinity of the meeting and provided a relatively detailed account. The
Trial Chamber accepts PHY Phuon’s evidence in relation to the overall description of
this meeting and its participants, who included both NUON Chea and KHIEU
Samphan. In important respects, his evidence on this matter was corroborated by the

Accused.

145. The Chamber concludes that POL Pot and other leaders, who were at B-5 prior
to the evacuation, attended the meeting together with NUON Chea, KHIEU Samphan
and other senior leaders.*'” According to NUON Chea, POL Pot stayed at B-5 from

414 SWB/Far Eastern Relations Monitoring Report: The Far East, 4 October 1977, E3/2728, ERN
(En) 00390921, 00390927; Pol Pot’s Press Conference in Peking (in SWB Collection), E3/2072, 3
October 1977, S 00080549 (“One of the important factors [of our success] is the evacuation of city
residents to the countryside. This was decided before victory was won, that is, in February 1975,
because we knew that before the smashing of all sorts of enemy spy organizations, our strength was not
strong enough to defend the revolutionary regime”).

415 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 17-21; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 37-38; T. 13
December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 26-29.

416 T. 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 12-13, 17; ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY
Phuon Interview Record, E3/24, 5 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00223581; MEAS Voeun Interview
Record, E3/424, 16 December 2009, p. 3-4, ERN (En) 00421070-71; HENG Samrin Interview Notes
by Stephen HEDER, E3/5593, 3 December 1991, ERN (En) 00419396-97; HENG Samrin Interview by
Stephen HEDER, E3/1568, 2 December 1991, ERN (En) 00651879; KHIEU Samphan Interview
Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, ERN (En) 00156743.

47T, 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 12-13; T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM
Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 11; ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview Record, E3/24, 5
December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 0223581; ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview Record,
E3/63, 21 September 2008, ERN (En) 00231409-10; cf. Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent
History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I made, E3/18, July 2004, p. 54, ERN (En) 00103750
(“by the end of March 1975, I was invited to the general headquarters of the [CPK] in Phoum Dong,
west of Udong, to follow the last offensive against the capital more closely. Neither Hu Nim [...] nor
Hou You [...] were with me at that time”); NUON Chea testified that POL Pot returned to B-5 after the
liberation of Phnom Penh: T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 37-38.
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early April 1975 in order “to command the [...] liberation of Phnom Penh.”*!®* KHIEU
Samphan admitted that he had relocated to B-5 to “follow the last offensive against
the capital more closely”, although he denied participating in the work of the
headquarters.’’® The Chamber notes that IENG Sary was also aware of the meeting
(which he placed in late March or early April 1975) at which the evacuation of Phnom

Penh was discussed, although he claimed not to have been present himself.**°

146. At the meeting, leaders reported on the battlefield situation in their various
regions.*”! POL Pot again raised the issue of the evacuation of Phnom Penh.** The
military commanders noted that it would be difficult for the cadre to control the
people if the city was not evacuated.*?> POL Pot discussed the success of experiments
with earlier liberation’ of towns and cities as did NUON Chea.*** According to PHY
Phuon, both NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan supported the plan, and all meeting
participants applauded, indicating agreement with the proposal to evacuate Phnom
Penh in line with the policy to evacuate urban areas as they were liberated from

)
enemy control.*?

418 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), (En) p. 38, (Kh) p. 28 (the Chamber relies on the Khmer
transcript in light of differences in language versions); See also, Notes used by accused NUON Chea
during the hearing of 5 December 2011, E148, ERN (En) 00950527

41 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 54, ERN (En) 00103750; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p.
3, ERN (En) 00156743; T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 57-59 See aiso
Section 3: Historical Background, paras 144-147.

20 IENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, 17 December 1996, E3/89, ERN (En) 00417603.

1T, 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 14, 23.

#22 T 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 13.

23T, 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 14.

424 T, 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 24.

45 T, 26 July 2012, (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 14, 16, 23-24; T. 31 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 44-45; The KHIEU Samphan Defence challenges the
credibility of this witness, alleging that he contradicted himself in his description of the location of the
meeting and his ability to observe and hear what was occurring. See, KHIEU Samphan Defence
Closing Brief, 26 September 2013, paras 19-33. Having examined the context of the witnesses’
testimony, the Chamber considers his testimony to be largely consistent with his statement to the Co-
Investigating Judges. See T. 2 August 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 17; T. 30 July
2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 57-61; ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview
Record, E3/63, 21 September 2008, ERN (En) 00231410; In particular, it appears from the Khmer and
French versions of the Interview Record (E3/63) and the Khmer transcripts of that interview (E3/63.1)
that the witness described the place where the meeting took place as an ordinary shed and further he
was consistent in his statements that he was able to hear and to see everything inside; See also, Section
3.4.1: June 1974 (At which the Central Committee decided upon the strategy for the final offensive to
‘liberate’ the country, including evacuation); Section 3: Historical Background, paras 148-151 (Orders
issued following the early April 1975 meeting and relating to the plan for the final offensive concerned
Phnom Penh and all territory still held by the enemy).
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147. The Chamber further notes that both KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary
expressed a comprehensive understanding of the decision-making process that led to
the evacuation of Phnom Penh. In a video-taped interview, KHIEU Samphan asserts
that had there been a single voice against the evacuations, they could not have taken
place. The reason for the evacuations, he states, were to prevent the people from
dying of starvation.*”® Further, it was KHIEU Samphan who announced the final
assault of Phnom Penh on the Voice of FUNK, although the evacuation of the city
was not announced.*”” For his part, IENG Sary discussed the evacuation of Phnom
Penh with POL Pot at least in June 1974 and likely in April 1975. Both KHIEU
Samphan and IENG Sary therefore had prior knowledge of the details of the
evacuation that is consistent with their having taken part in the decision-making

process.

3.4.4. Orders passed to lower cadre

148. After the early April 1975 meeting at B-5, meetings were held with the Khmer
Rouge forces to give orders to RAK division commanders to evacuate Phnom Penh
and other cities.*”® For example, Khmer Rouge cadre SEM Hoeun was told by his
commander that the commanders met prior to 17 April 1975 to discuss the evacuation
of Phnom Penh and later informed their subordinates.**> CHHOUK Rin, a former
Khmer Rouge commander, reported that a meeting was held in Phnom Sar at the army
headquarters in Kampot Province about one month before the fall of Phnom Penh at
which Ta Mok discussed the closure of markets, the abolition of currency and
evacuation of Kampot Town.*** Ta Mok also discussed the plans for the evacuation of

Kampot which closely resembled the practice that was followed in Phnom Penh and

46 KHIEU Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4051, pp.1-2, ERN (En) 00788872-73; Video of
KHIEU Samphan Interview, E152.1.52R.

7 Cambodians Urged to Unite in New Year’s Offensive (in FBIS collection), E3/30, 31 December
1974, ERN (En) 00166659-61.

4% T.30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 57; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea),
pp. 2-4. ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview Record, E3/63, 21 September 2008, ERN (En)
00231410.

% SEM Hoeun Interview Record, E3/5280, 10 March 2009, ERN (En) 00290514.

430,22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin) pp. 89-94.
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other parts of the country.43 ! For this reason, it was CHHOUK Rin’s belief that the

evacuations were executed based upon an agreement among the leaders **

149. Several witnesses confirmed that instructions from higher levels were relayed
downwards through the ranks of the RAK. Witness KHORN Brak stated before the
Co-Investigating Judges that there was a meeting three days before the attack on
Phnom Penh where troops were told that they had to evacuate the city after it was
liberated, and tell LON Nol soldiers to put down their weapons.433 CHHAOM Se
stated that orders to evacuate Phnom Penh were blanket orders carried out in every
battlefield as every city had to be emptied of their inhabitants in accordance with a
plan established in advance.*® Two Khmer Rouge soldiers at the time of Phnom
Penh’s liberation, CHEA Say and SUM Chea, received orders to help evacuate people
from the city, but only after Phnom Penh was liberated.*’ Similarly, KUNG Kim only
became aware of the plan to evacuate when he entered Phnom Penh with his platoon
and noticed people were on the move. His platoon had orders to cut the water supply
to force people to leave their houses, or to enter houses if people remained inside, to
ensure that people had been evacuated from their area, and to clean the houses or the
roads.**® The uniformity of these orders indicates that there was a coordinated plan at

the outset.**’

417,22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin) pp. 89-94.

421,22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin) pp. 89-94.

43 KHORN Brak Interview Record, E3/509, 8 January 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00282215-16; THA
Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00226108 (received orders from his
chief to evacuate people although unclear as to when).

4% T, 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), p. 59; T. 8 April 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 34, 66.

435 1,20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), p. 44-45 (a soldier at the time of Phnom Penh’s liberation,
testified he was ordered by his commander to help evacuate people from the city after Phnom Penh was
liberated); T. 5 November 2012 (SUM Chea), pp. 7, 10-11 (a Khmer Rouge soldier in 1972, stated that
his division received orders from the head of the battalion, Hak, to evacuate people from Phnom Penh,
although he did not know from whom Hak received his orders). See also, SAU Ren DC-CAM
Statement, E3/2073, 24 January 2003, ERN (En) 00876404-05 (received his orders from his deputy
chief of regiment); Report of the Execution of Rogatory Letter, E3/3885, 20 March 2008, pp. 3-4, ERN
(En) 00205123-24 (HIM Han’s unit commander held a meeting informing them of instructions to
evacuate seven day after Phnom Penh fell). See also, PRAK Yoeun Interview Record, E3/471, p. 3,
ERN (En) 00223335.

4% T, 24 October 2012 (KUNG Kim), pp. 90-91, 101; T. 25 October 2012 (KUNG Kim), pp. 18-21,
53, 57-58.

47 See also, SRENG Thi Interview Record, E3/5263, 6 January 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00282224 (“a
half-month before 17 April 1975, when my unit [...] approached close to Phnom Penh, Soeun, my
battalion commander, told me and the other combatants in the unit that they had to evacuate all the
people form Phnom Penh (he [did] not say anything beyond that) until things were back to normal and
they could return”); SEM Hoeun Interview Record, E3/5280, 10 March 2009, p. 3, ERN (En)
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150. Other Khmer Rouge cadres and military personnel testified that they had not
been told about the evacuation beforehand. MEAS Voeun, a commander of Regiment
16, Division 1, in the Southwest Zone whose division was responsible for attacking
Phnom Penh from the southwest,438 CHUON Thi, who was in the same division, and
UNG Ren, an officer in Brigade 14 also attacking from the Southwest, testified that
their respective units did not receive orders to evacuate civilians from Phnom Penh.**
SAUT Toeing, NUON Chea’s bodyguard and/or messenger, PEAN Khean, a
messenger for the CPK, and SUON Kanil, a morse operator working close to senior
cadres of the Central Zone also knew nothing about plans to evacuate Phnom Penh
although on 17 April 1975 they saw a lot of people walking out of the city and Khmer

Rouge soldiers guarding offices around the city.**

151. Although certain cadres were not informed of the decision to empty Phnom
Penh of its inhabitants prior to the final assault, the Chamber is satisfied on the basis
of evidence conceming the planning of this movement of population and cadres who
were informed of the plan in advance, and the consistent manner in which the

evacuation was executed throughout the city, that there was in fact a decision to that

00290514 (“I realized that prior to 17 April 1975, all commanders were invited to a meeting which was
about the evacuation of Phnom Penh [...] [t]hose commanders subsequently communicated those plans
to subordinates”); Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean
Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 60, ERN (En) 00170751
(“About 10 days before the liberation, the plan to evacuate Phnom Penh was sent down. This came
after fall of Neak Loung. There was no set-period in which people were supposed to be gotten out of
city but each unit and region was to make its own decision”).

“%T.3 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 88-89, 93-94.

9 T. 3 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 95; T. 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 41-42; T. 24 April
2013 (CHUON Thi), p. 47.

#0 T, 19 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), pp. 78-81; T. 2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 57; T. 24 April
2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 30, 45-48, 71; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 57; T. 17 December
2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 21-22; See also, UM Keo Interview Record, E3/5173, 8 May 2008, pp. 2-3,
ERN (En) 00272659-60 (“When my unit arrived, I saw LON Nol soldiers had raised white flags, but
my unit had no plans to chase or evacuate the people from Phnom Penh because before entering Phnom
Penh, my squad had already received orders from the commander ... [When] we heard them announce
for the people to leave the city, my regimental commander wondered about this, because my unit had
received orders to maintain and keep the people as normal”); HIM Han Interview Record, E3/5532, 18
December 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 0042533 (did not know about the plan to evacuate, only knew of the
plan to capture Phnom Penh); See also, Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with
Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p.36, ERN (En)
00170727 (A man from Tambon 13, Takeo, in Southwest, stated “[A]s far as I know, the plan to
evacuate Phnom-Penh was not announced ahead of time. [...]{But] I feel that the plan to evacuate
Phnom-Penh was part of a general, long standing policy because that was what we had always done
before when we liberated an enemy zone. In the past, we evacuated people from the zones we liberated
because we were afraid we would be unable to hold these areas against counter-attack and thus unable
to maintain peoples’ security. And also because people were source of labour power [sic]. And if we
gather up the people we would have forces with which to defeat the enemy.”)
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effect by the senior CPK leaders that was passed down the military hierarchy, albeit
imperfectly.

3.4.5. Conclusion

152. Given the evidence above, it is clear that NUON Chea was instrumental in the
decision to liberate and transfer the population from Phnom Penh and other urban
centres. KHIEU Samphan told the Co-Investigating Judges that he was not involved
in the decision to evacuate Phnom Penh learning of the evacuation from soldiers in
Oudong only before departing for Phnom Penh. He stated that he discussed the policy
of evacuating Phnom Penh, which he considered to be a grave mistake, after the fact
with POL Pot.*! While Philip SHORT considered that KHIEU Samphan was not part
of the decision-making apparatus,*** the Chamber does not find KHIEU Samphan’s
statements that he was entirely ignorant of the plans to evacuate Phnom Penh to be
credible. Given his close relationship with NUON Chea, POL Pot and IENG Sary,
and the evidence summarised above,*** the Chamber is satisfied that NUON Chea, as
well as KHIEU Samphan and IENG Sary, participated in the decision to evacuate
Phnom Penh and other urban centres.

“! KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, pp. 6-8, ERN (En) 00156747,
00156749; KHIEU Samphan Interview by HENG Reaksmei, 15 October 2007, E3/586, pp.1-2; KHIEU
Samphan: Second “Open Letter”, E3/592, 29 December 2003, ERN (En) 00002804; I Knew Nothing,
(Newsweek International), E3/629, 18 September 2006.

2 T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 52-53; See Section 8: Roles and Responsibilities — KHIEU
Samphan, paras 385-387.
3 See e.g. Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions 1
Made, E3/18, July 2004, p. 55 ERN (En) 00103750; (“When I asked, they said the order had been
given to evacuate the entire population from the capital. My heart skipped a beat.”); T. 31 October
2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 69 (“I never wanted or decided to evacuate the people, and neither did 1
plan or decide [to do s0].”), 70-71 (“I would like to reiterate that I did not witness the things that could
have happened days following the victory, and neither did I have any power to intervene, or sanction,
or rectify anything. Some even said that I was a coward. The reality was that I did not have any power
and I did not care about it either.”)
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3.5. Justification for the Transfer of the Population of Phnom Penh - American

Bombings

153. The CPK leadership cited the possibility of American bombing attacks on
Phnom Penh as a justification for the transfer of the population out of the city.***

154. From March 1969, with the apparent acquiescence of NORODOM
Sihanouk, " the U.S. military secretly bombed locations in the eastern provinces of
Cambodia, although there were planes straying across the border from Vietnam even
prior to this.**® They initially targeted the HO Chi Minh Trail, a route from North
Vietnam through Cambodia into South Vietnam, by which Vietnamese communists
supported the conflict in Vietnam with troops and supplies.*’ After NORODOM
Sihanouk was deposed, the United States also sent thousands of ground troops into

0'448

Cambodia from April to June 197 In December 1970, in response to domestic

opposition to U.S. military intervention in Cambodia, the U.S. Congress appears to
have prohibited the use of funds for “United States personnel in Cambodia who

furnish military instruction to Cambodian forces or engage in any combat activity.”**

444 French Ministry of Foreign Affairs Telegram, Subject: Situation in Phnom Penh — 21h00, E3/2688,
17 April 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00491356; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 30 (after the
liberation of Phnom Penh it was not clear whether Americans would continue to be involved); T. 6
June 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 38 (“If our soldiers come to control the city, will the Americans bomb
[..-]); T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 99-100; T. 25 October 2013, pp. 63-65.

5 Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88,
1979, pp- 70, 92-95, ERN (En) 00429757, 00429779-82; The NUON Chea Defence also relies on the
book Sideshow by William SHAWCROSS. See NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01,
E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, n. 581.

#¢  Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88,
Pp. 19-24, ERN (En) 00429706-11; T. 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 40-43, 125; Book by P.
SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 182, ERN (En) 00396382; ¢f- T. 31 July
2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 31 (bombing began in 1962 on Nhang Commune which
is now part of Vietnam, and intensified in 1969).

#7 T, 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 126-127; T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD),
pp. 25-26, 28; T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 32-33 (Americans were
targeting Viet Cong troops in Kampuchean territory); T. 6 December 2011, (NUON Chea), p. 11
(Viemam was suffering from carpet bombardment and Vietnam had encroached on Cambodian
territory to allow Vietnamese to reside in villages there).

“%  Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 204, 215, ERN (En)
00396404, 00396415; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of
Cambodia, E3/88, p. 396, ERN (En) 00430099; Book by W. DEAC, Road to the Killing Fields: The
Cambodian War of 1970-1975, E3/3328, p. 77-78, 250 ERN (En) 00430657-58, 00430830; T. 9 April
2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 12; T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 33-34.

9 Book by W. DEAC, Road to the Killing Fields: The Cambodian War of 1970-1975, E3/3328, p.
79, ENR (En) 00430659; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow. Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction
of Cambodia, E3/88, p. 399, ERN (En) 00430102.
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Nonetheless, and as demonstrated below, U.S. military bombings continued until

August 1973.4%

155. On 27 January 1973, the United States signed a ceasefire agreement with

Vietnam.*!

The Khmer Rouge, for their part, refused to sign a ceasefire with the
LON Nol government and there followed a sharp increase in the U.S. bombing of
Khmer Rouge-controlled locations throughout Cambodia.** In total, the U.S. dropped
several hundred thousand tonnes of bombs in Cambodia.*®> Although many of the
bombs fell in areas that were not heavily populated, it is estimated that tens of
thousands of people were killed.*** Frangois PONCHAUD, who was in Phnom Penh
at the time, testified that people were terrified and traumatised by the carpet

bombing.** The primary effect was probably to drive people from rural areas to take

0 Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88,
pp- 213-218, ERN (En) 00429900-05.

! SUONG Sikoeun Book Manuscript, E3/40, 2000, ERN (Fr) 0078993; Book by F. PONCHAUD:
Cambodia Year Zero, E243.1, ERN (En) 00862112 (After the agreements concluded with North
Vietnam on January 27, 1973, America undertook to restore peace in Cambodia by detaching the
Khmer Rouge from Sihanouk and launching the idea of a coalition government to be formed after
negotiation with all parties concerned); Department of Press and Information of the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs of Democratic Kampuchea — Black Paper Publication, E3/23, September 1978, p.60, ERN (En)
00082543(Kampuchea refused to negotiate and cease-fire in spite of the Vietnamese pressures, threats
and provocations).
2T, 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 40-43, 125; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow:
Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, pp. 260-265, 272 ERN (En) 00429947-52,
00429959. .
3 T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 141-142; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow:
Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, pp. 272, ERN (En) 00429959 (“In all of
1972 the B-52s had dropped just under 37,000 tons of bombs onto Cambodia. In March 1973 they
dropped over 24,000, in April about 35,000 and in May almost 36,000 tons. So with the fighter
bombers. In 1972 they had loosed 16,513 tons of bombs at their targets. In April 1973 alone, they
dropped almost 15,000 tons, and the figure rose monthly to over 19,000 tons in July.”)
4T, 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 40-43, 125; T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD)
pp. 27, 30 (estimating there were 40,000 deaths); Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow: Kissinger,
Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, p. 35, ERN (En) 00429722 (“Peasants were killed-no
one knows how many [...].”); Book by Khieu S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind
the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 52, ERN (En) 00103749 (KHIEU Samphan estimates bombings killed
tens of thousands of Cambodians); T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 31-32 (in
1968 and 1969, even rice fields were heavily bombed and starting in 1964 people left the villages to
stay in the jungle because of the heavy bombardments); T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY
Phuon), p. 36 (by 1969 viilagers were used to the bombings and learned to avoid them by fleeing into
the jungle without injury, but the cattle died; 31of the witness’ family members died from a
bombardment in 1973).
45 T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 14; See also, Documentary by P. DU CANE and M.
KELLEY: Cambodia Year Zero 5 — the Bloodiest Domino, E3/3137R (Witness stating ordinary people
were terrified and some would become shell-shocked, like their brains were completely shattered.
Terrified and half crazy, they would believe anything they were told, and because there was so much
shelling they believed whatever the Khmer Rouge told them).
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refuge in Phnom Penh, contributing to a massive increase in the city’s population."'56

The bombing also had an effect on the Khmer Rouge forces and delayed the Khmer
Rouge’s ability to take over Phnom Penh by several years.”’ Several witnesses
testified to being affected by the American bombings and attempting to seek

shelter.*®

156. American bombings ended on 15 August 1973 after the U.S. Congress passed a
law blocking funding for the continued bombing of Cambodia on 10 May 1973.%°
There was some evidence of post-15 August 1973 bombing raids on CPK-controlled
territory prior to the evacuation of Phnom Penh. Some of these attacks were attributed
to the Americans, although these were more likely the result of action by remaining

Khmer Republic forces.*®

456 T.23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 45-47; T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 16;
T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 28, 40; T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 50-51 (after
the liberation of Mondulkiri by the Khmer Rouge in 1970, witness’ village was bombed almost every
day forcing all of the residents to flee, including monks whose pagoda was destroyed in Chi Miet).
%7 Book by Khieu S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 110, July 2004, ERN (En) 00103778 (the American bombings “not only decimated the
Khmer Rouge army, they also accelerated the collapse of Cambodia’s rural society [...].”); T. 25 July
2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 83-85 (the American bombing campaign in Cambodia
forced the revolutionary movement into the jungles in Ratanakiri and required moving their offices
frequently); T. 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 41; T. 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 53, 61
(fear of air raids prevented cadre from moving freely).
% T.3 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 76-77 (witness testified that when he was working at M-
13, between 1971 and 1975, when B-52 bombers flew overhead, he had to take refuge in trenches. The
entire ground shook and bombs left big craters); T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 54-56 (witness
testified he experienced American bombings along road number 26); Witness EK Hen testified that her
father died in 1971 in Svay Teab as a result of bombing. She attributed the bombing to LON Nol
aircraft although the American bombings coincided with this time frame. See T. 3 July 2013 (EK Hen),
. 18, 21, 67.
gg T. 6 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), p. 44, 46; T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 75; T.
28 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), p. 10-11 (“I remember that date very well. I was out on National
Road No. 3 most of that morning. I remember right around 12 noon, which was supposed to be the end
of the American bombing campaign, there were a few bombing missions in the vicinity and then it
stopped. So I have a very clear recollection of 15 August.”); T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 12-
13; DK Publication: Black Paper, E3/23, September 1978, p.60, ERN (En) 00082543(“from February
to 15 August 1973, the U.S. imperialists were launching a savage air war against Kampuchea’s
revolution carrying out intensive bombings, days and nights, against Kampuchea.”); Book by Khieu S.:
Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 52, ERN (En)
00103749 (“Finally, the US Congress suspended the war budget and, by the middle of August 1973,
demanded that the United States stop the bombing.”); See also, Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow:
Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, pp. 284, 299, 400, ERN (En) 004299987,
00430002, 04430103.
%0 T, 25 October 2012 (KUNG Kim), p. 36 (several months before the final assault on Phnom Penh,
there were aerial bombardments during the surge of the attack by soldiers, there were casualties. Each
time, there were between 20 to 30 casualties); T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 54-56 (bombings
happened before the attack on Phnom Penh, and only stopped when Khmer Rouge advanced to the
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3.6. Refugee Conditions and Food Shortages in Phnom Penh

157. From 1970-1975 there was an influx of refugees*®! from the countryside into
Phnom Penh, increasing the city’s population from around 0.5 million in 1970-71 to
an estimated 2 to 2.5 million in April 1975.%? According to Frangois PONCHAUD,

who was working with a refugee organisation in Phnom Penh, people were fleeing the

outskirts of Phnom Penh); T. 29 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), pp. 41-43 (after the Americans stopped
bombing, the Khmer Air Force had limited resources and was conservative in how they deployed
people and planned operations); T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 75 (after 15 August 1973, U.S.
bombing completely ended, but Khmer Republic air force bombing continued as did shelling by Khmer
Republic ground forces).

%1 As used in this section, “refugee” refers to persons who were displaced from their homes.
However, these individuals would likely be classified as “Internally Displaced Persons™ (IDPs) under
international human rights and humanitarian law. See Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, UN
Doc. E/CN./4/1998/53/Add.2, 17 April 1998 (defining Internally Displaced Persons as “persons or
groups of persons who have been forced or obliged to flee or to leave their homes or places of habitual
residence, in particular as a result of or in order to avoid the effects of armed conflict, situations of
generalized violence, violations of human rights or natural or human-made disasters, and who have not
crossed an internationally recognized State border”); Cf. Convention Relating to the Status of
Refugees, 189 UNTS 150, Art. 1(A)(2) (including within the definition of refugee the requirement that
a person be outside the country of his or her nationality.)

2T, 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 45-47; T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 16;
T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 27, 40; Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary
1975, E236/1/4/3.1, pp. 5, 7, 15, 37, ERN (En) 00898217-20; T. 29 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF) pp.
6-7, 47; T. 13 December 2012 (Denise AFFONCO), p. 75; U.S. State Department Telegram, Subject:
Recent Movement of Khmer Refugees to Neak Loeung, E3/4185, 10 July 1974 (reporting on the
displacement of 14,300 refugees form insurgent controlled areas to government positions at Neak
Loeung); T. 12 December 2012 (Denise AFFONCO), pp. 64-67 (every day saw crowds of refugees
who had been evacuated from neighbouring villages trooping into town, they told her what was
happening in their villages. The capital was the only place where they could find a certain level of
safety); T. 13 December 2012 (Denise AFFONCO), pp. 75-76 (every day crowds of refugees arrived in
Phnom Penh. The city then was about 2 million inhabitants. With all the refugees entering the city,
there were more than 3 million of inhabitants before the evacuation); T. 22 November 2012 (MEAS
Saran), pp. 50-53, 69 (there was a great influx of people into Phnom Penh as the Khmer Rouge forces
pushed closer to the city in the days before its evacuation; in fact, the population of Phnom Penh had
tripled because of the newcomers. The increased population crowded the city, and life was not easy);
World Vision International Letter, E3/4188, 3 May 1971 (reporting in 1971 that the once crowded city
of 750,000 has now swelled to over 1.5 million); T. 6 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), p. 58 (the
city had grown from one million to two million, the extra million were people who fled into Phnom
Penh and there wasn't enough food); T. 7 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), p. 49 (citing Book by P.
SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 216, ERN (En) 00396416, “The
population of Phnom Penh, which consisted of 671,000 inhabitants [in 1970] exceeded one million at
the end of the year [1970] and reached 2.5 million in 1975.”); T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois
PONCHAUD), pp. 16, 38 (“We could say 2 to 3 million, but these are estimates.”), (these are
estimates, “there were simply no statistics.”); Cambodia Can Hold Out With Essential Aid (in FBIS
Collection), E3/118, 5 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166915 (noting there are at least two million refugees
in Phnom Penh area and they have to be fed); T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 16 (there
could have been 2 to 3 million people in Phnom Penh at that time); See also, Revolutionary Flag,
E3/166, Februrary-March 1976, p. 13, ERN (En) 00517825 (refers to “the more than two million
people who had recently been evacuated from the various cities.”).
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Khmer Rouge as well as the American bombings.**® Sydney SCHANBERG insisted
however that refugees he interviewed spoke of the Khmer Rouge closing in, the
seizing of their towns and their wish to feed their children as the reasons for their
flight to Phnom Penh.*** Refugees told Civil Party Denise AFFONGO that they were
leaving their villages because the country was at war all around and the capital was

the only place with a certain level of safety.465

158. By 1975, there were refugee camps surrounding Phnom Penh and several
within the city, including one at the Olympic stadium and one at the site of the then
incomplete Cambodiana hotel. The food and sanitation situation in these camps, and

in Phnom Penh in general, was very poor.*®®

159. The U.S. government was providing aid to the LON Nol government-held
areas by transporting rice from South Vietnam to Phnom Penh via the Mekong River,
and later by air.*’ The Khmer Rouge targeted these transports to Phnom Penh with
mortars and rockets and blocked access via the Mekong River by placing mines.*®
Although there were food shortages already during the period 1970-1975,%° the food

situation in Phnom Penh worsened after the Khmer Rouge cut off access to the

3 T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 26-27; See also, T. 29 January 2013 (Al
ROCKOFF) p. 13.

#4 T, 6 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), pp. 59-60.

45T, 12 December 2012 (Denise AFFONCO), p. 67.

46 T, 23 October 2012(LAY Bony), p. 85 (food prices surged and she could hardly find any rice to
buy); T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 29; Book by W. SHAWCROSS: Sideshow:
Kissinger, Nixon and the Destruction of Cambodia, E3/88, pp. 220-224, 225-227, ERN (En) 00429907-
14; T. 28 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), pp. 83, 113-114; T. 29 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), pp. 7-8,
11.

7 T.15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 50-53; T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 30; T.
29 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF) p. 10.

8% T.5 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), pp. 28; Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary
1975, E236/1/4/3.1, 16 January 1975-77 February 1975, pp. 9-12, ERN (En) 00898217-20;
Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, p. 34, ERN (En) 00486245-46; Cambodians Urged to
Unite in New Year’s Offensive (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 31 December 1974, ERN (En) 00166660
(KHIEU Samphan states: “All strategic ground routes of the enemy have been cut [...] He is faced with
increasing difficulties and greater obstacles on the Mekong River [...] Rice and other foodstuffs have
become more scarce.”); KHIEU Samphan 14 Jan Message to CPNLAF Fighters (in FBIS Collection),
E3/30, 15 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166709 (“[T]he Mekong — the sole route for the transportation of
rice and other food, fuel oil and munitions from South Vietnam to feed the clique of the traitor Lon Nol
and associates — is completely blocked.”); AKI Notes CPNLAF’s Increased Control of Mekong River
(in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 20 February 1975, ERN (En) 00166763 (“Since 11 February, [...] no
ship has arrived at or left Phnom Penh port.”).

49" USAID Report: Cambodia Termination Report Vol. 1, E3/4178, September 1975; T. 11 April 2013
(Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 29-30.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public e %4/ 89



01005757

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

Mekong River in 1975.4" According to NUON Chea, although there was not an
abundance of food in the cooperatives, the population needed to be evacuated from
Phnom Penh where the food situation was dire so they would have enough to eat.*”!
He explained that at the time of the mid-1974 meeting at which it was decided to
evacuate Phnom Penh, the United States of America had suspended its aid to
Cambodia, and Phnom Penh subsequently experienced a food shorage as an

immediate consequence of the end of this support.*’

Thus, the plan was to relocate
people to other areas of Cambodia where food was available, such as in the Northwest

Zone, to alleviate the food problem in Phnom Penh

160. A draft 1975 report of the U.S. Agency for Intemational Development
attributed the food crisis to “the breakdown of security.”*’* The report indicated that
rice stocks in Cambodia “were seldom adequate for more than a few weeks,” and at
one point in November 1974 there was only a three-day supply. The report predicted
that “without large scale external food and equipment assistance there will be

widespread starvation between now [September 1975] and next February [1976].”475

410 T, 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 30; T. 6 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), pp. 58-
59; T. 24 October 2012 (LAY Bony), pp. 47-51 (prior to liberation Phnom Penh was in a state of
chaos; the city was overcrowded and the food supply was a problem); T. 22 November 2012 (MEAS
Saran), pp. 40-43, 49-50 (in the lead up to the evacuation, there were no food shortages per se, but it
became more difficult to access food as the prices increased daily; during the last few days in Phnom
Penh, food was very expensive as people continued to flow into the city); T. 5 December 2012 (PECH
Srey Phal), pp. 11-14 (noted the cost of living was rising, including prices of medicine and food; “food
was scarce and people found it more and more difficult to get what they needed.”); T. 12 December
2012 (Denise AFFONCO), pp. 76-77 (it was not a famine as there was still food to be found; while
supplies were short people were still able to feed themselves); T. 13 December 2012 (Denise
AFFONCOQ), pp. 77-78 (food prices, and even the price of the sweetened condensed milk that was
made in her former factory (Sokilait), went up considerably).

471 T, 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 29-30.

42T, 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 27; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 14-17; T. 31
January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 15. See also, French Ministry of Foreign Affairs Telegram, Subject:
Conversation with the Chinese Ambassador, E3/2708, 13 May 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00753569
(Chinese ambassador considered the evacuation attempted to resolve the food issue).

7T, 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 30.

47 USAID Report: Cambodia Termination Report Vol. 1, E3/4178, September 1975, p. 10, ERN (En)
00291334.

45 USAID Report: Cambodia Termination Report Vol. 1, E3/4178, September 1975, p. 17, ERN (En)
00291340.
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3.7. Final Assault on Phnom Penh

161. Starting in 1973 and increasing in 1974-1975 until the liberation of Phnom
Penh, Khmer Rouge forces shelled Phnom Penh with rockets and other ordnance.*’®
The Khmer Rouge did not have proper rocket launchers and rockets fell primarily in
residential areas.*”” Stephen HEDER was told about the sources of this ordnance by a
Japanese military attaché whose information likely originated from Khmer Republic

478 He testified that, under the overall direction of the General

military intelligence.
Staff chaired by SON Sen, 105mm shells were fired from the Special Zone troops
commanded by IN Lom alias Nat, and that the 107mm shells coming from the east

were fired by the East Zone Division 1 or 2 troops. 479

162. With the attacks on LON Nol government-held territories on-going, KOY
Thuon and other senior leaders met towards the end of 1974 in Damnach Smach (near
Oudong) to plan the liberation of Phnom Penh.**® Then, on 1 January 1975, the CPK
began its final assault on Phnom Penh.*®! The offensive was announced in a statement

by KHIEU Samphan in a radio broadcast of 31 December 1974.4%

163. From February to April 1975, the shelling continued unabated, killing and

injuring hundreds of civilians.*®> Around 14-15 April 1975, there was an exodus of

476 T, 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 77, 80, 82; T. 14 November 2012 (MEAS Saran), pp. 91-92.
47 T. 5 June 2013 (Sidney SCHANBERG), p. 21 (Khmer Rouge had Chinese made rockets but no
machinery to get them in the air so they improvised wooden launchers); T. 11 July 2013 (Stephen
HEDER), p. 80; T. 23 October 2012 (LAY Bony), p. 83.

48 T, 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 82-83.

¥ T.11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 79-81; See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para.
240.

40T, 2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), pp. 63-64.

“1 T, 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 76, Khmer Rouge Launch New Year’s Offensive (in FBIS
Collection), E3/30, 1 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166658; Central Committee Decision, E3/12, 30
March 1976, p. 3, ERN (En) 00182811; Revolutionary Flag, E3/747, August 1978, p. 20, ERN (En)
00499785 (“At 1 a.m. on 1 January 1975, every military unit including militias and district, sector, and
Zone and Center military forces at every spearhead had to attack, pound and penetrate following the
plans set by the Party.”).

2 Cambodians Urged to Unite in New Year’s Offensive (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 31 December
1974, ERN (En) 00166659-61.

3 T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), p. 58; T. 5 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), p. 21; Book
by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, 16 January 1975-7 February 1975, p. 22,
ERN (En) 00898230 (“In the nine weeks since the offensive began, about 1000 rockets have fallen on
the capital, killing more than 150 civilians and wounding nearly 600 others.”); Heavy Fighting
Continues around Phnom Penh, More Rocket Attacks (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 2 January 1975,
ERN (En) 00166662 (15 rockets fired into the capital the day before killed seven and wounded 13,
according to official figures); Khmer Rouge Rockets Hit Phnom Penh (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 10
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thousands of people fleeing from refugee camps in Takhmau towards the centre of
Phnom Penh a rocket attack by the Khmer Rouge.*3* Civil Party MEAS Saran, a nurse
working in a hospital in Borei Keila, at a hospital designated to receive victims of the
rocket attacks, testified that people were terrified by the Khmer Rouge bombing

attacks and the influx of people from the countryside.*’

164. On 1 April 1975, after strategic military losses, President LON Nol was
persuaded to resign and went into exile.®® Two days later, KHIEU Samphan issued a
statement announcing that the “seven LON Nol traitors” had fled the country, but
indicating the “U.S. Imperialists” were attempting to prolong the war by resorting to

negotiation.**’

January 1975, ERN (En) 00166683 (Three rockets hit Phnom Penh killing one man and wounding
three, all Cambodian civilians); Rockets Land Near Phnom Penh Royal Palace (in FBIS Collection),
E3/30, 13 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166696 (reporting nine people injured when rockets hit a
Buddhist monastery and that in the previous three days, 14 rockets hit the capital killing seven people
and injuring 24); Major Attack Ordered to Stop Red Khmer Rockets (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 16
January 1975, ERN (En) 00166711 (rockets fired at Pochentong Airport wounded 22 people); AFP
Reports Battle Situation For 19, 20 January, 30 Killed at Capital (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 20
January 1975, ERN (En) 00166712 (30 people were killed and 75 wounded by heavy attacks; 40
rockets were fired on Phnom Penh and its airport, one hitting the central market place and around the
electric power plant); AFP Reports Rockets Hit Phnom Penh, Pochentong Airport (in FBIS Collection),
E3/30, 21 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166715 (Four killed and 11 injured by rockets which hit Phnom
Penh and Pochentong Airport during fighting); Kampot Port Under Siege, Phnom Penh Airport Shelled
(in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 29 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166731 (four killed and 10 wounded when
rockets struck about a dozen houses in the northern fringes of the city); Phnom Penh Papers on US Aid,
Superpower Collusion (in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 16 February 1975, ERN (En) 00166755 (Three
were killed and 10 injured during Red Khmer rocket attacks on Pochentong Airport); AFP Interviews
Gen Sosthene Fernandez (in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 25 February 1975, ERN (En) 00166769 (30
rockets fell on Phnom Penh and Pochentong, wounding about 25 people); AFP Reports More
Embassies Evacuating Personnel (in FBIS Collection), E3/120, 9 March 1975 ERN (En) 00166803 (15
killed and 23 wounded after Khmer Rouge insurgents blasted Phnom Penh and Pochentong Airport
with rocket fire); Government Troops Retake Tuol Leap (in FBIS Collection), E3/120, 15 March 1975,
ERN (En) 00166828 (Khmer Rouge rockets fired into Pochentong and southern Phnom Penh killed
two and wounded 15); Rockets Hit Long Boret’s Home, Just Miss US Embassy (in FBIS Collection),
E3/120, 20 March 1975, ERN (En) 00166851 (20 insurgent rockets slammed into Phnom Penh killing
four and wounding 15); Takhmau Abandoned (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 15 April 1975, ERN (En)
00166958 (shelling from the far bank of the Bassac River killed and wounded large numbers of
people).

484 T, 28 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), pp. 93, T. 29 January 2013 (Al ROCKOFF), pp. 8-9, 46-47.
85 T. 22 November 2012 (MEAS Saran), p. 19; T. 14 November 2012 (MEAS Saran), pp. 93-94, 96,
99.

8 Lon Nol, Delegation Leave Phnom Penh for Indonesia, U.S. (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 1 April
1975, p. ERN (En) 00166888; Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, ERN (En) 00486248; Book
by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 263, ERN (En) 00396471; Book by
S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, ERN (En) 00898243, 00898264.

7 KHIEU Samphan Congratulates CPNLAF on Neak Luong Victories (in FBIS Collection), E3/118,
3 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166923-25 (naming the seven members of the LON Nol regime as traitors:
LON Nol, SIRIK Matak, SON Ngoc Thanh, CHENG Heng, IN Tam, LONG Boret, SOSTHENE
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165. On 12 April 1975, U.S. marines evacuated the Ambassador and remaining
embassy personnel from the U.S. embassy in Phnom Penh, along with Acting
President SAUKAM Khoy.*®® On 16 April 1975, the Khmer Republic leadership sent
a message to NORODOM Sihanouk in Beijing offering to transfer power immediately
to GRUNK, but asking for assurances that there would be no acts of reprisals for acts
during active hostilities.*** NORODOM Sihanouk rejected this offer stating that only
an unconditional surrender was acceptable and urging ‘first rank traitors’ to flee the

country because as war criminals they ‘deserve nothing less than the gallows.”**°

166. By the evening of 16 April 1975, CPK military divisions were on the verge of
taking over Phnom Penh.*' Thousands of refugees entered into the city centre.
Sydney SCHANBERG described this day in his diary as resulting in the highest

Fernandez); KHIEU Samphan Issues Statement on Current Situation (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 1
April 1975, ERN (En) 00166897 (“The seven traitorous chieftains have packed or are packing their
bags to flee abroad in a bid to escape punishment by our people. Contemptible SON Ngoc Thanh has
fled to Saigon, contemptible IN Tam has disappeared, and contemptible SOSTHENE Fernandez and
CHENG Heng also recently fled abroad [...] contemptible LON Nol and LONG Boret have also
packed much luggage to flee abroad in a bid to escape [...].”); CPNLAF Continuing Offensive ‘Without
Compromise’ (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 10 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166937 (noting traitors LON
Nol, CHENG Heng, SOSTHENE Fernandez, SON Kgoc Thanh and IN Tam have fled Phnom Penh);
LONG Boret Addresses Nation After SAUKAM Khoy Flight (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 12 April
1975, ERN (En) 00166939 (noting the unannounced departure of Lt Gen Saukam Koy, acting president
of' the Khmer Republic); LONG Boret Briefs Journalists of New Government’s Policies (in FBIS
Collection), E3/118, 13 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166942 (noting Marshal LON Nol fled on 1 April
1975).

“% Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, pp. 43-45, ERN (En) 00898251-
53; Revolutionary Flag, E3/11, September 1977, ERN (En)00486248; Long Boret Addresses Nation
After Saukam Khoy Flight (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 12 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166939-40; U.S.
State Department Telegram, Subject: Continuing Contacts with GKR, E3/2938, 12 April 1975, p. 1,
ERN (En) 00376694.

8 Phnom Penh Leaders Request Cease-Fire, Transfer of Power (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 16
April 1975, ERN (En) 00166970; Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, p.
60, ERN (En) 00898268.

40 Sihanouk Rejects Offer (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 16 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166971; Book
by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, p. 61, ERN (En) 00898269.

1 Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, pp. 57-60, ERN (En) 00898265-
68; See FBIS Collection, E3/118, including the following: NUFC Radio Reports Pochentong Airport
‘Completely Liberated’, 15 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166950; Khmer Rouge Begins Attacks on Phnom
Penh’s Southern Suburbs, 15 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166950; Takhmau Abandoned 15 April, 15 April
1975, ERN (En) 00166958; Fighting Around Phnom Penh, ERN (En) 00166958; Khmer Rouge Occupy
Pochentong Airport, 16 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166958-59; KYODO: Liberation Forces Enter
Southern Phnom Penh, 16 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166961; NUFC Radio on Attacks Around Capital,
Rebel Pilot’s Landing, 16 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166963; NUFC Radio Cites Attacks ‘In Direction
of” Capital’s Centre, 16 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166972.
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number of dead in the five years of war and describes the Preah Ket Mealea Hospital

as a “slaughterhouse” that was wall to wall” with wounded.**?

167. The Khmer Rouge entered Phnom Penh on 17 April 1975.

2 Book by S. SCHANBERG: Cambodia Diary 1975, E236/1/4/3.1, pp. 58-59, ERN (En) 00898266-
00898267.
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4. GENERAL OVERVIEW: 17 APRIL 1975 — 6 JANUARY 1979

168. The Chamber limited Case 002/01 to the factual allegations described in the
Closing Order, and characterised as crimes against humanity, as movement of
population (phase one), executions of former Khmer Republic officials at Tuol Po
Chrey and movement of population (phase two).*> However, according to the
Closing Order, these movements of population, executions and associated crimes
form part of a widespread attack against the civilian population carried out throughout
the DK era and in all regions of Cambodia.*** The Chamber therefore considers it
necessary to address briefly both the factual allegations charged as crimes against
humanity in Case 002/01 and the allegations concerning the larger context of the

attack in which these crimes were committed.

169. Between 17 April 1975 and December 1977, the temporal period at issue in
Case 002/01, the Khmer Rouge forcibly transferred the population from cities and
towns throughout Cambodia to rural areas and between these rural areas in order to
neutralise enemies, both internal and external, and to avert the threat of rebellion; to
eliminate and temper the capitalist and feudalist classes; and to build and expand
cooperatives.*”®> The Party identified the ‘New People’, including former government
officials, intellectuals, landowners, capitalists, feudalists and the petty bourgeoisie, as
key enemies of the revolution and collectivisation.**® To neutralise these enemies, the

Khmer Rouge re-educated, moved and eliminated ‘New People’ and other groups

3 Annex: List of Paragraphs and Portions of the Closing Order Relevant to Case 002/01, Amended
Further to the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial
Chamber’s Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional Crime Sites Within the Scope
of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163) (TC), E124/7.3.

% Closing Order, paras 1350-1372.

495 See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One), paras 547-574; Section 11: Movement
of the Population (Phase Two), paras 627-657; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 777-778,
804-810, 835-837.

6 Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, pp. 11-12, 26, 30-31, ERN (En) 00401486-87, 00401501,
00401505-06; Revolutionary Flag, E3/10, September-October 1976, p. 29, ERN (En) 00450529
(Among the new peasants were the petty bourgeoisie, the capitalists, the feudalists and other workers
and labourers. Therefore, there were life and death contradictions); Revolutionary Flag, E3/743, July
1977, p. 8, ERN (En) 004716163 (“Enemies” included the imperial aggressor and their servants of
every type, the feudalist landowner-capitalist classes, and the various oppressor classes).
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incompatible with building socialism including former Khmer Republic officials and,

it is alleged, Buddhists, the Cham and the Vietnamese.**’

170. On 17 April 1975, the Khmer Rouge moved at least two million people from
Phnom Penh.**® The evacuees were provided insufficient, if any, accommodation and
assistance, resulting in deaths and suffering.*”® On and after 17 April 1975, people
were also displaced from various provincial towns throughout Cambodia, including
Kampong Speu,’® Takeo,*"! Kampot,”® Sihanoukville (previously, Kampong
Som),>® Kampong Thom,”** Pailin,”® Kampong Cham,**® Kampong Chhnang,>"’

#7 See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 119-127; Section 10: Movement of the Population
(Phase One), paras 501-511, 517, 567-574; Section 11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two),
paras 613-623, 649-657; Section 12: Tuol Po Chrey, paras 683-687; Section 14: Joint Criminal
Enterprise, paras 731, 783-785, 787, 789-790, 795, 805, 811-837; See aiso, Closing Order, paras 740-
841 (Concerning the treatment of Chams, Buddhists and Vietnamese).

4% See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One), paras 520, 547.

49 See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One), paras 521-524, 547-552, .

%0 T, 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 47-50.

1T, 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 47-50; BUN Thien Interview Record, E3/5498, 17 August
2009, pp. 5-6, ERN (En) 00384399-400 (All people in Takeo Town were evacuated around 18 or 19
April 1975).

502 SOKH Chhien Interview Record, E3/428, 19 August 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00374949; KHUN Kim
Interview Record, E3/360, 30 April 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00268854,

5% DANH Nhor Interview Record, E3/5197, 15 July 2008, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00275030-1 (Around
17 April 1975, people were evacuated from Sihanoukville (previously called Kampong Som) to
Kampot); KHIM Khen Interview Record, E3/5190, 2 July 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00274658 (After 17
April 1975, people were evacuated from Kampong Som to Prey Nob); LOEUNG Bunny Interview
Record, E3/5543, 11 September 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00384778 (On 17 April 1975, Khmer Rouge
soldiers evacuated people from Sihanoukville to the west).

5% KROEM Samy Hors Civil Party Application, E3/4933, 3 August 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En)
00890979-80 (describing evacuation of Kampong Thom in April 1975); VANN Theng Interview
Record, E3/5249, 8 October 2008, p. 2, ERN (En) 00231858.

05 THACH Sokh Interview Record, E3/5230, 15 December 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00279242 (On 17
April 1975 the witness was evacuated from Pailin to Battambang); Refugee Accounts, E3/4590,
pp. 305-306, ERN (En) 00820623-24 (On 26 April 1975, the Khmer Rouge ordered the entire
population of Pailin, by means of a radio car, to leave the town and that each person should take only a
few items); PRUM Sarun Interview Record, E3/5187, 18 June 2008, p. 2, ERN (En) 00274177 (a
former LON Nol soldier and a farmer living at Krapeu Cheung village, noted that after 17 April 1975,
the Khmer Rouge set up people’s units and teams to perform labour, building dams and digging canals,
such as the Kamping Puoy Dam. There were 90 people in his group including evacuees from Pailin,
Phnom Penh and Kampong Cham).

5% TAY Kimhuon Interview Record, E3/5257, 24 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00251014 (After
taking Kampong Cham, the people were evacuated).

%97 T, 6 June 2013 (Sydney SCHANBERG), pp. 23-26 (Kampong Chhnang was ‘evacuated’ by 23
April 1975); CHAN Loeu Interview Record, E3/5233, 23 December 2008, pp. 2-3, ERN (En)
00279260-61 (On 17 April 1975, the witness, who lived at Taing Kruos Kaet Village, saw people who
had been evacuated including from Kampong Chhnang); LOEUNG Kimchhong Interview Record,
E3/5272, 11 February 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00290655-56 (All the people of Kampong Chhnang
Town were told by loudspeaker to leave).
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5% Battambang’'® and Pursat.’'! The re-location of many people

5.512

Siem Reap,’® Poipet,

expelled from Phnom Penh and other towns was still on-going in August 197

171. Beginning in September 1975 and continuing throughout 1977, at least 300,000
to 400,000 civilians were forcibly transferred to Battambang and Pursat Provinces,
while more than 30,000 were forcibly re-located within regions depending on
seasonal labour requirements and to advance the class s‘cruggle.ﬂ3 These movements
were carried out under inhumane conditions leading to deaths. Some died of
starvation, exhaustion or sickness while others disappeared.5 " Overall, during the
temporal period at issue in Case 002/01, millions were forcibly displaced. The
Chamber notes that the Closing Order also alleged that forcible displacement

continued throughout 1978.3"

172. Between 17 and 24 April 1975, Khmer Republic officials were targeted for
execution, arrest and detention while cities and towns throughout the newly liberated
areas of Cambodia, including Phnom Penh were emptied of their inhabitants.’® On or
around 25 or 26 April 1975, at least 250 former Khmer Republic officials were

%8 T. 12 November 2012 (PE CHUY Chip Se), pp. 111-112 (After 17 April 1975, people were
evacuated from Siem Reap at gun-point); CHEA Thy Interview Record, E3/5184, 17 June 2008, p. 5,
ERN (En) 00225529 (All the people of Siem Reap were evacuated); MUY Moeun Interview Record,
E3/5175, 3 June 2008, p. 2, ERN (En) 00272752 (On 5 May 1975, people were still being evacuated
from Siem Reap, others had already been evacuated); TEM Kimseng Interview Record, E3/5248, 7
October 2008, pp. 2-4, ERN (En) 00235142-44 (After 17 April 1975, people were evacuated from

Siem Reap).

3% Refugee Accounts, E3/4590, p. 25, ERN (En) 00820343 (On 24 April, the Khmer Rouge ordered
the evacuation of Poipet by microphone).

519 T, 6 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), pp. 74-75 (One week after the Khmer Rouge took control,
Battambang was evacuated); MA Saem Interview Record, E3/5282, 28 March 2009, pp. 3-4, ERN (En)
00322023-4 (At the end of April 1975, Khmer Rouge soldiers evacuated Battambang Town); PEN
Loeut Interview Record, E3/5226, 18 November 2008, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00250277-78 (Around 25 or
26 April 1975, armed Khmer Rouge soldiers evacuated people from Phnom Sampeou to rice fields
outside the village, in Battambang Province); TES Heanh Interview Record, E3/505, 27 August 2008,
pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00275409-10 (Armed Khmer Rouge evacuated all the people of Battambang Town).
11T, 29 April 2013 (UNG Chhat), pp. 70-79 (Pursat was evacuated on 20 April 1975); T. 2 May
2013 (LIM Sat), pp. 14-16 (Following the liberation in 1975, people were all evacuated out of the
?rovincial town of Pursat within three weeks or so) .

2 See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One); Section 11: Movement of the
Population (Phase Two); Revolutionary Flag, E3/166, February-March 1976, p. 25, ERN (En)
00517837.

13 See Section 11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two).

* See Section 11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two).

315 Closing Order, paras 283-300 (Concerning the displacements identified in the Closing Order as
?opulation movement (phase three)).
16" Section 11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two).
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executed at Tuol Po Chrey.517 This policy to target Khmer Republic officials
continued thereafter with executions, arrests and disappearances reported throughout

Cambodia.>*®

173. Meanwhile, according to the Closing Order, throughout the DK era (17 April
1975 to 6 January 1979), there were widespread killings, torture, rape, physical
violence, forced marriages, forced labour, disappearances, and/or other instances of
inhumane treatment, some of which were carried out on discriminatory grounds.’*
During the DK era, hundreds of thousands of Cambodians victimised by the Khmer

Rouge regime sought refuge in Thailand, Vietnam and Laos.’*°

174. By 2008, the Documentation Center of Cambodia (“DC-Cam”) had identified
an estimated 1.3 million human remains in 390 mass grave sites spread throughout
Cambodia.”®' Experts suggest that there is a high probability that those mass grave
sites contain the remains of only a sample of those who died as a result of Khmer

Rouge policies and actions during the DK era: it is likely that many grave sites have

517 Section 12: Tuol Po Chrey, para. 681.

518 See Section 11: Movement of the Population (Phase Two); Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise.
3% Closing Order, paras 302-860 (Concerning allegations of mistreatment and violence at security
centres, execution sites, cooperatives and worksites and treatment of specific groups throughout
Cambodia).

320 Demographic Expert Report: Khmer Rouge Victims in Cambodia, April 1975-January 1979: A
Critical Assessment of Major Estimates, E3/2413, 30 September 2009, p. 19, ERN (En) 00385262; T.
11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 57-58; Article by P. Heuveline: ‘Between One and Three
Million’: Towards the Demographic Reconstruction of a Decade of Cambodian History (1970-79),
E3/1799, 1998, p. 60, ERN (En) 00096735; French Ministry of Foreign Affairs Circular, Subject:
Cambodian News, E3/2675, 1 December 1978, p. 12, ERN (En) 00752075.

21 DC-Cam Document: Burial, E3/2763, 18 February 2008 (16 sites in Banteay Meanchey each with
the remains of between 50 and 25,000 people; 19 sites in Battambang with the remains of between 30
and 20,000 people; 75 sites in Kampong Cham with the remains of between 10 and 32,690; 40 sites in
Kampong Chhnang with the remains of between 10 and 150,000 people; 24 sites in Kampong Speu
with the remains of between 10 and more than 30,000; 17 sites in Kampong Thom with the remains of
between 1 and 150,000 people; 14 sites in Kampot with the remains of between 40 and 32,047 people;
29 sites in Kandal with the remains of between 10 and 35,027 people; 10 sites in Kratie with the
remains of between 50 and 7,000 people; 1 site in Mondulkiri with the remains of about 200 people; 4
sites in Phnom Penh with the remains of between 10 and 15,000 people; 36 sites in Prey Veng with the
remains of between 30 and more than 17,200 people; 17 sites in Pursat with the remains of between
100 and 15,000 people; 3 sites in Ratanakiri with the remains of between 40 and more than 1,000
people; 24 sites in Siem Reap with the remains of between 12 and 36,000 people; 8 sites in Kampong
Som (Sihanoukville) with the remains of between 100 and 1,500 people; 4 sites in Stung Treng, one
site containing the remains of 1,000 people; 18 sites in Svay Rieng with the remains of between 40 and
30,000 people; 31 in Takeo with the remains of between 1 and 40,000 people); Demographic Expert
Report: Khmer Rouge Victims in Cambodia, April 1975-January 1979: A Critical Assessment of Major
Estimates, E3/2413, 30 September 2009, p. 7, ERN (En) 00385250; See also, DC-Cam Document:
Mapping the Killing Fields of Cambodia, 1997: khet Kampong Thom, E3/2648, 1997.
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never been identified and that many who died were never buried.’ 2 Overall, estimates

indicate that between 600,000 and 3 million died as a result of Khmer Rouge policies

and actions. Within this range, experts accept estimates falling between 1.5 and 2

million excess deaths as the most accurate.’*?

4.1. Chapeau requirements for crimes against humanity listed in Article S of the
ECCC law

175. Where relevant to Case 002/01, the Closing Order charges the Accused
pursuant to Article 5 of the ECCC Law with the following crimes against humanity
“committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack directed against any civilian
population, on national, political, ethnical, racial or religious grounds”: (i) murder, (ii)
extermination, (iii) political persecution, and (iv) other inhumane acts comprising (a)

attacks against human dignity, (b) forced transfer and (c) enforced disappearances.’*

22 Demographic Expert Report: Khmer Rouge Victims in Cambodia, April 1975-January 1979: A
Critical Assessment of Major Estimates, E3/2413, 30 September 2009, p. 12, ERN (En) 00385255.

523 T. 25 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 9-12 (the consensus is that between 1.5 and 3 million
people died under the Khmer Rouge); T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 75-76 (in 1986,
PONCHAUD estimated that 800,000 people were killed during the DK regime, CIA were estimating
that 1.4 million people were killed and other embassies were estimating that 1 million people were
killed); Article by P. HEUVELINE: The Unbearable Certainty of Numbers: Estimating the Death Toll
of the Khmer Rouge Period, E3/1798, Nov-Dec 1998, p. 10, ERN (En) 00291624 (After reviewing
various estimates, determining that the central interval, 1.5 to 2.5 million excess deaths, is most
probable); Article by P. HEUVELINE: ‘Between One and Three Million’: Towards the Demographic
Reconstruction of a Decade of Cambodian History (1970-79), E3/1799, 1998, p. 60, ERN (En)
00096735 (Heuveline estimates that there were 1.5 to 2 million excess deaths in 1975-1978, and states
that, in his reconstruction, at least 600,000, and possibly as many as 2 million, deaths, cannot be
accounted for by either a general decline in life expectancy or by the mortality due to the war prior to
1975); Article by B. SHARP: Counting Hell, E3/1801, undated, p. 24, ERN (En) 00078288 (After
reviewing other experts’ figures, SHARP identifies a range of 1.747 million to 2.459 million deaths
due to Khmer Rouge policies and actions; SHARP considers the midpoint of the range being 2.12
million “falls fairly close to the most likely figure”); Book by M. VICKERY: Cambodia 1975-1982,
E3/1757, 1984, pp. 200-201, ERN (En) 00397115-16 (M. VICKERY estimated that 740,800 deaths
were caused by the special conditions during the DK. He estimated that more than half were caused by
hunger, exhaustion and illness and about 300,000 people were executed. He suggested that more
accurate estimates were impossible and that it was impossible to project a figure of 1-2 million
executions based on the data available in 1984); Demographic Expert Report: Khmer Rouge Victims in
Cambodia, April 1975-January 1979: A Critical Assessment of Major Estimates, E3/2413, 30
September 2009, pp. 15-19, 64-70, ERN (En) 00385258-62, 00385326-32 (Excess death estimates
published between 1980 and 1993 consistently approach one million, except VICKERY who suggested
740,000. Later estimates made between 1995 and 2009 range from 1.4 million to 2.2 million. After
reviewing all these estimates, the authors accepted that the interval of 1.747 to 2.2 million deaths under
the Khmer Rouge is the most likely range and determined that earlier estimates heavily underestimated
the scale of actual killing by the Khmer Rouge).

32 Closing Order, paras 1373, 1375, 1377, 1379-1380 (murder); 1381, 1387-1389 (extermination);
1415-1418, 1423-1425 (political persecution); 1434-1436, 1439-1440 (other inhumane acts, attacks
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4.1.1. Law

176. As previously held by this Chamber and affirmed by the Supreme Court
Chamber, crimes against humanity have been established international crimes since
the Nuremberg Charter and formed part of customary international law during the
period of the ECCC’s temporal jurisdiction.”” Therefore charges of crimes against
humanity pursuant Article 5 of the ECCC Law accord with the principle of legality,>?®
subject to an additional finding that charged offences or modes of responsibility were
“sufficiently foreseeable and that the law providing for such liability [was]
sufficiently accessible [to the accused] at the relevant time.”*?” Such analysis is to be

conducted at the level of the underlying crime or mode of liability, rather than for the

category of crimes against humanity as a whole.

177. Offences listed in Article 5 of the ECCC Law constitute crimes against
humanity only if the following chapeau requirements are established: (i) there is an
attack; (ii) that is widespread or systematic; (iii) and directed against any civilian
population; (iv) on national, political, ethnical, racial or religious grounds; (v) there is
a nexus between the acts of the direct perpetrator and the attack; and (vi) the accused
or the perpetrator has the requisite knowledge.””® The Chamber has held previously
that the definition of crimes against humanity under customary international law in

1975 no longer requires a nexus to armed conflict.’* Consequently, the Chamber

against human dignity); 1448-1469 (other inhumane acts, forced transfer); 1470-1478 (other inhumane
acts, enforced disappearances). As concerns murder, See also, Annex: List of paragraphs and portions
of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, amended further to the Trial Chamber’s Decision on
IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and the Trial Chamber’s Decision on Co-Prosecutors’
Request to Include Additional crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case002/01 (E163), E124/7.3,
pp. 2-3.

35 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 283-289; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras
100-104.

526 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 283-296; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras
100-104.

527 KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 96, citing Ojdanié Jurisdiction Appeal Decision (Joint
Criminal Enterprise), paras 21, 37.

528 KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 106; KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 297.

52 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 291-292; Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to
Exclude Armed Conflict Nexus Requirement from the Definition of Crimes Against Humanity, E95/8,
26 October 2011, para. 33.
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dismisses the argument to the contrary advanced by the Accused.>*

178. Attack - An attack is a course of conduct involving the commission of a series
of acts of violence.”®! It is not limited to the use of armed force, encompassing any
mistreatment of the civilian population including that reflected by the underlying
offences in Article 5 of the ECCC law.>** An attack on a civilian population is a

533

separate concept from that of an armed conflict.””” An attack may precede, outlast or

continue through an armed conflict, without necessarily being part of it.***

179. Widespread or systematic - The term “widespread” refers to the large-scale
nature of the attack and the number of victims, while the term “systematic” refers to
the organised nature of the acts of violence and the improbability of their random
occurrence. A systematic attack is commonly expressed as a pattern of crimes
involving the non-accidental repetition of similar criminal conduct on a regular
basis.™*® A widespread attack may refer either to the “cumulative effect of a series of
inhumane acts or the singular effect of an inhumane act of extraordinary
magnitude.”537 Proof that the attack was either “widespread” or “systematic” is
sufficient to establish liability.>*® Only the attack, not the individual acts for which the
accused is responsible, must be widespread or systematic.’*® A single act or a limited
number of acts can qualify as a crime against humanity provided that they are not

isolated or random and all other conditions are met.>*

180. The KHIEU Samphan Defence submits that the actus reus of crimes against
humanity also requires the existence of a State or organisational plan or policy.”*' The

NUON Chea Defence similarly submits that the existence of a state policy or plan was

% |KHIEU Samphan] Submissions Regarding the Applicable Law, E163/5/9, 18 January 2013, para.
8; NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, para. 214
(adopting IENG Sary’s submissions).

31 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 298; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 918.
KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 298; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 86.

33 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 299; Tadi¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 251.

534 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para, 299; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 86.

535 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 300; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 94.

536 Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 101.

37 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 300; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 206.

53 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 300; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 93.

539 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 301; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 94.

30 Kordié and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 94.

%1 Submissions Regarding the Applicable Law, 18 January 2013, E163/5/9, paras 10, 12, 68.
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a requirement under customary international law for crimes against humanity at the
time relevant to the Closing Order.>* It further submits that international
jurisprudence to the contrary “dating from the 2000s” is irrelevant in determining the

state of the law at the time relevant to the Closing Order.>*?

181. In the KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, this Chamber found that while the
existence of a policy or plan may be evidentially relevant in establishing the
widespread or systematic nature of the attack, it does not constitute an independent
legal element of the crime.* While this position accorded with post-1975

jurisprudence from other international tribunals,>*

it was based upon a review of
customary international law sources relevant to the operative time period. These
sources set out contrasting views on the issue. While the Defence has identified

546

certain sources which support their legal argument,”™ there is also support for the

view previously advanced by this Chamber in the KAING Guek Eav Trial

Judgement,**’

necessitating the conclusion that state practice and opinio juris at that
time did not clearly support a State or organisational plan or policy requirement. As

no error has been demonstrated, the Chamber dismisses both challenges.

182. Directed against any civilian population - The attack must be “directed

against” any civilian population, meaning that such population must be the primary,

2 NUON Chea Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, paras 210-213.

3 NUON Chea Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, para. 213.

> KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 301.;

35 See e.g. Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 120; Kunarac Appeal Judgement, para. 98 fn. 114;
Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 84; Sesay Trial Judgement, para. 79.

% The following sources raised by the defence teams consider a State plan or policy to be a legal
requirement of crimes against humanity: Justice Judgement, pp. 973, 984; Eichmann Judgement, paras
56-88; Report of the International Law Commission covering the work of its sixth session, 3 June — 28
Julu 1954, UN Doc. A/2693, Article 2. While the Menten Judgement does not require State
involvement, it does require that crimes against humanity "form part of a system based on terror or
constitute a link in a consciously pursued policy" (see pp 362-363). The Chamber is not persuaded that
the other sources identified by the NUON Chea Defence support the existence of an independent State
plan or policy requirement. The reference in the IMT Judgement to a “policy of terror [and] persecution
[...] in Germany” (see p. 498) sets out findings on the facts, not a legal requirement. The
Einsatzgruppen Judgement suggests only that crimes against humanity arise where a State fails to take
action to halt or punish crimes, for any reason (see p. 498).

47 Sources which do not identify a State or organisational plan or policy as a legal requirement of
crimes against humanity include: Tokyo Charter, Article 5; Control Council Law No. 10, Article II(c);
Flick Judgement, pp. 1191, 1212-1216; Medical Judgement, pp. 172-173; Milch Judgement,
Musmanno Concurrence, pp. 790-791; Milch Judgement, Phillips Concurrence, pp. 863-4; RuSHA
Judgement, p. 151; High Command Judgement, p. 469; Hostage Judgement, p. 1232; Ministries
Judgement, p. 653-654, 797, 877; Farben Judgement, pp. 1129-1130.
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as opposed to incidental, target of the attack.>® It is not necessary to show that the
entire population of the relevant geographical entity was subject to the attack.>* It is
sufficient that enough individuals were targeted in the course of the attack or that they
were targeted in such a way as to satisfy the Trial Chamber that the attack was in fact
directed against a civilian “population”, rather than against a limited and randomly

selected number of individuals.>*

183. To qualify as a “civilian population” for the purposes of Article 5 of the ECCC
Law, the target population must be of a predominantly civilian nature.’®' The presence
within the civilian population of individuals who do not come within the definition of
civilians does not necessarily deprive the population of its civilian character.” The
civilian status of the victims, the number of civilians, and the proportion of civilians
within a population are factors relevant to the determination of whether the

requirement that an attack be directed against a “civilian population” is fulfilled.>*

184. Where an attack is carried out in a geographical area that contains both
civilians and soldiers, other factors may be relevant to determining whether the attack
was directed at a “civilian population”. These include the means and method used in
the course of the attack, the status of the victims, their number, the discriminatory
nature of the attack, the nature of the crimes committed in its course, and the
resistance to the assailants at the time and the extent to which the attacking force may
be said to have complied or attempted to comply with the precautionary requirements

of the laws of war.>>*

%% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 305, 308; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 91—
92.

> Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 90. 5

50 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 302-303, 305; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement,
para. 95.

> KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 305; Dragomir Milosevié Appeal Judgement, paras 50-
S1.

52 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 305-306, relying on Article 50(3) of the Protocol
Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of
International Armed Conflicts; Mrksi¢ and Sljivan¢anin Appeal Judgement, para. 31. See also, Gali¢
Appeal Judgement, paras 136-138. 5

553" KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 305; Mrksi¢ and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, paras
32-33, 36.

%% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 309; Mrksi¢ and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para.
30.
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185. In determining whether a population may be considered to be ‘civilian’, the
Chamber notes that there was no established definition of civilian under customary
international law in April 1975. The ordinary meaning of the term “civilian” (in
English) and “civil” (in French) encompasses persons who are not members of the
armed forces. On this basis, the Chamber holds that at the time relevant to the charges
here at issue, the civilian population included all persons who were not members of
the armed forces or otherwise recognised as combatants. While the Chamber does not
here rely on the definition of “civilian” set out in Article 50 of Additional Protocol I
to the 1949 Geneva Conventions, adopted by the ad hoc Tribunals as reflecting
customary international law for the purposes of crimes against humanity post—1977,555

it notes that this accords with the ordinary meaning of the term.>*®

186. In determining civilian or non-civilian status of a person, the specific situation
of the individual at the time of the crimes may not be determinative. A member of an
armed organisation is not accorded civilian status by reason of the fact that he or she
is not armed or in combat at the time of the commission of the crimes.”®’ Accordingly,
soldiers hors de combat do not qualify as ‘civilians’ for the purposes of Article 5 of
the ECCC Law.>*® As a general presumption, the armed law enforcement agencies of
a State are considered to be civilians for purposes of international humanitarian
law.>>® A person shall be considered to be a civilian for as long as there is doubt as to

his or her status.>®

187. Where the civilian population is the object of an attack, “there is no
requirement nor is it an element of crimes against humanity that the victims of the
underlying crimes be civilians.”*®! Thus, a soldier who is hors de combat may be the

victim of an act amounting to a crime against humanity, provided that all other

33 Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 110-113. Auticle 50 of Additional Protocol I refers also to Article
43 of Additional Protocol I and Article 4A of the Third Geneva Convention.

558 Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 297.

551 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 304; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 114.

5% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 304; Mrksi¢ and Sljivancanin Appeal Judgement, para.
35.
59 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 304; Sesay Trial Judgement, para. 87.
580 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 304; Blaski¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 111.

%! KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 311, referring to Mrksi¢ and Sljivancanin Appeal

Judgement, para. 32.
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necessary conditions are met.’*? Further, the reference to “any” civilian population
does not require a demonstration that victims were linked to a particular group.’®®

Crimes against humanity may include a state’s attack on its own population.’®*

188. National, political, ethnical, racial or religious grounds — Article 5 of the
ECCC Law requires that the attack must have been carried out against the civilian
population on a discriminatory basis, namely on national, political, ethnical, racial or
religious grounds. This is a jurisdictional requirement that narrows the scope of the
ECCC’s jurisdiction over crimes against humanity when compared with customary
international law applying between 1975 and 1979.° 65 The requirement qualifies the
nature of the broader attack rather than the individual underlying offences, and
consequently does not import a discriminatory intent as a legal ingredient for all
underlying crimes against humanity, as this would otherwise render redundant the
express reference to discrimination within the offence of persecution in Article 5 of
the ECCC Law.*®®

189. Jurisprudence concerning the crime of persecution defines an act as
discriminatory when a victim is targeted because of his or her membership, or
imputed membership, in a political, racial or religious group defined by the
perpetrator.’®” The targeted group “may be defined broadly by the perpetrator such
that they are characterised in negative terms and include close affiliates or
sympathisers ...”.°*® This approach is equally applicable to defining a discemible
group targeted by an attack.

190. Nexus between the acts of the direct perpetrator and the attack — The acts of

the direct perpetrator must be part of the attack, meaning that the acts in question must

562 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 311; Marti¢ Appeal Judgement, paras 309-313.

383 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 312; Kunarac et al. Trial Judgement, para. 423.

%64 KA4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 312; Kunarac et al. Trial Judgement, para. 423.

565 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 313-314. Article 3 of the ICTR Statute provides for a
similar discriminatory requirement, adjudged by that Tribunal to be a jurisdictional requirement and
not one required by customary international law: Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 465.

366 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 313-314, 379; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement,
para. 238; Akayesu Appeal Judgement, paras 461, 464.

7 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 317; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 674.

568 KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 272.
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k.5 A crime that

by their very nature or consequences be objectively part of the attac
is committed before, after or away from the main attack on the civilian population
could still, if sufficiently connected, be part of that attack. The crime must not,
however, be an isolated act, i.e. so far removed from the attack that, having
considered the context and circumstances in which it was committed, the acts cannot

be said to have been part of the attack.’”°

191. Knowledge. An accused or a perpetrator must have known that there is an
attack on the civilian population and that his or her acts formed part of the attack.’”"
He or she need not know the details of the attack or share the purpose or goals of the
broader attack.””* Evidence of knowledge depends on the facts of a particular case; as
a result, the manner in which this legal element may be proved may vary according to

the circumstances.’”

192. The NUON Chea Defence submits that there is a requirement additional to
those set out above, namely that an accused must have knowledge of the
discriminatory nature of any widespread and systematic attack forming the basis of
charges against him or her.’” They do not advance any authority in support of this
assertion. As the ICTR Statute is the only instrument other than the ECCC Law to
include the jurisdictional requirement that the attack must have been carried out on a
discriminatory basis, ICTR jurisprudence provides useful guidance on this issue. The
Chamber’s review of ICTR case law reveals that, almost uniformly,’”* the ICTR has
not required an accused to have knowledge of the discriminatory nature of the
widespread and systematic attack.’”® Similarly, in the KAING Guek Eav Trial
Judgement, the Chamber did not require knowledge of the discriminatory nature of

%% KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 318; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 85;
Sainovié et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 264.

0 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 318; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 100.
Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 85; Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 141.

KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 319; Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras 102-103.
1 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 319; Blaskié Appeal Judgement, para. 126.

7% NUON Chea Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, para. 208.

5”5 The ICTR Trial Chamber in Ntakirutimana did require knowledge of the discriminatory nature of
the widespread and systematic attack, para. 693.

6 See e.g., Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement, para. 389; Gacumbitsi Appeal
Judgement, para. 86; Kayishema and Ruzindana Trial Judgement, paras 133-134; Seromba Trial
Judgement, para. 360; Kamuhanda Trial Judgement, paras 657-6; Semanza Trial Judgement, paras 327-
332.

571
572

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public e ff/ 106



01005774

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

the attack.’’’ The Chamber finds that such knowledge is not a requirement of crimes

against humanity before the ECCC and accordingly rejects this submission.
4.1.2. Legal Findings

193. The Chamber is satisfied that beginning by 17 April 1975 and continuing at
least until December 1977, the temporal period at issue in Case 002/01, there was a
widespread and systematic attack against the civilian population of Cambodia. The
attack took many forms, including forced transfer, murder, extermination, enforced

578 This attack victimised millions of civilians

disappearance and persecution.
throughout Cambodia and resulted in a large number of refugees fleeing to
neighbouring countries.’ 7 The attack was carried out in furtherance of, and pursuant
to, Party policies and plans to build socialism and defend the country.’®® The Chamber
is satisfied that the attack was widespread in both its geographical scope and number
of victims. The Chamber also finds that the attack was systematic insofar as crimes of
such scope and magnitude could not have been random and were carried out

repeatedly and deliberately in furtherance of, and pursuant to, Party policies.

194. The Chamber finds that this attack was directed against the civilian population
of Cambodia. The armed conflict between the Khmer Republic and Khmer Rouge
ended on 17 April 1975 when the Khmer Rouge captured Phnom Penh and the Khmer
Republic forces surrendered.’®' Thereafter, all Khmer Republic soldiers not taking a
direct part in hostilities were civilians or, at minimum, hors de combat, thereby
enjoying the same protections as civilians. In any event, former Khmer Republic

soldiers only formed part of the millions of civilians attacked.”®?

195. The Chamber further finds that the attack against the civilian population was
carried out on political grounds, pursuant to the plans and policies of the Party to

build socialism and defend the country. In order to accomplish this goal, the Party

"7 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 319.

% See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, paras 169-173.

57 See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, paras 169-173.

%0 See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint
Criminal Enterprise, paras 724-738, 742-743, 777, 804-805, 835.

581 See Section 10: Movement of the Population (Phase One), paras 460, 501-502.

%82 See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, paras 170-172.
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considered that the feudalist and capitalist classes had to be eliminated.’®® These ‘New
People’ were perceived as political and social enemies of the revolution and the
collective system.’®* Further, all Cambodians were to be part of the revolution and the

collective system.5 8

Any who opposed, or were perceived to oppose, the revolution
and collective system were targets for mistreatment and acts of violence.’*® The

Chamber is therefore satisfied that the attack was carried out on political grounds.

196. According to the Closing Order, parts of the attack also targeted Buddhists, the
Chams and the Vietnamese on the basis of their nationality, ethnicity, race and/or
religion.’®’ These portions of the attack fall outside the scope of Case 002/01. Having
already determined that the widespread attack was carried out against the civilian
population on political grounds, the Chamber therefore declines to make findings as
to whether parts of the attack were also done on national, ethnical, religious and/or

racial grounds, as this will be examined in future trials.

197. The Chamber is further satisfied that there is a nexus between the acts of the
Accused and the attack. The acts of the direct perpetrators and the Accused during
movement of population (phases one and two) and during executions of former
Khmer Republic officials at Tuol Po Chrey were committed between 17 April 1975
and December 1977 and were done pursuant to, and in furtherance of, the Party’s
policies and plans to defend and build socialism.’®® Finally, considering the scale and
scope of the attack®® and the fact that it was undertaken in furtherance of, and
pursuant to, Party policies and plans,’*® the Chamber is satisfied that both the direct

583 See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 113; Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6
January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 726, 731, 788, 815.

84 See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 117-118; Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975
— 6 January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, para. 726.

%% See Section 3: Historical Background, fn. 318; Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 - 6
January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, para. 724.

58  See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 117-118, 120, 123; Section 4: General Overview: 17
April 1975 — 6 January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 814-818.

37 Closing Order, para. 1369.

88 See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, para. 169; Section 10:
Movement of the Population (Phase One), paras 547-574; Section 11: Movement of the Population
(Phase Two), paras 630-657; Section 12: Tuol Po Chrey, paras 682-687; Section 13: Individual
Criminal Responsibility, paras 690-702 .

58 See Section 4: General Overview: 17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, paras 169-173.

%0 See Section 3: Historical Background, paras 104, 111-112, 116-118; Section 4: General Overview:
17 April 1975 — 6 January 1979, para. 169; Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 777-778, 804-
810, 835-837.
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perpetrators and the Accused knew of the attack on the civilian population and that
their acts formed part of this attack.

198. The Chamber is thus satisfied that all the chapeau requirements for the
application of Article 5 of the ECCC Law are met.
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5. ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURES

5.1. Structure of the CPK

199. The precise operational structure of the CPK was shrouded in secrecy.591 In the
early days of the Party, secrecy was essential to its survival as an underground
revolutionary movement.>*? Even after the CPK rose to power in 1975, however, it
continued to obfuscate and obscure its internal workings, largely to protect itself from
perceived external enemies.’® Limited, if any, information about the leadership
structure was accessible to ordinary people, who were often simply required to obey
without question decisions made by ‘Angkar’ (literally ‘organisation’), an anonymous
entity seen as having the power to control the whole of society.”®* Lower-ranking
cadres sometimes had only a cursory understanding of the organisation of power in
the CPK.>* This policy of secrecy undoubtedly accounted for some of the confusion
and contradiction within the testimony of witnesses who appeared before the Trial
Chamber.**® In its totality, however, the evidence put before the Chamber has enabled

it to reconstruct the organisational lines of the CPK in the relevant period.

200. The administrative structure of the CPK was formalised for the first time in a
statute passed by the First Party Congress of what was then called the Worker’s Party
of Cambodia in September-October 1960.>" It is likely that a second statute was
adopted at the Third Party Congress in or around August 1971.° % In any event,

1 NUON Chea Speech to the Communist Workers’ Party of Denmark, E3/196, July 1978, p. 27,
ERN (En) 00762399; T. 30 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 60; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 7, ERN (En) 00156747; T. 14 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 92; T., 26 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 39.
%2 T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 85-86.
% T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 88-89; T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 95.
%4 T. 6 December 2011 (KLAN Fit), p. 79; T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 97-98; DUCH
Phleu Interview Record, E3/5213, 28 August 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00275433 (“Whatever Angkar had
them do, they had to obey. I did not know who Angkar was”); TAN Wardeny Interview Record,
E3/102, 11 June 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00345537 (“everyone used to say that it was ‘Angkar’ who
decided, but we did not know who ‘Angkar’ was™). See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures,
para. 221.
%5 See e.g. T. 17 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), pp. 103-104; T. 28 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 22; T. 6
August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 65.

§ See e.g. Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 207.
37 Revolutionary Flag, E3/10, September-October 1976, p. 6, ERN (En) 00450506; T. 21 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 70; T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 25; Revolutionary Youth,
E3/768, March 1977, p. 12, ERN (En) 00525948. See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 87.
% T.21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 70. See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 95.
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another statute was enacted at the Fourth Party Congress in January 1976.%%° Only the
last of these was put before the Trial Chamber,®”® but according to Witness KAING
Guek Eav, the various statutes were similar in content, at least insofar as they dealt

with the internal structures and hierarchy of the CPK.*"!
5.1.1. Party Congress

201. The 1976 statute (“CPK Statute) set out the lines along which the Party was
officially organised. The “highest power rights throughout the country” were vested in
the General Conference, or Party Congress.”> The role of the Congress was to
“designate the political line and Statute” of the Party and select and appoint the
members of the Central Committee.®”> In addition to the First, Second, Third and
Fourth Party Congresses mentioned above, a Fifth Party Congress was convened in
late 1978.%%* The 1976 and 1978 Congresses were attended by hundreds of people,
including representatives from all Sectors and military Divisions, as well as the CPK

Central Committee members.5*

5.1.2. Central Committee and Standing Committee

202. The CPK Statute provided that between Party Congresses, the Central
Committee was nominally the “highest operational unit throughout the country”.606 In
principle, the Central Committee was responsible for implementing the Party line and
Statute throughout the CPK; for instructing Zone-level, Sector-level and other Party

organisations “to carry out activities according to the political line and [the Party’s]

% T, 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 19; T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 70-71, 73;
Written Record of Analysis by Craig ETCHESON, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00142828.
600" CPK Statute, E3/130, undated.
0! T, 26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 11; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 81-82.
See also, Unattributed Article: Brief History of Khmer Communist Party, E3/2, undated, p. 5, ERN (En)
00444352 (indicating that the 1960 statute “established an eight-man party central committee™); T. 10
January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 23-25 (acknowledging the existence of CPK central and standing
committees from 1960 onwards).
802 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 17, Article 7, ERN (En) 00184038; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip
SHORT), p. 60 (clarifying that ‘General Conference’ and ‘Party Congress’ are synonymous).

3 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, Article 21, p. 23, ERN (En) 00184044,
%4 T. 11 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 17; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 60; LONH a.k.a. LORN
Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 58, ERN (En) 00170749.
05T, 11 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 20-24; T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 56, 68-69.
8% CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 17, Article 7, ERN (En) 00184038.
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ideological and organizational principles”; for governing and arranging cadres and
Party members; and for communicating with fraternal ‘“Marxist-Leninist” parties.®’
The Central Committee met at least every six months, as required by the CPK
Statute.’®® The identity and number of members changed repeatedly between 1960
and 1979, but at its peak in the 1970s the Central Committee comprised between 20
and 30 people.5” Members included TOU Samuth, who served as CPK Secretary
from 1960 until his disappearance in 1962;*'® POL Pot, who joined the Central
Committee upon its formation in 1960 and took over the post of CPK Secretary in
1963;%"! NUON Chea, who was elected to the Central Committee as CPK Deputy
Secretary in 1960;°'2 and KHIEU Samphan, who joined the Central Committee as a
candidate member in 1971 and became a full-rights member in 1976.°"> According to
the CPK Statute, candidate members could “participate in Central Committee

meetings, but [had] no decision rights”.*'

203. Although the CPK Statute vested the highest level of operational authority in
the Central Committee, effective control over the CPK was ultimately exercised by an
extra-statutory body known as the Standing Committee.®’> The Standing Committee
came into existence at the same time as the Central Committee in 1960.8'® It met

approximately every seven to 10 days, or more frequently if the circumstances so

87 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 24, Article 23, ERN (En) 00184045.

608 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 10, ERN (En) 00156750; CPK
Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 24, Article 25, ERN (En) 00184045,

89 T, 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 138; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews
with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 59, ERN
(En) 00170750; T. 26 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 2.

610 T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 74; T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 62.

'' T, 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 22; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 75.

12 T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 73-74; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 77-78. See
Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, paras 313, 315.

813 T, 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 92; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; T. 15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 43; T. 10 April
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73; T. 26 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 3. See Section 8: Roles and
Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 363.

614 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 24, Article 24, ERN (En) 00184045.

815 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 10, ERN (En) 00156750; T. 24
July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 127-128; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 61; T. 28 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 22.

616 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 82; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 74-75; T. 10
January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 23-25; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 63.
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require:d.617 It comprised seven members, all of whom were drawn from the Central
Committee.5'® As with the Central Committee, membership of the Standing
Committee was reshuffled from time to time.®'® POL Pot, IENG Sary, SAO Phim and
NUON Chea were members of the Standing Committee from its inception.®** Ta Mok
joined in 1963.°*' SON Sen alias Khieu was a candidate or alternate (as opposed to
full-rights) member of the Standing Committee,*?? and SOK Thuok alias VORN Vet
was either a full-rights or a candidate member.®> SUA Vasi alias Doeun and KHIEU
Samphan were never formally members of the Standing Committee, but they both
attended a number of its meetings.®** Standing Committee meetings could be (and

often were) convened in the absence of one or more Committee members. %>

67 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 10, ERN (En) 00156750. See
also, Standing Committee Minutes, E3/221, 14 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/222, 15
May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/223, 17 May 1976 (indicating that meetings were
sometimes held in close succession).

%% T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 120; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73; Report by
S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border,
E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 58, ERN (En) 00170749.

$19° T30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 39.

620 T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 74-75; T. 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 22, 24;
KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; T. 18 July
2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 32.

821 7,10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 24.

622 T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 68; T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 72; Report by S.
HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border,
E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 58, ERN (En) 00170749.

623 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; T. 27
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 72; Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with
Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 58, ERN (En)
00170749. See also, Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices From S-21: Terror and History in Pol Pot’s
Secret Prison, E3/1684, p. 21, ERN (En) 00192700 (giving VORN Vet’s real name as SOK Thuok).

624 Of the 23 sets of minutes of Standing Committee meetings put before the Chamber, 19 contain
lists of those attending the meetings, 16 record KHIEU Samphan alias Hem as being present, and 12
record SUA Vasi alias Doeun as being present: see Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October
1975; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/197, 11-13 March 1976; Standing Committee Report, E3/216,
20-24 August 1975; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/217, 11 March 1976; Standing Committee
Minutes, E3/218, 26 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/219, 3 May 1976; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/220, 7 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/221, 14 May 1976;
Standing Committee Minutes, E3/222, 15 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/223, 17 May
1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/224, 30 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1
June 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/226, 10 June 1976; Standing Committee Minutes,
E3/227, 2 November 1975; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/228, 9 January 1976; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/229, 22 February 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/230, 22 February
1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8
March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/233, 13 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes,
E3/235, 21 April 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/237, 10 March 1976; and Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/238, 28 February 1976. See also, Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu
Samphan, para. 351, fn. 1052 confirming that KHIEU Samphan went by the alias ‘Hem’. See also, T.
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5.1.3. Military Committee

204. The Military Committee was another extra-statutory sub-committee of the
Central Committee. The Military Committee was chaired by POL Pot and was
responsible for military and security affairs.””® SON Sen was also a member of the
Military Committee.®*” Although the Closing Order alleges that NUON Chea was a
member of the Military Committee, the Chamber is not satisfied on the available

evidence that this has been demonstrated.®?

5.1.4. Party Centre

205. Several of the witnesses and experts who testified before the Chamber used the
phrase ‘Party Centre’ to refer to the senior leadership tier of the CPK. However, as
Witness Stephen HEDER pointed out, ‘Party Centre’ was a nebulous term: sometimes
it was used in a collective sense to describe an entire “level within the Party
hierarchy”, and sometimes it was used to designate a specific entity or body within
the upper echelon of the CPK (such as the Central Committee, the Standing
Committee or one of its connected offices, or even POL Pot himself).*?® The phrase
‘Party Centre’ also appeared in a number of documents put before the Chamber,

including both DK-era documents and subsequent academic commentaries, generally

27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73; T. 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 2; Report by S. HEDER
and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714,
February-March 1980, p. 58, ERN (En) 00170749.

625 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751. See
also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, fn. 624.

626 T, 11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 34; IENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17
December 1996, p. 8, ERN (En) 00417606; Article by T. CARNEY: The Organization of Power, in
Cambodia 1975-1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 88, ERN (En) 00105137.

€7 [ENG Sary Interview by ABC Television, E3/93, 28 August 1996, p. 6, ERN (En) 00078610;
IENG Sary Interview by Elizabeth BECKER, E3/94, 22 July 1981, p. 3, ERN (En) 00342502; KAING
Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/83, 20 October 2009, p. 6, ERN (En) 00398166; NUON Chea Initial
Ag)pcarance Record, E3/54, 19 September 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00148817.

28 See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 333.

2 T, 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 15. See e.g. T. 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), p. 6 (referring to
the Party Centre as the “supreme leadership level of the CPK”); T. 21 August 2012 (SA Siek), p. 23
(defining the Party Centre as the level above the Zones and Sectors). See also, T. 18 July 2012 (David
CHANDLER), p. 112 (suggesting that “Party Centre [...] referred particularly to the [...] Central
Committee™); T. 7 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 12 (describing “Office 870 as the “Party
Centre Office”); NORNG Sophang Interview Record, E3/64, 18 February 2009, p. 6, ERN (En)
00334047 (equating the Party Centre with “Committee 870”); KE Pich Vannak Interview Record,
E3/35, 4 June 2009, p. 16, ERN (En) 00346160 (mentioning a “Party Centre Standing [committee]”);
SONG Meng Interview Record, E3/5142, 12 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00223616 (suggesting
that POL Pot was the Party Centre); SAR Sarin DC-Cam Interview, E3/4596, 5 May 2009, p. 9, ERN
(En) 00739501 (referring to the Centre as the “upper echelons™).
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without definition but in a context which made clear that it was referring to the top

levels of the CPK hierarchy (or some constituent element thereot).ﬁ"’0

206. In this Judgement, the Chamber uses the phrase ‘Party Centre’ to refer
collectively to the senior executive organs of the CPK based in Phnom Penh —
namely, the Standing Committee, Central Committee, Military Committee, Office
870, Government Office (S-71) and sub-offices of the Government Office.

5.1.5. Office 870

207. The code number ‘870’ was used ambiguously in the DK period to refer to a
variety of persons and entities connected with the Party Centre. Different witnesses
had different understandings of ‘870’ but generally agreed that it referred to some
aspect of the CPK leadership. According to Witness Stephen HEDER, ‘870’ was in
use as early as 1971 to designate “the centre echelon of the Party”.5®' Expert David
CHANDLER told the Chamber that ‘870 was “generally [used] to refer to Pol Pot,
and sometimes to Pol Pot and a small group of people around him”.** Witness
NORNG Sophang testified that ‘870’ “referred to the Centre”.®*® Expert Philip
SHORT stated that ‘870’ was “the code name for the Standing Committee”.%** This
uncertainty as to the precise meaning of ‘870’ was consistent with the CPK’s general
emphasis on secrecy and, as Expert David CHANDLER observed, intentional: the use
of the code number served to conceal or obscure the true nature of the CPK

leadership.5®

89 See e.g. Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, pp. 15, 18 ERN (En)
00491408, 00491411; Revolutionary Flag, E3/135, June 1977, pp. 13, 36, ERN (En) 00446858,
00446881; Revolutionary Flag, E3/170, October-November 1977, pp. 6, 11, 22, ERN (En) 00182553,
00182558, 00182569; KAING Guek Eav Letter, E3/1152, 14 September 1976, p. 1, ERN (En)
00583914; Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices From S-21: Terror and History in Pol Pot’s Secret
Prison, E3/1684, p. 15, ERN (En) 00192694; Article by S. HEDER: Reassessing the Role of Senior
Leaders and Local Officials in Democratic Kampuchea Crimes: Cambodian Accountability in
Comparative Perspective, E3/4527, undated, pp. 12-13, ERN (En) 00661466-00661467.

¢! T_18 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 14.

2 T.18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 99.

3 T, 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 20.

634 T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 64.

835 T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 99-100; T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 128.
See also, T. 18 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 19.

6.

vty

b
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208. A number of documents from the DK era contain references to a ‘Committee
870°.5% Although the Co-Prosecutors submit that Committee 870 was the CPK
Central Committee, it is equally plausible that Committee 870 was the Standing
Committee, and the Chamber is unable to make a definitive finding in this regard.*’’

209. In addition to Committec 870, there was a discrete entity known as ‘Office
870°, ‘Political Office of 870°, ‘M-870° (the ‘M’ standing for ‘munti’, the Khmer
word for ‘office’) or ‘Office of the Standing Committee’ (‘Office 870°).5%® As of
October 1975, SUA Vasi alias Doeun was in charge of Office 870.%° KHIEU
Samphan joined Office 870 in or around October 1975.%° In the words of Philip
SHORT, Office 870 functioned as the “executive arm” of the Standing Committee.5!
Its tasks were to implement, and to monitor implementation of, Standing Committee
decisions, and to “[make] contact back and forth with each section” of the CPK’s
upper echelons on behalf of the Standing Committee.**” Both Philip SHORT and
David CHANDLER used the phrase “nerve centre” to describe the critically
important role of Office 8§70 in the transmission of information to and from the

Standing Committee.5*’

836 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/932, 12 April 1978, p. 1, ERN (En) 00185199; DK Telegram, E3/245,
29 April 1978, p. 1, ERN (En) 00182759; Committee 870 Instructions, E3/1173, 27 February 1976, p.
2, ERN (En) 00525782.
87 Co-Prosecutors’ Closing Brief, para. 372. Some evidence suggested that Committee 870 was the
Central Committee: see e.g. T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 67-68; SUON Kanil Interview
Record, E3/74, 21 August 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00384690; SENG Mon Interview Record, E3/71, 14
February 2009, p. 19, ERN (En) 00288637. A directive issued by Committee 870 purported to contain
instructions from the “Party Central Committee”: see Committee 870 Directive, E3/740, 24 July 1977.
However, other evidence suggested that Committee 870 was the Standing Committee: see T. 6
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 95; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 64; KAING Guek Eav
Written Answers, E3/359, 20 November 2009, p. 6, ERN (En) 00434339. See also, T. 17 July 2013
(Stephen HEDER), pp. 87-88 (observing that there was ambiguity in the use of ‘Committee 870" and
expressing no firm conclusion).
3% T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 121; T. 17 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 88-89;
Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; KHIEU Samphan
Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00156754.
9 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; T. 29 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 23 (clarifying that “Doeun” was SUA Vasi).
0 Book by K. Samphan: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, pp. 65, ERN (En) 00103755. See Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 390.
T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 72-73.
2 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 4, ERN (En) 00183396; T. 8 May 2013
(Philip SHORT), pp. 26-27; Book by K. Samphan: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons
Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 66, ERN (En) 00103756.
3 T, 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 21; T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 94.
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210. One set of Standing Committee minutes mentions another, separate entity
known as ‘Bureau 870’ (in Khmer, ‘karilayai 870°, as opposed to ‘munti 870°).5** As
of October 1975, it was headed by SIM Son alias Yem.** Its precise function remains
unknown, but its Khmer title suggests that its role was more administrative than

political %

5.1.6. Government Office (S-71) and sub-offices

211. As well as Office 870, the Party Centre maintained an administrative office,
which was referred to in CPK Standing Committee meeting minutes as the
‘Government Office’.®" As of October 1975, the Government Office was run by
CHIMM Sam Aok alias Pang.%*® Several witnesses referred to the unit headed by
Pang as ‘S-71°, and a section or ministry designated ‘S-71’ appears repeatedly in the
lists of prisoners brought to the S-21 Security Office, suggesting that ‘S-71° was the

code name for the Government Office.**

212. S-71 may have been a division of Office 870, or it may have been a separate

entity. Although Standing Committee meeting minutes suggest that they were

4 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183394, See T. 17 July
2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 92-93.

645 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183394; T. 29 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 23 (clarifying that “Yem” was SIM Son).

8% While both ‘munti’ and ‘karilayai’ can be rendered in English as ‘office’ or ‘bureaw’, ‘munti’
connotes a larger administrative structure whereas ‘karilayai’ typically refers to a smaller unit or sub-
division. A ‘munti’ may contain more than one ‘karilayai’. See also, T. 17 July 2013 (Stephen
HEDER), pp. 92-93.

7 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183394; T. 18 July 2013
(Stephen HEDER), p. 12.

% Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183394; T. 4 September
2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 17-18; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 68; T. 29 March 2012
(KAING Guek Eav), pp. 23-24 (clarifying that ‘Pang’ was CHIMM Sam Aok).

9 T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 17-18; T. 18 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 12; T.
26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 109; NOEM Sem Interview Record, E3/43, 18 July 2009, p. 4,
ERN (En) 00365659; KONG Yeuang SOAS Interview, E3/5315, 27 July 2005. See also, List of
Prisoners from Ministry S-71, E3/1737, undated; List of Prisoners from Ministry S-71, E3/1738, 20
June 1978; List of Persons Entering on 24 May 1978, E3/1955, 24 May 1978 (all identifying S-21
detainees from “Ministry S-71”, most of whom are stated to have worked for one of the ‘K’ offices: see
Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 213. At an earlier time, ‘S-71’ was also the code name for
the base near the Chinit River to which the CPK leadership moved in 1970: T. 25 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 92; THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p. 7,
ERN (En) 00226112. See also, T. 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 23 (describing the move to the
Chinit River base).
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distinct,®®® Witness Stephen HEDER recalled that many of the people he had
interviewed conflated the two offices, and indeed several witnesses who testified
before the Trial Chamber referred to the unit run by CHIMM Sam Aok alias Pang
using the code number ‘870°.%! According to a number of other witnesses, however,
S-71 under Pang performed a different function from Office 870 under SUA Vasi
alias Doeun. Whereas Doeun’s Office 870 was concerned with matters of policy
implementation, Pang’s S-71 office dealt primarily with logistical, practical and

administrative tasks.®?

213. In particular, S-71 oversaw a variety of sub-offices and units, which themselves
performed support functions for the Party Centre and which were mostly identified by
code names beginning with the prefix ‘K>.%% K-1 was the compound in Phnom Penh
within which POL Pot lived and worked.** K-3 was another residential and office
compound in Phnom Penh for the CPK senior leaders, including NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan.®®® K-6 was a CPK political school at Borei Keila in Phnom

80 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00183393-00183394
(listing separately the “Political Office of 870” and the “Government Office”).

651 T.3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 22; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 92;
T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), pp. 74-75; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 17; T. 25 September
2012 (NOEM Sem), p. 42; T. 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 89.

652 T, 18 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 12-13, 15-17 (describing S-71 as an administrative office,
separate from Office 870); T. 3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 22 (indicating that Pang “would manage
day to day tasks in the office, including K-1, K-3, and K-~7”); T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 39
(stating that Pang was in charge of the messengers and production section, and assigned tasks to the
staff at K-1); ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview Record, E3/24, 5 December 2007, p. 7,
ERN (En) 00223584 (“Pang was in charge of 870 administration, and Doeun was in charge of policy”);
KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/448, 4 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00154910 (describing
a “Committee of the Working Group in charge of Office 870” led by Pang, with responsibility for
security, welcoming guests, telecommunications, logistics, food and transport); NORNG Sophang
Diagram, E3/1736, 28 March 2009 (showing that Pang’s S-71 managed the ‘K’ offices); Case 001 Trial
Transcript (Craig ETCHESON), E3/55, 21 May 2009, p. 28, ERN (En) 00330361 (testifying that S-71
was the “secretariat” of Office 870, comprising a network of support offices serving the Party Centre).
See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 209. See also, Section 5: Administrative
Structures, fn. 624 above (showing that Doeun attended many of the Standing Committee meetings for
which minutes survive, whereas Pang attended none).

853 T.3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 22; T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 17-18; T. 18
July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 12, 15, 21; THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p.
5, ERN (En) 00226110; NORNG Sophang Diagram, E3/1736, 28 March 2009.

654 T.3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 18; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 38; T. 25 September 2012
(NOEM Sem), pp. 63-64; T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), p. 12; T. 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 67; T. 7
June 2013 (SOK Roeu), p. 74.

65 T.2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 48; T. 18 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), p. 47; T. 25 September
2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 63-64; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 88; T. 8
January 2013 (SA Vi), p. 22; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 77; T. 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp.
70-71. T. 7 June 2013 (SOK Roeu), p. 78; T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), pp. 9-14.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public - A %/ 118



01005786

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

Penh.5® K-7 was the messenger wnit.®’ K-8 was responsible for growing
vegetables.658 K-9 was a textile factory.659 K-11 was a medical facility.“’o K-12
organised motor vehicles and drivers.®! K-15 was a political training school,
principally (but not exclusively) for Cambodians returning from overseas.®? K-18

was a telegraph office.5*>

214. S-71 was also empowered to make arrests and to transfer detainees to the S-21
Security Office.’®* In 1978, CHIMM Sam Aok alias Pang was himself arrested and
taken to S-21, and his deputy KHAN Lin alias Ken took charge of S-71.5

5.1.7. Zones, Sectors, Districts and sub-district entities

215. Below the level of the Party Centre, Democratic Kampuchea was divided into a
hierarchical series of administrative areas. At the top of this hierarchy were the Zones.

The Zones were originally devised by the CPK in the pre-1975 period of armed

65 THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00226111; SA Sarin DC-
Cam Interview, E3/4596, 5 May 2009, pp. 34, 63-64, ERN (En) 00735926, 00739555-00739556; UM
Keo Interview Record, E3/5173, 8 May 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00272660; SENG Lytheng Interview
Record, E3/462, 4 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00223565.
87 T. 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 15-16; T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p.
28.
658 T.25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), p. 34; T. 7 June 2013 (SOK Roeu), p. 73; NORNG Sophang
Interview by CHAY Chandaravann and Thomas KEUHNEL, E3/1739, 18 February 2009, p. 2, ERN
(En) 00844057.
% "T.3 July 2013 (EK Hen), p. 26.
660 T, 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 37, 38; CHEA Say Interview Record, E3/69, 11
December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00233151.
%! THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, pp. 3, 6, ERN (En) 00226108, 00226111;
CHEA Say Interview Record, E3/69, 11 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00233151; YIM Laing
Interview Record, E3/463, 18 January 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00204734.
2 T, 7 August 2012 (ONG Thong Hoeung), pp. 98, 99-100; SA Sarin DC-Cam Interview, E3/4596,
pp- 32-33, ERN (En) 00739524-00739525.

 T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 70; PHAN Van Interview Record, E3/447, 28 February
2010, p. 11, ERN (En) 00486520.
4 T, 24 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), pp. 19-20, 25, 45; T. 25 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 67;
KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/456, 25 June 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00198883; KAING Guek
Eav Interview Record, E3/107, 24 June 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00198220.
665 §-21 Confession - CHHIM Sam Aok, E3/1596, 28 May 1978; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek
Eav), p. 93; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 11; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 102; T. 25
September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 5, 45, 47; T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), p. 49; T. 25 April 2013
(RUOS Suy), pp. 55-56; T. 18 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 12-13; THA Sot Interview Record,
E3/464, 19 January 2008, pp. 4, 5, ERN (En) 00226109, 00226110; OEUN Tan Interview Record,
E3/33, 9 October 2008, p. 7, ERN (En) 00235131; LENG Chhoeung Interview Record, E3/385, 17 July
2009, p. 7, ERN (En) 00360131.
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struggle.®®® Initially, there were six zones: the North Zone (given the code number
304°?7), the Northwest Zone (code number 560%¢%), the Northeast Zone (code number
108, later changed to 109669), the Southwest Zone (405670), the East Zone (203671) and

the Special Zone (which comprised the area around Phnom Penh).5”

216. After the capture of Phnom Penh in 1975, the Zone boundaries were redrawn: a
new West Zone (code number 401) was added, and the Special Zone around Phnom
Penh was dissolved and absorbed into neighbouring Zones.®” The Zones did not
follow existing provincial boundaries precisely; for example, the East Zone
encompassed Prey Veng and Svay Rieng as well as parts of Kratie, Kandal and
Kampong Cham Provinces.®”* By 1975 there were also a number of autonomous or
‘specially-assigned” Sectors— namely Preah Vihear (code number 103), Mondulkiri
(105), Siem Reap/Oddar Meanchey (106), Kratie (505) and the city of Kampong Som
— which did not fall within any Zone and which answered directly to the Party

¢ DK Ministry of Education: Political Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, pp.
11-12, ERN (En) 00814510-00814511.

67 T.21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 96; T. 3 July 2013 (EK Hen), p. 19.

668 Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/475, undated, ERN P 00000002; Map of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/476, undated, ERN (En) 00295143. See also, DK Report, 29 May 1977, E3/179 (Zone
reyoﬁ from ‘Office 560).

° SA Sarin DC-Cam Interview, E3/4596, 5-6 May 2009, p. 58, ERN (En) 00739550; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4005, undated, ERN (En) 00788908; Map of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/475, undated, ERN P 00000002; Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/476, undated,
ERN (En) 00295143.

70 Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/475, undated, ERN P 00000002; Map of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/476, undated, ERN (En) 00295143.

871 T .26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 33-34; T. 3 July 2013 (EK Hen), p. 22.
72 T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 76-77; Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA:
Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p.
52, ERN (En) 00170743; IENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 3,
ERN (En) 00417601; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in
Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, pp. 86-87, ERN (En) 00678538, Book by E.
BECKER: When The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 173, ERN (En) 00237878.

673 T. 8 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 37; DK Ministry of Education Document: Political
Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, p. 12, ERN (En) 00814511; Map of
Democratic Kampuchea, E3/475, undated, ERN P 00000002; Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/476,
undated, ERN (En) 00295143; Book by E. BECKER: When The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 175,
ERN (En) 00237880; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in
Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, p. 94, ERN (En) 00678542. See also, MEAS
Voeun Interview Record, E3/73, 4 March 2010, p. 3, ERN (En) 00491661 (stating that ‘M-401" was
the office of Ta Si, Secretary of the West Zone: see Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 220).

7 DK Ministry of Education Document: Political Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398,
1977, p. 12, ERN (En) 00814511; Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/476, undated, ERN (En)
00295143.
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Centre.®” Further restructuring took place in or around 1977: a new North Zone (code
number 801) was created out of what had previously been the Preah Vihear and Siem
Reap/Oddar Meanchey Autonomous Sectors, and the old North Zone was renamed

‘Central Zone’.%¢

217. Each Zone was sub-divided into a number of Sectors (also known as
‘Regions’), which were generally known by their code numbers.*”” Sectors were
further divided into Districts, which were in turn made up of sub-district entities,

678 Within the communes, individual villages were gradually

including Communes.
combined into co-operatives, in which people lived, worked, studied and ate
communally.679 In some areas, co-operatives were treated as sub-units of the

communes, and were subject to the authority of the commune leadership.%*® In other

675 T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 28-29; T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 59; T. 5
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 12; DK Ministry of Education Document: Political Geography
of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, p. 12, ERN (En) 00814511; Map of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/475, undated, ERN P 00000002; Map of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/476, undated,
ERN (En) 00295143. See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 312; Section 8: Roles and
Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 385.

676 T, 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 7; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 56-57; T.
28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 13; T. 21 May 2013 (PRUM Sou), p. 34; PRUM Sou Interview
Record, E3/420, 24 November 2009, pp. 4, 6, ERN (En) 00422380, 00422382; SENG Kimoeun
Interview Record, E3/425, 17 December 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00421613; Book by E. BECKER: When
The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 175, ERN (En) 00237880.

677 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 17, Article 7, ERN (En) 00184038; DK Ministry of Education
Document: Political Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, p. 12, ERN (En)
00814511; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 15-16; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot
Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, p. 89,
ERN (En) 00678539.

6§78 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 17, Article 7, ERN (En) 00184038; DK Ministry of Education
Document: Political Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, pp. 12-13, ERN (En)
00814511-00814512; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 15;.5S. HEDER and M.
MATSUSHITA article: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714,
February-March 1980, p. 3, ERN (En) 00170694.

67 T. 6 December 2011 (KLAN Fit), p. 89; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 24; T. 6 May 2013
(Philip SHORT), p. 93; T. 21 May 2013 (PROM Sou), p. 8; DK Ministry of Education Document:
Political Geography of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/1398, 1977, p. 12-13, ERN (En) 00814511-
00814512.

680 T. 29 May 2012 (NY Kan), pp. 74-75; T. 11 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 20-21;
KHIM Pang Interview Record, E3/5510, 27 October 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00411490; PHNEOU Yav
Interview Record, E3/5515, 12 November 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00410247. See ailso, T. 3 May 2013
(LIM Sat), pp. 50-51; SAU Khon Interview Record, E3/5506, 25 October 2009, p. 3, ERN (En)
00398862; NUT Nouv Interview Record, E3/5521, 1 December 2009, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00422324-
00422325 (confirming that the co-operative leadership was distinct from the commune leadership) .
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areas, however, large co-operatives eventually replaced communes as the lowest

administrative sub-regions in the CPK hierarchy.®®!

218. All levels of the hierarchy — Zones, Sectors, Districts, Communes and co-

682

operatives — were governed by committees.” Committees typically comprised a

secretary (or chairman), a deputy secretary (or deputy chairman) and at least one other

member.®

Within each committee, particular areas of policy responsibility were
often delegated to an individual committee member or sub-committee.®* The
committee secretary in each echelon was usually appointed by the committee of the
level immediately above.%®> For example, commune secretaries were appointed by
District committees,”® and District secretaries by Sector committees.®’ In principle,
committees were required by the CPK Statute to convene conferences at regular
intervals in order to select new members, but in practice committee members were

(like secretaries) generally appointed by the committee of the level immediately

above 58

81 T. 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 6-7; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 16; YUN Kim
Interview Record, E3/368, 12 June 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00345192. See also, T. 6 June 2012 (SAO
Sarun), p. 60 (stating that co-operatives received instructions directly from the District level); T. 24
January 2013, p. 29 (citing TOEM Rithy Civil Party application, E3/4828) (indicating that communes
and co-operatives were “equivalent”); Article by T. CARNEY: The Organization of Power, in
Cambodia 1975-1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 85, ERN (En) 00105134.

682 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 17, Article 7, ERN (En) 00184038; T. 26 March 2012 (KAING
Guek Eav), p. 92; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 15-17; T. 29 May 2012 (NY Kan), pp.
74-75; T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 45, 60; T. 1 July 2013 (PECH Chim), p. 38; SUON Kanil
Interview Record, E3/411, 19 August 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00390076.

8 T. 6 December 2011 (KLAN Fit), pp. 61-62; T. 7 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), p. 99; T. 14
December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 58, 66; T. 22 May 2013 (PROM Sou), pp. 19-20; T. 18 July 2013
(Stephen HEDER), p. 20; MEAS Voeun Interview Record, E3/80, 3 March 2010, p. 4, ERN (En)
00491656; PECH Chim Interview Record, E3/4628, 26 August 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00379303; Book
by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer
Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, pp. 86-92, ERN (En) 00678538-00678541.

8% UK Bunchhoeun DC-Cam Interview, E3/387, undated, p. 4, ERN (En) 00350203; BUN Loeng
Chauy Interview Record, E3/5178, 10 June 2008, p. 11, ERN (En) 00274104; Written Record of
Analysis by Craig Etcheson, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 15, ERN (En) 00142840.

85 Case 001 Trial Transcript (Craig ETCHESON), E3/345, 18 May 2009, p. 74, ERN (En) 00328518.
88 T. 6 December 2011 (KLAN Fit), P. 56 (stating that he was appointed as commune chairman by
the district chief and the zone committee); T. 7 December 2011 (ROMAM Yun), p. 36; T. 20 June
2012 (YUN Kim), p. 3; T. 25 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), p. 92; T. 5 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 86; T.
20 May 2013 (IENG Phan), pp. 90-91; Book by B. KIERNAN: How Pol Pot Came to Power: A
History of Communism in Kampuchea, 1930-1975, E3/1815, p. 377, ERN (En) 00487497.

7 T.5 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 78, 85.

888 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, pp. 19-22, Articles 11, 12, 15, 18, ERN (En) 00184040-00184043;
MEL! Suon Interview Record, E3/1675, 21 October 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00403031; TEP Poch
Interview Record, E3/5293, 4 July 2009, pp. 3-4, ERN (En) 00351701-00351702; SOU Soeun
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219. The committee secretary in each tier was also generally a member (or at least
attended the meetings) of the committee of the echelon immediately above: thus,
commune secretaries would attend meetings of the District committee,”® District
secretaries would attend meetings of the Sector committee®® and Sector secretaries
would attend meetings of the Zone committee.®! Zone secretaries, such as MUOL
Sambath alias ROS Nhim (secretary of the Northwest Zone), were usually members
of the Central Committee.*> Some, such as SAO Phim (secretary of the East Zone)
and Ta Mok (secretary of the Southwest Zone), were also members of the Standing

Committee.*>

220. Other Zone secretaries in the DK period included CHOU Chet alias Si, who
served as secretary of the West Zone until he was arrested in 1978;%* KE Vin alias
KE Pauk, who replaced KOY Thuon as secretary of the original North Zone (later to
become the Central Zone) in 1975;%*> CHANN Sam alias KANG Chap alias Se, who

Interview Record, E3/5294, 5 July 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00360112; BUN Thien Interview Record,
E3/5498, 17 August 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00384398; T. 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 20.

9 T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 12: SARAY Hean Interview Record, E3/5608, 10 March 2010, p.
3, ERN (En) 00491734,

0 T, 28 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 43; T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 83.

6! CHUON Thi Interview Record, E3/4593, 2 March 2010, p- 3, ERN (En) 00513313; PECH Chim
Interview Record, E3/4628, 26 August 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00379303.

2 T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 36-37; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 14-15;
Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-
Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 59, ERN (En) 00170750. See also, T. 3
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 93 (confirming that ROS Nhim was Secretary of the
Northwest Zone); T. 6 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), p. 89 (giving ROS Nhim’s real name). ROS
Nhim was also the second deputy chairman of the State Presidium until he was arrested and sent to S-
21 in June 1978: see DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April
1976, p. 21, ERN (En) 00184068; S-21 Confession — ROS Nhim, E3/3989, 14 June 1978.

3 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 36-37; T. 20 June 2012 (KHIEV Neou), p. 102; T. 19 July
2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 56-57; T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), pp. 73-74; KHIEU Samphan
Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 10, ERN (En) 00156750. See Section 5:
Administrative Structures, fn. 620 and fn. 621. SAO Phim was also the first deputy chairman of the
State Presidium until he died, probably by committing suicide, in mid-1978: see DK People’s
Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, p. 21, ERN (En) 00184068,
Case 001 Trial Transcript (KAING Guek Eav), E3/5797, 8 June 2009, p. 77, ERN (En) 00338594;
Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After The War, E3/2376, p. 442, ERN (En)
00192627.

%4 T, 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 74; T. 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 137; T. 4 October
2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 11 (confirming that CHOU Chet went by the alias ‘Si’ or ‘Ta Si’); T. 28
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 14; KHUN Kim Interview Record, E3/422, 30 November 2009, p.
4, ERN (En) 00414065; KOL Sokun Interview Record, E3/5202, 27 August 2008, p. 3, ERN (En)
00275151; Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices from S-21: Terror and History in Pol Pot’s Secret Prison,
E3/1684, p. 73, ERN (En) 00192752; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and
Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, p. 89, ERN (En) 00678539.

5% SUON Kanil Interview Record, E3/344, 18 August 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00384426; T. 26 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 57; T. 19 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 39 (clarifying that KE Vin
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served as secretary of the new North Zone until his arrest in 1978;%° and MEN San
alias NEY Sarann alias Ya, who served as secretary of the Northeast Zone until he

was replaced, probably by his deputy UM Neng alias vi.®7

5.1.8. Angkar

221. The word ‘Angkar’ was widely used from the early days of the Cambodian
communist movement to refer to the party that became the CPK.%® Like the phrase
‘Party Centre’, however, it was a vague and obfuscatory term.**® For example, Civil
Party ROMAM Yun described a committee appointed by the local commune as a
manifestation of ‘Angkar’;’® but to others, ‘4ngkar’ was a code word for the higher
echelons of the CPK.”! Witness KAING Guek Eav stated that when he used the word
‘Angkar’, he was referring to “the Party Central Committee or any particular person

representing Pol Pot or the Party Central Committee”, although he added that others

was also known as KE Pauk); SARAY Hean Interview Record, E3/5608, 10 March 2010, p. 4, ERN
(En) 00491735; Written Record of Analysis by Craig Etcheson, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 11, ERN (En)
00142836; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia
under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, p. 91, ERN (En) 00678540.

% T, 21 May 2013 (PROM Sou), p. 32; S-21 Confession — CHANN Sam alias Se, E3/2792, 25
October 1978; Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with Kampuchean Refugees
at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 55, ERN (En) 00170746; KHIEU
Samphan SOAS/HRW Interview, E3/198, 17 August 2005, p. 1, ERN (En) 00184680; Book by M.
VICKERY: Cambodia 1975-1982, E3/1757, p. 139, ERN (En) 00397054; Book by B. KIERNAN: The
Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593,
p. 344, ERN (En) 00678674.

%7 T. 23 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 28 (testifying that NEY Sarann alias Ya was the
secretary of the Northeast Zone); T. 13 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 3 (stating that ‘Ya’ was the
leader of the Northeast Zone); T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 81-82 (clarifying that “Ya’ was the
alias of NEY Sarann); CHIN Kim Thong Interview Record, E3/406, 5 November 2009, p. 2, ERN (En)
00404076 (stating that ‘Ya’ led the Northeast Zone until he was arrested); KAING Guek Eav Interview
Record before the Military Court of the Kingdom of Cambodia, E3/530, 4 July 2002, p. 1, ERN (En)
00329133 (indicating that MEN San alias Ya was secretary of the Northeast Zone until his arrest);
Written Record of Analysis by Craig Etcheson, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00142836
(indicating that MEN San was executed in 1977 and replaced by UM Neng); Book by B. KIERNAN:
The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79,
E3/1593, pp. 90-91, ERN (En) 00678540 (stating that UM Neng replaced NEY Sarann as Northeast
Zone secretary in 1975).

% T_6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 64.

% T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 39. See also, T. 1 July 2013 (PECH Chim), pp. 83-85
(describing different understandings of the word ‘Angkar’).

70 T, 7 December 2011 (ROMAM Yun), p. 13. See also, TITH Sokhom Interview Record, E3/382,
18 May 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00345895 (referring to a District secretary as ‘Angkar’).

' SAO Hean Interview Record, E3/5518, 21 November 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00413898 (I just
heard that Angkar was the upper-echelon that put in place the plans for us to carry out”); SAO Phen
Interview Record, E3/445, 5 April 2010, p. 3, ERN (En) 00508572 (describing Angkar as the “upper
echelons of the Khmer Rouge”, from the District level upwards).

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public ¢ ﬁ/ 124



01005792

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

used the term differently.m2 A reference to ‘Angkar’ in a document was sometimes a
reference to a specific senior member of the CPK, such as SON Sen or POL Pot.”%?
Witness SAUT Toeung testified that, in his understanding, ‘Angkar’ meant POL Pot
and NUON Chea.”™ The frequency with which individuals and “bad elements” held
themselves out to be ‘Angkar’ prompted Committee 870 to issue a directive in 1977 in

the following terms:

1. The term “Angkar” or “Party” is used only for the organization. It
shall not be used for any individual.

2. For individual (sic): “comrade”, “this person’s name”, or “comrade
in this or that position”, or “comrade representing Angkar at this or
that level” shall be used.”®

222. However, it is not clear to what extent the directive was circulated amongst
ordinary people. Although Witness PECH Chim, a former District secretary, recalled
teaching people “not to refer to any particular individual as Angkar”, it was uncertain
whether this was a result of the directive or not; and it is obvious that many of those
interviewed by the OCIJ never fully grasped the meaning of ‘Angkar’, either before or
after 1977.7%

5.1.9. Democratic Centralism

223. Broadly speaking, the CPK was organised in accordance with the principle of
‘democratic centralism’. As set out in the CPK Statute, this concept had two
dimensions. First, decisions would be made democratically, that is collectively rather

than individually.””” Structurally, this was reflected in the ubiquity of committees

702 T, 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 14-15.

793 T, 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 35; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73.

%% T 19 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), p. 73.

75 Committee 870 Directive, E3/740, 24 July 1977.

7 T, 1 July 2013 (PECH Chim), p. 85. See e.g. PEN Loeut Interview Record, E3/5226, 18 November
2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00250278 (“I didn’t know who Angkar was”); MIECH Ponn Interview Record,
E3/5523, 9 December 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00434651 (“At that time, I did not know who the Angkar
or Central Committee was”); DUCH Phleu Interview Record, E3/5213, 28 August 2008, p. 3, ERN
(En) 00275433 (“I did not know who Angkar was”); Interview with CHUM Manh by Co-Prosecutors,
E3/5690, 17 August 2006, p. 2, ERN (En) 00146775 (“At first time I don’t know what Angkar is”);
SUONG Sim Interview Record, E3/4657, 9 July 2009, p. 8, ERN (En) 00353705 (“I did not know at
that time who Angkar was”); PECH Sokha Interview Record, E3/403, 12 October 2009, p. 4, ERN (En)
00403004 (discussing the period after 1977, and stating: “I did not know who Angkar was. I just heard
Angkar.”); KEANG Vannary Interview Record, E3/5310, 7 July 2009, p. 10, ERN (En) 00353490 (“Q.
What do you mean by Angkar? A. I do not know; I heard others say Angkar, so I said Angkar.”).

7 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 16, Article 6, ERN (En) 00184037.
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within the CPK hierarchy. Second, decisions would be made centrally, by the upper
echelons of the Party, to whom the lower echelons would report and from whom they
would receive instructions.””® This was reflected in the pyramidal leadership structure
of the Party, with power concentrated in a small Standing Committee to which all

other tiers were functionally subordinate.

224. The NUON Chea Defence argues that it was ultimately POL Pot, not the entire
Standing Committee, who was responsible for the decisions ostensibly emanating
from the Standing Committee.”% This is at odds, however, with NUON Chea’s own
evidence, in which he stated clearly that the principle of collective decision-making
was implemented “at every stage, at all [...] times” in the CPK, and specifically at the
meetings of the Central and Standing Committees which he attended.”’® As NUON
Chea explained to the Chamber:

“[Clollectivity” means everybody would participate in a meeting to
express the ideas. Every meeting adhered to this principle, and not
only at the Central Committee — Central or Standing Committees’
level. And then the Secretary of the Party would consolidate all those
ideas and opinions, and if members of the Party are not satisfied, then
all together would be able to express their objections or opposal (sic)
until they reach a unanimous agreement, then it would become
official. Otherwise, if there is no complete agreement, discussion
needs to continue.

Similarly, when asked in a 2006 interview whether POL Pot had a monopoly on
power during the DK era, NUON Chea rejected this proposition and stated that
decisions were made collectively.m

225. KHIEU Samphan also indicated that key decisions were made collectively. In
respect of the Standing Committee’s decision to evacuate Phnom Penh, he said that
“if there had been a single voice against the evacuations, there could have been no

evacuations”.”'> However, IENG Sary claimed that his own individual dissent was not

7% CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 16, Article 6, ERN (En) 00184037.

7% NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement, para. 189.

719 T 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 33-36.

711 NUON Chea Interview by Japanese journalist, E3/26, undated, p. 8, ERN (En) 00329511.
712 KHIEU Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4051, undated, p. 1, ERN (En) 00788872.
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enough to stop the Standing Committee from proceeding with the abolition of

currency in 1975.73

226. Expert David CHANDLER testified that, although POL Pot would have had
the “last word” in decision-making as CPK Secretary, there was no evidence that he

had made decisions alone during the DK period:

There’s no evidence that the Standing Committee was not in most

cases cohesive. I say “most cases” because some of them were taken

away and executed, but certainly there's no evidence that they — was

any public disagreement that he overrode with a singular decision.

The atmosphere was collegial, this was a place where I think he was

given this authority, but I don’t have the evidence that he ever used a

one-man authority to override the collective view of all his

committee.”™*
227. Expert Philip SHORT cast the meetings of the Standing Committee in a
slightly different light: in his opinion, POL Pot solicited the opinions of other
members at Standing Committee meetings and incorporated their remarks in his
conclusions, but “the policy that emerged was that which he had essentially decided

himself before the meeting even began”.”">

228. In light of the evidence given by NUON Chea, KHIEU Samphan and IENG
Sary — all of whom attended or participated in meetings of the Standing Committee —
the Chamber is satisfied that key decisions of the Standing Committee were not
simply made unilaterally by POL Pot, but rather were made collectively; that is to say,
with the input of, and with a broad consensus from, the entire Committee. However,
the Chamber is unable to conclude that unanimity was required in decision-making,
and therefore leaves open the possibility that individual members may have disagreed

with particular decisions from time to time.

5.2. Structure of Democratic Kampuchea

229. In April 1975, as Phnom Penh fell to the military forces of the CPK and the

LON Nol regime collapsed, foreign governments began to extend formal diplomatic

73 [ENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 4, ERN (En) 00417602.
714 T 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 23-24.
5T, 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 75.
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recognition to the GRUNK.”'® An invitation by the United States government to
NORODOM Sihanouk to return immediately to Cambodia and take power went
unheeded, and U.S. embassy personnel were evacuated from Phnom Penh on 12 April
1975 together with acting Prime Minister SAUKHAM Khoy.”"” By 17 April 1975,
most of the remaining senior leaders of the Khmer Republic had fled the country and
the CPK/FUNK takeover was complete.”®

230. In reality, the GRUNK administration that took power in Cambodia was a
facade, and it was the CPK that exercised actual control.”'* NORODOM Sihanouk

had foreseen this outcome two years earlier, telling an audience in China:

After the war is over, Prince Sihanouk will only be a symbol of
national unity...In reality power will be in the hands of the Khmer
Rouge.”

231. One commentator in 1975 observed that the GRUNK cabinet was dominated
by the Khmer Rouge, with “only two ‘Sihanoukists” amongst its members.”*!
NORODOM Sihanouk himself, though ostensibly the head of state, did not arrive in
Phnom Penh until September 1975, having spent the previous months in Beijing and
Pyongyang.722

6 Book by F. PONCHAUD: Cambodia Year Zero, E243.1, p. 12, ERN (En) 00862033; Untitled
article: Sweden officially recognised... (Washington Post), E3/3296, 16 April 1975.

"7 Sihanouk Silent as Insurgents Wait Outside Phnom Penh (The Guardian), E3/4422, 14 April 1975,
ERN (En) S 00002624; Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, p.
27, ERN (En) 00524011; White Flags Over Phnom Penh (Newsweek), E3/3721, 28 April 1975, ERN
(En) S 00002598; The Unknown Dimensions of the Cambodian Tragedy (Washington Post), E3/4479,
19 February 1978; Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After The War, E3/2376, p. 40,
ERN (En) 00192225.

" White Flags Over Phnom Penh (Newsweek), E3/3721, 28 April 1975, ERN (En) S 00002600;
Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After The War, E3/2376, p. 38, ERN (En) 00192223.

T, 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 104-105; T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 69-70;
Book by G. CHON and THET Sambath: Behind the Killing Fields: A Khmer Rouge Leader and One of
His Victims, E3/4202, p. 13, ERN (En) 00757482. See also, Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9
October 1975 (assigning specific areas of policy responsibility to senior CPK members). See aiso,
Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, p. 9, ERN (En) 00523993
(reporting earlier statements by NORODOM Sihanouk to the effect that “the Khmer Rouge hold the
majority within the GRUNK...It is now a communist-oriented government...I am giving up everything
to the Khmer Rouge”).

720 Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, p. 16, ERN (En)
00524000.

71 Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, p. 25, ERN (En)
00524009.

22 Reception for Sihanouk: Speeches by Khieu Samphan and Sikanouk (in SWB Collection), E3/711,
11 September 1975, ERN (En) S 00003732-S 00003732; Sihanouk Pledges ‘Democratic’ Rule (New
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232. In October 1975, the CPK Standing Committee assigned specific areas of
policy responsibility to 13 senior members, including NUON Chea (given
responsibility for “Party Affairs, Social Action, Culture, Propaganda and Education”)
and KHIEU Samphan (given responsibility for “the Front and the Royal Government,
and Commerce for accounting and pricing”).””> IENG Sary was assigned “Foreign
Affairs work, both Party and State”, while POL Pot retained “general responsibility
over the military and the economy”.””* KOY Thuon alias Thuch was assigned
“Domestic and International Commerce”, SON Sen was to deal with the “General
Staff and Security”, VORN Vet was given responsibility for “Industry, Railroads and
Fisheries”, IENG Thirith alias Phea was to take charge of “Culture, Social Action and
Foreign Affairs”, YUN Yat alias At was assigned “Propaganda and Re-education,

both internal and external” and NON Suon alias Chey was to deal with “Agriculture”.
725

233. On 14 December 1975, KHIEU Samphan presented a new draft constitution at
a national congress in Phnom Penh.”?® On 5 January 1976, the constitution (“DK
Constitution”) came into effect, and the state of Democratic Kampuchea was born.”
The DK Constitution vested legislative power in a People’s Representative Assembly
(“PRA”), which was to comprise 250 elected members.””® The government was to be
elected by, and answerable to, the members of the PRA.7? “People’s courts” were

also to be appointed by the PRA.”° In place of the monarchy, the DK Constitution

York Times), E3/3296, 16 April 1975; Report by S. HEDER and M. MATSUSHITA: Interviews with
Kampuchean Refugees at Thai-Cambodia Border, E3/1714, February-March 1980, p. 8, ERN (En)
00170699; Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After The War, E3/2376, pp. 38-43, ERN
(En) 00192223-00192228.

3 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; See Section 7:
Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, paras 328-329; Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan,
para. 400.

24 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; T. 29 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 22-23.

5 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00183393-00183394; T.
29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 22.

8 Khieu Samphan Report (in FBIS Collection), E3/273, 5 January 1976, ERN (En) 00167810-
00167817.

21 Radio Editorial Hails Promulgation of New Constitution (in FBIS Collection), E3/273, 8 January
1976, ERN (En) 00167822; DK Constitution, E3/259, undated.

2 DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 3, Chapter 5, ERN (En) 00184835.

72 DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 3, Chapter 6, ERN (En) 00184835.

3% DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 4, Chapter 7, ERN (En) 00184836.
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provided for a State Presidium — again, to be appointed by the PRA — to represent the

state of DK at home and overseas.””!

234. All this, too, was a facade. Minutes of a meeting of the CPK Standing
Committee reflect the Standing Committee’s view that the PRA was “worthless” and
cautioned members not to “speak playfully about the Assembly in front of the people
to let them see that we are deceptive”.”>> Although the DK Constitution envisaged
“direct and prompt general elections by secret ballot to be held throughout the
country” to select the members of the PRA, no such nationwide elections were held;
at best, voting took place at a limited number of locations, and it is not clear whether
voters were presented with any actual choice of candidates.”® Witnesses PRAK Yut
and UNG Ren did not know that they were candidates for the PRA until they were
notified by their superiors that they had been appointed, and even after their
appointments they remained uncertain as to the nature of their roles and
responsibilities as PRA representatives.>* Neither of them recalled attending any

meetings of the PRA or voting on any legislation.735

235. On 30 March 1976 — after the purported election of the PRA but prior to its
inaugural session>® — the CPK Central Committee nominated NUON Chea as
chairman of the PRA Standing Committee and named KHIEU Samphan chairman of
the State Presidium (i.e. President of Democratic Kampuchea).””” The Central
Committee also appointed several members of the government, including POL Pot

(who was named Prime Minister), IENG Sary (named Deputy Prime Minister for

' DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 4, Chapter 8, ERN (En) 00184836.

32 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, p. 3, ERN (En) 00182630.

3 DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 3, Chapter 5, ERN (En) 00184835; T. 26 January 2012
(PRAK Yut), pp. 73-74; T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 63; T. 19 July 2012 (David
CHANDLER), pp. 110-111; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 28.

3% T, 26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 73-74; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 28, 30-31.

35 T.26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 73, 75; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 28-29, 30-31.

36 Elections purportedly took place on 20 March 1976: See Results of National Assembly Elections
Announced (in FBIS Collection), E3/274, 21 March 1976, ERN (En) 00167985. The PRA was first
convened on 11 April 1976: see DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-
13 April 1976.

37 Central Committee Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, p. 5, ERN (En) 00182813. See Section 7:
Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, paras 319; Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para.
381.
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Foreign Affairs), VORN Vet (named Deputy Prime Minister for Economics and

Finance) and SON Sen (named Deputy Prime Minister for National Defence).”*

236. In April 1976, NORODOM Sihanouk announced his retirement as head of
state.””® A few days later, all members of GRUNK resigned to make way for the new
governmen's.740 From 11 to 13 April 1976, the PRA met for its inaugural session, at
which it ostensibly selected and appointed the members of the PRA Standing
Committee, State Presidium and government.741 In reality, the PRA simply rubber-

stamped the choices that had already been made by the CPK.™

237. The government, too, was little more than an instrument of the CPK." 1t was,
as Expert David CHANDLER described it, a “government by and for [the] ruling
party”; there were no balancing elements to CPK rule.”* Government ministers and
ministerial staff reported to and took directions from the CPK Standing Committee.”*
Minutes of a CPK Central Committee meeting reflect the Central Committee’s view
that the government “must be totally an organization of the Party”.”* Government
ministers met with POL Pot — who by then served as both Prime Minister and CPK

747

Secretary — at gatherings of the Council of Ministers.”"" At the first such meeting,

3% Central Committee Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, p. 6, ERN (En) 00182814; T. 19 July 2012
(David CHANDLER), pp. 116-117.

9 DK Government Statement, E3/1371, 1 April 1976; T. 6 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), pp. 58-
59.

0 DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, ERN (En)
00184067-00184068.

1 DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976; DK Press
Release: First Plenary Session of the First Legislature of the People’s Representative Assembly of
Kampuchea, E3/262, 14 April 1976; T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 34. The PRA Standing
Committee purportedly convened for a special session on 25 December 1977, but the evidence before
the Chamber did not confirm whether this meeting ever actually took place: DK Government
Communiqué, E3/1393, 31 December 1977, p. 7, ERN (En) 00713107.

742 T, 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 119; MAT Ly Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/390,
undated, pp. 28-29, ERN (En) 00436873-00436874.

3 See e.g. T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 68-69 (describing the government as “a transmission
belt with no authority™).

74 T.18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 33.

™5 See e.g. Standing Committee Minutes, E3/223, 17 May 1976, pp. 1-3, ERN (En) 00182708-
00182710; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976, pp. 1-4, 8, ERN (En) 00182715-
00182718, 00182722; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/226, 10 June 1976.

6 Central Committee Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, p. 6, ERN (En) 00182814.

™7 Presentation by the Party Secretary, E3/818, 22 April 1976; Council of Ministers Meeting Minutes,
E3/794, 31 May 1976; IENG Thirith Interview by Elizabeth BECKER, E3/659, October-November
1980, p. 30, ERN (En) 00182327.
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POL Pot made it clear that the primary function of the DK government was to
implement the CPK party line:

The true nature of our new government is that of a revolutionary
government of the pure worker-peasants, of the pure Communist
Party of Kampuchea...members of the Government and members of
the Committees in all sectors must grasp the true nature of our
Government and our duties, and strive to fulfill their tasks well,
following the Party line. Grasping the Party line means grasping the
organizational stance of the Party and grasping the political
objectives of the Party in every Sector in order to implement the
policies of the Party well and correctly...

...[IIn the frameworks of each of the individual ministries, it is
likewise. That is, we must strive to fulfil our tasks along the Party
line correctly, carefully, and completely...”*

238. As to the third branch of the state envisaged by the DK Constitution, the

judiciary, the PRA professed to create (and appoint the chairman of) a ‘Judicial

6.”% However, no functioning judicial system

50

Committee’ at its session in April 197

was ever established under the DK regime.”

239. The NUON Chea Defence submits that the Closing Order is inaccurate insofar
as it suggests that the CPK was co-extensive with the DK administration.””! However,
the highest offices of state in DK — Prime Minister, President and chairman of the
PRA - were occupied by senior CPK members. Other government leaders and
ministers were appointed by, and reported to, the CPK. There was no functioning
legislative or judicial branch. In short, DK was, in the words of KHIEU Samphan, a

country where “the party leads the state”.”” 2

™8 Presentation by the Party Secretary, E3/818, 22 April 1976, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00143461-
00143462.

9 DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, p. 22, ERN
(En) 00184069.

750 T_6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 68; T. 26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 57.

1 NUON Chea Defence Closing Statement, para. 189.

752 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 9, ERN (En) 00156749. See
also, T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 21 (describing the CPK as “the supreme body with
the highest authority” and observing that “even the State Presidium, the People’s Representative
Assembly...were under the supervision of Committee §70”).
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5.3. Structure of the CPK military forces

5.3.1. Formation of the Revolutionary Army of Kampuchea

240. When the CPK/FUNK took control of Phnom Penh on 17 April 1975, the CPK
military forces — which had been fighting under the banner of the Cambodian
People’s National Liberation Armed Forces (“CPNLAF”)"* — were under the direct
control of the Zones, not the Party Centre.””* On 22 July 1975, POL Pot announced
the formation of a new Revolutionary Army of Kampuchea (“RAK”), bringing a
number of Zone military brigades under the control of the Central Committee —
specifically, under the command of the General Staff, headed by SON Sen.”® The
units created under the General Staff (“Centre Divisions”) included Division 164, the
navy; Division 170; Division 290; Division 310; Division 450; Division 502, the air
force; Division 703; Division 801; and Division 920.7% Several ‘independent
regiments’ were also established under the General Staff, each tasked with a specific

function: examples included a tank unit, an artillery unit and the S-21 Security

3 See e.g. Cambodians Urged to Unite in New Year’s Offensive (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 31
December 1974, p. 2, ERN (En) 00166659.

5% KHIEU Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4045, undated, p. 1, ERN (En) 00790538; T. 28 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 32-33.

755 T. 24 October 2012 (KUNG Kim), p. 110; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 32-33;
LOHN Dos Interview Record, E3/426, 23 July 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00364070-00364071;
Revolutionary Flag, E3/5, August 1975, p. 13, ERN (En) 00401488; Article by T. CARNEY: The
Organization of Power, in Cambodia 1975-1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 88, ERN (En)
00105137; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia
under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-79, E3/1593, p. 94, ERN (En) 00678542.

756 RAK General Staff Document: Joint Statistics of Armed Forces — March 1977, E3/849, 7 April
1977; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 33; T. 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 64, T. 9
January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 52-53; T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM S8e), p. 42; KOY Mon Interview
Record, E3/369, 29 May 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00272715; LONH Dos Interview Record, E3/70, 20
November 2009, pp. 5-6, ERN (En) 00407789-00407790; SRENG Thi Interview Record, E3/5263, 6
January 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00282224; U.S. Department of Defense Report, E3/5700, June 2000, p.
3, ERN (En) 00387265; DK Military Meeting Minutes, E3/822, 16 September 1976; Book by HUY V.:
The Khmer Rouge Division 703: From Victory to Self-Destruction, E3/2117, pp. 6-7, ERN (En)
00081291-00081292; Book by S. COLM and S. SIM: Khmer Rouge Purges in the Mondul Kiri
Highlands, E3/1664, p. 45, ERN (En) 00397617.
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Office.”®” Divisions were re-organised and re-named on more than one occasion after

1975.7%8

241. The role of the RAK was set out in Article 19 of the DK Constitution: its
functions were to “defend the State power of the Kampuchean people and of [...]
Kampuchea”, and to “help build a country growing more prosperous every day to
improve and develop the people’s standard of living”.”® However, the RAK was very
much an army of the CPK rather than the state institutions. The CPK Statute specified
that the RAK “must be in very (sic) part under the absolute leadership monopoly of
the Communist Party of Kampuchea”.760 The CPK magazine Revolutionary Flag

similarly described the RAK as “pure” and “resolutely committed to the Party”.”®!

5.3.2. Structure of the RAK

242. As with the civilian administrative structures of the CPK, the RAK was
arranged in a pyramidal hierarchy. At the top (albeit subject to the supervision of the
Central Committee and the Military Committee) was the General Staff.”®* The
General Staff was in overall command of the Centre Divisions and dealt with military

affairs such as supply, logistics, arms, personnel, communications and information.”®>

243. Immediately below the General Staff were the Centre Divisions and

independent regiments, each of which was led by a Division Commander.”** The

757 T, 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 28, 46; SOKH Chhay Interview Record, E3/5537, 27
October 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00404293; Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices from S-21: Terror and
History in Pol Pot’s Secret Prison, E3/1684, p. 14, ERN (En) 00192693.

7% See e.g. POL Nhan Interview Record, E3/5554, 31 August 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00377400;
CHHOUK Rin Interview Record, E3/361, 9 April 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00766452; IENG Phan
Interview Record, E3/419, 23 November 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00411005.

7% DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, pp. 5-6, ERN (En) 00184837-00184838.

760 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 25, Article 27, ERN (En) 00184046.

76\ Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, p. 15, ERN (En) 00491408, ERN (Kh)
00063016-0063018. The Chamber relies on the original Khmer document. See also, DK Telegram,
E3/915, 31 December 1977, ERN (En) 00184995, in which “we who have the duty to defend the
maritime spearhead” — i.e. Division 164, the navy — vows to “fashion forces who are a tool absolutely
to defend the Party” as well as the State.

762 T.11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 81; T. 26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 27.

763 T, 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 11; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 86; LOHN Dos
Interview Record, E3/426, 23 July 2009, pp. 2-4, ERN (En) 00364070-00364072; KE Pich Vannak
Interview Record, E3/35, 4 June 2009, p. 8, ERN (En) 00346152; KOY Mon Interview Record,
E3/369, 29 May 2008, pp. 3-4, ERN (En) 00272715-00272716; RAK General Staff Logistics
Committee Report, E3/1167, 29 March 1977; RAK General Staff Statistics, E3/1048, 7 April 1977.

764 T.4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 11.
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Centre Divisions were sub-divided into smaller units. Typically, there were three
regiments to a Division; three battalions to a regiment; three companies to a battalion;
three platoons to a company; three squads to a platoon; and around 12 soldiers to a
squad.765 At the level of the company and above, each echelon was headed by a
commanding officer (also known as a ‘chairman’ or ‘commissar’), usually assisted by

two subordinates.”*®

244. A number of witnesses indicated that there was an additional command level
between the regiments and the Divisions: specifically, that three regiments made up a
‘brigade’, and that each Division comprised around three such brigades.”® Precise

organisational structures may therefore have varied between the Divisions.
5.3.3. Regional and guerrilla forces

245. Both the DK Constitution and the CPK Statute distinguished between three
branches of the RAK: the “regular” forces, the “regional” or “Sector” forces and the
“guerrilla” forces or “militia”.”®® The evidence put before the Chamber did not clearly
differentiate between the structure of the ‘regular’ and the ‘regional’ forces; however,
it did establish that Sectors and Districts maintained their own military forces,
separate from the Centre Divisions, primarily for the purpose of territorial defence.”®
Moreover, even after POL Pot’s reorganisation of the military in 1975, some divisions

remained under the direct control of Zone leaders.””°

% T.9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 57; T. 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 75, 77; POL Nhan
Interview Record, E3/5554, 31 August 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00377401; CHUM Cheat Interview
Record, E3/5504, 8 October 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00398835; CHIN Kimthong Interview Record,
E3/5512, 3 November 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00403579 .

6 T, 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 42, 56; T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 90-91; T. 2
May 2013 (LIM Sat), p. 68; Article by T. CARNEY: The Organization of Power, in Cambodia 1975-
1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 90, ERN (En) 00105139.

767 T, 8 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 85-86; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p.43; T. 20 May
2013 (IENG Phan), p. 10; SUOS Siyat Interview Record, E3/5145, 17 January 2008, p. 4, ERN (En)
00204707. See also, T.3 May 2013 (LIM Sat), p. 43 (describing brigades as sub-units of divisions, but
omitting reference to regiments).

768 DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 5, Article 19, ERN (En) 00184837; CPK Statute, E3/130,
undated, p. 25, Article 27, ERN (En) 00184046.

769 T, 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 19-20; T. 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), pp. 7-8; T. 4 October
2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 101-102; T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), pp. 8, 29; CHEA Chinit Interview
Record, E3/5534, 30 December 2009, p. 2, ERN (En) 00425879.

0 Book by E. BECKER: When The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 180, ERN (En) 00237885;
Written Record of Analysis by Craig Etcheson, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 28, ERN (En) 00142853. See
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246. In addition to the Zone, Sector and District armies, there also existed local

militias, which were under the control of the sub-district leaders and which were

responsible for security and discipline in the villages, communes and co-operatives.””!

also, CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 7, Article 1, ERN (En) 00184208 (distinguishing between the
“Regular Army of the Centre” and the “Regular Army of the Zone”).

7' T. 10 January 2012 (KLAN Fit), p. 106; T. 5 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 84; T. 19 June 2012
(YUN Kim), p. 23; SAO Phen Interview Record, E3/374, 21 May 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00336533;
KHUN Kim Interview Record, E3/422, 30 November 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00414066; SENG Srun
Interview Record, E3/1692, 11 August 2008, pp. 3-5, ERN (En) 00242086-00242088.
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6. COMMUNICATION STRUCTURE

6.1. Methods of Communication

6.1.1. Telegrams

247. Prior to 1975, the CPK used telegrams to communicate both within Cambodia
and externally with contacts in foreign countries. For example, telegrams were used to
send messages between the Zones and the Party leaders in their headquarters, and also

to make contact with FUNK and GRUNK representatives in Vietnam and China.””

248. After the seizure of Phnom Penh in 1975, CPK telegraph offices were

established in the city.””

Telegrams were transmitted and received at K-18, and were
encrypted or decrypted as necessary either at K-1 or at an office within Sothearos
School.””* Zones, Autonomous Sectors, Sectors and Divisions around the country also
maintained their own telegraph units.””> The system remained in place until the arrival
of the Vietnamese in Phnom Penh in 1979.77¢ Telegrams were primarily used for
long-distance communication; the various offices of the Party Centre would not

typically use telegrams to contact each other within Phnom Penh.””’

2 T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 7; T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p.
99; T. 7 December 2011 (LONG Norin), pp. 69-70; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 54; T. 29
August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 44-45. From 1971 to 1975 IENG Sary acted as the
FUNK/GRUNK ‘Special Envoy’ in China, charged with managing communications between the CPK
and China, monitoring NORODOM Sihanouk on behalf of the CPK and recruiting FUNK/GRUNK
intellectuals to the CPK: T. 25 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 97-98; T. 6 May
2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 103, 104; IENG Sary Interview by Steve HEDER, E3/89, 17 December
1996, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00417608-00417609; Cambodia — Fall of the High Flyer (Far Eastern
Economic Review), E3/3443, 22 August 1996, p. 1, ERN (En) 00149280; Samdech and Madame
Sihanouk Arrive in Peking (Peking Review), E3/3710, 9 June 1972; Book by N. CHANDA: Brother
Enemy: The War After The War, E3/2376, p. 70, ERN (En) 00192255; Book by E. BECKER: When
The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 199, ERN (En) 00237904.

73 T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 68-69.

7% T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 56, 70-71; KUNG Sokha Interview Record, E3/465,
21 January 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00204758.

™ T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 55 (stating that “each base, zone and sector, and every
unit of a division”, had communications and telegraph sections); T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil),
pp. 46, 95 (confirming that Zones, Sectors and battlefield commanders used telegrams); T. 7 June 2012
(SAO Sarun), p. 16 (giving the location of the telegraph office in Autonomous Sector 105); PHAN
Sovannhan Interview Record, E3/44, 11 March 2009, pp. 3-4, ERN (En) 00295161-00295162
(confirming the existence of the telegraph office in Autonomous Sector 105); T. 4 October 2012
(MEAS Voeun), p. 22 (describing telegraph communication with a military Division).

776 T, 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 77.

77T, 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 37; T. 30 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 79; LONH Dos
Interview Record, E3/70, 20 November 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00407788.
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249. Most, but not all, CPK telegrams were encrypted before transmission.”’®

Unencrypted messages were sent in Morse code.”” Secret messages were encrypted

780

using a substitution cipher.”” Additional layers of encryption were used for highly

confidential messages, such as those pertaining to cadres’ travel plans.”®! Special code

numbers were also used to refer to specific individuals, locations and offices.”®

250. Telegrams were generally encrypted (or decrypted) and transmitted (or
received) by different people.”®® Thus, outgoing telegrams were usually prepared in
writing and delivered to an ‘encoder’; the encrypted messages were then sent to a
separate telegraph operator for transmission.”** At the other end, the encrypted
messages were received and transcribed by another telegraph operator, before being
taken to a ‘decoder” for decryption.”® The decrypted messages were then delivered by
messenger to the final recipients.”®® Witness NORNG Sophang, who ran the telegram

787 confirmed

encryption and decryption unit at Sothearos School from 1975 onwards,
that this separation of responsibilities was intended to “preserve the principle of

secrecy” within the CPK.7%®

"% T. 14 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 12; T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 64; T. 3
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 25.

7% T, 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 64; T. 17 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 51-52.

80 T, 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 20-22 (describing the use of a “table of 100 squares”
to encrypt text); Attachment to NORNG Sophang Interview Record, E3/1732, undated; T. 11
December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 101 (referring to a “10-digit coding” system); KUNG Sokha
Interview Record, E3/465, 21 January 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00204757.

8T, 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 24-25;T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 101.
782 KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/57, 10 March 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00290506.See e.g. T. 3
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 83 (stating that “47” was a code number for SON Sen); T. 28
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 87 (stating that “89” and “62” were code numbers for SON Sen);
SUON Kanil Interview Record, E3/344, 18 August 2009, p. 9, ERN (En) 00384430 (stating that “18”,
“25” and “35” were code numbers for KE Pauk). See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures.

8 T, 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 101; T. 17 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 51.

784 T. 7 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 16-17; T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 39; KUNG
Sokha Interview Record, E3/465, 21 January 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00204758.

85 T.11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 101; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 81-82; T. 29
August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 39; KUNG Sokha Interview Record, E3/465, 21 January 2008, p.
6, ERN (En) 00204758; PON Ol Interview Record, E3/373, 7 May 2009, pp. 4-5, ERN (En) 00336527-
00336528.

78 T.13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), pp. 63-64; T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 39.

87 T, 6 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 83; T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 55.

88 T. 6 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 64-65.
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6.1.2. Mail

251. The various organs of the Party Centre and the Zones, Sectors, Districts and
sub-district entities also communicated with each other by letter.”® Although
telegrams were generally preferred for long-distance communications, lengthier
messages and reports were sent by mail, which was delivered by messengers.790 In
Phnom Penh, incoming mail for the Party Centre was generally directed through K-7,

7
the messenger unit.””’

792

Zones, Sectors and Districts had their own messenger

networks.
6.1.3. Telephone

252. Evidence before the Chamber proves that some of the leaders, offices and units
of the Party Centre and the DK Government communicated with each other by
telephone.”® However, not all of the offices in Phnom Penh were connected to each

other through the telephone network.”*

253. The evidence before the Chamber is inconclusive as to whether officials at the
Zone or Sector level also had access to telephone connections.”> Certain military

units, including Division 164 (the navy), occasionally reported to the Party Centre by

7 T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 62 (recalling carrying letters between K-1 and K-7); T. 6
December 2011 (KLAN Fit), p. 61 (describing a letter being sent from the Party Centre to a sub-
district, via the Zone and Sector levels); T. 4 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 89-90 (referring to a
letter from Witness KAING Gueak Eav to SON Sen); SON Sen Letter to KAING Guek Eav, E3/1047,
5 October 1977.

70 T, 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 68.

! T, 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 15-16.

1 U.S. Department of Defense Report, E3/391, January 2001, p. 2, ERN (En) 00387344,

™3 T. 26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 94 (describing telephone conversations between SON
Sen and Witness KAING Guek Eav at S-21); T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 37 (stating that
a telephone connection was in place at the office near Borei Keila where Witness KAING Guek Eav
met SON Sen); T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 91 (referring to a telephone at K-7); T. 24
April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), pp. 10-11 (mentioning the receipt of telephone calls at the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs); T. 16 August 2012 (SA Siek), pp. 102-103 (describing a telephone call received at the
Ministry of Propaganda); T. 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 59-60 (stating that telephone
calls were made to the telegram encryption and decryption unit at Sothearos School); T. 17 June 2013
(LENG Chhoeung), pp. 12-13 (confirming that KHIEU Samphan had a telephone in his office at K-3).
See also, T. 5 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 71; T. 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 76.

4 See e.g. T., 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 60 (indicating that the telegram decoding
office at Sothearos School only had a telephone connection to three other Party Centre offices, and not
to the Zones).

™5 Seee.g. T.28 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 41 (stating that the Sector 32 committee did not have access
to a telephone).
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telephone.796 However, in a meeting with senior officers in December 1976, SON Sen
cautioned military personnel to avoid “liberal use” of the telephone so as to prevent

the interception of communications by “the enem » 797

6.1.4. Radio

254. Pror to 1975, a FUNK radio station in Hanoi — staffed mainly by CPK
members, including IENG Thirith — broadcast revolutionary propaganda in Khmer to
Cambodians in Cambodia and abroad.”® The CPK also maintained a mobile radio
broadcast unit in Cambodia, which had a more limited transmission range, and which

similarly broadcast news, propaganda and revolutionary messages.799

255. After the fall of Phnom Penh in 1975, the CPK established a radio station in the
capital at Stung Meanchey.*® The station broadcast news, propaganda, music,
recordings of speeches by the CPK senior leaders (including NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan) and recordings of interviews with CPK leaders (including KHIEU
Samphan).®"!

256. The Ministry of Propaganda and Information was responsible for preparing

material for broadcast, under the guidance and close scrutiny of the Standing

" T. 5 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 45. See e.g. DK Report, E3/928, 1 April 1978
(summarising a “secret telephone” message from Division 164); DK Report, E3/859, 15 April 1978
(referring to a “confidential phone conversation”); DK Military Report, E3/1082, 12 August 1977
(containing a report from Division 164 made “via secret telephone”).

77 DK Military Meeting Minutes, E3/804, 15 December 1976, p. 11, ERN (En) 00233720.

8 T.7 December 2011 (LONG Norin), pp. 65-66; T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 91, 93-
96; T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 19, 21, 69; SA Siek Interview Record, E3/379, 24 March
2009, p. 9, ERN (En) 00323329.

™ T.15 August 2012 (SA Siek), pp. 80-83, 85; US Department of Defense Report, E3/5702, January
2001, p. 2, ERN (En) 00387392; Interview with CHEA Sim, E3/1568, 3 December 1991, p. 10, ERN
(En) 00651871.

%00 " Standing Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00182716; SA Siek Interview
Record, E3/379, 24 March 2009, p. 9, ERN (En) 00323329.

81 T, 15 August 2012 (SA Sick), p. 106 (mentioning a “news reading section” at the Ministry of
Propaganda); T. 20 August 2012 (SA Siek), p. 75 (confirming that recordings of leaders’ speeches
were played on the radio); T. 18 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), p. 79 (recalling listening to speeches by
NUON Chea on the radio); T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), p. 39 (recalling listening to speeches
by KHIEU Samphan on the radio); T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 23-25 (referring to the
broadcasting of news, songs and propaganda); CHAK Muli Interview Record, E3/5234, 13 January
2009, p. 9, ERN (En) 00288206 (mentioning an interview with KHIEU Samphan broadcast on the
radio). See Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 367.
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Committee.’*? Radio programs reported on matters such as agriculture, construction

projects, arrests and perceived enemies, and exhorted listeners to work hard, defend

the country and follow the Party line.?”

804

One program was targeted in particular at
Khmer listeners in Kampuchea Krom.”® Another program, broadcast at least partially
in Vietnamese, consisted of recordings of the confessions of Vietnamese soldiers
captured in Cambodia.’® In March 1976, the Standing Committee ordered frequent
radio broadcasts on the topic of the forthcoming ‘elections’, observing that “if we do

not broadcast they [enemies] will say we are dictators and there is no democracy”.806

257. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs also prepared propaganda for foreign
consumption: radio programs on the situation in DK were broadcast in Vietnamese,

English, French and Chinese.®’

258. At some work sites in Cambodia, loudspeakers were installed so that local
people could listen to the CPK radio station.®® Witness CHEA Say recalled that he

and his colleagues listened to a shared radio at K-12, but did not have personal radio

802 T, 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 38-39; KIM Vun Interview Record, E3/381, 28 July 2009, pp.
3-4, ERN (En) 00365528-00365529; T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 23-24. See also,
Standing Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976 (showing that the Standing Committee gave
detailed instructions as to e.g. the content of broadcasts and the number and background of writers);
Standing Committee Minutes, E3/228, 9 January 1976.

83 CHUM Cheat Interview Record, E3/5504, 8 October 2009, p. 6, ERN (En) 00398838 (“I heard
from radio broadcasting that Ta Thuch, HUO Nim and HUO Yun had been arrested”); T. 15 August
2012 (SA Siek), pp. 80-81 (confirming that information was broadcast on the radio concerning the
conflict with Vietnam, and stating that radio broadcasts were “meant to educate people to understand
the aggressive neighbours™ and that listeners “were told to devote themselves to defend, to fight, to
protect the country and territory”); T. 16 August 2012 (SA Siek), pp. 73-75 (confirming that radio
broadcasts sought to encourage the people and addressed matters such as the Party line, the
construction of canals and the defence of the country); T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), p. 23
(referring to the reading of articles “encouraging the people to dig canals, [and] to build dams”, as well
as articles on the defeat of LON Nol and the Americans, on the radio); PES Math Interview Record,
E3/352, 18 March 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00195709 (“I heard there was a war and arrests of Vietnamese
on the radio”).

804 T. 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 39; KIM Vun Interview Record, E3/381, 28 July 2009, pp. 3-4,
ERN (En) 00365528-00365529.

805 T.22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 38-39; T. 16 August 2012 (SA Siek), p. 79; CHHOUK Rin
Interview Record, E3/361, 9 April 2008, p. 9, ERN (En) 00766455.

806 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183360.

% T.6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 38-39; T. 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 70-71.

808 T.24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 80-81.
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809

sets.”” Ordinary people in Cambodia did not generally have free access to

information through the radio in the DK period.*'°

259. Public radio broadcasts emanating from Cambodia (and other countries in the
region) were monitored, recorded and translated by United States government
personnel in Thailand. Reports of the broadcasts were transmitted to U.S. embassies
around the world by teletype as part of the ‘Foreign Broadcast Information Service’
(‘FBIS*).®"! Forty-nine compilations of FBIS reports were put before the Chamber in

the course of the trial *'?

260. Summaries and transcriptions of DK radio broadcasts were also compiled,
translated into English and published by the British Broadcasting Corporation
(‘BBC’) as part of its ‘Summary of World Broadcasts’ (‘SWB’) service.®!? Forty-five

collections of SWB reports were put before the Chamber in the course of the trial 34

6.1.5. Magazines

261. Beginning in the period before 1975, the CPK published Party magazines

entitled Revolutionary Flag and Revolutionary Youth approximately on a monthly

809 T, 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), p. 39. See also, T. 7 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), pp.
114-115 (recalling an occasion on which he and his colleagues were convened to listen to a radio news
broadcast).

810 T, 7 December 2012 (HUN Chhunly), pp. 28-29 (stating that listening to a personal radio was a
“risk™).

$11 T 11 July 2013 (Stephen HEDERY), p. 70. See also, T. 19 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 132.
812 FBIS Collections, E3/30, E3/75, E3/76, E3/77, E3/118, E3/119, E3/120, E3/143, E3/147, E3/271,
E3/272, E3/273, E3/274, E3/275, E3/276, E3/277, E3/278, E3/279, E3/280, E3/281, E3/282, E3/283,
E3/284, E3/285, E3/286, E3/287, E3/288, E3/289, E3/290, E3/291, E3/292, E3/293, E3/294, E3/295,
E3/296, E3/488, E3/1339, E3/1355, E3/1356, E3/1357, E3/1358, E3/1359, E3/1360, E3/1361, E3/1362,
E3/1363, E3/1364, E3/1365, E3/1366, January 1975 — January 1979. The Chamber has only relied on
those parts of the FBIS Collections that are relevant and that have been translated into all of the
ECCC’s working languages. However, on an exceptional basis and in order to ensure a complete
presentation of evidence, the Chamber has had regard to FBIS reports available only in English where
they corroborate other pieces of evidence.

813 Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the
Khmer Rouge, 1975-1979, E3/1593, p. xi, ERN (En) 00678493 (indicating that the SWB reports were
compiled by the BBC). See also, Statement Submitted by Amnesty International (ECOSOC), E3/4198,
August 1978, p. 2, ERN (En) 00271505.

814 SWB Collections, E3/133, E3/298, E3/299, E3/301, E3/686, E3/1241, E3/1280, E3/1349, E3/1350,
E3/1372, E3/1376, E3/1378, E3/1379, E3/1380, E3/1381, E3/1400, E3/1402, E3/1403, E3/1404,
E3/1405, E3/1406, E3/1407, E3/1408, E3/1410, E3/1412, E3/1413, E3/1414, E3/1415, E3/1418,
E3/1423, E3/1486, E3/1487, E3/1590, E3/1751, E3/2306, E3/2674, E3/2726, E3/2728, E3/2730,
E3/3165, E3/3742, E3/3743, E3/3749, E3/5710.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public s ﬁ/ 142



01005810

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

basis.?® Prior to 1975, Revolutionary Flag was prepared and circulated in secret: it

was written by hand, and a small number of copies were made for distribution.®'®

262. From 1975 onwards, Revolutionary Flag magazines were typewritten, and
copies were produced by offset printing.®!” Both Revolutionary Flag and
Revolutionary Youth were printed at the K-25 and K-26 facilities, which came under
the authority of the Ministry of Propaganda and Information, headed by HOU Nim.%'®
Witness KIM Vun, who worked for the Ministry of Propaganda and Information, was
unable to give a precise estimate of the number of copies printed. However, for each

issue he recalled seeing “stacks of magazines” being prepared for delivery.??

263. Revolutionary Flag and Revolutionary Youth magazines were distributed only
to CPK members, although not every member was given his own copy.820 Copies
were expected to be shared amongst several members.*! Copies were delivered to
DK Ministries, military units and offices of the Party Centre, and to officials at the

Zone, Sector, District and sub-district levels.}?2

815 T, 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 111-112; T. 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 81-82; T.
18 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), p. 63; T. 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 72.

816 T. 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 7-8; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 42; T. 15
December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 73; T. 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 111-112.

817 T. 23 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 20. It is possible that only the cover pages were printed using
the offset printing technique: see T. 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 79; T. 23 August 2012 (KIM Vun),
p- 21.

818 T. 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 77-79; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 20; T. 15
August 2012 (SA Siek), p. 78; T. 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), p. 15. After HOU Nim’s arrest in 1977,
the Ministry of Propaganda merged with the Ministry of Education, and YUN Yat took control of the
combined Ministry: S-21 Confession — HU Nim, E3/1550, 18 May 1977; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING
Guek Eav), p. 20; T. 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), p. 28; T. 15 August 2012 (SA Sick), p. 107.

819 T, 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 95, 97.

820 T, 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 51; T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 47; T. 14
December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 51; T. 8 April 2013 (CHHAOM Se), p. 55; Article by T. CARNEY:
The Organization of Power, in Cambodia 1975-1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 87, ERN (En)
00105136.

821 T, 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 35.

822 T 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 20-21 (stating that multiple copies of Revolutionary
Flag were delivered to S-21); T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 30 (stating that
copies of Revolutionary Flag and Revolutionary Youth “were distributed to all ministries”); CHUON
Thi Interview Record, E3/4593, 2 March 2010, p. 5, ERN (En) 00513315 (recalling that magazines
with two or five flags on the covers were distributed to the Youth League, and that he could read these
magazines because they were sent to the units); T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), p. 64 (“Revolutionary
Flag magazines were distributed tosoldiers for reading”); T. 21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 95-97
(indicating that Revolutionary Flag magazines were distributed to people in the Zones and Sectors); T.
26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 42-43 (recalling seeing Revolutionary Flag magazines at the Sector
office); T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), p. 18 (indicating that copies of Revolutionary Flag were passed
on by the District committee to Witness YUN Kim, a commune chief); T. 12 December 2012 (PHAN
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264. NUON Chea initially denied that he played any role in “establishing” the

Revolutionary Flag publication.*”

However, he subsequently admitted that
Revolutionary Flag was written by members of the Standing Committee, principally
himself and POL Pot.*** This was consistent with NUON Chea’s admitted role as “a
candidate in charge of propaganda and writing articles for the news papers” for the
Indochina Communist Party and the Khmer People’s Revolutionary Party —
forerunners of the CPK®? — in the 1950s.2® NUON Chea later changed his position
again, denying that he was the author of any articles published in Revolutionary Flag
and claiming that POL Pot had “a personal assistant who was fully in charge of
writing the articles”**’ Shortly thereafter, NUON Chea refused to submit to further
cross-examination.®?® In light of his previous admissions and the sporadic exercise of
his right to remain silent, the Chamber finds NUON Chea’s denial implausible, and is
satisfied that he was indeed one of the principal authors of the Revolutionary Flag

magazine.829

265. The CPK considered it important that its members read Revolutionary F. lag **°
Revolutionary Flag was frequently used for educational purposes at CPK political
study or training sessions.®>! Revolutionary Youth was targeted in particular at

members of the CPK Youth League.®® The magazines contained material such as

Van), p. 15 (stating that Revolutionary Flag and Revolutionary Youth were distributed to the co-
operatives); KIM Vun Interview Record, E3/380, 25 July 2009, p. 6, ERN (En) 00365645 (stating that
Revolutionary Flag was distributed to the Zone, Sector and District levels); T. 1 October 2012 (KHIEV
En), p. 42 (confirming that Revolutionary Flag was sent to Witness KHIEV En’s section in the
Ministry of Propaganda); LONH Dos Interview Record, E3/70, 20 November 2009, p. 9, ERN (En)
00407793 (stating that Revolutionary Flag was distributed to “every office and ministry”).

823 T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 5. See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para.
311

824 T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 73-74.

825 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 78; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, undated, p. 6, ERN (En) 00716414; Article by L.
SUMMERS: The CPK: Secret Vanguard of Pol Pot’s Revolution: A Comment on Nuon Chea’s
Statement, E3/53, March 1987, p. 6, ERN (En) S 00045870.

826 T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 8-9; Article by NUON C.: Past Struggle of Our
Kampuchean Peasants From 1954 to 1970, E3/131, undated, p. 9-10, ERN (En) 00716417-00716418.
827 T, 9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 20.

828 T.17 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 68.

829 See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 311.

830 T.21 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 94; T. 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 12.

1 T.28 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 16; T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 20-21; T. 19 June
2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 18, 26; T. 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 65-66; T. 23 April 2012
(SALOTH Ban), p. 18.

2 T, 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 73. See e.g. Revolutionary Youth, E3/729, October 1975, p. 2,
ERN (En) 00357901 (referring specifically to the “Youth League™).
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833

speeches and presentations given by the CPK leaders; ~ articles on the history of the

CPK, the purported achievements of the DK regime and the Party line generally;***

details of plans for the future;®* instructions from the Party to its members;**® and, at
least in Revolutionary Youth, poetry with revolutionary themes, some of which shows

a clear attempt by the CPK to incite and indoctrinate young people.®’

266. Twenty-four different issues of the Revolutionary Flag magazine and 28 issues
of Revolutionary Youth were put before the Trial Chamber during Case 002/01.%* In
the course of the trial, the NUON Chea Defence challenged the authenticity of the
copies of these magazines on the Case File.*® Witness Stephen HEDER subsequently
testified as to the provenance and authenticity of copies of each publication,** and
Witness KIM Vun was similarly able to confirm that a copy of Revolutionary Flag on
the Case File was genuine.®*! The Chamber also heard evidence from Witnesses
VANTHAN Dara Peou and CHHANG Youk of DC-Cam as to the circumstances in
which the magazines were obtained, stored, digitised and authenticated before being

placed on the Case File.?*

The Chamber also notes that in spite of his challenges to
their reliability, the NUON Chea Defence has relied extensively on copies of

Revolutionary Flag and Revolutionary Youth on the Case File as evidence in its

83 See e.g. Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, pp. 13-44, ERN (En)
00491406-00491437; Revolutionary Flag, E3/10, September-October 1976, pp. 4-16, ERN (En)
00450504-00450516; Revolutionary Flag, E3/215, September 1978, pp. 3-26, ERN (En) 00488616~
00488639.

834 See e.g. Revolutionary Flag, E3/747, August 1978, pp. 16-24, ERN (En) 00499781-00499789;
Revolutionary Flag, E3/736, October-November 1977, pp. 1-41, ERN (En) 00182548-00182588;
Revolutionary Flag, E3/746, July 1978, pp. 15-19, ERN (En) 00428303-00428307; Revolutionary
Youth, E3/768, March 1977, pp. 10-18, ERN (En) 00525946-00525954.

835 See e.g. Revolutionary Flag, E3/748, October-November 1975, pp. 14-17, ERN (En) 00495813-
00495816; Revolutionary Flag, E3/743, July 1977, pp. 3-7, ERN (En) 00476158-00476162.

836 See e.g. Revolutionary Flag, E3/135, June 1977, pp. 30-36, ERN (En) 00446875-00446881;
Revolutionary Flag, E3/742, April 1977, p. 15, ERN (En) 00478506.

87 See e.g. Revolutionary Youth, E3/729, October 1975, pp. 30-31, ERN (En) 00357929-00357930;
Revolutionary Youth, E3/734, July 1976, pp. 29-30, ERN (En) 00360804-00360805.

38 Revolutionary Flag, E3/4, E3/5, E3/10, E3/11, E3/25, E3/135, E3/139, E3/166, E3/170, E3/193,
E3/215, E3/736 (also E3/737), E3/738 (also E3/739), E3/742, E3/743, E3/744, E3/745, E3/746,
E3/747, E3/748, E3/759, E3/760 (also E3/761), E3/762 and E3/4604, August 1975 — September 1978;
Revolutionary Youth, E3/146, E3/726, E3/728, E3/729, E3/730, E3/732, E3/733, E3/734, E3/749,
E3/750, E3/751, E3/752, E3/753, E3/754, E3/755, E3/756, E3/757, E3/758, E3/765, E3/766, E3/767,
E3/768, E3/769, E3/770, E3/771, E3/772, E3/773 and E3/774, August 1974 — November 1978.

839 T.15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 77-79

80 T, 15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 12-19 (referring to Revolutionary Youth, E3/724, July
1975 and Revolutionary Flag, E3/731, December 1975-January 1976).

81 T 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 8 (referring to Revolutionary Flag, E3/10, Sep-Oct 1976).

82 See e.g. T. 23 January 2012 (VANTHAN Dara Peou), pp. 21-23, 93-94; T. 1 February 2012
(CHHANG Youk), pp. 75-77
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closing submissions.®*> The Chamber is satisfied that the 24 copies of Revolutionary
Flag and 28 copies of Revolutionary Youth on the Case File are authentic copies of

the original Party magazines.
6.1.6. Monitoring of foreign news reports

267. The CPK Standing Committee ordered the DK Ministry of Propaganda to
“monitor news [...] closely at all hours, every day” and send reports in order to make
sure that appropriate measures could be taken.®** Detailed procedures were
established for the summarising and reporting of foreign news by the Ministry of
Propaganda to the Standing Committee.3* In accordance with the Standing
Committee’s directive, staff at the Ministry of Propaganda monitored foreign news

broadcasts in English and French.®*

Reports from overseas news agencies and wire
services were received via teleprinter, then copied and translated into Khmer for

further distribution.®’

268. Staff at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs carried out similar work, listening to
foreign radio reports on DK and preparing summary bulletins for the DK/CPK
leaders.?*® Witness SUONG Sikoeun, who worked at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs

7,84 stated

from 1975 and became its Director of Information and Propaganda in 197
that he and his colleagues were responsible for monitoring programs in French,

English, Chinese and Vietnamese.**® They were instructed to report what they heard

83 See e.g. NUON Chea Defence Closing Submissions, paras 156, 157, 158, 163, 465, 474.

844 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976, p. 3, ERN (En) 00183362 (recording a work
session on propaganda attended by POL Pot and NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan).

845 The Ministry received the following two directives: (i) to “send news to Angkar every day as
normal” in accordance with the established procedures, taking care to summarise and analyse important
events about the regime so that the Standing Committee could properly understand the situation and
take appropriate measures — news was to be collected from the Ministry by a messenger at 5.15pm
daily; (ii) in special circumstances, to “telephone and report to Angkar immediately” if something
important happened: see Standing Committee Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976, p. 3, ERN (En)
00183362.

86 T 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), pp. 19-20

87 T. 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), pp. 19-20; T. 16 August 2012 (SA Siek), pp. 69-70; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00182716.

8% T. 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 40-41; Laurence PICQ Deposition, E3/98, 31 October
2008, p. 1, ERN (En) 00356359.

89 T, 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 33.

850 1. 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 40. See also, CHAN Youran Interview Record, E3/46, 27
November 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00410255 (stating that part of his role at the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs involved “listening to the news on foreign radio stations”).
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to IENG Sary without adding or omitting anything; according to SUONG Sikoeun,
IENG Sary “liked things exactly as it was and for that reason that’s how it was
reported to him (sic)”.85 !

6.2. Lines of Communication

269. The CPK Statute set out the general principle that the “lower echelon must
report to upper echelon on the situation and on work done”, and the “upper echelon
must report to lower echelons regarding the general situation and regarding

instructions which they must carry out” ¥

270. In practice, each level in the CPK hierarchy communicated for the most part
only with the levels immediately above and below it; outside the Party Centre, there
was minimal lateral communication.®>® Sectors (excluding Autonomous Sectors),
Districts and sub-district entities did not generally communicate with the Party Centre
directly, but rather sent and received information only upwards or downwards through

the chain of command.®**

6.2.1. Within the Party Centre

271. Surviving meeting minutes indicate that the Central Committee and the
Standing Committee convened regularly to discuss CPK policy.®>® In addition, the
CPK senior members — including POL Pot, NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan — met

with each other in various combinations at K-1 and K-3.5%

81 T, 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 41-42.

852 CPK Statute, E3/130, undated, p. 16, Article 6, ERN (En) 00184037.

853,30 May 2012 (NY Kan), p. 13; Case 001 Trial Transcript (Craig ETCHESON), E3/55, 21 May
2009, p. 51, ERN (En) 00330384; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 105-106; T. 13 December
2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 2-3.

854 T 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 95; T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 16; T. 19
June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 28-29;T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 18-21.

855 See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 202-203.

856 T. 12 December 2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 20-22 (describing meetings between IENG Thirith and
NUON Chea); T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp. 66-67 (stating that POL Pot and NUON Chea
and KHIEU Samphan dined together at K-3); T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), p. 85 (indicating that KHIEU
Samphan visited K-1 more frequently than other senior leaders); T. 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p.
72 (confirming that IENG Sary and NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan met with each other at K-1); T.
28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 62-64 (suggesting that the senior leaders, including SON Sen,
VORN Vet and NUON Chea, met with each other and ate together). See Section 7: Roles and
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272. CPK leaders also corresponded by letter; for example, Witness OEUN Tan
(who worked at K-1 from 1975 to 1979%7) remembered delivering letters back and
forth between POL Pot and NUON Chea, and between POL Pot and SON Sen.¥® As
previously noted, offices of the Party Centre occasionally exchanged orders, requests

and information by telephone t00.%*

273. Telegrams received by the Party Centre from the lower echelons were usually
taken to K-1, where they would be decoded (if necessary), sorted and redistributed as
appropriate.*®® Witness OEUN Tan told the Chamber that all of the telegrams he
delivered to POL Pot were subsequently delivered to NUON Chea.®®' Having
reviewed the telegrams on the Case File, and having heard evidence to the effect that
there were frequent meetings and consultations between NUON Chea and POL Pot
and that they worked together closely, the Chamber is satisfied that most of the
telegrams sent to POL Pot during the DK period were also seen by NUON Chea 3

6.2.2. Between the Party Centre and the Zones or Autonomous Sectors

274. Zones and Autonomous Sectors reported directly to the Party Centre.’®® At a
meeting attended by several Zone and Autonomous Sector representatives in March
1976, the Standing Committee issued the following instructions concerning the

applicable procedure for writing reports:

It is proposed that a report on the status of dykes be sent to the
Standing Committee every week. The report should either present a
general description of the situation or, where necessary, provide
details on each aspect. It is proposed that a brief report be sent by

Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 317; Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, paras 373, 386,
408.

7 T.13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 38.

88 T.13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 98.

859 See Section 6: Communication Structure, para. 252.

80 OEUN Tan Interview Record, E3/33, 9 October 2008, p. 9, ERN (En) 00235133; T. 29 August
2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 72-73; KUNG Sokha Interview Record, E3/465, 21 January 2008, p. 6,
ERN (En) 00204758. See also, T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 69-70; T. 3 September
2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 31 (indicating that “Pon” and “Thé”, who worked at K-1, had the
authority to decide to whom incoming telegrams would be copied).

81 T, 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 64.

862 See also Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, paras 317, 328.

%3 T. 11 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 13; T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 28-29; T. 4 September
2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 16-17.
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telegram to keep the Standing Committee informed of the situation

and enable it to issue timely instructions.***
275. This followed advice handed down in a 1972 edition of Revolutionary Flag, in
which the Party — noting that “we are poor at reporting” — set out guidance on the
preparation of reports in order to enable “the senior levels to take hold of a situation
clearly and to provide practical instructions”.®®® This guidance recommended that

b3 BN 19 b2 19

precise and regular reports cover the topics of “the enemy”, “people”, “all working

activities” and “resolutions and directions”.

276. Zones and Autonomous Sectors accordingly compiled reports for the Party
Centre based on the information passed up to them from the lower echelons.®’ The
reports were sent frequently, sometimes daily, although some reports summarised
events over longer periods of time %6 Reports were sent by telegraph and by letter.?®
Representatives of the Zones and Autonomous Sectors also occasionally reported to

the Standing Committee in person.®”’

277. Each Zone had specific prearranged time slots during which it could transmit

telegrams to the Party Centre; however, messages could also be sent outside the

designated times if the circumstances justified it 3!

278. A number of reports to the Party Centre were put before the Chamber. They

showed that the Zones and Autonomous Sectors reported on issues such as

872

production, agriculture and the rice harvest;”'“ activities of purported internal and

84 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, p. 7, ERN (En) 00182634 [unofficial
translation from the Khmer original].

863 Revolutionary Flag, E3/783, September-October 1972, pp. 25, 28, ERN(En) 00720226, 00720229.
86 Revolutionary Flag, E3/783, September-October 1972, p. 28, ERN (En) 00720229.

87 KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/58, 21 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00250088; T. 14
December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 101; T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 16.

%8 T.7 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 19. See e.g. Zone 560 Report, E3/179 (also available at E3/180),
29 May 1977 (covering the period from 4 May 1977 to 29 May 1977); Zone 560 Report, E3/1179, 8
June 1977 (covering the period from 24 May 1977 to 7 June 1977); Zone 401 Report, E3/1094, 4
August 1978 (described as a “monthly report”).

89 T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 61; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 67; T., 7 June 2012
(SAO Sarun), pp. 15-17, 19; OEUN Tan Interview Record, E3/33, 9 October 2008, p. 9, ERN (En)
00235133; YENG Lin Interview Record, E3/59, 17 January 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00226103.

870 See e.g. Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976.

71 T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 79; T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 90, 92.

872 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/1077, 10 April 1978; Southwest Zone Report, E3/853, 3 June 1977;
Zone 560 Report, E3/863, 16-17 May 1978; Zone 560 Report (also available at E3/180), E3/179, 29
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external enemies;®’> and living conditions generally, including health problems and
food shortages.874 Messages from the Zones also contained requests for instructions,

guidance on the same topics or material assistance from the Party Centre.*”

279. Telegrams from the Zones and Autonomous Sectors to the Party Centre were
generally addressed to ‘Committee 870 or ‘Angkar’, but also occasionally to ‘Angkar
870’ or to POL Pot himself.}’® As the Chamber has already observed, CPK cadres did
not always understand the terms ‘Angkar’ or ‘870’ clearly.®”” Lists of recipients on
many of the telegrams indicate that copies were sent to various CPK leaders,
including NUON Chea.®”® Telegrams marked as having been copied to the “office”
went to Office 870.5°

280. The Party Centre sent out general directives to the lower echelons by telegraph
dealing with “all aspects of the country” and the “overall situation” %% KHIEU
Samphan sent regular telegrams regarding the distribution of materials at the base or
local level 38! As Secretary of Autonomous Sector 105, Witness SAO Sarun told the
Chamber that he received instructions from the Party Centre by telegram on subjects

May 1977; DK Telegram, E3/1091, 23 August 1977. See also, SAO Sarun Interview Record, E3/383,
29 June 2009, p. 5 ERN (En) 00350264.

83 See e.g. Zone 401 Report, E3/1092, undated; Zone 401 Report, E3/1094, 4 August 1978; DK
Telegram, E3/1144, 5 September 1977; Zone 560 Report, E3/1179, 8 June 1977.

874 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/948, 10 May 1978; DK Telegram, E3/511, 2 April 1976; Zone 560
Report, E3/179, 29 May 1977; Zone 401 Report, E3/1092, undated; DK Telegram, E3/1144, 5
September 1977.

875 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/511, 2 April 1976; DK Telegram, E3/519, 29 March 1978; DK
Telegram, E3/1036, undated; DK Telegram, E3/1196, 26 November 1976.

$76 T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 48. See Section 6: Communication Structure, fns. 872-
875.

877 See e.g. T., 7 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 21 (“People call it M-870, but I did not know what this
office was all about”). See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 207-208, 221

878 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/511, 2 April 1976 (copied to SON Sen and NUON Chea); DK
Telegram, E3/519, 29 March 1978 (copied to NUON Chea); DK Telegram, E3/948, 10 May 1978
(copied to “Uncle”, i.e. POL Pot — see T. 5 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 57 — NUON Chea,
IENG Sary and VORN Vet); DK Telegram, E3/1077, 10 April 1978 (copied to “Grand Uncle”, i.e.
POL Pot — see SENG Mon Interview Record, E3/71, 14 February 2009, p. 7, ERN (En) 00288625 —
NUON Chea, IENG Sary and VORN Vet); DK Telegram, E3/1144, 5 September 1977 (copied to POL
Pot, NUON Chea, IENG Sary, VORN Vet and SON Sen); DK Telegram, E3/1196, 26 November 1976
(copied to NUON Chea and SON Sen). See Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 325.

§79° T. 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 39; KAING Guek Eav Written Answers, E3/15, 21
October 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00251376.

880 T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 49-50. See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/254, 20 March 1978
(directing the recipient to monitor enemy activities in Muk Kampoul and “take any measure based on
the reality by communicating with Muk Kampoul”). See also, T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p.
88; PON Ol Interview Record, E3/373, 7 May 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00336528.

881 T.29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 50.
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882

such as farming.*** Officials at the Zone or Autonomous Sector level also received

letters from Office 870 and from individual CPK leaders, including NUON Chea and
KHIEU Samphan.®®?

6.2.3. Between the Zones and the Sectors

281. Just as there were specific times for the transmission of telegrams by Zones to
the Party Centre, there were separate schedules for communication between Zones
and Sectors.®®* These were designed in such a way as to ensure that communications

between the various echelons did not overlap.®**

282. Witness SUON Kanil, who worked in the telegram decoding unit of the Central
Zone, testified that the Central Zone authorities received telegrams from the Sectors

approximately once a day, and more often after 1978.3%6

6.2.4. Between the Sectors and the Districts

283. Reports emanating from the Districts were passed upwards through the Sectors

(and, if appropriate, Zones) to the Party Centre.®

284. Districts reported to Sectors on matters such as the construction of dams and
canals, agriculture, health and “good or bad elements” %%%As the secretary of
Kampong Siem District, Witness PRAK Yut prepared monthly written reports for the
Sector committee on the implementation of plans and the situation within the
District.®® Similarly, Witness SAO Sarun recalled sending reports on rice farming to

the Sector approximately once a week in his capacity as Pech Chenda District

882 T.7 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 20-21.

883 T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 97-98 (referring to communications from ‘870" and
NUON Chea); THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, pp. 7-8, ERN (En) 00226112-
00226113 (describing the delivery of letters from POL Pot, IENG Sary and NUON Chea and KHIEU
Samphan to the Zones).

84 T, 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 94.

885 T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), p. 94.

886 T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 5, 95.

887 KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/58, 21 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00250088

888 KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/58, 21 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00250088.

89 T.26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), p. 70.
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80 District offices did not typically have telegraph capabilities, so written

i

secretary.

reports were sent to the Sectors by messenger.89

285. District and Sector officials also met in person regularly. According to Witness
SAO Sarun, District secretaries reported on the situations in their Districts at meetings

of the relevant Sector committee.

286. Just as instructions handed down by the Party Centre to the Zones were relayed
by the Zones to the Sectors, the Sector authorities in turn passed these orders on to the

Districts.®*?

6.2.5. Between the Districts and the sub-district entities

287. District officials often met in person with the heads of communes or co-
operatives to exchange information or communicate orders verbally.** Witness YUN
Kim, a commune chief during the DK period, told the Chamber that commune leaders
met with district authorities weekly to report on production, health, culture and “the
enemy situation” in the communes.’® If there was a pressing need to communicate

between these meetings, the District sent messengers to the communes.®*®

288. Surviving documentary evidence indicates that sub-district entities also
submitted written requests and reports to the Districts from time to time on issues
such as arrests, suspicious behaviour and the situation in the communes and co-
operatives.897 Witness PRAK Yut testified that the district committee on which she sat
received monthly written reports from the communes on the subjects of agriculture,
construction projects, achievement of targets, the “wrongdoings of some people”,

food shortages and the number of sick people.¥® As secretary of Pech Chenda

80 T 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 10. See also, T., 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), p. 17.

1 T, 26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 53, 70; T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 10; T., 20 June 2012
(YUN Kim), p. 17.

82 T 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 11-12. See also, T. 25 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), p. 85.

893 T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 94-95; T. 3 May 2013 (LIM Sat), p. 50.

84 T. 6 December 2011 (KLAN Fit), p. 74; T. 3 May 2013 (LIM Sat), p. 50; Written Record of
Analysis by Craig Etcheson, E3/494, 18 July 2007, p. 23, ERN (En) 00142848.

85 T, 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 41, 74-75; T. 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), p. 8.

86 T.20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), p. 9.

87 See e.g. Commune Reports, E3/2044, January-April 1977; Trapeang Thom Khang Cheung Sub-
district Report, E3/4087, 9 October 1977; Ta Phem Sub-district Report, E3/4084, May 1977.

898 T.26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 56, 59, 61-62.
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District, Witness SAO Sarun also recalled receiving monthly reports from the
communes on rice production, livestock and the management of the locality

generally.®

6.2.6. Communications with foreign countries

289. The DK state institutions sent telegrams to several foreign countries bearing
greetings, expressions of solidarity and messages of congratulation on significant

occasions.” Friendly socialist states sent similar messages in return.””’

290. In 1976, Amnesty International sent two letters, the first in February to then-
Prime Minister PENN Nouth and the second in May to the recently-appointed
President of the State Presidium KHIEU Samphan, expressing concern at reports of
summary executions and maltreatment of civilians and requesting that inquiries be
made.”®* As no response was forthcoming, Amnesty International — joined by the UN

Commission on Human Rights — renewed its appeal in 1978.%%

291. The DK government maintained communications with other states by sending
and receiving official delegations to and from foreign countries, including Laos,
China, North Korea and Japan.904 In particular, the DK regime sent and received

delegations to and from Vietnam, primarily for the purpose of discussing border

89 T, 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 12-13.

%0 See e.g. Khieu Samphan Greetings on Bulgarian National Day (in FBIS Collection), E3/280, 8
September 1976, ERN (En) 00168092-00168093; Khieu Samphan Messages Mozambique on
Rhodesian ‘Aggression’ (in FBIS Collection), E3/288, 2 June 1977, ERN (En) 00168159; Khieu
Samphan Congratulates Tito on Yugoslav National Day (in FBIS Collection), E3/77, 29 November
1978, ERN (En) 00170160.

! See e.g. French Embassy Letter, E3/487, 20 April 1977 (reporting on messages to the DK leaders
from the Lao People’s Democratic Republic sent on the occasion of the second anniversary of the
founding of Democratic Kampuchea).

%2 Amnesty International Report 1975-1976: Democratic Kampuchea, E3/4520, undated.

93 Cambodians: An Endangered Species (Los Angeles Times), E3/4492, 7 May 1978; Amnesty
International News Release, E3/3311, 8§ May 1977; Amnesty International News Release, E3/3316, 30
March 1978.

%% See e.g. Cambodian Deputy Premier in Japan (in SWB Collection), E3/666, 14 June 1978, p. 1,
ERN (En) S 00010668; Chinese Ambassador to Cambodia Gives Reception for Nuon Chea (in SWB
Collection), E3/1280, 22 September 1978, p. 7, ERN (En) S 00013064; DK Government Film,
E3/479R, undated, ERN V 00422570; President of Laos in Cambodia (in SWB Collection), E3/1406,
22 December 1977, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) S 00008360-S 00008361; At the End of his Mission in
Democratic Kampuchea... (DK News Bulletin), E3/1420, 16 September 1978, pp. 4-5, ERN (En) S
00702660-S 00702661.
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disputes.go5 Journalists from Yugoslavia, Turkey, North Korea, Vietnam and the
United States of America also visited Cambodia during the DK period, where they
interviewed state officials and visited the countryside under the escort of state or Party

officials.*®

292. The DK Ministry of Commerce communicated with foreign countries for the
purposes of international trade.®®’ Overseas trade delegations also visited Cambodia

from time to time during the DK era.”®

293. Between 1976 and 1979, IENG Sary attended several meetings of the UN
General Assembly in New York, where he put forward the DK regime’s position on
the situation in Cambodia and on certain international issues.”” As the Vietnamese
approached Phnom Penh in 1979, IENG Sary sent a telegram of complaint to the UN

Security Council "

6.3. Military Communications

294. Lines of communication within the RAK mirrored the vertical reporting
structure on the civilian side of the CPK: that is, orders were transmitted downwards

from the General Staff through the divisions to the lower units; information was

N5 See e.g. SRV Foreign Ministry Press Conference (in SWB Collection), E3/2300, 7 April 1978, pp.
1-20, ERN (En) S 00010498-S 00010517.

%6 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/1113, 15 March 1978; DK Telegrams, E3/1112, March 1978; Comrade
Secretary Pol Pot Hosts...(DK News Bulletin), E3/1420, 16 September 1978, pp. 5-6, ERN (En) S
00702661-S 00702662; IENG Sary receives DRPK [sic] Press Delegation 30 Jan (in FBIS Collection),
E3/284, 1 February 1977, ERN (En) 00168400; Delegation from the Marxist-Leninist French
Communist Party...(DK News Bulletin), E3/1420, 16 September 1978, pp. 6-8, ERN (En) S 00702662-
S 00702664; Friendly Visit to Democratic Kampuchea... (DK News Bulletin), E3/268, 31 July 1976,
pp. 11-12, ERN (En) 00519788-00519791; Activities of the Delegation of Journalists from the Socialist
Republic of Vietnam... (DK News Bulletin), E3/268, 31 July 1976, pp. 12-14, ERN (En) 00519789-
00519791; Book by E. BECKER: When The War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 323, 399-431 ERN (En)
00238036, 00238113-00238144.

%7 See e.g. DK Foreign Trade Committee Letter, E3/3418, 15 July 1978; Commerce Committee
Report, E3/2516, 27 November 1978.

908 See e.g. DK Govemnment Minutes, E3/827, 2 December 1978; SAKIM Lmut Interview Record,
E3/439, 18 December 2009, pp. 5-7, ERN (En) 00425911-00425913; Romanian Trade Delegation in
Cambodia (in SWB Collection), E3/1517, 3 April 1978 (reports visit of Romanian delegation in March
1978).

%9 See e.g. T. 8 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 23; IENG Sary Speech at UN General Assembly,
10™ Session, E3/547, 11 October 1977; UN General Assembly Official Records, E3/1586, 9 June 1978;
UN General Assembly Official Records, E3/618, 9 October 1979; leng Sary Returns 28 Oct from UN,
Philippines, Indonesia (in FBIS Collection), E3/721, 29 October 1978, ERN (En) 00170323; IENG
Sary Speech at UN General Assembly, 31st Session, E3/607, 5 October 1976.

910 DK Telegram Addressed to the UN Secretary-General, E3/556, 3 January 1979.
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reported upwards through the chain of command; and individual commanders at each

level usually made contact only with the levels immediately above and below them.*"!
6.3.1. Communication within the Party Centre

295. SON Sen, the chief of the General Staff,912 attended meetings of the Standing
Committee and kept the Standing Committee informed of military affairs and matters
of national defence.”’> SON Sen also forwarded written messages and reports received
from military commanders to other CPK leaders, including NUON Chea, with

handwritten annotations and requests for instructions.”'*

6.3.2. Communication between the General Staff and the Divisions

296. Military Divisions under the command of the Party Centre reported to the
General Staff as often as two or three times a day.915 The Divisions and the General
Staff communicated by radio or, if confidentiality was required, by telegraph or

telephone.”'®

91 T 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 22-23, 37; T. 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 39; T. 10
January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 7, 26, 44-45; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 43-44, 57-58;
CHUON Thi Interview Record, E3/4593, 2 March 2010, p. 8, ERN (En) 00513318.
912 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/183, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; T. 11 January
2012 (NUON Chea), p. 37; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 17, 22; T. 11 July 2013
(Stephen HEDER), p. 81.

3 See e.g. Standing Committee Minutes, E3/229, 22 February 1976; Standing Committee Minutes,
E3/217, 11 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/222, 15 May 1976.
%4 See e.g. DK Military Report, E3/1135, 19 October 1976; DK Military Report, E3/1082, 12 August
1977 (both referring to Division 164 and identifying the sender as “Mut”, i.e. MEAS Muth, commander
of Division 164: see SENG Soeun Interview Record, E3/409, 11 November 2009, p. 5, ERN (En)
00412180; MEAS Muth Interview by Christine CHAUMEAU and BOU Saroeun, E3/346, undated;
See also, DK Telegram, E3/1199, 6 April 1977 (referring to Division 920 and identifying the sender as
“San”, i.e., Ta San, commander of Division 920: see T. 6 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 82; CHHAOM Se
Interview Record, E3/405, 31 October 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00406213). See also, Section 7: Roles and
Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 337.
915 1 ONH Dos Interview Record, E3/70, 20 November 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00407789; LONH Dos
Interview Record, E3/426, 23 July 2009, p. 3, ERN (En) 00364071.
916 T4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 23; LONH Dos Interview Record, E3/426, 23 July 2009, p.
3, ERN (En) 00364071; LONH Dos Interview Record, E3/70, 20 November 2009, p. 5, ERN (En)
00407789; CHHOUK Rin Interview Record, E3/421, 26 November 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00414060; T.
9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 60, 65, 75. See also, DK Military Report, E3/997, 20 March 1978
(referring to a “confidential telephone communication”).
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297. The commanders and deputy commanders of Divisions and Independent
Regiments also met SON Sen in person from time to time.”!” At these meetings, the
military officers updated SON Sen on the situation within their units, and SON Sen
issued instructions and political guidance.ngAt least one large political study session
conducted by the General Staff was attended by soldiers at the regiment, battalion,

company and platoon level °¥

Military personnel also occasionally participated in
large meetings or rallies in Phnom Penh, some of which were attended by CPK/DK

senior leaders, including NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan.”?

298. Written reports put before the Trial Chamber demonstrate that the Divisions
regularly sent information to the General Staff on enemy activities; agriculture and the
growing of rice; internal enemies and subversive activities within the units; and the
progress of construction proj ects.”! Divisions also contacted the General Staff to seek

orders.’?

6.3.3. Communication within the Divisions

299. Having received orders from the General Staff, Division commanders would

relay these instructions to the lower units, often by meeting their officers or leaders in

97 T. 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 23; LONH Dos Interview Record, E3/426, 23 July 2009, p.
3, ERN (En) 00364071; T. 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 60-61, 64-65.

% See e.g. DK Military Meeting Minutes, E3/795, 2 August 1976; DK Military Meeting Minutes,
E3/796, 12 August 1976; Minutes of the Meeting of Secretaries and Deputy Secretaries of Divisions
and Independent Regiments, E3/13, 9 October 1976; DK Military Meeting Minutes, E3/807, 1 March
1977.

919 RAK General Staff Document: General Staff Study Session, Second Session, E3/847, 25
November 1976.

920 T 11 January 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 56, 68-69; T. 8 April 2013 (CHHAOM Se), pp. 53-54, 84-
86 (recalling a ceremony at the Olympic Stadium in Phnom Penh in 1975 attended by POL Pot, SON
Sen, IENG Sary and NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan, amongst others); PRAK Yoeun Interview
Record, E3/471, 4 March 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00223338 (describing a ceremony in 1975at the
Olympic Stadium attended by NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan); CHHOUK Rin Interview Record,
E3/362, 29 July 2008, pp. 4-5, ERN (En) 00268896-97 (describing a meeting in 1977 in Phnom Penh
attended by NUON Chea); KOY Mon Interview Record, E3/369, 29 May 2008, p. 3, ERN (En)
00272715 (describing a meeting at the Olympic Stadium in 1975 attended by POL Pot, IENG Sary and
NUON Chea and KHIEU Samphan, amongst others).

921 See e.g. DK Military Report, E3/1085, 4 November 1977; DK Military Report, E3/1202, undated;
DK Military Report, E3/1162, 26 May 1976; DK Military Report, E3/997, 20 March 1978; DK
Telegram, E3/1750, 13 August 1976; DK Military Report, E3/1213, 1 May 1976; DK Military Report,
E3/1060, 25 March 1977; DK Military Report, E3/1160, 11 March 1976.

92 See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/1190, 11 June 1976; DK Military Report, E3/1168, 30 March 1977.
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person.”” In turn, these orders would be passed down through the regiments and

battalions.”**

300. The commanders and deputy commanders of Divisions and subordinate levels

communicated with each other by radio, by telegraph, by messenger and in person.”?

301. Company commanders reported to their superiors in writing and by radio.”*®
Battalion commanders submitted written reports to regiment commanders, which
were delivered by messenger.”>’ The regiments in turn sent written reports to the

Division by telegraph and by messenger on at least a monthly basis.”®

6.3.4. Communication between Divisions

302. Some degree of lateral communication between Divisions took place, at least at

the regimental level, for the purpose of co-ordinating tasks.””

23 T, 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 11-12; T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), p. 35.

94 T.24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 35-36; T. 20 May 2013 (IENG Phan), p. 12; T. 4 October
2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 11-12, 22, 24-25, 27; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 4.

925 T, 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 11-12, 22, 24-25, 27; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 4;
T. 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 34, 55; T. 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 39-40; T. 20 May 2013
(IENG Phan), pp. 12-13, 30-31; LOEK Sao Interview Record, E3/418, 12 November 2009, pp. 2-3,
ERN (En) 00403588-00403589. See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/1222, 24 September 1976; DK Telegram,
E3/1223, 27 September 1976; DK Telegram, E3/1225, 6 October 1976 (identifying the sender as
“Dim”, i.e. Kun Dim, Deputy Commander of a battalion within Division 164 — see RAK General Staff
Document: General Staff Study Session, Second Session, E3/847, 23 November 1976, p. 11, ERN (En)
00195332; Second General Staff Study Course, Division 164, Group 2, E3/1143, 23 November 1976,
p. 3, ERN (En) 00535795 — and the recipient as “Mut”, i.e. MEAS Muth, Commander of Division 164
— see Section 6: Communication Structure, fn. 914.

926 SUOS Siyat Interview Record, E3/5145, 17 January 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00204707.

%27 T, 24 April 2013 (CHUON Thi), pp. 34, 55.

928 T, 9 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 59; KHUN Kim Interview Record, E3/422, 30 November 2009,
g. 5, ERN (En) 00414066.

29 T, 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 24-25; T. 8 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 43, 50.
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7. ROLES AND FUNCTIONS — NUON CHEA

303. According to the Closing Order, before and during the DK period, NUON
Chea was a prominent member of the Party Centre, his responsibilities including
propaganda, training and discipline of cadres as well as internal and external security-

related matters.”>°

304. At the beginning of the substantive hearing, NUON Chea made an opening
statement.”! For a period thereafter, he agreed to answer questions from the Judges
and the Parties, and made several statements relevant to his roles and functions with
the CPK and during the DK period.”** As further noted below, NUON Chea
confirmed his long and close association with the Party, including his role as Deputy
Secretary and his membership in its Central and Standing Committees. While denying
any formal role in military policy, NUON Chea confirmed other roles and functions
during the DK period, including his appointment as Chairman of the PRA and his
responsibilities in connection with the training of cadres and with propaganda. NUON
Chea later decided to exercise his right to remain silent and declined to respond to
questions from the Judges and the Parties.”*> On the last day of the trial, NUON Chea

made a final statement before the Chamber.”**

7.1. Background Information and Pre-DK Period

305. NUON Chea, whose birth name is LAO Kim Lorn, was born on 7 July 1926, in
Voat Kor Village, Sangkae District, Battambang Province.”®> NUON Chea studied
initially in Battambang, continuing his secondary education in Thailand in 1941, and

then at the Thammasat University in Bangkok where he started to study law under the

90 The Roles and Functions of NUON Chea are discussed in paras 869-894 of the Closing Order. In
addition, paras 895-992 are relevant to NUON Chea’s participation in the Joint Criminal Enterprise.

91 T.22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 74-112.

932 T.5.6, 13-15 December 2011; T. 10-12, 30-31 January 2012; T. 8-9 February 2012, T. 19 March
2012. See ailso, T. 18 April 2012; T. 6 June 2013; T. 9 July 2013. See also, Notes Used by Accused
NUON Chea during the Hearing of 5 December 2011, E148.

93 T, 19 March 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 23-24; T. 18 April 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 5-7; T. 17 July
2013 (NUON Chea), pp. 67-68. NUON Chea responded to certain questions put to him by Civil Parties
who appeared at trial. See Notice of Intent Pursuant to Internal Rule 90, E287, 27 May 2013; T. 29
May 2013; T. 30 May 2013; T. 4 June 2013. Section 2: Preliminary Issues, paras 27, 29.

94 T, 31 October 2013, pp. 1-34.

95 T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 37; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 41-42. See also,
NUON Chea Initial Appearance Record, E3/54, 19 September 2007, ERN (En) 00148814-15.
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name of Runglert Laodi. During part of that period, he also worked in the Thai
Ministry of Finance and in the Thai Ministry of Foreign Affairs.”*® While in Thailand,
NUON Chea joined the Youth for Democracy movement of Thailand and participated
in discussions about the situation in Cambodia. In 1950, he joined the Communist

Party of Thailand, later returning to Cambodia to join the resistance movement.”’

306. NUON Chea joined the then Indochina Communist Party,”*® giving as his
reasons his concern at the treatment of Cambodian peasants by French colonial
officials and rich Cambodian landowners.”*® From about 1950, NUON Chea’s
activism intensified as he engaged in propaganda and education activities, which
included publishing newspapers and conducting training sessions for peasants in the

rural areas.”*

307. Around 1951-54, NUON Chea was sent by the Party to study and receive
political training in Vietnam. After the Geneva Accords he returned to Cambodia, and
claimed that Party members were being arrested, imprisoned or had left the
movement, and that peasants’ farming activities were being obstructed by the harsh
policies of the government.”*! Before settling in Phnom Penh in 1955, NUON Chea

moved among different locations in the countryside, such as in Boeng Lvea, along the

936 T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 38-39, 43-44; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 5-6,
46; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 41-42. See also, Book by KHIEU 8.: Considerations on the
History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En)
00498226.

%7 T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 44-45; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 8. See also,
NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184664; Book by KHIEU S.:
Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En) 00498226.

938 T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 44-46, 62-64; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 10;
T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 39-40. See also, Considerations on the History of Cambodia
From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En) 00498226. See
Section 3: Historical Background, paras 81-84.

% T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 43; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 38-39; T. 31
January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 7-8. See also, NUON Chea Initial Appearance Record, E3/54, 19
September 2007, ERN (En) 00148817.

90" T, 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 4; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 8-9. See also,
NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184659-60.

%1 T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 47-48, 71, 81; T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 6;
T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 36-38, 40-42. See also, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM
Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184658.
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Stung Chinit River, and in Samlaut, to disguise his active involvement in the

revolutionary movement, and ensure his personal security. 542

308. In Phnom Penh, NUON Chea continued his underground work for the
revolutionary movement as a member of the Party city committee,”* while working
variously as a teacher, a vendor, or a clerk for an import-export company. After POL
Pot returned from France in 1955-56, NUON Chea was introduced to him. POL Pot
and NUON Chea who were both members of the Khmer People’s Revolutionary
Party, initially worked together as assistants to TOU Samuth.** Later, in 1960,
NUON Chea met IENG Sary at the First Party Congress, during which TOU Samuth
and NUON Chea were respectively nominated Secretary and Deputy Secretary and
the Party was renamed the Workers’ Party of Kampuchea.’®

309. In 1963, IENG Sary and POL Pot, both listed as “leftists”, were summoned
together with other individuals by NORODOM Sihanouk under the pretext of forming
a new government. Fearing arrest they joined the underground near the Vietnamese
border.”*® According to NUON Chea, he met with KHIEU Samphan for the first time
near the Aoral Mountain, after Khieu Samphan went to the magquis, but he does not
remember when.**’ From the early 1960s Nuon Chea’s political affiliation remained
secret.”*® From 1963, NUON Chea travelled to the countryside to meet other leaders
of the movement, including POL Pot, IENG Sary and SON Sen. He also met VORN

%2 T 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 5-7; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 10-11.

%3 Notwithstanding NUON Chea’s claim that he was not a member of this committee, it was clear
that he had a role to play, even if it is accepted that he was not a founding member. See NUON Chea
Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184658 (claiming POL Pot, MEI Mann,
Khmao (sic), and CHAN Saman set up the committee before NUON Chea joined); T. 12 January 2012
(NUON Chea), pp. 28-29 (recalling VORN Vet was the chairman of the Phnom Penh city committee
but not recalling any other members).

44 T.15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 42-43.

%45 7. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 82; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 44. See
Section 3: Historical Background, para. 87.

% T. 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 64-67; See also, Book by KHIEU S.:
Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En) 00498237. See Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para.
358.

%7 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 46. See also, T. 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 35.
KHIEU Samphan confirmed that he joined the Party at the Aoral Mountain around the period before
the Coup d’état in 1970. See T. 8 February 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 22. See Section 8: Roles and
Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 364.

%8 T.20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 67-68.
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Vet, KE Pauk, SAO Phim, KOY Thuon, ROS Nhim, as the revolution progressed.949
On occasion, NUON Chea travelled clandestinely from Phnom Penh to the main Party
offices, including Office 100, sited initially on the border area with Vietnam. From
1966-67, he travelled to the new Office 100 location in Ratanakiri and, from 1970, to
Office S-71, located along the Stung Chinit River. Later, as the Khmer Rouge closed
in on Phnom Penh he also visited B-5"° and different provinces and zones controlled
by the Khmer Rouge.”!

310. In 1970, when NORODOM Sihanouk was overthrown, NUON Chea was
visiting the East Zone and only managed to return to Phnom Penh after a few months.
Once there, he continued to travel to meet POL Pot and IENG Sary to brief them on
the situation in Phnom Penh and to receive instructions from POL Pot. > As the

9 T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 7-11; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 17; T. 6 May
2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 86-87. See aiso, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3,
Undated, ERN (En) 00184669-73 (also referring to a meeting NUON Chea held in 1968 with the Zone
leaders, among which were Ta Mok, ROS Nhim and SAO Phim, where the participants were informed
of a decision to initiate the armed and political struggle throughout the country in the East, the
Northwest and the Southeast Zones); Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia
From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00498229-
30; Khieu Samphan Interview Transcript, E3/4017, ERN (En) 00793527 (indicating that, in 1967, at
the time of a rebellion in Samlaut NUON Chea travelled there and gave to ROS Nhim and KONG
Sophal a letter containing instructions from the Central Committee to suspend the armed struggle).

90 T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 9-12 (discussing his travels to Office 100); T. 12 January
2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 19-21 (discussing his travels to Office 100), 36 (discussing his travels to the
Stung Chinit area); T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 26 (discussing his travel to B-5); T. 26 July
2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 4, 39 (discussing NUON Chea’s presence at Office S-
71); T. 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 23 (indicating that NUON Chea was at the Party office along
the Chinit River); T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 12-15, 20-25, 33-34
(discussing NUON Chea’s presence at B-5, including during a 1975 planning meeting for the final
attack and evacuation of Phnom Penh).

91 T, 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 5-6, 18 (discussing NUON Chea’s travel
to Samlaut to meet with several Zone leaders); T. 20 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 4-6, 79-80 (discussing
a meeting held by NUON Chea in 1973 in Kratie Province). See also, T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM
Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 35. In 1973, NUON Chea accompanied NORODOM Sihanouk to 2 visit to
the liberated areas. See T. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 92-94; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON
Chea), pp. 22-25; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 35-37. See also, NUON Chea Interview by
KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184660-61 (indicating that NUON Chea was in charge of
all contacts with the rural areas since the early days of the Party), 00184668, 00184671.

%52 1. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 89 (“In February [1970], I went to join the conference for
the inauguration of the training sessions in the East Zone in order to inspect the situation on the
possibility of conducting the coup d'état by the Lon Nol group and to put a mechanism in place to
prevent such coup d'état™); T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 9-11 (“I did not take refuge in the
forest with Ieng Sary and Pol Pot. Once in a while, I went to meet them, probably once or -- once every
one or two months, in order to report to them the situation in the city and also to receive instruction
from Pol Pot as to how we are going to organize our party and the way forwards for our party.
Sometime | went there once every month or twice -- once every two months, depending on the
necessity of the situation of each circumstance at that time™).
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revolution developed further, however, NUON Chea finally left Phnom Penh and
joined the other senior leaders of the Party at S-71 553

311. In the early years of his political activism in Cambodia, NUON Chea’s main
areas of responsibility within the Party included working on the formulation of the
Party policies and strategic and tactical lines, together with POL Pot.”** NUON Chea
also continued to focus on propaganda, by travelling to and from the countryside to
gather cadres and conduct training sessions with peasants and local leaders of the

%55 He was also instrumental in issuing the Revolutionary F. lag.”® At trial,

movement.
NUON Chea made inconsistent statements concerning his participation in the
publication of the Revolutionary Flag, denying any involvement in its initial
establishment.”®’ His denial is unconvincing, however, in view of his earlier
involvement in the publication of several Party-related newspapers, and his later
description of the publication of the Revolutionary Flag®® Finally, while NUON

Chea worked on developing the Party policy of full independence from the

93 T.30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 7-8. See also, T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY
Phuon), p. 4; T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 51-52 (indicating that NUON Chea was located
at B-20, a sub-office of S-71).

954 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 81-83; T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 12-22;
T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 52. See also, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3,
Undated, ERN (En) 00184661; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From
the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00498230.

955 T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 52-54; T. 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 48; T. 26
July 2012 (ROCHOEM Tom), pp. 9-10, 32-44 (referring to a study session in 1971 at the North Zone
office that included Sector and District cadres, chaired by POL Pot and NUON Chea. After this
meeting, there was a meeting for the leaders of the Centre and the Zone leaders, in which NUON Chea
also participated); T. 19 June 2012 (YUN Kim), pp. 10-11, 33-34, 37 (stating that, in 1973, NUON
Chea convened a meeting in Phum Dar for the commune chiefs of Kratie Province. During the meeting
NUON Chea provided instructions regarding the implementation and establishment of the
cooperatives. The war against LON Nol regime was also briefly addressed by NUON Chea).

9% Section 6: Communication Structure, paras 261-266.

%7 T, 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 5.

9% T. 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 11-12 (“But as I have said, during that time, we had
nothing but to write on papers and to publish those writings and distribute them to everyone to read.
The document was to be studied in order to build confidence amongst the nationalists and among the
revolutionary. So we had, again, nothing to do but to come up with this Revolutionary Flag. So this is
the rationale behind the Revolutionary Flags”); NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3,
Undated, ERN (En) 00184663; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 73-74 (“The ones who made
the Revolutionary Flag were the Standing Committee, especially the Secretary of the Party. And me,
myself, were the one who wrote it”). See also, T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 4; 31 January
2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 8-9; NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En)
00184659-60.
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Communist Party of Vietnam he also gradually assumed the role of liaison with that

party, travelling to Vietnam on various occasions to meet with its leaders.”

312. Throughout the CPK period, NUON Chea was referred to by his sumame as
“Brother [hang] Nuon,” “Uncle [om] Nuon” or “Grand Uncle [om] Nuon” as well as
“Comrade Deputy Secretary”, or, more generally, “Brother [bang]”, “Respected
Brother” or “Beloved Brother”.”®® While he denied having used or being commonly
referred to as “Brother No. 2”,961 several witnesses confirmed that this alias was also
used to refer to NUON Chea.”®? These aliases are also referred to in several telegrams

and reports relevant to the activities of the Party Centre’®

as well as in annotations
made by cadres on S-21 confessions, including by Witness KAING Guek Eav,

addressed or copied to NUON Chea.”®* Witness SUON Kanil, in particular, a radio

99 T.5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 65-71; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 27-28;
T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 18-19, 35-36; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 22-24,
31-33; T. 9 February 2012 (NUON Chea), p.p. 44-50; T. 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 52-54; T.
10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 22; NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN
(En) 001846661-62, 00184670; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From
the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 10-11, ERN (En) 00498227.
NUON Chea retained this role also during the DK period. See T. 9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 26; T.
31 October 2013 (NUON Chea), pp. 6-7.

%0 T, 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), p. 39 (“Brother Nuon”); T. 4 April 2012 (KAING
Guek Eav), pp. 68-70 (“Brother Nuon” as well as “Respected Brother” and “Beloved Brother”), 79
(“Brother Nuon™ as well as “Beloved Brother”); T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 104-105
(“Brother” and “Bong™); T. 24 January 2012 (VANTHAN Dara Peu), p. 35 (“Brother Nuon”); T. 3
September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 32 (“Grand Uncle Nuon’), 34, and 46 (“Uncle Nuon”); T. 1
July 2013 (PECH Chim), pp. 72-74 (“Uncle Nuon”); T. 7 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), p. 131
(“Comrade Deputy Secretary”). See also, NORNG Sophang Interview Record, E3/64, 27 January 2009,
ERN (En) 00334057 (“Brother Nuon™), 00334058-61 (“Uncle Nuon”); SENG Mon Interview Record,
E3/71, 14 February 2009, ERN (En) 00288625, 00288631, 00288634 (“Grand Uncle Nuon™).

%! T.14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 13-14.

%2 T, 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 21; T. 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 115
(indicating that KOY Thuon referred to NUON Chea as Brother No. 2); T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHOEM
Tom), pp. 37-38; T. 10 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), p. 100; T. 1 July 2013 (PECH Chim), pp.
72-74. See also, T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 37, 39.

%3 DK Telegram, E3/893, 26 January 1976, ERN (En) 00182620-22 (“Brother Nuon”); DK
Telegram, E3/908, 25 December 1977, ERN (En) 00183638-39 (“Uncle Nuon”); DK Telegram,
E3/943, 25 April 1978, ERN (En) 00185204 (“Grand Uncle Nuon”); DK Report, E3/860, 15 April
1978, ERN (En) 00185201 (“Grand Uncle Nuon”); Reception to Mark the 51" Anniversary of the
Founding of the Chinese People’s Revolutionary Liberation Army (DK News Bulletin), 24 August
1978, E3/1417, ERN (En) 00712496, 00712498-99 (“Comrade Deputy Secretary”); Speech by
Comrade TENG Ying-Tchao, Member of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party (DK
News Bulletin), E3/78, 6 February 1978, ERN (En) 00290287 (“Comrade Deputy Secretary”).

%4 §.21 Confession - KUNG Kien alias Eung Vet, E3/1565, 26 May 1977, ERN (En) 00182773
(“Brother Nuon™); S-21 Confession - CHOUT Nhe, E3/1687, ERN (En) 00758196 (“Brother Nuon”);
S-21 Confession - CHAP Mit, E3/1688, ERN (En) 00284069 (“Brother N. 2”). See also, T. 5 April
2012 (KAIN Guek Eav), pp. 7-9; T. 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 34-38). NUON
Chea was also referred to as “Brother Nuon” in annotations contained in several other S-21
confessions. See e.g. S-21 Confession - TAING An alias En, E3/1826, 31 October 1977, ERN (En)
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operator from the Central Zone who dealt with telegrams relevant to the Party Centre,
indicated that the reference to “Uncle Nuon” on telegrams addressed to Office 870 “of
course” refers to NUON Chea.”®® During a Standing Committee Meeting held on 1
June 1976, POL Pot, identified as the Chairman of the Committee, referred to NUON
Chea simply as “[comrade] NUON” %%

7.2. Status and Role within the Party

313. NUON Chea testified that, since the First Party Congress in 1960, he was the
Deputy Secretary of the Party.”®’ NUON Chea retained this appointment during
subsequent Party congresses as well as throughout the DK period.”*® After TOU
Samuth’s disappearance, POL Pot was appointed as Secretary of the Party in 1963.
On several occasions, NUON Chea indicated that there were suspicions against him
because of the earlier defection to the LON Nol regime of his uncle by marriage,
SIEU Heng, who was a leader of the Khmer People’s Revolutionary Party responsible
for the party’s rural membership. Therefore, NUON Chea supported the election of
POL Pot as Secretary of the party while he would remain the Deputy Secretary.”®

However, he agreed with POL Pot that they would work together.””

00821424; S-21 Confession - DI Leng alias Pheap, E3/1839, 23 October 1977, ERN (En) 00835986;
S-21 Confession - HEM Soth alias Sien, E3/1842, 21 October 1977, ERN (En) 00662317; S-21
Confession - LUN In, E3/3689, 21 October 1977, ERN (En) 00221784. See also, Section 7: Roles and
Functions — Nuon Chea, fn. 1035.

%5 T. 14 December 2012 (SUON Kanil), pp. 100-101. See also, DK Telegram, E3/519, 29 March
1978, ERN (En) 00377841.

%6  Standing Committee Minutes, 1 June 1976, E3/225, ERN (En) 00182719. Although the English
translation of E3/225 omits “comrade”, the Chamber has relied on the original Khmer document.
NUON Chea is usually referred to in minutes of the Standing Committee as “Comrade Deputy
Secretary” or as “Comrade Nuon”. See also, Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, fn. 975.

97 T, 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 82 and 85-86; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp.
72-76; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 13-14. See also, T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea),
pp. 69-70; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 24-25. See also, NUON Chea Interview by
KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184662; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History
of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En)
00498232.

%8 T.22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 86; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 75; T. 12
January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 15; T. 9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 25. See also, NUON Chea Initial
Appearance Record, E3/54, 19 September 2007, ERN (En) 00148817; NUON Chea Interview by
KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184667.

%9 T, 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 74-76; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 48-50;
T. 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 10-12; See also, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3,
Undated, ERN (En) 00184666-67; T. 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 63-64.

0 Documentary by THET S. and R. LEMKIN: Enemies of the People, E3/4001R, Additional
Footage - NUON Chea Interview with THET Sambath, 09°40-10°14 (“So I said to Pol Pot that in the
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314. Expert David CHANDLER, Witnesses SUONG Sikoeun and KAING Guek
Eav, among others,971 as well as KHIEU Samphan,972 confirmed that NUON Chea
held this position.

315. NUON Chea also confirmed having been a full rights member of both the CPK

973

Central Committee and its Standing Committee.” ~ His membership in these organs

was confirmed by witnesses and experts who testified at trial >

316. The fact that these appointments occurred is reflected in contemporary DK
documents. Numerous CPK Standing Committee meeting minutes from the DK
period indicate NUON Chea was present in his capacity as the Deputy Secretary of
the Party.”” From late 1977, NUON Chea was also officially identified as the Deputy
Secretary of the CPK Central Committee in speeches he gave to foreign dignitaries
and delegations and in DK media reports concerning international travel and

meetings.”’®

current situation I wasn’t the right man to lead the Party... so I asked Pol Pot to be Secretary General.
At that time we both agreed that whenever we had problems we would solve them together”).
970,20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), p. 64; T. 16 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 34;
T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 22. See aiso, T. 6 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), p. 64.
%2 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, pp. 10-11 (Identifying NUON
Chea as the Deputy Secretary of the Standing Committee of the CPK and with POL Pot as the most
important persons within the Party); Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia
From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En) 00498236.

93 T, 10 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 22; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 34-35; T. 12
January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 36-39. See also, NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3,
Undated, ERN (En) 00184662, 00184667.

974 T, 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 32, 38; T. 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav),
pp. 72-73; T. 8 December 2011 (LONG Norin), p. 65; T. 26 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 2. See also,
T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Tom), pp. 6-8; T. 6 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 63-64; T. 1
October 2012 (KHIEV En), p. 91; T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), p. 68.

975 See e.g. Standing Committee Minutes, E3/227, 2 November 1975, ERN (En) 00183409; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/228, 9 January 1976, ERN (En) 00182614; Standing Committee Minutes,
E3/229, 22 February 1976, ERN (En) 00182625; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/197, 11-13 March
1976, ERN (En) 00182638; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/217, 11 March 1976, ERN (En)
00182635; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/218, 26 March 1976, ERN (En) 00182651; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/220, 7 May 1976, ERN (En) 00182706; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/221,
14 May 1976, ERN (En) 00182693; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/222, 15 May 1976, ERN (En)
00182665; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/224, 30 May 1976, ERN (En) 00132667; Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976, ERN (En) 00182715.

976 Cambodian CP Officially Unveiled on Founding Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/2678, 6
October 1977, ERN (En) 00389470 (in which NUON Chea is officially recognised as the Central
Committee Deputy Secretary); NUON Chea Speech at Peking Banquet in Honour of DK Delegation,
E3/199, 3 September 1978, ERN (En) 00065911 (in which NUON Chea expresses his appreciation to
the Communist Party of China, the people and the government of the People’s Republic of China, for
the aid, encouragements and supports which have reinforced Democratic Kampuchea’s independence
and sovereignty); Statement of the Communist Party of Kampuchea to the Communist Worker's Party
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7.3. Residence, Working and Travel Locations During the DK Period

317. Upon returning to Phnom Penh after 17 April 1975, NUON Chea eventually
took up his permanent residence at K-3, where he lived and worked with other CPK
leaders, including POL Pot, IENG Sary, SON Sen, VORN Vet and KHIEU Samphan.
From K-3, NUON Chea frequently travelled to K-1, POL Pot’s residence located on
the riverside, where important meetings of the Party Centre would also be held.””’
During the DK period, NUON Chea continued to travel to the countryside, visiting
construction and agricultural projects, meeting with zone leaders and holding
education and propaganda meetings.”’® On at least one occasion, NUON Chea

travelled to China and North Korea on an official visit.””

7.4. Roles During the DK Period

318. In addition to his roles within the Party, NUON Chea occupied other official
roles during the DK period. According to the Closing Order, NUON Chea was the

of Denmark, E3/196, 30-31 July 1978, ERN (En) 00762391(speech made by NUON Chea to
representatives of the Communist Worker’s Party of Denmark who visited Kampuchea; elaborating on
the history, ideology, organisation and the concrete activities after the liberation of the Communist
Party of Kampuchea); Speech by Comrade Nuon Chea (DK News Bulletin), E3/78, 6 February 1978,
ERN (En) 00290279 (speech made by NUON Chea at a banquet held in honor of a member of the
Chinese Communist Party Central Committee and Vice Chairman of the Standing Committee of the
People’s National Assembly of the People’s Republic of China; elaborating on the militant solidarity
and great revolutionary friendship between China and Kampuchea); Souphanouvong Arrival Reported,
Pol Pot Meets Delegation and Khieu Samphan Receives Souphanouvong (Kampuchea News), E3/1499,
19 December 1977, ERN (En) 00168361-64 (reporting on the arrival of a Lao party-government
delegation in Kampuchea, welcomed, among others, by NUON Chea, and the subsequent meetings,
which NUON Chea attended, between the Lao party-government delegation and representatives of the
Communist Party of Kampuchea); Nuon Chea Led Delegation Departs for PRC 2 September (DK
News Bulletin), E3/1526, 5 September 1978, ERN (En) 00170340 (reporting on visit by a Kampuchea
People’s Representative Assembly delegation led by NUON Chea to the People’s Republic of China
and the Democratic People’s Republic of Korea).

77 T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), pp. 13-14, 75-76; T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), pp.
63-64, 66-67; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), pp. 38, 63-64; T. 3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 27; T. 12
December 2012 (PHAM Van), pp. 20-22; T. 18 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), pp. 51-52. See also, T. 6
May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), p. 77; T. 8§ May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 28-29. See
Section 3: Historical Background, para. 87; Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 213.

978 T.31 October 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 27; T. 29 May 2012 (NY Khan), pp. 3-5 (attending a Zone
assembly in the West Zone in 1975 during which NUON Chea was present); T. 21 May 2013 (PRUM
Som) pp. 32-36 (describing a meeting held in the new North Zone during which NUON Chea
introduced KANG Chap as the new Zone Chairman); T. 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), pp. 34-35 (indicating
that NUON Chea would travel to the countryside).

979 T, 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 50 (referring to NUON Chea’s visit to China); T. 19
April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), pp. 84-87 (confirming that NUON Chea travelled to China and North
Korea, in 1978). See also, Photograph of NUON Chea in Beijing, E3/3261, undated; Speech by
Comrade Nuon Chea, Deputy Secretary of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of
Kampuchea at the Banquet of the Assembly of People in Peking, E3/199, 3 September 1978.
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Chairman of the Standing Committee of the PRA and, in September 1976, he was
formally appointed Acting Prime Minister of DK, after POL Pot took a period of

temporary leave allegedly due to some medical issues.®

7.4.1. Chairman of the People’s Representative Assembly

319. NUON Chea confirmed his role as the Chairman of the PRA during the DK
period.”®! He was appointed Chairman of the Standing Committee of the PRA, a title
which he retained after the fall of DK,”* following a decision of the CPK Central
Committee on 30 March 1976.%%% Other contemporary DK documents, including
various speeches he gave in that capacity to foreign dignitaries and delegations,
identify NUON Chea as the Chairman the Assembly’s Standing Committee.”®*

320. NUON Chea stated that this was one of the main roles he exercised during the
DK period, leaving him in charge of ensuring that laws were adopted, although the
conflict with Vietnam made this process difficult.”®® NUON Chea did not however
assert that the PRA whose responsibility it was to debate legislation, was more than a

facade indicating compliance with the Party Statute, as discussed in a Standing

%80 Closing Order, paras 889-890 and para. 888, respectively.

81T 11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 37; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 14; T. 9 July 2013
(NUON Chea), p. 26; See also, NUON Chea Initial Appearance Record, E3/54, 19 September 2007,
ERN (En) 00148817; T. 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), p. 33; T. 27 August 2012 (Civil
Party EM Oeun), p. 27; T. 23 August 2012 (KIM Vun), p. 22; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 50.
%2 DK Government Statement, E3/1435, 18 December 1979, ERN (En) 00017987 (“the Congress has
unanimously decided to maintain Mr. Nuon Chea in his function as Chairman of the Standing
Committee of the Assembly of the Kampuchean People’s Representatives”); DK Press Release,
E3/1449, 20 November 1981, ERN (En) 00020359.

%3 Central Committee Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, ERN (En) 00182813. See also, DK People’s
Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976; DK Press Release: First
Plenary Session of the First Legislature of the People’s Representative Assembly of Kampuchea,
E3/262, 14 April 1976, ERN (En) 00528391.

%4 See e.g. Souphanouvong Arrival Reported, Pol Pot Meets Delegation and Khieu Samphan
Receives Souphanouvong (DK News Bulletin), E3/1499, 19 December 1977, ERN (En) 00168361-
00168364; Speech by Comrade Nuon Chea, Deputy Secretary of the Central Committee of the
Communist Party of Kampuchea at the Banquet of the Assembly of People in Peking, E3/199, 3
September 1978, ERN (En) 00065911; Cambodian CP Officially Unveiled on Founding Anniversary
(in FBIS Collection), E3/2678, 6 October 1977, ERN (En) 00389470. See also, Section 7: Roles and
Functions — Nuon Chea, fn. 976.

%5 T.9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 26; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 10. See also, T. 15
December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 30; T. 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 9.
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Committee Meeting held in March 1976 and attended by him.”*® The Assembly met
rarely, possibly only once during the DK period and did not pass any laws.”®’

7.4.2. Acting Prime Minister

321. NUON Chea denied having ever been appointed as Acting Prime Minister of
DK. Although recognising that POL Pot took a period of leave of absence, in 1976, he

indicated that SON Sen was the person appointed to substitute for POL Pot %8

322. Other evidence before the Chamber contradicts this testimony. Several
documents report the official appointment of NUON Chea as Acting Prime Minister
of DK in September 1976 pending and during POL Pot’s absence.”®® Other
contemporary DK documents up to late 1977, including national and international

news reports of meetings at the diplomatic level, confirm this appointment.”®® These

%6 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, ERN (En) 00182630 (Among others POL
Pot, KHIEU Samphan and NUON Chea attended this meeting where it was recommended to “[...] not
speak playfully about the Assembly in front of the people to let them see that we are deceptive, and our
Assembly is worthless”).

%7 T, 19 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 113-114; T. 9 May 2013 (Expert Philip
SHORT), p. 70; T. 26 January 2012 (PRAK Yut), pp. 72-81 (indicating that while her and her husband
were told that they had been elected, they did not know of any elections and they never went for any
meeting of the Assembly); T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 27-28 (indicating that while he was
informed about his election, he did not know of any elections being held and was never called for any
meeting of the Assembly); T. 4 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 36 (indicating that he received
only one message from NUON Chea convening members of the Assembly). See Section 5:
Administrative Structures, paras 233-238.

%8 T.11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 33-37; T. 9 February 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 27, 53-55;
T. 9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 27; T. 31 October 2013 (NUON Chea), pp. 12-13.

%% French Embassy Telegram, Subject: Invitation of Mr. Pol Pot to Peking, E3/486, 29 September
1977, ERN (En) 00658709 (official announcement on Radio Phnom Penh of the existence of CPK and
POL Pot’s trip to China, also noting that NUON Chea had taken over “as acting prime minister” during
POL Pot’s extended absence since 26 September 1976); Pol Pot's Temporary Sick Leave from
Premiership (in SWB Collection), E3/192, 28 September 1976, ERN (En) 00003883 (statement by
KHIEU Samphan, President of the State Presidium appointing NUON Chea to “replace comrade Pol
Pot temporarily and assume the role of Acting Premier”). See also, Pol Pot Takes ‘Temporary’ Leave
from Post (in FBIS Collection), E3/280, 26 September 1976, ERN (En) 00168118; President Nuon
Chea Receives the Albanian Ambassador (DK News Bulletin), E3/269, 11 November 1976, ERN (En)
00525825.

90 French Ministry of Foreign Affairs Memorandum, Subject: Cambodian Review (September 1976),
E3/491, 15 October 1976, ERN (En) 00525811 (referring to the temporary retirement of the
Cambodian Prime Minister, POL Pot); Nuon Chea Receives Albanian Ambassador (in FBIS
Collection), E3/281, 17 October 1976, ERN (En) 00168071; French Embassy Telegram, Subject:
Information and Personal Accounts on Cambodia, E3/485, 24 January 1977, ERN (En) 00519825;
Khieu Samphan, Nuon Chea Greet Pakistani National Day (in FBIS Collection), E3/285, 22 March
1977, ERN (En) 00168531; Acting Premier Greets Burmese Counterpart on Election, Bulgarian
Leaders’ Message, Yugoslavia’s Djuranovic and Bhutto’s Message (in FBIS Coilection), E3/286, 1-20
April 1977, ERN (En) 00168192, 00168222, 00168231-00168232; Leaders Greet Vietnamese on
Victory Anniversary and Khieu Samphan, Nuon Chea Greet Sri Lanka Leaders (in FBIS Collection),
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documents are corroborated by Witness KAING Guek Eav who heard a radio
message announcing POL Pot’s leave and NUON Chea’s temporary appointment to
the role of acting Prime Minister.”®' Furthermore, in his interview with Stephen
HEDER in 1996, IENG Sary stated that NUON Chea replaced POL Pot as DK Prime
Minister in 1976.°? In addition, there is evidence that, in his capacity as Acting Prime
Minister, NUON Chea delivered a speech on the occasion of the 9™ Anniversary of
the RAK, on January 1977.%%

323. The Chamber is therefore satisfied that from September 1976 on several
occasions NUON Chea officially exercised the role of Acting Prime Minister of DK,
up until 1977 when POL Pot resumed his duties.”*

7.5. Roles in Propaganda and other related Matters

324. In several instances before the Chamber, NUON Chea reiterated that, within
the Party Centre and throughout its existence, he had primary responsibility for
propaganda-related matters as well as for education of peasants, cadres and other
Party members, focusing in particular on the main principles and the economic

policies of the Party.””’

E3/287, ERN (En) 00168121-00168122, 00168151; Nuon Chea Greets Malaysia Leader on National
Day, Cambodian Leaders Greet SRV Leaders on National Day, Burmese Foreign Minister Concludes
Visit and Khieu Samphan — Nuon Chea Message (in FBIS Collection), E3/143, 22 August - 8
September 1977, ERN (En) 00168724, 00168727, 00168729, 00168738.

%1 T, 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 11.

%2 |ENG SARY Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, ERN (En) 00417626
(stating that NUON Chea replaced POL Pot as Prime Minister, despite the fact that he held the position
of First Deputy Prime Minister and was therefore next in line to replace POL Pot). See also, CD-Cam
Article: The True Fact About Pol Pot’s Dictatorial Regime, E3/86, 8 September 1996, ERN (En)
00081215 (“it was Nuon Chea, the personality No. 2 in the Party and then President of the National
Assembly who was designated by Pol Pot to replace him as Prime Minister ad interim”).

%3 Nuon Chea Speaks on Cambodian Army Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/147, 17 January
1977, ERN (En) 00168465; 9 Anniversary of Founding of Revolutionary Army, E3/544, 28 January
1977, ERN (En) 00005866; Nuon Chea's speech at Army Anniversary meeting (in SWB Collection),
E3/191, 20 January 1977, ERN (En) 00004073.

9% The last reports referring to NUON Chea as acting Prime Minister of DK are dated September
1977, on the occasion of the visit of a Burmese delegation and of the anniversary of the Democratic
People Republic of Korea. See FBIS Collection Sept. 1977, E3/143. See also, Section 7: Roles and
Functions — Nuon Chea, fn. 990.

995 T. 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 95; T. 15 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 68-71; T. 6
December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 4-5; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 26; T. 8 February
2012 (NUON Chea), p. 38. See also, NUON Chea Initial Appearance Record, E3/54, 19 September
2007, ERN (En) 00148817.
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325. Several witnesses testified that they attended meetings, training or study
sessions at which NUON Chea appeared as the chairman, trainer or speaker. These
events were held before and during the DK period at the sector, district, zone or centre
levels throughout the country and in Phnom Penh, particularly at the Olympic

¢ During the events, revolutionary policies were

Stadium and at Borei Keila.
discussed, including economic policies and cooperatives; the mobilisation of the
forces through the liberated zones; self-reliance and mastery as well as vigilance
against internal and external enemies; and self-criticism sessions.””’ NUON Chea was
also among the recipients of several telegrams from Party cadres in different areas of

Cambodia. These telegrams provided situation reports on various matters, including

%6 T.2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 1-3 (stating that, during the DK period, NUON Chea
attended commemorative rallies on April of each year, held at the Olympic Stadium or at Borei Keila);
T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), pp. 29-34, 37 (attending several political study sessions at the
Technological Institute and at Borei Keila, taught by NUON Chea); T. 19 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung),
pp- 25-29 (regularly escorting NUON Chea to host training sessions at Borei Keila); T. 6 June 2012
(SAO Sarun), pp. 34-39 (describing political trainings held by NUON Chea and POL Pot in Phnom
Penh).

%7 T. 11 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 20 (confirming NUON Chea’s presence at the September 1978
Party Congress, where he gave presentations on the good management of people by providing housing
and food); T. 25 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Tom), pp. 74-80 (stating that, after the liberation of Phnom
Penh, NUON Chea attended meetings as an instructor and was teaching at the Vihear Preah Keo.
During the study sessions, the main topic was the general situation within the country, including
politics and the mass movement, the national democratic revolution and the international situation.
People were also asked to criticise themselves during these meetings); T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHEOM
Tom), pp. 21-22 (confirming the attendance of NUON Chea in a one month Party training course in
December 1976, which also included self-criticism sessions. The main topics of this course were the
general situation inside and outside of the country, building the Party and the weaknesses in the
implementation of the Movement); T. 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 74-75 (stating that
NUON Chea was a speaker during a political education session for Party members at Borei Keila in
June 1976. During this meeting, the evolution of the democratic revolution was discussed); T. 27
August 2012 (Civil Party EM Oeun), pp. 26-27 (confirming that NUON Chea spoke at a political
education session; before the session started all the trainers, including NUON Chea, were introduced);
T. 23 August 2012 (Civil Party EM Oeun), pp. 81-84 (referring to a political training session with
participants from the Districts at Borei Keila, during which NUON Chea spoke about the policy to
strengthen the Communist and the need of identifying those who were infiltrating the internal Party.
NUON Chea referred to soldiers from previous regimes, including NORODOM Sihanouk and LON
Nol regimes, and intellectuals and students, particularly those who graduated abroad); T. 6 December
2011 (Civil Party KLAN Fit), pp. 58-59 (attending political education sessions for the Zone committee
in Phnom Penh in which NUON Chea was the lecturer or trainer. The topic of these sessions was the
rebuilding of the structure of the country in order to ensure its independence); T. 29 May 2012 (NY
Khan), pp. 3-5 (attending a Zone assembly in the West Zone in 1975 during which NUON Chea was
present. The assembly discussed the end the war, the re-establishment of the economy as well as self-
reliance and mastery); T. 21 May 2013 (PRUM Som) pp. 32-36 (describing a meeting held in the North
Zone during which NUON Chea introduced KANG Chap as the new Zone Chairman and spoke about
rice production and the need to be vigilant against the enemies); T. 25 April 2013 (RUOS Suy) pp. 52-
58 (participating in study sessions during which NUON Chea said that SAO Phim and KOY Thuon
were traitors).
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not only the progress in the implementation of the agricultural policies and the

training of cadres, but also discipline and punishment of individuals.”®

326. On 9 October 1975, during a Standing Committee meeting, NUON Chea was
entrusted with responsibility for “Party Affairs, Social Action, Culture, Propaganda
and Education”.”” NUON Chea attended CPK Standing Committee meetings at
which propaganda and education matters were discussed.'® During a meeting held
on 1 June 1976 to discuss progress in propaganda-related matters, NUON Chea,
identified as the Deputy Secretary of the Standing Committee, made several remarks
about the performance of the Ministry of Propaganda and Information, identifying

progress but also highlighting areas where improvement was needed. In particular,

%8 DK Telegram, E3/874, 18 July 1976, ERN (En) 00185060 (Report regarding 10 sector soldiers
deserting to Thailand who were linked to enemies and had criticised CPK, and requesting instructions
regarding a commerce cadre who had been arrested); DK Telegram, E3/1209, incomplete date, ERN
(En) 00522888 (Referring to "internal and external enemies”, the construction of dams and canals in
the North Zone and shortage of medicine); DK Telegram, E3/1192, 12 October 1976, ERN (En)
00508560 (Stating that a telegram has been received from NUON Chea, that a commerce group has
been assigned for Phnom Penh); DK Telegram, E3/1222, 24 September 1976, ERN (En) 00143522
(describing the situation Kampong Som, including the arrests of people who had fled into the jungle
and rice crop growing); DK Telegram, E3/1221, 25 June 1977, ERN (En) 00182769 (Reporting about
arrests of traitors in Kampong Cham Province); DK Telegram, E3/1200, 8 May 1977, ERN (En)
00590306 (Telegram from the Agriculture Group of the Northwest Zone Secretary to the Chinese
Embassy describing the request for agricultural tools for farming); DK Telegram, E3/1103, 7
November 1976, ERN (En) 00509692 (Requesting approval for a comrade to travel to Phnom Penh to
study radio communication coding); DK Telegram, E3/953, 2 April 1976, ERN (En) 00182658-
00182660 (Describing the enemy situation, health, crop production, and morale in the North Zone,
including the tracking of "agents imbedded inside” and problems with fever and sickness due to
"working and overheating"); DK Telegram, E3/1195, 25 November 1976, ERN (En) 00519519
(Reporting on political education and technical training, and requesting permission for individuals to
attend training); DK Telegram, E3/1097, 29 March 1978, ERN (En) 00377841 (Reporting on the arrest
of two combatants traveling without permit, and requesting guidance as to how to proceed); DK
Telegram, E3/956, 25 June 1977, ERN (En) 00182769 (Reporting on the arrest of 24 persons from Prey
Chhor District, and request for guidance as to how to proceed); DK Telegram, E3/1189, incomplete
date, ERN (En) 00590301 (asking information on training by the Party); DK Telegram, E3/1663, 18
October 1976, ERN (En) 00548893 (Acknowledging receipt of a telegram containing instructions
regarding the 4 year plans, and stating that the sector party has been informed); DK Telegram,
E3/1118, 6 November 1976, ERN (En) 00436997 (Requesting NUON Chea for water pumps and
trucks to carry material for road construction); DK Telegram, E3/1144, 5 September 1977 (Discussing
a number of matters including the enemy situation on the border with Thailand, the discovering of
several internal enemies, including members of the LON Nol regime, farming, living conditions and re-
education); DK Telegram, E3/156, 23 April 1978, (reporting about the arrest and detention of a
comrade for committing “immoral acts”).

9 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/183, 9 October 1975, ERN (En) 00183393.

1000 gtanding Committee Minutes, E3/228, 9 January 1976, ERN (En) 00182614; Standing Committee
Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976, ERN (En) 00183360; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June
1976, ERN (En) 00182715.
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NUON Chea raised concerns about having “intellectuals” working as authors in the

Ministry and stated that individuals from the base should be recruited. 1001

327. Witness KHIEV En, a technician working in the Ministry of Propaganda and
Information, confirmed that NUON Chea visited the Ministry and took over the
responsibility for the Ministry from YUN Yat in mid-1978.1°2

328. According to the Closing Order, as part of his responsibility for Party affairs,
propaganda and education, NUON Chea was in charge of the Organisation Committee
of the Party, responsible for organisational matters including monitoring of Party
members and their induction in offices and ministries.'°”> While there is no direct
evidence of any formal appointment to this role, Witness SALOTH Ban, POL Pot’s
nephew who worked at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and had particular knowledge
of the roles of POL Pot and NUON Chea and their relationship, testified that NUON
Chea was in charge of the appointment and discipline of Party members.'® This role
was confirmed by Witness NORNG Sophang, a CPK telegram operator who worked
in several offices, who stated that telegrams regarding the internal security situation
and the violation of the Party moral code by cadres were directed to NUON Chea.'"
With regard to the responsibility for “Party Affairs, Social Action, Culture,
Propaganda and Education” conveyed upon NUON Chea on 9 October 1975 by a
delegation of the CPK Standing Committee, discussed above, KAING Guek Eav

1001 gtanding Committee Minutes, E3/225, 1 June 1976, ERN (En) 00182718-19.

1002 T 1 October 2012 (KHIEV En), pp. 32-36, 47-48, 58-59, 86-87; T. 2 October 2012 (KHIEV En),
pp. 6-7, 33-34, 49-50. See also, T. 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 37, 69-70; T. 23 August 2012 (KIM
Vun), pp. 29, 36-37 (Stating that NUON Chea’s role at the Ministry related to agricultural education).
Witness PHAN Van testified that IENG Thirith would often travel to K-3 to report to NUON Chea
about matters relevant to the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs. See T. 12 December 2012 (PHAN
Van), pp. 20-21.

1903 Closing Order, para. 880, citing, among others, IENG SARY Interview by Stephen HEDER,
E3/89, 17 December 1996, ERN (En) 00417611 .

1004 7 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), pp. 69-70; T. 30 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 74.

1005 7. 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 26-28 (indicating that matters concerning the
internal security situation and the violation of moral codes was referred to NUON Chea because he was
“in charge of the people™); T. 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 50 (“But as for cultural affairs,
for example if there was any moral issues among people in society, I believe it was Nuon Chea who
was the person in charge”). See also, DK Telegram, E3/513, 23 April 1978.
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indicated that “Party Affairs” referred to the recruitment of new members as well as

the monitoring and imposition of disciplinary actions on Party members.' %%

329. The Chamber accordingly finds that NUON Chea’s formal responsibility for
propaganda and education-related matters also extended to the discipline of cadres

and other internal security matters.

7.6. Role in the Military and Security Apparatus

330. NUON Chea denied having ever had any role or responsibility in matters
concerning security, including military affairs and internal security, during DK or
throughout the CPK period.'®’ In contrast to this testimony, the Chamber considered
a great deal of evidence demonstrating that NUON Chea was involved in military and
security matters both prior to and during the DK period.

7.6.1. Membership of the CPK Military Committee

331. According to the Closing Order, during the period of Democratic Kampuchea
NUON Chea was a member of the Military Committee of the CPK Central
Committee and was responsible for security and military affairs.!% NUON Chea
confirmed the existence of the Military Committee, but consistently denied being a

member of it.!%®°

332. While in the KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, this Chamber found that
NUON Chea was a member of the Military Committee,'°'® the evidence on this point
in the instant trial was conflicting. In an interview with Stephen HEDER, IENG Sary
indicated that the Military Committee existed and that NUON Chea was part of it,

1006 T, 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 98-99. See also, T. 21 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p.
74.

107 T 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 26; T. 12 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 33; T. 30
January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 12; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea) p. 35.

1098 Closing Order, paras 873-879. See Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 204.

1009 T 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 4; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 25-26; T. 12
January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 40; T. 8 February 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 40; T. 9 February 2012
(NUON Chea), pp. 22-24; T. 9 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 27. See also, NUON Chea Initial
Appearance Record, E3/54, 19 September 2007, ERN (En) 00148817.

W10 Kaing Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 95. The Trial Chamber mainly relied upon the testimony
of Expert Craig ETCHESON, who testified in that trial. See T. 18 May 2009 (Expert Craig
ETCHESON), pp. 81-82; T. 28 May 2009, (Expert Craig ETCHESON), p. 61.
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together with POL Pot and SON Sen, among others.!®!! At trial Witness SUONG
Sikoeun clarified previous statements made before the Co-Investigating Judges and
indicated that he heard of NUON Chea being a member of the Military Committee
only after 1979, from articles and books he read and that he did not know personally
whether NUON Chea was a member of the Military Committee of the Central
Committee during the DK period.!*> Expert Philip SHORT does not believe that
NUON Chea was a member of the Military Committee, although he stated that
through his political leadership within the Party, NUON Chea exercised control over
the military.'®!® Similarly, discussing NUON Chea’s role vis @ vis that of the Military
Committee, Expert David CHANDLER believes that, due to his position within the
Party, NUON Chea exercised a prominent role in the Party policy and decision-

making process, including those matters relevant to military affairs.!®*

333. In light of the Accused’s denial that he was a member of the CPK Military
Committee and the inconsistencies of evidence presented at trial, the Chamber cannot
conclude beyond reasonable doubt that NUON Chea was a member of the Military
Committee during the DK period.

7.6.2. Involvement in Other Military and Security Related Matters

334. NUON Chea was closely involved in the decision to include revolutionary
violence in the Party policies and ultimately, in 1968, to initiate the armed

struggle.1015 There is also evidence that, during the GRUNK period, NUON Chea was

1011 JENG SARY Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, ERN (En) 00417606; See
also, IENG Sary Interview by Elizabeth BECKER, E3/94, 22 July 1981, ERN (En) 00342501-02.
There is additional evidence, also attributed to IENG Sary, that NUON Chea was a member of the
Military Committee of the Central Committee, with responsibility for political affairs. See Fifth Party
Congress Meeting Minutes, E3/816, 2 November 1978, ERN (En) 00281339.

1912 T 6 August 2012 (SUON Sikeoun), p. 69. Witness SUONG Sikeoun previously told the OCIJ that
NUON Chea was a member of the Military Committee. See SUONG Sikoeun Interview Record, E3/42,
6 May 2009, ERN (En) 00327218; SUONG Sikoeun Record of Interview, E3/1699, 19 December
2007, ERN (En) 00223642.

1013 T 6 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 82-84; T. 9 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 37-
38.

1014 T 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 36-37.

1015 T 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 86-87; T. 6 December 2011 (NUON Chea), p. 20; T. 13
December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 5, 47-49; T. 11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 32-33; NUON
Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184669-73. See also, T. 20 June 2012
(YUN Kim), pp. 78-81 (stating that, in 1973, during a meeting in Phum Dar for the commune chiefs of
Kratie Province, NUON Chea spoke about the enemy situation, distinguishing between American,
Vietnamese and internal enemies).
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appointed as the Vice-President of the High Military Command of the People’s

Armed Forces for the Liberation of Kampuchea and the Chief of the Army Political
Directorate, although appointments made in this context do not necessarily reflect

actual authority.l016

335. NUON Chea was also involved in the procurement of arms and ammunitions
for use by the movement, particularly from China, via Vietnam.'”"” In 1973, NUON
Chea was also entrusted by POL Pot with the responsibility to provide security for the
visit of NORODOM Sihanouk to the liberated areas in Cambodia.'®'® Finally, NUON
Chea also confirmed having participated in the planning and decision-making
regarding the final attack on Phnom Penh, participating in several meetings during
which the military advance of the CPNLAF and the plans for the liberation of the
capital in 1975 and moving to the forward command base of B-5 for the final assault

of Phnom Penh were devised.'?"

336. During the DK period, NUON Chea’s involvement in external security matters
primarily involved the escalating violence between Cambodia and Vietnam. In a
meeting of the Standing Committee in March 1976, during which POL Pot was
absent, NUON Chea made several comments and provided instructions concerning
the border situation with Vietnam, indicating that both political and diplomatic

measures were required, as well as military force.!”® NUON Chea was also present

1016 NUFK and RGNUC Reinforced (Vietnam Courrier), E3/3709, 3 April 1972. See also, Cambodia:
The Pieces Begin to Fit (Far Eastern Economic Review), E3/1782, 21 October 1977, ERN (En)
00007521-22; Report by L. TRIVIERE: China and Cambodia, E3/482, November 1975, E3/482, p. 12,
ERN (En) 00523996.

1017 1,22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 94-95; T. 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 18-20,
28-29 (Indicating that he was instructed by the Central Committee to liaise with Vietnam to obtain
arms and ammunition provided by China for use during the final attack on Phnom Penh); T. 8 February
2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 10, 13-17.

1013 T 22 November 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 93-94; T. 5 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 52-53;
T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 22-25; T. 31 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 35-37.

1019 T 13 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 26-30; T. 14 December 2011 (NUON Chea), pp. 2-3; T.
30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 14-17; T. 6 June 2013 (NUON Chea), pp. 37-41; NUON Chea
Interview by KHEM Ngun, E3/3, Undated, ERN (En) 00184673. See also, T. 3 October 2012 (MEAS
Voeun), p. 93; T. 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 8-9; T. 31 July 2012 (ROCHEOM Tom), pp. 44-
45; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHEOM Tom), pp. 12-16, 24-25 (confirming the attendance of NUON Chea
at a Central Committee meeting with Zone leaders, regarding the preparation of the liberation of
Phnom Penh, in June 1974 near Phum Meak village).

1920 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/218, 26 March 1976, ERN (En) 00182656-57.
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and made comments in other Standing Committee meetings during which the border

. . . . . 21
situation with Vietnam was discussed.®

337. Numerous surviving telegrams concerning the situation on the battlefields as
well as on the border with Vietnam were copied to NUON Chea.'® There is also
evidence that, in certain instances, NUON Chea provided comments and instructions

on these matters.'%>

338. NUON Chea was also involved in matters relating to the activities of the
military other than the conflict in Vietnam. He was present during a Standing
Committee meeting held in May 1976, at which the construction of a covert weapons
factory and an airfield were discussed, as well as at a prior meeting in February 1976,
at which several matters of national defence were debated.'”® NUON Chea was

present during another Standing Committee meeting held in May 1976, discussing the

1021 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/217, 11 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/221, 14
May 1976, ERN (En) 00182695, 00182697-99 and 00182705.

1922 DK Telegram, E3/893, 26 January 1976 (reporting on a meeting with a Vietnamese delegation
regarding several territory and border issues); DK Telegram, E3/871, 21 March 1976 (informing
Brother POL Pot on the border situation and of the capturing of Vietnamese); DK Military Telegram,
E3/240, 15 June 1977 (notifying Angkar of the arrest of 209 Vietnamese soldiers and requesting its
comments/decision on how to proceed); DK Telegram, E3/882, 12 August 1977 (notifying Angkar that
“the Kampuchean army has committed mass killings of 1000 ordinary Vietnamese people at Ha Tien in
Kien Giang province”); DK Telegram, E3/885, 24 September 1977 (reporting on the situation in the
battlefield); DK Telegram, E3/895, 12 November 1977 (reporting on the situation along Road 22 where
enemy troops were attacked); DK Telegram, E3/908, 25 December 1977 (requesting Angkar’s
instructions and decisions in accordance with the situation that arose when the Yuon confiscated the
Memot rubber plantation and surroundings); DK Telegram, E3/243, 19 January 1978 (notifying
Brother Pol of the situation in Sector 23, Sector 24 and the battlefield at Road Number 22); DK
Telegram, E3/1021, 3 March 1976 (informing about the situation at the border on Road 19); DK
Telegram, E3/976, 6 November 1977 (informing that the instructions on the enemy invasion in the
vicinity of Trapeang Phlong were successfully carried out with great victory and splendor); DK
Telegram, E3/998, 23 March 1978 (reporting on the task of smashing the enemy aggressor Yuon at
Paung and Trapeang Phlong villages); DK Telegram, E3/155, 23 April 1978 (reporting about the
situation of the outside enemy and the enemies inside the Party); DK Telegram, E3/892, 29 October
1977 (also reporting about the arrest of Vietnamese and inquiring whether these should be sent to
Office 870); DK Telegram, E3/867, 20 March 1978. Other telegrams refer to the enemy situation on
the border with Thailand: DK Telegram, E3/1144, 5 September 1977. See also, DK Telegram, E3/974,
incomplete date; DK Telegram, E3/883, 27 August 1977.

103 KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/58, 21 November 2008, ERN (En) 00250089 (stating that
typewritten records regarding security matters were sent to NUON Chea and that NUON Chea
“regularly instructed on security matters such as to be vigilant of Vietnamese enemy or insider enemy,
the ambition of Vietnam, and ideological tasks for education to the district level.”); Book by KHIEU
S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic
Kampuchea, E3/16, ERN (En) 00498267 (referring to a statement of Ya that in June/July 1976 he was
instructed by NUON Chea to write a telegram to a Vietnamese liaison cadre proposing a ceasefire and
a meeting to resolve the border issues).

1024 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/222, 15 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/229, 22
February 1976.
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tasks of the army in defending and building the country, and its involvement in
agricultural production.®® Finally, in addition to the telegrams conceming the
battlefields and Vietnam, referred to above, NUON Chea was also the recipient of
other telegrams concerning activities of the military, particularly Division 164 of the
RAK 1026

339. The Special Issue of the Revolutionary Flag of December 1976-January 1977
reproduces a commemorative speech given on the occasion of the 9" anniversary of
the RAK in Cambodia.'”?’ At trial, NUON Chea denied giving the speech and stated
that SON Sen was the one who delivered it.'®® Contemporaneous news reports,
however, reproduce excerpts of the same speech and uniformly indicate that it was
NUON Chea who delivered the speech on 16 January 1977 in his capacity as Acting

DK Prime Minister.'*?

340. NUON Chea was also involved in the purges of cadres and military,
particularly from the East Zone. In 1978, he participated in a meeting with other Party
leaders, including POL Pot, SON Sen and Ta Mok, as well as several military
commanders, during which members of the East Zone, particularly SAO Phim, were
declared internal enemies of the Party to be purged. During the meeting, NUON Chea

spoke of the arrest of several members of the East Zone.%

1925 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/224, 30 May 1976.

1026 DK Telegram, E3/519, 29 March 1978 (concerning the arrest of two combatants for travelling
without a travel permit and identification and requesting that their commander be informed and
confirm their identity); DK Telegram, E3/1135, incomplete date (concerning the disappearance of the
wife of a cadre Division 164 and bearing an annotation from SON Sen addressed to NUON Chea
requesting him to take action against people suspected to be involved in this event); DK Telegram,
E3/915, 31 December 1977 (acknowledging receipt of instructions from the Party Center concerning
Vietnamese intruders and indicating Division 164 determination to be an absolute tool for the defence
of the Party, the peasants and the country against all enemies); DK Report, E3/928, 1 April 1978,
(informing about the testing of mines and requesting for machineguns). See also, DK Telegram,
E3/1222, 24 September 1976; DK Telegram, E3/1223, 27 September 1976; DK Telegram, E3/1224, 6
October 1976; DK Telegram, E3/1225, 6 October 1976; DK Telegram, E3/1226, 8 October 1976. Each
of these last five telegrams was copied to NUON Chea and SON Sen.

1927 Revolutionary Flag, E3/25, December 1976-January 1977, ERN (En) 00491406-37.

1928 T 11 January 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 33-34; T. 9 February 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 24-27.

192 Nuon Chea Speaks on Cambodian Army Anniversary (in FBIS Collection), E3/147, 17 January
1977, ERN (En) 00168465; 9" Anniversary of Founding of Revolutionary Army, E3/544, 28 January
1977, ERN (En) 00005866; Nuon Chea 's speech at Army Anniversary Meeting (in SWB Collection),
E3/191, 20 January 1977, ERN (En) 00004073.

1030 T 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 27-28; 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 48-49, 95-96.
See also, T. 9 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), p. 25; T. 25 April 2013 (RUOS Suy) pp. 52-58
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341. Actual membership of the Military Committee was of little significance due to
NUON Chea’s very senior positions within the Party. The Chamber finds that NUON
Chea received detailed information about and had considerable influence on DK

military policy and its implementation.
7.6.3. Supervision of S-21 Security Office

342. NUON Chea denied any involvement with the operation of S-21, subsequently

availing himself of his right to remain silent when asked questions on this topic.'®!

343. Witness KAING Guek Eav, who chaired the S-21 Security Office from 1976 to
1979, discussed at length NUON Chea’s role in connection with internal security
matters, particularly the operation of S-21. KAING Guek Eav regularly reported to
NUON Chea about his activities at S-21 and NUON Chea often provided him
instructions with regard to confessions and the treatment of the detainees.'"** More
particularly, NUON Chea requested that KAING Guek Eav have the names of certain
Party members removed from confessions accusing them of betraying the Party,
including references to KHIEU Samphan.'** KAING Guek Eav testified that NUON
Chea’s involvement with the operation of S-21 intensified significantly in August
1977, after SON Sen was transferred to the border with Vietnam as the conflict with

(participating in study sessions during which NUON Chea said that SAO Phim and KOY Thuon were
traitors).

131 T, 18 April 2012 (NUON Chea), pp. 3-7; T. 7 July 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 27. See also, T. 31
October 2013 (NUON Chea), p. 12 (indicating that he never met, supervised or gave any order to
KAING Gueak Eav).

1032 T 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 21; T. 26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 94; T. 27
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 10 (indicating the NUON Chea instructed that the practice of
audio recording confessions be ceased and that these be prepared in written form, instead), 47-53
(discussing his meetings with NUON Chea about the activities of S-21); T. 3 April 2012 (KAING
Guek Eav), p. 10 (indicating that NUON Chea requested that certain S-21 prisoners had their pictures
taken to confirm that they had died); T. 9 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 8; MAM Nai Interview
Record, E3/351, 7 November 2007, pp. 17-18, ERN (En) 00162921-22 (indicating that KAING Guek
Eav would transmit S-21 confessions to the Central Committee, which he knew also included NUON
Chea); (T. 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 112-113. See also, T. 30 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 45-47 (indicating that cases of major wrongdoings contained
in S-21 confessions involving staff at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs were reported by NUON Chea to
IENG Sary).

1033 T, 3 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 55-57; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 80. See
also, S-21 Confession - CHAP Mit, E3/1688, ERN (En) 00284069 (containing an annotation from
KAING Guek Eav that NUON Chea instructed that the names of certain individuals be removed from
this confession); T. 20 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 37, 39-40 (identifying KAING
Guek Eav annotation on CHAP Mit’s confession and concluding that NUON Chea reviewed that
confession and was aware of the operation of S-21).
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Cambodia escalated.!®** A number of S-21 confessions placed on the case file contain
annotations indicating that these were forwarded to NUON Chea.'” Witness SAUT
Toeung, NUON Chea’s bodyguard and driver, also confirmed having delivered
several documents from KAING Guek Eav to NUON Chea and vice versa.'””® In a
video-recorded interview after the DK period, NUON Chea confirmed to a journalist
that he received confessions and used some of them to draw lessons to educate cadres
against the enemy but also stated that the there were “so many” confessions that he

did not have time to read all of them.'**’

344. The Co-Prosecutors also submit that KAING Guek Eav identified annotations
made on S-21 confessions and other related documents as belonging to NUON
Chea.'”® Given KAING Guek Eav’s limited familiarity with NUON Chea’s

1034 T 27 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 14, 38-39, 47; T. 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p.
110; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 92-93.

1035°9.21 Confession - KUNG Kien alia EUNG Vet, E3/1565, 26 May 1977, ERN (En) 00182773; S-
21 Confession - Tiv Mei alias Santepheap, E3/1537, 18 September 1977, ERN (En) 00224639; S-21
Confession - CHAP Mit, E3/1688, ERN (En) 00284069; S-21 Confession - Khek Bin alias Sou,
E3/1706, 26 July 1977, ERN (En) 00224632; S-21 Confession - TEUT San, E3/1828, undated, ERN
(En) 00767942; S-21 Confession - PHON Phal, E3/1879, 11 June 1977, ERN (En) 00182725; S-21
Confession - UM Tauy, E3/3697, 21 July 1977, ERN (En) 00822359; S-21 Confession - HEM Soth
alias Sien, E3/1842, ERN (En) 00662317; S-21 Confession - PHENG Sun alias Chey, E3/3665, 13
October 1977, ERN (En) 00224634; S-21 Confession - CHUM Penh, E3/2129, 9 November 1977,
ERN (En) 00769567; S-21 Confession - SAO Tong Ly, E3/1889, 18 October 1977, ERN (En)
00796688; S-21 Confession - PECH Chay, E3/1875, 9 November 1977, ERN (En) 00748373; S-21
Confession - SIENG Pauy alias SEAN, E3/1894, 28 October 1977, ERN (En) 00702082; S-21
Confession - CHAP Veuan, E3/1882, 18 October 1977, ERN (En) 00662308; S-21 Confession - CHEA
Sreng alias Thal, E3/1831, 22 October 1977, ERN (En) 00831455; S-21 Confession - LUN In,
E3/3689, 21 October 1977, ERN (En) 00221784; S-21 Confession - DI Leng alias Pheap, E/1839; S-21
Confession - EUM Chhea, E3/1841, 25 November 1977, ERN (En) 00662314; S-21 Confession -
MAO Choeun alias Ly, E3/3645, ERN (En) 00223137; S-21 Confession - SIENG Phon alias Pha,
E3/3648, 10 November 1977, ERN (En) 00221765; S-21 Confession - SAK Man alias Veuan,
E3/1886, 11 November 1977, ERN (En) 00842788; S-21 Confession - CHOUT Nhe, E3/1687, ERN
(En) 00758196; S-21 Confession - HANG Bau, E3/1843, 11 March 1977, ERN (En) 00746208; S-21
Confession - TAING An alias En, E3/1826, 31 October 1977, ERN (En) 00821424.

1036 T 18 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), p. 44; T. 19 April 2012 (SAUT Toeung), pp. 14-22; See also, T.
26 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav). p. 41 (confirming that SAUT Toeung collected S-21 confessions
for NUON Chea).

1937 yideo of NUON Chea Interview by THET Sambath, E93/7.3R, ERN V00717048.

138 T 27 June 2013 (Document Hearing), pp. 60-64, referring to the following documents and
annotations: S-21 Confession - KUNG Kien alia EUNG Vet, E3/1565, 26 May 1977, ERN (En)
00182773 (“Excerpts sent to Comrade Pok”), S-21 Confession - San Eap alias Khon, E3/175, 17 April
1978, ERN (En) 00223903 (“to be followed up™); S-21 Confession - MOK Sam-Ol alias Hong,
E3/1546, 9 January 1978, ERN (En) 00224630 (“It has already been resolved”); S-21 Confession -
SAN Pau, E3/1548, 2 August 1978, ERN (En) 00767463 (“Brother Vann™); Letter to Respected and
Beloved Angkar by Pal, E3/1098 (“S-21 signature”). See also, T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav),
pp. 39-41.
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handwriting, there is some question whether the annotations were made by NUON

Chea.1039

345. Several foreigners were also imprisoned in S-21. Among these were
Vietnamese soldiers, whose arrest and imprisonment at S-21 was communicated to
the Party Centre, including NUON Chea.'%* KAING Guek Eav testified that prior to
the fall of DK, NUON Chea ordered him to ‘smash’ (that is, to execute)' ™' all
remaining S-21 inmates. At that time, there were about 500 detainees still being held
at $-21.'%

346. The Chamber recalls that the allegations concerning NUON Chea’s
responsibility in connection with the operation of S-21 Security Office were severed
from Case 002/01 and will be considered in future proceedings. Accordingly, the Trial

Chamber will make no findings in this regard in this Judgement.

7.7. Conclusions

347. While it remains unclear whether he was a member of the Military Committee
of the CPK, NUON Chea’s involvement in military and security matters was
intrinsically linked with his long standing authority within the Party. NUON Chea
actively participated in the operations of the RAK, particularly concerning the war
against Vietnam, and he received regular reports and gave instructions with regards to
security matters either directly or through decisions of the Party. NUON Chea’s role

in connection with propaganda and education also extended to and encompassed Party

1039 T 4 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 72-73, 79-82 (also indicating that he first saw annotations
purportedly made by NUON Chea on S-21 confession in 1999); T. 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav),
?op 3-9; T. 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 52.

0 T, 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 64-68 (indicating that NUON Chea ordered the execution
of four foreign nationals); T. 3 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 2-4, 18-19; DK Telegram, E3/867,
20 March 1978, ERN (En) 00847034 (indicating that one captured Vietnamese soldier will be sent to
S-21); DK Telegram, E3/181, 14 February 1978 (indicating that two Vietnamese soldiers were
captured and asking for their transfer to S-21). See also, e.g. S-21 List of Prisoners Categorized as
Foreigners, E3/2195.

1041 KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/453, 5 September 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00147581;
KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/449, 21 January 2008, pp. 7-8, ERN (En) 00159558-59. See
also, T. 20 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 17-18; T. 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER),
p. 30; Book by S. HEDER: Seven Candidates for Prosecution: Accountability for the Crimes of the
Khmer Rouge, E3/48, 2004, p. 65, ERN (En) 00393553.

1042 T 29 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 10-11; T. 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 18-19;
T. 9 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 3-4; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 89-90.
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discipline and internal security matters, as well as more generally the enemy situation,

advocating for the uncovering of enemies and their elimination.

348. Due to his seniority within the leadership of the CPK, NUON Chea enjoyed
oversight of all Party activities extending beyond the roles and responsibilities
formally entrusted to him during the DK period. The Trial Chamber agrees with the
views of Experts David CHANDLER and Philip SHORT that, within the Standing
Committee NUON Chea with POL Pot, exercised the ultimate decision-making power
of the Party. As Deputy Secretary of the Party, his control extended not only to
political decisions, but also to the government and the administration of DK and to
military matters.'* For these reasons, the Chamber finds that NUON Chea held and

exercised the power to make and implement CPK policies and decisions.

1043 7. 18 July 2012 (Expert David CHANDLER), pp. 35-37 (indicating that NUON Chea was active
in many spheres of the regime, including military affairs); T. 6 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp.
61, 66-67 (indicating the POL Pot and NUON Chea divided among them responsibility for all major
aspect of the Party work), 78-80, 82-84 (indicating that, while NUON Chea was not part of the Military
Committee, the Party was in control of the military); T. 8 May 2013 (Expert Philip SHORT), pp. 38-
40. See Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 202.
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8. ROLES AND FUNCTIONS - KHIEU SAMPHAN

349. According to the Closing Order, KHIEU Samphan was a prominent member of
the Party Centre whose responsibilities included roles in Office 870, GRUNK, the DK

State Presidium and the Ministry of Commerce.'**

350. Upon the commencement of the substantive hearing, KHIEU Samphan made
an opening statement.'*” He subsequently answered questions as to his identity and
personal background, and commented on certain paragraphs of the Closing Order by
reading from a prepared statement.'**® He also responded briefly to questions from the
Chamber about specific documents on the Case File.'" Thereafter, KHIEU Samphan
decided to exercise his right to remain silent and declined to respond to questions,
indicating that he would do so after the presentation of all the evidence by the Co-
Prosecutors.'® In May and June 2013 he answered a number of questions put to him
by Civil Parties.!® Shortly afterwards he informed the Chamber that he was again
exercising his right to remain silent.'®® On 31 October 2013 KHIEU Samphan gave

his final statement before the Chamber.'*!

8.1. Background Information and Pre-DK Period

8.1.1. Early life and career

351. KHIEU Samphan alias “Haem”, “Hem” or “Nan” was born on 27 July 1931 in

Chek or Rumchek Commune, Rumduol District, Svay Rieng Province.'”* He

1044 The roles and functions of KHIEU Samphan are discussed in paras 1131-1152 of the Closing
Order. In addition, paras 1536-1537 are relevant to KHIEU Samphan’s participation in the Joint
Criminal Enterprise.

1045 T, 23 November 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 8-18.

1046 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 62-95.

1047 T, 12 January 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 56, 61-62, 67, 71, 82

1048 T 12 January 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 82; T. 16 January 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 77-79.
1049 1 29 May 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 18-24, 28-29, 54-55, 85-88; T. 30 May 2013 (KHIEU
Samphan), pp. 16-18, 80-83; T. 4 June 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 24-25, 68-70, 109-110.

1050 1.9 July 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 41-43.

1051 7 31 Qctober 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 68-73.

102 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 62-63 (admitting the use of the aliases “Haem” and
“Nan”, and stating that the official name of the village in which he was born was either Chek or
Rumchek); KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 1, ERN (En) 00156741
(giving KHIEU Samphan’s birthplace as Rom Chek); KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia,
E3/579, 12 December 2007, p. 1, ERN (En) 00659091 (giving KHIEU Samphan’s date of birth as 27
August 1931 and birthplace as Svay Rieng Province); T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 52
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attended primary school in Kampong Cham Province, and went on to attend the Preah
Sihanouk secondary or junior high school, also in Kampong Cham, where he first met
POL Pot (then known as SALOTH Sar).' After graduating from Preah Sihanouk
School, KHIEU Samphan moved to Phnom Penh to attend the Lycée Sisowath.'%*
Following his graduation from the Lycée Sisowath in 1951, he began to study law in
Phnom Penh.!® In 1953, having been awarded a scholarship by the Cambodian

government, he travelled to France to study law and economics.'*®

352. A few months after his arrival in Paris, KHIEU Samphan joined the ‘Marxist
Circle’ founded and regularly attended by other Khmer students in France including
IENG Sary, SALOTH Sar, IENG Thirith and SON Sen.'”’ Shortly afterwards,
KHIEU Samphan left Paris for Montpellier, where he studied law and took classes in
economics.!®®® He continued to participate in the activities of the Marxist Circle,
joining the other members of the Circle for an excursion during one of the summer

vacations.'®’

(confirming that “Hem” was the revolutionary name of KHIEU Samphan); T. 9 October 2012 (MEAS
Voeun), pp. 94-95 (confirming that KHIEU Samphan also went by the name “Hem”); T. 18 July 2013
(Stephen HEDER), pp. 45-46 (confirming the use of the alias “Hem”); KHAM Phan Interview Record,
E3/58, 21 November 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00250089 (stating that KHIEU Samphan signed documents
with the name “Hém”).

1053 7. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 65; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia,
E3/713, 1 December 2007, ERN (En) 00177979. See aiso, Book by F. PONCHAUD: Cambodia: Year
Zero, E243.1, p. 152, ERN (En) 00862103; Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare,
E3/9, 2004, pp. 31, 33, ERN (En) 00396223, 00396225.

1054 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 65. See also, Book by D. CHANDLER: Brother
Number One, E3/17, 1999, p. 21, ERN (En) 00392935; Book by F. PONCHAUD: Cambodia: Year
Zero, E243.1, p. 152, ERN (En) 00862103.

1055 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 71; See also,, Biographical Notes by S. Sher, E3/110,
undated, p. 1, ERN (En) 00280537.

105 T 13 December 2011, (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 65, 72; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free
Asia, E3/579, 12 December 2007, p. 1, ERN (En) 00659091; See also, Book by F. PONCHAUD:
Cambodia: Year Zero, E243.1, p. 155, ERN (En) 00862104.

1957 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 71-73; T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikouen), p. 67;
IENG Thirith Interview by Elizabeth BECKER, E3/659, October — November 1980, pp. 4-5, 9, ERN
(En) 00182301-02, 00182306; Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 56-58,
62, ERN (En) 00237761-63, 00237767; T. 14 February 2012, pp. 4-5 (citing Documentary by D.
Aronowitsch and S. Lindberg: Facing Genocide - Khieu Samphan and Pol Pot, E109/2.3R, 2010).
However, SALOTH Sar left France in 1952, before KHIEU Samphan arrived: T. 13 December 2011
(KHIEU Samphan), p. 71; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/713, 1 December 2007,
ERN (En) 00177979; Book by B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in
Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-1979, E3/1593, p. xv, ERN (En) 00678484.

1058 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 72; See also, Biographical Notes by S. Sher, E3/110,
undated, p. 1, ERN (En) 00280537.

1059 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 72; See also, Biographical Notes by S. Sher, E3/110,
undated, p. 1, ERN (En) 00280537.
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353. In 1956, KHIEU Samphan returned to Paris to pursue a doctorate in
economics.'® He began to attend regular meetings of the Marxist Circle and, upon
the departure of IENG Sary, became its leader.!%! Like other members of the Circle,
KHIEU Samphan joined the French Communist Party.' He also assumed the
leadership of the Union of Khmer Students (‘Union des Etudiants Khmers’ or
‘UEK’),'%* which had been founded by “the progressive students” (as Witness
SUONG Sikoeun, a former UEK member, described them) under the influence of the

French Communist Party.1064

354. In 1959 KHIEU Samphan presented his doctoral thesis entitled ‘L’Economie
du Cambodge et ses Problémes d’Industrialisation’ (‘The Economy of Cambodia and
its Problems of Industrialisation’) at the University of Paris.'%’ In his thesis, KHIEU
Samphan characterised the Cambodian economy as “backward” and underdeveloped,
partly as a result of “international integration”, and proposed fundamental structural
reforms (such as a state monopoly on foreign trade, the reduction of land rents, and a
new agrarian credit system) aimed at fostering a more self-sufficient nation.'”® He
wrote that it was necessary to drive “landlords, retailers and usurers” away from their

“unproductive activities” and “encourage them to participate in production”, and to

1960 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 72. See also, Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The
History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, pp. 120-121, ERN (En) 00396312-13.

1061 T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 72-73; T. 14 August 2012 (ONG Thong Hoeung),
pp. 77-78 (citing Book by ONG T. H.: J'ai Cru aux Khmers Rouges, E3/1713); T. 2 August 2012
(SUONG Sikoeun), p. 67; Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p.
120, ERN (En) 00396312.

1962 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 75, 91; T. 25 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp.
46, 50; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 47; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the
Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 34, ERN (En) 00103740 (admitting that he joined the
French Communist Party, but alleging that he did not renew his membership card after 1957); Book by
B. KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge,
1975-1979, E3/1593, p. xv, ERN (En) 00678484.

1063 T 21 May 2013 (Philip JULLIAN-GAUFRES), p. 62; T. 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 75

1064 T 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 70. See also, ONG Thong Hoeung Interview Record,
E3/97, 22 November 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00287100; Book by F. PONCHAUD: Cambodia: Year
Zero, E243.1, pp. 155-156, ERN (En) 00862104-105 (describing the founders of the UEK as
“progressive students”, and noting that the UEK had a “representative to the French Communist
Party”). The UEK replaced the original Association of Khmer Students (‘Association des Ftudiants
Khmers’ or ‘AEK’), which was banned or dissolved in 1952 or 1953: THIOUNN Mumm Interview
Record, E3/5304, 4 June 2009, p. 2, ERN (En) 00345231; Book by F. PONCHAUD: Cambodia: Year
Zero, E243.1, p. 154, ERN (En) 00862104.

1965 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 74; Thesis by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Economy and
Industrial Development, E3/123, March 1979, p. 21, ERN (En) 00750554.

1066 .13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 74; Thesis by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Economy and
Industrial Development, E3/123, March 1979, pp. 44, 48, 58, 75-80, 100-102, ERN (En) 00750577,
00750581, 00750591, 00750608-13, 00750633-35.
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“transfer capital from the hyperactive commercial sector into more directly productive
sectors”.!%” He also suggested that “methodical organisation of the peasant force, into
mutual teams and then into cooperatives, will magnify its effectiveness ten times over

and make possible the clearing of new land, its irrigation, and its draining”.'%%®

355. However, the dissertation emphasised the importance of industrialisation and
technology for Cambodia’s economic development, and did not advocate the abolition
of currency or private property.'® The Chamber agrees with Expert Philip SHORT
that, while in some respects the ideas expressed in KHIEU Samphan’s thesis
prefigured aspects of CPK ideology, it was not a “blueprint” for the policies that were

ultimately enacted during the DK period.1070

356. Not long after his return to Cambodia, KHIEU Samphan founded a French-
language newspaper called ‘L’Observateur’.!””" KHIEU Samphan denied that the
newspaper was communist, but at times it was subtly critical of NORODOM
Sihanouk’s then government, and some of its major financial backers (including
IENG Thirith) were certainly aligned with the burgeoning communist movement in
Cambodia.®”? As a result, KHIEU Samphan was monitored and repeatedly harassed
by the authorities, in one instance being assaulted in the street outside his office by a

group of men who were probably agents of the secret police.w73 In 1960, KHIEU

197 Thesis by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Economy and Industrial Development, E3/123, March 1979, pp.
74-75, ERN (En) 00750607-08.

1068 Thesis by KHIEU 8.: Cambodia’s Economy and Industrial Development, E3/123, March 1979, p.
104, ERN (En) 00750637.

1069 T 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 54; T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 74-75;
Thesis by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Economy and Industrial Development, E3/123, March 1979.

1070 T 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 51; T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 51-53.

1971 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 76-77; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 52; Book
by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 6,
ERN (En) 00103726; IENG Sary Interview by Steve HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 32, ERN
(En) 00417630; T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 51.

1072°T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 76-78; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 52; Book
by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 6,
ERN (En) 00103726; IENG Thirith Interview by Elizabeth BECKER, E3/659, October-November
1980, p. 19, ERN (En) 00182316 ; Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp.
87-88, ERN (En) 00237792-93; T. 7 December 2012 (HUN Chunnly), pp. 108-109.

103 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 76, 78-80; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio
Free Asia, E3/581, 6 December 2007, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00659101-02; KHIEU Samphan Interview by
Radio Free Asia, E3/582, 7 December 2007, p. 1, ERN (En) 00659104; Book by E. BECKER: When
the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 90, ERN (En) 00237795.
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Samphan was arrested and detained without charge for over a month and

‘L’Observateur’ was closed down.!?7

357. After the closure of ‘L’Observateur’, KHIEU Samphan joined ‘Sangkum
Reastr Niyum’, the political party founded by NORODOM Sihanouk.'®” In 1962 he
was elected to the National Assembly, having been personally endorsed by the
NORODOM, and appointed Secretary of State for Commerce.'®”® KHIEU Samphan
suggested that this endorsement and appointment was an attempt by NORODOM
Sihanouk to win him over to the government’s side and, more generally, to gain
favour with communist states.'’”” To some extent, NORODOM may also have wished
to make use of KHIEU Samphan’s academic training in economics.'””® In his new

role, KHIEU Samphan began to implement economic reforms.'””

358. In March 1963, following student demonstrations in Siem Reap, NORODOM
Sihanouk — who blamed the riots on communists — broadcast a list of 34 known or
suspected ‘leftists’ (including KHIEU Samphan, POL Pot and IENG Sary), who were
condemned as “traitors”.!®®® KHIEU Samphan nevertheless kept his cabinet post until

he was forced to resign in mid-1963.1%!

1074 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 80; IENG Sary Interview by Courrier du Vietnam,
E3/111, 31 January 1972, p. 16, ERN (En) 00762420; Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over,
E3/20, 1986, p. 90, ERN (En) 00237795.

1075 T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 83-84; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free
Asia, E3/581, 6 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00659102.

1076 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 83-84; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent
History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 7, ERN (En) 00103726, KHIEU
Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/579, 12 December 2007, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00659091-92;
Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 96, ERN (En) 00237801.

1077 KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/581, 6 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En)
00659103. See also, Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 96, ERN (En)
00237801; Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After the War, E3/2376, p. 41, ERN (En)
00192226.

1978 Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 96, ERN (En) 00237801.

1079 7 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 84-87; Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was
Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 96-97, ERN (En) 00237801-02.

1080 T 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 66; Book by KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History
of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 17-18, ERN
(En) 00498236-37; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the
Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 13, ERN (En) 00103729; Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over,
E3/20, 1986, pp. 98-99, ERN (En) 00237803-04.

1081 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 86-87; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent
History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 13-14, ERN (En) 00103729-30;
Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 101, ERN (En) 00237806; Book by P.
SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 151, ERN (En) 00396351; Book by B.
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359. KHIEU Samphan retained his parliamentary seat upon his resignation from the

cabinet, and was re-elected to the National Assembly for a second term in 1966.1%2

360. As a newspaper editor and parliamentarian, KHIEU Samphan was widely
reputed to be a man of probity and honour: he was generally perceived to be
conscientious, incorruptible and principled, and to lead a relatively modest

lifestyle.1083

8.1.2. Party membership

361. In April 1967, NORODOM Sihanouk publicly accused KHIEU Samphan and
two of his left-wing colleagues in the National Assembly, HU Nim and HOU Youn,
of fomenting a peasant uprising in the village of Samlaut, Battambang Province, and
threatened to bring them before a military tribunal.'®* Fearing for their safety, the
three men fled Phnom Penh and, at the invitation of the CPK, took refuge in the

countryside near Ang Tasom, Takeo Province, under the protection of Ta Mok 1%

362. Between 1967 and 1970, KHIEU Samphan moved from village to village in
and around Kampong Speu, Kampong Chhnang and Takeo, aided by a clandestine

KIERNAN: The Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge,
1975-1979, E3/1593, p. xv, ERN (En) 00678484.

1082 KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/579, 12 December 2007, pp. 1-2, ERN (En)
00659091-92; IENG Sary Interview by Courrier du Vietnam, E3/111, 31 January 1972, p. 16, ERN
(En) 00762420; Khieu Samphan: Out of the Jungle (Time Magazine), E3/4424, 28 April 1975, p. 21,
ERN (En) S 00002604; Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p. 151,
ERN (En) 00396351; Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 101-102, ERN
(En) 00237806-07; Khieu Samphan Pleads Ignorance On Genocide (Le Monde), E3/4603, 24 January
2004, p. 3, ERN (En) 00716436.

183 T 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 52; T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 115-116; T. 7
December 2012 (HUN Chunnly), pp. 109-110; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 86-87;
T. 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 10-11; T. 21 May 2013 (Philip JULLIAN-GAUFRES),
pp. 69-70; T. 22 May 2013 (CHAU Sockon), pp. 68-69; T. 30 May 2013 (NOU Hoan), p. 34; Book by
E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 96-97, ERN (En) 00237801-02.

108¢ T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 87-88; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent
History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 21, ERN (En) 00103733; Khieu
Samphan: Out of the Jungle (Time Magazine), E3/4424, 28 April 1975, p. 21, ERN (En) S 00002604;
Book by E. BECKER: When the War Was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 104-105, ERN (En) 00237809-10;
Book by KHIEU 8S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of
Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, pp. 29-32, ERN (En) 00498248-51; IENG Sary Interview by Courrier
du Vietnam, E3/111, 31 January 1972, pp. 16-17, ERN (En) 00762420-21.

1085 T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 87; T. 25 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 40-41;
T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 54; T. 9 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 40, 44; KHIEU Samphan
Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/581, 6 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00659103; Book by KHIEU
S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 21, 23, 25-
26, ERN (En) 00103733-34, 00103735-36.
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CPK network.'%® In 1969, he spent time with Ta Mok at the latter’s headquarters near
Aoral Mountain, Kampong Speu.'®’ Although IENG Sary and NUON Chea
suggested that KHIEU Samphan was already a member of the CPK at this time, %%
their evidence was not consistent and did not give the Chamber sufficient reason to
doubt KHIEU Samphan’s testimony that he formally joined the CPK in 1969.1%%°
However, the Chamber is satisfied the KHIEU Samphan was in informal contact with
senior CPK members from a much earlier date: in particular, he was “in close touch”
with the Phnom Penh City Committee — an organisation that would gradually evolve

to become the CPK Central Committee — by the early 1960s.'%%°

363. By his own admission, KHIEU Samphan became a candidate member of the
CPK Central Committee in 1971 and a full-rights member in 1976.!°" His
membership of the Central Committee was confirmed by witnesses and experts who

testified at trial.'®?
8.1.3. 1970-1975

364. In March 1970, following the overthrow of his government by LON Nol,
NORODOM Sihanouk announced the formation of the FUNK.'® POL Pot sent the
NORODOM a message of support in the names of KHIEU Samphan, HU Nim and

1086 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, pp. 23, 27, ERN (En) 00103734, 00103736.

1087 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 89, 91; T. 3 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 105-
106; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 36, ERN (En) 00103741; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007,
pp. 3-4, ERN (En) 00156743-44.

198 |ENG Sary interview by Steve HEDER, E3/89, 17 December 1996, p. 32, ERN (En) 00417630
(indicating that KHIEU Samphan joined the CPK in 1955); NUON Chea Interview by KHEM Ngun,
E3/3, undated, p. 16, ERN (En) 00184667 (suggesting that KHIEU Samphan joined the CPK in 1963).
1989 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 91; T. 8 February 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 22.
1090 T 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 24-25, 31-32; Considerations on the History of Cambodia
From the Early Stage to the Period of Democratic Kampuchea, KHIEU Samphan, E3/16, p. 7, ERN
(En) 00498226; See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 84.

191" 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 92; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the
Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 140, ERN (En) 00103793. See Section 3: Historical
Background, paras 95, 127, 133-134, 142; Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 202.

1092 See e.g. T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 48; T. 10 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 76; T. 15
July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 43; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 73; T. 26 April 2012
(SALOTH Ban), p. 3. See also, T. 24 Juty 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 113-114, 122-123.

109 See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 97.
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HOU Youn.!” At some point between March and September 1970, KHIEU
Samphan, HU Nim and HOU Youn moved from Ta Mok’s Aoral Mountain base to
the CPK senior leaders’ headquarters at S-71 near the Stung Chinit River.'®° KHIEU
Samphan has alleged that it was at S-71 that he first met NUON Chea and POL
Pot.!%® However, NUON Chea claimed that he met KHIEU Samphan while the latter
was still at Mount Aural, and (although he may not have known POL Pot’s true
identity until 1970) KHIEU Samphan was acquainted with POL Pot from their school

days in Kampong Cham.'*"’

365. In 1970, KHIEU Samphan was named Deputy Chairman of FUNK and
Commander-in-Chief of CPNLAF.!"® In reality, KHIEU Samphan held no direct
military authority, and it was POL Pot who was in charge of the CPNLAF forces.'"”
KHIEU Samphan also assumed the posts of Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of
National Defence in GRUNK.''® Although he told the Chamber that these titles were
meaningless, KHIEU Samphan has admitted that he played “an important, if not an
indispensable” role as a liaison between the CPK and NORODOM Sihanouk.''"®! HU
Nim and HOU Youn were also named as GRUNK ministers;1102 with KHIEU

Samphan, they became the public face of the opposition movement in the early

1094 See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 97.

1095 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 39, ERN (En) 00103742 (indicating that they left Mount Aural “immediately after the coup of
March 1970”); KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En)
00156744 (stating that they went to the Chinit river area “around September 1970”). See also, Section
5: Administrative Structures, para. 211, fn. 649.

1% Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, pp. 39-40, ERN (En) 00103742-42.

197 T, 30 January 2012 (NUON Chea), p. 46; KHIEU Samphan Interview by Radio Free Asia, E3/713,
1 December 2007, ERN (En) 00177979-80. Section 7: Roles and Functions — Nuon Chea, para. 309;
Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 351.

199 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745; T. 13
December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 90-91; T. 1 August 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon),
p. 98.

109 T 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 90-91; T. 25 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), p. 45;
T. 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 54, 58; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 88; Book by
E. BECKER: When the War was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 139, ERN (En) 00237844. See also, THIOUNN
Prasith Interview Record, E3/96, 8 June 2009, p. 8, ERN (En) 00346945 (stating that POL Pot was the
actual commander of the armed forces prior to 1975).

100" See Section 3: Historical Background, para. 98.

101 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 42, ERN (En) 00103744; T. 13 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan) pp. 92-93. See also,
Section 3: Historical Background, para. 98.

1192 GRUNK Report: Cambodia’s Seat in the United Nations, E3/28, 1973, ERN (En) 00068119.
Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 731-734.
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1970s.!'%? Together, they were known as the ‘three ghosts’ — a reference to rumours of

their deaths which had circulated during their time in hiding."'**

366. From 1970 to 1975, KHIEU Samphan stayed in close proximity to POL Pot
and NUON Chea, and the three of them frequently met, worked together and ate

together."'%

367. In the early 1970s, KHIEU Samphan assisted with the preparation of FUNK
propaganda materials and helped to conduct political training sessions.!'” Between
1970 and 1975, the FUNK radio station broadcast appeals by KHIEU Samphan
(sometimes made jointly with HU Nim and HOU Youn) exhorting the population to
join or support the resistance movement against the LON Nol regime.''”” One such
appeal in January 1975 called on people to “overthrow and annilihate” and “turn
[their] guns against” the “traitorous” LON Nol clique.''® Other speeches delivered by
KHIEU Samphan demonstrated that he had knowledge of CPNLAF military

operations.''”

1103 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745; T. 11
July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 78-79; NUON Chea Speech to the Communist Workers’ Party of
Denmark, E3/196, July 1978, p. 21, ERN (En) 00762393; Article by S. HEDER: Pol Pot and Khieu
Samphan, E3/3169, 1991, p. 5, ERN (En) 00002750; ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview
Record, E3/24, 5 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00223580; IENG Sary Interview by Courrier du
Vietnam, E3/111, 31 January 1972, p. 17, ERN (En) 00762420.

1104 T 9 April 2013 (Frangois PONCHAUD), pp. 9-10; T. 20 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 22;
T. 17 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), pp. 15-16.

1195 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745; T. 11
June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 73; T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p 4; T. 30 July
2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 65-66; T. 11 December 2012 (PHAN Van), p. 55; T. 10
June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 54; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), p. 29; T. 23 April 2012 (SALOTH Ban),
p. 53; T. 7 December 2011 (LONG Norin), pp. 75-76; THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January
2008, p. 7, ERN (En) 00226112.

106 T 25 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 93-94, 96-97; T. 21 August 2012 (KIM
Vun), pp. 68-70; T. 22 August 2012 (KIM Vun), pp. 85-86.

197 See e.g. US Embassy Telegram, Subject: Cambodian Sitrep, E3/3292, 1 October 1970, p. 3, ERN
(En) 00418909; US Embassy Telegram, Subject: Khmer Report, E3/3294, 8 November 1971, p. 4,
ERN (En) 00418938; Khieu Samphan Issues Appeal to Compatriots, Monks (in FBIS Collection),
E3/30, 27 January 1975, ERN (En) 00166721-22; Khieu Samphan Appeals for Intensified Struggle (in
FBIS Collection), E3/120, 15 March 1975, ERN (En) 00166826-28; Khieu Samphan Issues Statement
on Current Situation (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 2 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166897-98.

N® NUFC Committee Chairman Appeals to Phnom Penh Citizens (in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 31
January 1975, ERN (En) 00166733-34.

1% See e.g. Khieu Samphan Issues Appeal to Compatriots, Monks (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 27
January 1975, ERN (En) 00166721-22; Khieu Samphan Appeals for Intensified Struggle (in FBIS
Collection), E3/120, 15 March 1975, ERN (En) 00166826-28.
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368. KHIEU Samphan accompanied POL Pot and NUON Chea on tours of the
countryside and CPK ‘liberated’ areas in 1971 and 1972.1'"% In 1973 he received
NORODOM Sihanouk upon the latter’s visit to Cambodia.!""! The following year, he
received a visiting delegation from the People’s Revolutionary Government of the
Republic of South Vietnam.!''? With IENG Sary, KHIEU Samphan also led
delegations on trips abroad, seeking support for the FUNK and recognition of the
GRUNK.''"

369. Inlate 1972 or early 1973, KHIEU Samphan married SO Socheat, a cook at S-
71.1""* Their first child was born in 1974."'"?

370. In February 1975, a FUNK press release announced that a FUNK “National
Congress”, purportedly held on 24 and 25 February and chaired by KHIEU Samphan,
had decided that the “seven traitors” of the LON Nol regime had to be killed. !¢
Although the evidence before the Chamber did not establish conclusively that such a
meeting ever actually took place, KHIEU Samphan referred to the 1975 Congress and

the decisions allegedly reached there in a speech he delivered the following year.!'!’

10 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 49, ERN (En) 00103747; Special Report, E3/637, undated, ERN (En) 00740939.

M1 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 60-61; Documentary by D. Aronowitsch and S. Lindberg:
Facing Genocide - Khieu Samphan and Pol Pot, E109/2.3R, 2010, 00.20.25-00.21.07 (depicting
KHIEU Samphan meeting NORODOM Sihanouk); Report by H. LOCARD: Northeast — Eisan Region,
E3/3255, 14 June 2007, ERN (En) 00403206 (giving the date of NORODOM Sihanouk’s visit as
March 1993, but it is clear from the context that this is a typographical error and the correct date is
March 1973); Khieu Samphan Pleads Ignorance On Genocide (Jean-Clau Pomonti, Le Monde),
E3/4603, 24 January 2004, p. 4, ERN (En) 00716437. See also, T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 81.
W12 pRGRS-NFLSV Delegation Visits 25-29 Dec (in FBIS Collection), E3/30, 6 January 1975, ERN
(En) 00166668-70.

H13°1 2 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 87-90; T. 22 May 2013 (CHAU Sockon), p. 62; NOEM
Sem Interview Record, E3/43, 18 July 2009, p. 7, ERN (En) 00365662; AKI Hails DRV-RGNUC
Relations, Friendship Associations (in FBIS Collection), E3/488, 14 February 1975, ERN (En)
00166754; FUNK Press Release, E3/1242, 1-2 April 1974; FUNK Press Release, E3/113, 2-3 April
1974; U.S Embassy Telegram, Subject: Khieu Samphan’s Visit, E3/3315, May 1974.

14T 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 54, 59.

115 T 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 62; T. 11 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 3-4. Section 3: Historical
Background, para. 139.

M8 Khiew Samphan Chairs NUFC Congress Session: Communique Issued (in FBIS Collection),
E3/488, 27 February 1975, ERN (En) 00166772-75. On the “seven traitors”, see Section 3: Historical
Background, para. 120, fn. 343.

M7 T 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 104-106 (doubting that the congress took place); Khieu
Samphan Report (in FBIS Collection), E3/273, 5 January 1976, ERN (En) 00167811.
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371. Shortly before the fall of Phnom Penh, KHIEU Samphan relocated to B-5 to
“follow the last offensive against the capital more closel » 118 Ag  the
CPK/FUNK/CPNLATF forces closed in on Phnom Penh, KHIEU Samphan continued

to appeal to people to rise up against the LON Nol regime.''"’

372. The Chamber is satisfied that KHIEU Samphan, who was highly-respected by
the population, played an important role in winning support for the opposition
movement between 1970 and 1975. His acceptance of key posts in FUNK, his role in
reassuring the public about CPK’s plans, his performance of diplomatic duties in his
capacity as GRUNK Deputy Prime Minister, his role in liaising with NORODOM
Sihanouk, his work in preparing and disseminating propaganda material and his calls
for violent struggle against the LON Nol regime in publicly-broadcast speeches all

served to bolster and give legitimacy to the CPK-dominated resistance movement.' %’

8.2. Residence, Working and Travel Locations During the DK Period

373. In 1975, after his return to Phnom Penh, KHIEU Samphan stayed briefly with
other CPK leaders at the city’s railway station, before moving to the former Ministry
of Finance building for approximately two weeks, and then the Silver Pagoda at the
Royal Palace for a short time.!'?! He then spent several months living and working at
K-1,"'% before moving to K-3, again accompanied by some of the other senior CPK

leaders.!'?® While living at K-3, he frequently visited K-1, where POL Pot continued

18 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 54, ERN (En) 00103750; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p.
3, ERN (En) 00156743; T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 57-59; See also,
Section 3: Historical Background, paras 144-147.

119 130 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 66; Khieu Samphan Appeals to Phnom
Penh Citizens to Join NUFC 14 Apr (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 14 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166948-
49

1120 Soe T. 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 35.

1121 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156745; T. 10
June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 64-66 (indicating that upon her return to Phnom Penh, she stayed first at
the railway station, and then at the Silver Pagoda, but did not stay with KHIEU Samphan); ROCHOEM
Ton alias PHY Phuon Interview Record, E3/24, 5 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00223582.

1122 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00156755; T. 10
June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 66-68.

1123 726 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 88; T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung),
pp. 9, 13-14; T. 7 June 2013 (SOK Roeu), p. 78; T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), pp. 40-41; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00156755; THA Sot Interview
Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00226111; KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/57,
10 March 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00290506; NORNG Sophang Interview Record, E3/67, 28 March
2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00483967.
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to reside.!'?* Witness SO Socheat claimed that POL Pot, NUON Chea, IENG Sary,
SON Sen and VORN Vet also lived at K-3, but after staying there for four or five
months they all left.!' However, other witnesses who recalled seeing KHIEU
Samphan living with the senior leaders at K-3 made no mention of this purported
departure, and the Chamber did not find the testimony of Witness SO Socheat,
KHIEU Samphan’s wife, to be convincing.'"?® Moreover, in an interview given in
2007, KHIEU Samphan himself stated that he was “always living in close quarters

with the Cambodian leaders”.!'?’

374. KHIEU Samphan travelled to China and North Korea on an official visit in
1975, the purpose of which was (at least partly) to discuss the terms of NORODOM
Sihanouk’s return to Phnom Penh.!'?® In 1976, KHIEU Samphan represented DK at a
summit of the Non-Aligned Countries in Sri Lanka.''” He also travelled into the

Cambodian countryside to visit worksites during the DK era.!!*

8.3. Roles During the DK Period

375. KHIEU Samphan occupied a number of official posts during the DK period.
According to the Closing Order, he served as President of the State Presidium, was a
leading member of Office 870, had responsibility for commerce, and (in the GRUNK
period) held the titles of Deputy Prime Minister, Minister of National Defence and

1124 T8 January 2013 (SA Vi), pp. 12, 85; T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), pp. 18, 97; T. 13 June
2012 (OEUN Tan), pp. 40-41, 43-45. See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 213.

125 T, 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), pp. 74-75.

126 See e.g. T. 2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 48 (stating that K-3 was a joint office where POL Pot,
KHIEU Samphan, IENG Sary and SON Sen worked); T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), pp. 13-14
(inidicating that KHIEU Samphan, NUON Chea and IENG Sary had houses at K-3); T. 13 June 2012
(OEUN Tan), pp. 40-41 (stating that KHIEU Samphan and NUON Chea stayed at K-3 while POL Pot
lived at K-1); T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 77 (suggesting that KHIEU Samphan, VORN Vet
and NUON Chea lived together in the “bank buildings” near the river); KHAM Phan Interview Record,
E3/57, 10 March 2009, p. 4, ERN (En) 00290506 (giving K-3 as the name of KHIEU Samphan and
NUON Chea’s office). Witness SO Socheat’s testimony contained a number of internal inconsistencies
and evasive answers to questions, which in the Chamber’s view diminished her overall credibility.
Section 3: Historical Background, para. 139.

1127 KHIEU Samphan Interview by France Culture, E289.1.1, August 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00923077.
128 J.S. State Department Telegram, Subject: Khieu Samphan leaves for North Korea, E3/3350,
August 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00413736; China’s Symbolic Support of Prince Sihanouk (The Times),
E3/3727, 28 August 1975; Book by N. CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After the War, E3/2376, p.
42, ERN (En) 00192227; Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004, p.
329, ERN (En) 00396537. Section 14: Joint Criminal Enterprise, paras 756-762.

1129 gee Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, fn. 1154.

1130 60 Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, fn. 1144,
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CPNLAF Commander-in-Chief.'"®! The Closing Order also alleges that KHIEU
Samphan was a member of the CPK Central Committee and attended and participated
in numerous meetings of the Standing Committee.''*?

8.3.1. Deputy Prime Minister, Minister of National Defence and

Commander-in- Chief

376. After the fall of Phnom Penh in April 1975, NORODOM Sihanouk’s GRUNK
formally took power in Cambodia, though Sihanouk himself did not return to the
country until September 1975.!3% KHIEU Samphan retained his roles as Deputy
Prime Minister, Minister of National Defence and CPNLAF Commander—in—Chief,1134
and as such continued to exercise certain diplomatic functions, such as meeting
visiting delegations from foreign countries and leading Cambodian delegations on
trips abroad.''** He continued to make public statements supporting the CPNLAF and
the new regime; denouncing the previous LON Nol government; and encouraging all

Cambodians to work hard to rebuild the country.''*®

377. Public radio reports claimed that KHIEU Samphan also chaired a “Special
National Congress” from 25 to 27 April 1975; like the purported FUNK Congress in
February 1975, it was not clear to the Chamber whether the April 1975 meeting
genuinely took place, but it was widely reported in the international press.'’*” A third

National Congress was allegedly convened in December 1975, following which

1131 Closing Order, paras 1135-1146.

1132 Closing Order, paras 1131-1134.

1133 Reception for Sihanouk: Speeches by Khieu Samphan and Sihanouk (in SWB/FE/5006/B
collection), E3/711, 11 September 1975, ERN (En) S 00003732-S 00003732; See also, Section 5:
Administrative Structures, para. 231.

'134 <Special National Congress’ Retains Sihanouk, Penn Nouth (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 28 April
1975, ERN (En) 00167012-13; NORODOM Sihanouk Telegram, E3/1106, 17 May 1975.

135 See e.g. Meeting With Sihanouk (in FBIS Collection), E3/274, 9 March 1976, ERN (En)
00167955; Khieu Samphan Delegation Leaves for PRC (in FBIS Collection), E3/119, 15 August 1975,
ERN (En) 00167391; U.S. State Department Telegram, Subject: KHIEU Samphan Visit to PRC,
E3/619, August 1975; Sihanouk, Samphan, Kim II-Song Meeting Described (in FBIS Collection),
E3/119, 21 August 1975, ERN (En) 00167402.

136 See e.g. Khieu Samphan 21 Apr. Victory Message on Phnom Penh Radio (in FBIS Collection),
E3/118, 22 April 1975, ERN (En) 00166994-96; PRAK Yoeun Interview Record, E3/471, 4 March
2008, p. 6, ERN (En) 00223338 ; KOAM Kek Interview Record, E3/433, 14 August 2009, p. 3, ERN
(En) 00365533; Khieu Samphan Report (in FBIS Collection), E3/273, 6 January 1976, ERN (En)
00167810-11, See also, T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), p. 39.

137 “Special National Congress’ Retains Sihanouk, Penn Nouth (in FBIS Collection), E3/118, 28 April
1975, ERN (En) 00167012. See e.g. Cambodia Holds Special Congress (The Guardian), E3/3722, 21
May 1975; Long March from Phknom Penh (Time), E3/4430, 19 May 1975, p. 3, ERN (En) 00445392.
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KHIEU Samphan announced the adoption of a new draft constitution for

Cambodia.''*®

378. The Chamber is unable to say whether KHIEU Samphan retained the title of
Commander-in-Chief when the CPNLAF was reformed into the RAK in July
1975.1'* In any event, the Chamber is satisfied that KHIEU Samphan never had
direct military responsibilities."'*® He did, however, attend meetings with other
CPK/DK senior leaders and military commanders or Zone or Sector-level officials at

which military matters were discussed.!™*!

379. As well as making speeches, KHIEU Samphan played a role in the re-
education of those returning to Cambodia from overseas, conducting at least one
political study session with returnees in 1975.1"* A number of witnesses who testified
before the Chamber reported attending large-scale political training sessions during
the DK period at which KHIEU Samphan lectured or taught.'*

380. Inearly 1976, KHIEU Samphan accompanied NORODOM Sihanouk on a tour

of the Cambodian countryside, during which they visited worksites and witnessed

thousands of labourers working on agricultural projects.''**

1138 National Congress Held; New Constitution Adopted (in FBIS Collection), E3/1356, 15 December
1975, ERN (En) 00167574-75.

1139 See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 240-244.

1140 T 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 71; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 88; T. 5 September
2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 27-29; T. 4 June 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 25; KAING Guek Eav
Interview Record, E3/452, 23 August 2007, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00147564-65 (indicating that KHIEU
Samphan did not have authority over S-21); T. 10 January 2013 (UNG Ren), pp. 43, 86 (stating that
SON Sen and POL Pot were in charge of the military); KHAM Phan Interview Record, E3/58, 21
November 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00250089 (stating that reports on “matters other than security” were
sent to KHIEU Samphan). See also, Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 365.

141 T 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 64-65, 67-68; T. 7 June 2012 (SAO
Sarun), pp. 55-58; T. 11 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), pp. 6-7.

142 1 7 August 2012 (ONG Thong Hoeung), p. 99; T. 7 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 17-19 (citing
Book by P. SHORT: Pol Pot: The History of a Nightmare, E3/9, 2004); Book by B. KIERNAN: The
Pol Pot Regime: Race, Power and Genocide in Cambodia under the Khmer Rouge, 1975-1979,
E3/1593, pp. 148-149, ERN (En) 00678569.

143 T 23 August 2012 (EM Oeun), pp. 79-85, 86-87; T. 27 August 2012 (EM Oeun), pp. 26-28; T. 3
July 2013 (EK Hen), pp. 40-48, 63, 78-82, 87-89, 90-98; T. 20 September 2012 (CHEA Say), pp. 32-
37, 71; T. 25 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 75-77; T. 1 August 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 95-96; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 74-75.

144 sihanouk Completes 3-Day Tour of North (in FBIS Collection), E3/273, 21 January 1976, ERN
(En) 00167844; KHIEU Samphan Interview by France Culture, E289.1.1, August 2007, p. 4, ERN (En)
00923078 (stating that he visited the countryside with NORODOM Sihanouk, but “did not see people
reduced to a skeletal state”, only “people who looked more or less normal, just like peasants at work™);
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8.3.2. President of the State Presidium

381. In April 1976, NORODOM Sihanouk and all members of the GRUNK
resigned to make way for the new government established by the DK Constitution.''*
Instead of a monarchy, the DK Constitution provided for a State Presidium to
represent the State of DK at home and overseas.!'* The State Presidium comprised a
President, First Vice-President and Second Vice-President; although in principle these
posts were to be elected by the PRA, in reality KHIEU Samphan was chosen to be
President by the CPK Central Committee before the PRA was ever convened.!'*’ His
appointment was formally confirmed at the PRA’s inaugural session.''*®
Constitutionally, the President had no executive power; as head of state, KHIEU

Samphan’s role was largely symbolic.'*

382. As President of the State Presidium, KHIEU Samphan continued to perform

diplomatic and ceremonial functions: for example, receiving letters of credentials

1150

from diplomats, °° welcoming foreign delegations,' ! hosting and attending State

THA Sot Interview Record, E3/464, 19 January 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00226110; Book by N.
CHANDA: Brother Enemy: The War After the War, E3/2376, p. 228, ERN (En) 00192413.

1145 S0 Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 236.

114 DK Constitution, £3/259, undated, p. 4, Chapter 8, ERN (En) 00184836.

147 DK Constitution, E3/259, undated, p. 4, Chapter 8, ERN (En) 00184836; Central Committee
Decision, E3/12, 30 March 1976, p. 5, ERN (En) 00182813. See also, Section 5: Administrative
Structures . The other members of the State Presidium were SAO Phim (First Vice-President) and ROS
Nhim (Second Vice-President): see Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 219, 235, fns 692, 693.
1148 DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976. See also,
Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 235-236. SAO Phim was appointed First Vice-President
and ROS Nhim Second Vice-President: DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes,
E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, p. 21, ERN (En) 00184068.

1199 T, 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 134; T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 133-134; T. 27
March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 66; T. 8 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), pp. 43-44; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, pp. 9-10, ERN (En) 00156749-50; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156756; SALOT Ban
Interview Record, E3/446, 7 April 2010, ERN (En) 00503164.

1150 717 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), pp. 22, 89-92; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14
December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156756; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the
Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 71, ERN (En) 00103758; Khieu Samphan Pleads
Ignorance On Genocide (Jean-Clau Pomonti, Le Monde), E3/4603, 24 January 2004, p. 4, ERN (En)
00716437; PRC Ambassador Presents Credentials (in FBIS Collection), E3/276, 12 May 1976, ERN
(En) 00168011; Khieu Samphan Receives Foreign Ambassadors (in FBIS Collection), E3/277, 14 June
1976, ERN (En) 00167900; French Ministry of Foreign Affairs Telegram, Subject: The Danish
Ambassador’s Visit to Kampuchea, E3/480, 26 January 1978, p. 1, ERN (En) 00389174.

1151 KIM Vun Interview Record, E3/380, 25 July 2009, p. 7, ERN (En) 00365646; Khicu Samphan
Receives Visiting Lao Women’s Delegation (in FBIS Collection), E3/286, 29 April 1977, ERN (En)
00168252; Burmese Delegation Meets Khieu Samphan (in FBIS Collection), E3/143, 2 September
1977, ERN (En) 00168726-27.
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1152 sending and receiving diplomatic messages on behalf of the DK

1154

receptions,

1153

regime °° and leading DK delegations on trips abroad

383. As President, KHIEU Samphan also continued to make speeches, praising the

Cambodian people and revolutionary army for their role in the ‘liberation’ of Phnom

Penh;''> supporting the creation of the new DK state and its institutions;''*®

endorsing the CPK’s policies, such as the use of co-operatives, food rationing, child

1157

labour and worksites; >’ celebrating purported achievements in nation-building and

1158 and decrying Vietnamese ‘aggression’.!"*

improvements in living conditions;
KHIEU Samphan told the Co-Investigating Judges that the content of his speeches
was “dictated” by POL Pot and that, although he generally agreed with what he said,
privately he disagreed with some of the specifics, such as the material on the abolition

of the currency.''®

8.3.3. Membership of the Central and Standing Committees

384. KHIEU Samphan became a full-rights member of the CPK Central Committee
in 1976, having been a candidate member since 1971 6! Although he has alleged that

the Central Committee was not an “executive organisation” and merely discussed the

1152 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 71, ERN (En) 00103758; Khieu Samphan Hosts Banquet (in FBIS Collection), E3/291, 28
November 1977, ERN (En) 00168593-94; Ne Win's Visit to Cambodia (in SWB Collection), E3/298,
28 November 1977, ERN (En) S 00008307-08; President of Laos in Cambodia (in SWB Collection),
E3/301, 23 December 1977, ERN (En) S 00008362.

1153 PRGRSV Officials Greeted on 30 April Victory (in FBIS Collection), E3/276, 5 May 1976, ERN
(En) 00168008-09; Further National Day Greetings from Foreign Leaders (in FBIS Collection),
E3/286, 25 April 1977, ERN (En) 00168236; Khieu Samphan Greets Libya's Al-Qadhdhafi on
National Day (in FBIS Collection), E3/143, 31 August 1977, ERN (En) 00168724.

154 T 6 August 2012 (SUONG Sikoeun), p. 74; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14
December 2007, p. 6, ERN (En) 00156757.

155 dnniversary of 17 Apr. Victory Celebrated (in FBIS Collection), E3/275, 15 April 1976, ERN (En)
00167630-32.

1156 DK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, ERN (En)
00184052-56.

5T Khiew Samphan's Speech at Anniversary Meeting (in SWB Collection), E3/201, 15 April 1977,
ERN (En) 00419512-18.

S8 gnniversary of 17 Apr. Victory Celebrated (in FBIS Collection), E3/275, 15 April 1976, ERN (En)
00167634; Khieu Samphan's Speech at Anniversary Meeting (in SWB Collection), E3/201, 15 April
1977, ERN (En) 00419513-17.

59 Khieu Samphan Statement (in FBIS Collection), E3/1359, 30 December 1977, ERN (En)
00169517-25. See also, LENG Chhoeung Interview Record, E3/385, 17 July 2009, p. 6, ERN (En)
00360130.

1160 K HIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 6, ERN (En) 00156757.

1161 goe Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 363.
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implementation of Standing Committee policies, he has also claimed that the Central
Committee issued directives intended to correct “abuses” and improve conditions in

the countryside.''®?

385. KHIEU Samphan was never formally a member of the CPK Standing
Committee.''%®> He has admitted that he attended what he described as “open” or
“expanded” meetings of the Standing Committee, but has consistently asserted that he
did not voice opinions or participate in decision-making during those me:etings.1164
The Co-Prosecutors allege that KHIEU Samphan was a de facto member of the
Standing Committee and that his attendance of its meetings placed him within a small

group of powerful and fully-informed members of the Party Centre.!'®

386. Twenty-three sets of Standing Committee meeting minutes were put before the
Chamber. Of these, 19 contain lists of those attending the meetings, and 16 record
‘Comrade Hem’ (KHIEU Samphan) as being present.''® The minutes in evidence
cover the period from August 1975 to June 1976, but do not necessarily represent all
of the Standing Committee meetings held in that period, or during the DK era
gc::nerally.1167 The Chamber infers from KHIEU Samphan’s regular attendance of
Standing Committee meetings in the 1975-1976 period that he continued to attend
Standing Committee meetings on a similarly regular basis thereafter. This is

11168

consistent with the evidence of his repeated visits to K- — where at least some of

1162 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, pp. 58-59, ERN (En) 00103752.

1163 7 '8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 2; T. 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 70; T. 30 July 2012
(ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), pp. 7-8; T. 10 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 50; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13 December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; SALOT Ban
Interview Record, E3/446, 7 April 2010, p. 5, ERN (En) 00153164.

1164 T 29 May 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 87-88; Written Record of Adversarial Hearing, E3/557,
19 November 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00153270; KHIEU Samphan Letter to the Co-Investigating Judges,
E3/112, 8 January 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00170883; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/27, 13
December 2007, p. 11, ERN (En) 00156751; Khieu Samphan Pleads Ignorance On Genocide (Le
Monde), E3/4603, 24 January 2004, p. 5, ERN (En) 00716438; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s
Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p. 63, ERN (En) 00103754.

1165 o.Prosecutors’ Final Trial Brief in Case 002/01, E295/6/1, 27 September 2013, paras 361, 527,
537-541.

166 60 Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 203, fn. 624.

167 T. 24 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 25. See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para.
203, fn. 624; Section 6: Communication Structure, para. 271.

1168 T 8 January 2013 (SA Vi), pp. 12, 21 (testifying that KHIEU Samphan, IENG Sary and NUON
Chea came to K-1 “very often” between 1976 and 1979); T. 17 June 2013 (LENG Chhoeung), p. 18
(stating that he drove KHIEU Samphan to K-1 “occasionally”); LENG Chhoeung Interview Record,
E3/385, 17 July 2009, p. 5, ERN (En) 00360129 (indicating that he drove KHIEU Samphan to K-1 two
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the meetings of the Standing Committee were held''® — and with his own admission
that POL Pot “trusted” him.''”

387. The surviving minutes demonstrate that, despite his insistence to the contrary,
KHIEU Samphan actively participated in some Standing Committee meetings.
Although the minutes do not always attribute remarks to individual speakers, they
prove that KHIEU Samphan contributed on at least two occasions, reporting to the
Committee on relations with NORODOM Sihanouk and on the ‘election’ of 20 March
1976.""

388. Moreover, despite repeatedly claiming that he was not kept well-informed

1172 1173

during the DK era, and despite specifically denying knowledge of arrests,

KHIEU Samphan was present at Standing Committee meetings during which

174 propaganda,''” living conditions in the countryside (including illnesses,

1176 1178

arrests,

child labour,'!”’ foreign affairs, national

1180 1181

deaths and food shortages),

1179

defence, '~ armed conflict with Vietnam **" and commerce’ ~ were discussed.

or three times per week); T. 13 June 2012 (OEUN Tan), pp. 41, 42, 53 (stating that KHIEU Samphan
attended meetings at K-1 “regularly”, approximately once a month or once a fortnight); T. 10 June
2013 (SO Socheat), p. 76 (stating that KHIEU Samphan went to K-1 “occasionally”).

169 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00156755,

1170 KHIEU Samphan Interview by France Culture, E289.1.1, August 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00923077.
7 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/197, 11-13 March 1976, pp. 1, 4, ERN (En) 00182638,
00182641 (discussing NORODOM Sihanouk’s desire to resign, and possible responses); Standing
Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00182628 (discussing the principles,
objectives and methods of the forthcoming ‘election’ and methods of education and propaganda).

172 T 29 May 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 87-88; KHIEU Samphan Interview by France Culture,
E289.1.1, August 2007, pp. 3, 5, ERN (En) 00923077, 00923079; Khiew Samphan Pleads Ignorance
On Genocide (Jean-Clau Pomonti, Le Monde), E3/4603, 24 January 2004, p. 4, ERN (En) 00716437.
173 T 29 May 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), p. 88; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and
the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 128, 141, ERN (En) 00103787, 00103793.

1174 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, pp. 3, 4, ERN (En) 00182630, 00182631.
175 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/231, 8 March 1976.

1176 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/232, 8 March 1976, pp. 3, 4, 6, ERN (En) 00182630, 00182631,
00182633.

177 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/226, 10 June 1976, pp. 2, 5, ERN (En) 00183364, 00183367;
Standing Committee Minutes, E3/230, 22 February 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00182547.

n7 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/219, 3 May 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/223, 17
May 1976.

179" Standing Committee Minutes, E3/229, 22 February 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/224,
30 May 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00182667.

1180 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/218, 26 March 1976, pp. 1-4, 7, ERN (En) 00182651-00182653,
00182657.

1181 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/233, 13 March 1976; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/220, 7
May 1976.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public /‘k/ fy/ 199



01005867

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

389. Further demonstrating his level of awareness, KHIEU Samphan has admitted
that he attributed the disappearance of friends and colleagues during the DK era to
POL Pot but “kept on hoping that POL Pot would backtrack one day.”!'®? He has also
admitted that in mid-1978 he learned of “arrests and barbarous acts” in Preah Vihear,
and specifically of the arrest and ill-treatment of his wife’s siblings.''®® Consistently
with this, Witness MEAS Voeun — a military officer who went to the new North Zone
in 1978'1%* _ testified that KHIEU Samphan sent him a telegram in 1978 asking about
the welfare of his relatives, and ordering that they be sent to Phnom Penh if they were
facing hardship.!'® As a result, Witness MEAS Voeun made enquiries, and helped to
secure the release of KHIEU Samphan’s sister-in-law from a security centre in Siem
Reap where she had been detained.''*® While Witness KAING Guek Eav suggested
that KANG Chap, the Secretary of the new North Zone, was punished by POL Pot for

1187

his role in this incident, °’ in a letter written to national newspapers in 2001, KHIEU

Samphan appeared to acknowledge that the detention of his relatives had led to the

arrest of certain “regional party secretaries”.' %

8.3.4. Membership of Office 870

390. Office 870, which oversaw the implementation of Standing Committee
decisions, comprised two members: SUA Vasi alias Doeun, who was appointed
chairman of the Office in October 1975, and KHIEU Samphan, who joined at around
the same time.''®® $-71, headed by CHIMM Sam Aok alias Pang, may have been a

subordinate office of Office 870; the precise relationship was unclear.!'*®

1182 K HIEU Samphan Interview by France Culture, E289.1.1, August 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00923077.
183 KHIEU Samphan Letter to “All My Compatriots”, E3/205, 16 August 2001, p. 3, ERN (En)
00149526.

1134 T 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), p. 70.

1185 T 4 October 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 73-75.

118 T 4 Qctober 2012 (MEAS Voeun), pp. 75-76.

187 1 5 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 107. See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para.
220.

1188 KHIEU Samphan Letter to “All My Compatriots”, E3/205, 16 August 2001, p. 3, ERN (En)
00149526.

189 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393; KHIEU
Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00156754; Book by KHIEU S.:
Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 65-66, ERN (En)
00103755-00103756. See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 207-210.

190 See Section 5: Administrative Structures, paras 211-212.
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391. The Co-Prosecutors allege that KHIEU Samphan succeeded Doeun as the head
of Office 870 in 1976 or 1977.!""! KHIEU Samphan has consistently denied that he
ever served as the chairman of Office 870, and has claimed that he was responsible
only for maintaining relations with NORODOM Sihanouk; setting the price scales for
products from the co-operatives and other economic units; implementing Standing
Committee decisions regarding the distribution of products to the Zones; and working
with the Khmer Company for Foreign Trade (‘FORTRA’) on imports.''*? In reality,
as KHIEU Samphan has admitted, there was no exchange of merchandise between co-

operatives, so his responsibility for the setting of prices was only ever theoretical.''*?

392. KHIEU Samphan has claimed to be unaware of Doeun’s precise role as
chairman of Office 870, though he has acknowledged that Doeun received reports
from the Zones and was “in charge of political affairs”.'*** Doeun was arrested and
taken to S-21 in February 1977.1"% Office 870 nevertheless continued to function
until at least 1978: KHIEU Samphan has stated that he worked in Office 870 until
1978, and telegrams addressed to ‘M-870 or copied to ‘Office’ were sent throughout
1977 and 1978."'%

191 o Prosecutors’ Final Trial Brief in Case 002/01, E295/6/1, 27 September 2013, paras 557-558.
192 Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, pp. 65-66, ERN (En) 00103755-56; KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December
2007, pp. 3, 5, ERN (En) 00156754, 00156756; Written Record of Adversarial Hearing, E3/557, 19
November 2007, p. 4, ERN (En) 00153269; KHIEU Samphan Interview by VOA Khmer, E3/204, 14
November 2007, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00680033-34; KHIEU Samphan Letter to the Co-Investigating
Judges, E3/112, 8 January 2008, p. 2, ERN (En) 00170882; See also, FORTRA Invoice, E3/2056, 2
January 1978, ERN (En) 00072603 (giving the full name of FORTRA).

1193 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 5, ERN (En) 00156756; KHIEU
Samphan Letter to the Co-Investigating Judges, E3/112, 8 January 2008, p. 2, ERN (En) 00170882

1194 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 3, ERN (En) 00156754; KHIEU
Samphan SOAS/HRW Interview, E3/198, 17 August 2005, p. 1, ERN (En) 00184680; Book by
KHIEU S.: Considerations on the History of Cambodia From the Early Stage to the Period of
Democratic Kampuchea, E3/16, p. 61, fn 193, ERN (En) 00498280.

1193 pevised S-21 Prisoner List, E3/342, 19 May 2009, p. 416, ERN (En) 00330011; S-21 Confession —
SUA Vasi alias Doeun, E3/1625, 4 April 1977.

1% Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made,
E3/18, p. 66, ERN (En) 00103756. See e.g. DK Telegram, E3/1200, 8 May 1977; DK Telegram,
E3/890, 28 October 1977; DK Telegram, E3/902, 14 December 1977; DK Telegram, E3/908, 24
December 1977; DK Telegram, E3/916, 1 January 1978; DK Telegram, E3/913, 16 January 1978; DK
Telegram, E3/932, 13 April 1978; DK Telegram, E3/247, 29 April 1978.
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393. KHIEU Samphan has speculated that Pang may have succeeded Doeun as
chairman of Office 870; however, he has described this as a mere “presumption”.“97
Witnesses SALOTH Ban and PHY Phuon (both of whom worked at the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs during the DK period) testified that Pang was the head of Office 870,
but the dates they gave for Pang’s purported chairmanship contradicted Standing
Committee meeting minutes showing that Doeun was in charge of Office 870 in
1975.1"% Other witnesses also described Pang as the head of Office 870, but without
making reference to Doeun, leading the Chamber to conclude that they were
confusing Office 870 with Office S-71.1"% The Chamber is not convinced that Pang

ever served as chairman of Office 870.

394. A number of other witnesses and experts who appeared before the Trial
Chamber testified that it was KHIEU Samphan who replaced Doeun as head of Office
870.

395. PHY Phuon claimed that KHIEU Samphan took charge of Office 870 after
Doeun’s arrest although, as outlined above, his understanding of the sequence of
events conflicted with documentary evidence before the Chamber.'”®® PHY Phuon’s
contact with KHIEU Samphan mainly concerned the reception of guests and his
understanding of KHIEU Samphan’s position within Office 870 was based on

hearsay. 1201

1197 KHIEU Samphan Interview Record, E3/37, 14 December 2007, p. 2, ERN (En) 00156753; Book
by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, p.
154, ERN (En) 00103800.

198 witness SALOTH Ban stated that Pang was in charge of Office 870 from 1975 or earlier: T. 26
April 2012 (SALOTH Ban), pp. 6-7, 10. Witness ROCHOEM Ton stated that Pang was in charge of
Office 870 until his disappearance, at which time Doeun took over: T. 26 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton
alias PHY Phuon), p. 92. However, Standing Committee meeting minutes show that Doeun was in
charge of Office 870 in 1975: Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En)
00183393. Moreover, by the time Pang disappeared in mid-1978, Doeun had already been arrested and
sent to S-21: see Section 5: Administrative Structures, para.214.

119 See e.g. T. 3 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 22; T. 25 September 2012 (NOEM Sem), p. 42. See
also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 212.

1200 See e.g., Section 3: Historical Background, para. 107.

1201 T 2 August 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 54; T. 26 July 2013 (ROCHOEM Ton
alias PHY Phuon), p. 94 (stating that he learned that KHIEU Samphan had replaced Doeun from IENG
Sary); T. 30 July 2012 (ROCHOEM Ton alias PHY Phuon), p. 80 (“the public at large knew about
[KHIEU Samphan] and they said that when Doeun disappear (sic) he was in charge of Office 870.”)
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396. In his testimony before the Chamber, Witness KAING Guek Eav referred to
the office chaired by Doeun as the “Central Office”.!*” However, in previous
interviews with the Co-Investigating Judges, he called the same entity “Office
870”.!2 He alleged that KHIEU Samphan had a more senior role in Office 870 than
Doeun, which he retained after Doeun’s departure.1204 KAING Guek Eav has
admitted that he knew little about the work of Office 870,'%® and his statements about
KHIEU Samphan’s position within the Office seemed to be inferences drawn from

d, 1206

KHIEU Samphan’s general seniority in the DK perio academic texts'?®’ and

hearsay.m8

397. Two interviews conducted by Witness Stephen HEDER suggested that KHIEU
Samphan became chairman of Office 870 after Doeun. The first was an interview with
VAN Rith, Minister of Commerce during the DK period, who is now deceased.'*®
Although Stephen HEDER — whom the Chamber found to be generally credible —
testified as to the circumstances in which the interview was conducted, the Chamber

has been unable to accord his notes of the interview significant probative value.'?"°

1202 T 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 98; T. 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 9.

1203 See e.g. KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/107, 24 June 2008, p. 8, ERN (En) 00198224;
KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/456, 25 June 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00198882; KAING Guek
Eav Interview Record, E3/355, 19 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00242874.

1204 T 28 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 99; T. 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), pp. 10-11, 13;
KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/456, 25 June 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00198882.

1205 K AING Guek Eav Written Answers, E3/15, 21 October 2008, ERN (En) 00251376.

1206 T 2 April 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 10-11 (suggesting that Doeun could not have been the
head of Office 870 because he was “junior”, “young” and “inferior” to KHIEU Samphan); KAING
Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/456, 25 June 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00198882 (referring to KHIEU
Samphan’s role in the State Presidium while discussing Office 870).

1207 See e.g. KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/456, 25 June 2008, p. 4, ERN (En) 00198882
(referring to the work of author David Chandler); KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/355, 19
November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00242874 (referring to a book by David Chandler).

1208 See e.g. KAING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/107, 24 June 2008 p. 8, ERN (En) 00198224 (“1
was told that [KHIEU Samphan] had been appointed head of Office 870.”); KAING Guek Eav
Interview Record, E3/448, 4 December 2007, p. 6, ERN (En) 00154911.(suggesting that he heard about
KHIEU Samphan’s role from Pang).

1209 y AN Rith Interview by Stephen HEDER, E3/5699. 21 March 2004, p. 1, ERN (En) 00567469.

1210 T 15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 7. The Chamber has previously set out its position on the
admissibility and probative value of written statements of deceased persons: see Decision on
Objections to the Admissibility of Witness, Victim and Civil Party Statements and Case 001
Transcripts Proposed by the Co-Prosecutors and Civil Party Lead Co-Lawyers, E299, 15 August 2013,
para. 29. In relation to E3/5699, the Chamber has taken into account the fact that no full transcription
or recording of the interview was available, the summary of the interview was not signed by VAN Rith,
and the interview was conducted informally.
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The second was an interview with IENG Sary.1211 However, as no full or formal
record of the interview was made and IENG Sary subsequently denied having stated
that KHIEU Samphan was appointed chief of Office 870, the summaries of the

interview on the Case File cannot be given significant weight in this respect.1212

398. In the course of their historical research, neither Expert Philip SHORT nor
Expert David CHANDLER came across any document confirming that KHIEU
Samphan replaced Doeun as the head of Office 870."'* No such document was put
before the Chamber. However, Philip SHORT told the Chamber that, based on the
materials he had seen, it was “reasonable to assume” that KHIEU Samphan “had an
important role” in the Office after Doeun’s departure.'?* David CHANDLER also

assumed that KHIEU Samphan replaced Doeun after the latter’s arrest.'*"

399. Having considered the evidence, the Chamber is not satisfied that KHIEU
Samphan ever served as the chairman of Office 870. The Chamber is therefore unable
to say whether KHIEU Samphan saw all of the telegrams and documents passing
through or copied to Office 870, in particular all of those which did not concem his

specific areas of policy responsibility.

8.3.5. Oversight of the Commerce Committee (Ministry of Commerce)

400. In October 1975, the CPK Standing Committee assigned KHIEU Samphan
responsibility for “the Front and the Royal Government, and Commerce for
accounting and pricing”.'*'® KOY Thuon alias Thuch was given responsibility for
“domestic and international commerce” and VORN Vet for “Industry, Railroads and
Fisheries”.'?!” In March 1976, the Standing Committee appointed KHIEU Samphan to

a committee charged with “mak[ing] examinations and preparation of merchandise

1211 JENG Sary Interview by Stephen HEDER E3/190, 4 January 1999, ERN (En) 00081572; IENG
Sary Interview Notes by Stephen HEDER, E3/573, 4 January 1999, ERN (En) 00427599; See also, T.
15 July 2013 (Stephen HEDER), p. 4.

1212 JENG Sary Declaration, E3/515, 1 September 2009.

1213 T 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 27; T. 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), p. 100.

1214 T 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 27-28; T. 9 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 97.

1215 7 18 July 2012 (David CHANDLER), pp. 108-109, 120. It is possible that Expert David
CHANDLER based this assumption on research conducted by Witness Stephen HEDER: see Book by
D. CHANDLER: Voices From S-21: Terror and History in Pol Pot’s Secret Prison, E3/1684, pp. 64,
182, ERN (En) 00192743, 00192875.

1216 ganding Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9 October 1975, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183393.

1217 See also, Section 5: Administrative Structures, para. 232.
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which must be purchased”; the other members of the committee were KOY Thuon
(chairman), IENG Sary, VORN Vet and SUA Vasi alias Doeun.'?!® At the same time,
KHIEU Samphan was made chairman of a committee created to examine banking

matters; the other members were KOY Thuon, IENG Sary and Doeun.'?"

401. The hierarchy of responsibility for economic and commercial matters during
the DK period was complicated by frequent arrests within the upper echelon of the
CPK. The evidence before the Chamber has nevertheless enabled it to discern an

approximate sequence of events.

402. After the Khmer Rouge seized power, the first person to take charge of the
economy was KOY Thuon. He was arrested in April 1976 and taken to S-21 in
1977.1%%0

403. Around the time of KOY Thuon’s arrest, the DK PRA confirmed VORN Vet

as the Deputy Prime Minister responsible for economics, with six committees under

1221

his authority, including the Commerce Committee. The Commerce Committee

(also known as the Ministry of Commerce' 2

) was responsible for the storage, import
and export of goods during the DK era. Its operations included state warehouses,

where goods from the Zones were stored and prepared for export;'*** the Kampong

1218 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/233, 13 March 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00182649. ‘Comrade
Touch’ was also appointed to the Committee as “recording member” — presumably minute-taker.

1219 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/233, 13 March 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00182650. Again,
‘Comrade Touch’ was appointed as “recording member”.

1220 T 2 May 2012 (PEAN Khean), p. 68; T. 12 June 2013 (SIM Hao), p. 68; S-21 Confession - KOY
Thuon alias Thuch, E3/1604, 3 March 1977; YIN Eng Interview Record, E3/473, 5 March 2008, p. 4,
ERN (En) 00223342 ; Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over, E3/20, 1986, pp. 181, 217, 265,
ERN (En) 00237886, 00237922, 00237970; Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices From S-21: Terror and
History in Pol Pot’s Secret Prison, E3/1684, pp. 47, 61, ERN (En) 00192726, 00192740.

1221 pK People’s Representative Assembly Meeting Minutes, E3/165, 11-13 April 1976, p. 22, ERN
(En) 00184069; T. 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), pp. 16-17.

12227 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 15.

1223 7. 12 June 2013 (SIM Hao), pp. 85, 97; SIM Hao Interview Record, E3/472, 5 March 2008, p. 3,
ERN (En) 00205031; YEN Kuch Interview Record, E3/437, 2 September 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En)
00375484-85; SUON Ri DC-Cam Interview, E3/4624, 2 February 2003, p. 29, ERN (En) 00699078;
PET Na DC-Cam Interview, E3/5647, 20 October 2004, p. 36, ERN (En) 00640171. Though formally
the state warehouses in Phnom Penh were run by a committee headed by ‘Comrade Roeung’, they
appeared to be under the authority of the Commerce Committee: T. 25 April 2013 (RUOS Suy), pp. 24,
66; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/235, 19-21 April 1976, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183417; RUOS Suy
DC-Cam Interview, E3/4594, p. 74, ERN (En) 00710562 (stating that Doeun often visited one of the
warehouses). See also, Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 406.
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1224 and Ren Fung, a Hong Kong-based company established by the

Som port;
Committee which, together with FORTRA,'?** enabled DK to trade on international
markets.'??® VORN Vet retained a supervisory role until his arrest in November 1978,
but did not engage closely in the day-to-day management of the Commerce

. 1227
Committee.

404. Shortly after VORN Vet’s appointment as Deputy Prime Minister, the CPK
Standing Committee named VAN Rith, PRUM Nhem alias TIT Sun alias Nhem and
‘Comrade Chhoeun’ as the members of the Commerce Committee.'”® A few weeks
later, on 7 May 1976, the Standing Committee assigned NON Suon alias Chey, who

1229 46 “come and control Commerce”. SUA Vasi alias

was in charge of agriculture,
Doeun was also ordered to “go down to Commerce” until July 1976, balancing this
with his work at Office 870."*° It was not clear to the Chamber what functions NON
Suon performed in relation to the Commerce Committee, if any; Witness KAING
Guek Eav told the Co-Investigating Judges that it was Doeun who took control of the

1231

Committee after KOY Thuon’s arrest. = In any event, the Commerce Committee had

1224 T 12 June 2013 (SIM Hao), p. 85; SUON Ri DC-Cam Interview, E3/4624, 2 February 2003, pp.
26-27, ERN (En) 00699075-00699076 (stating that the Kampong Som port was under the authority of
the Commerce Committee until 1976).

1225 7 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 75; Invoice for Green Bean sold to China, E3/2056, 3
January 1978, ERN (En) 00072606 ; Letter from FORTRA to RENG Fung Company in Hong Kong,
E3/1619 (also E3/1620, E3/1735 and E3/2517), 7 July 1978, pp. 1-2, ERN (En) 00350169-70.

1226 T 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 75.

12277, 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 37 (stating that VORN Vet “oversaw” commerce and
industry, but was not the Commerce Committee chairman); T. 4 June 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 26
(indicating that he did not see VORN Vet at the office of the Commerce Committee); T. 29 March
2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 27 (stating that VORN Vet was arrested in November 1978). See also,
Book by E. BECKER: When the War was Over, E3/20, 1986, p. 325, ERN (En) 00238038 (confirming
VORN Vet’s arrest in November 1978); Book by D. CHANDLER: Voices From S-21: Terror and
History in Pol Pot’s Secret Prison, E3/1684, p. 21, ERN (En) 00182370 (referring to VORN Vet’s
execution at S-21 in 1978). See also, Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 406.

1228 Standing Committee Minutes, E3/235, 19-21 April 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00183416. See also,
THING Leap Interview Record, E3/5224, 28 October 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00239073; UONG Thea
Interview Record, E3/5223, 28 October 2008, p. 3, ERN 00239008; SIM Hao Interview Record,
E3/363, 29 October 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00239067; Article by T. CARNEY: The Organization of
Power, in Cambodia 1975-1978: Rendezvous With Death, E3/49, p. 101, ERN (En) 00105150 (all
indicating that the “‘Nhem’ on the Commerce Committee was PRUM Nhem alias TIT Sun, who ran the
port at Kampong Som). Nhem was ultimately arrested and taken to S-21: Revised S-21 Prisoner List,
E3/342, 19 May 2009, p. 470, ERN (En) 00330065.

1229 T 99 March 2012 (KAING Guek Eav), p. 23 (clarifying that ‘Comrade Chey’ was NON Suon).
See also, T. 11 July 2013 (Stepen HEDER), pp. 33-34; Standing Committee Minutes, E3/182, 9
October 1975, p. 2, ERN (En) 00183394.

1230 gtanding Committee Minutes, E3/220, 7 May 1976, p. 1, ERN (En) 00182706.

1231 ¥ AING Guek Eav Interview Record, E3/355, 19 November 2008, p. 3, ERN (En) 00242874.
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started to report to Doeun by August 1976,'**? and by November 1976 NON Suon had

been arrested and taken to §-21.12%

405. In October 1976, the Commerce Committee stopped reporting to Doeun.'>* At
some point thereafter, VAN Rith became chairman of the Commerce Committee
(Minister of Commerce), a post he held until the end of the DK period.1235 Doeun was

arrested in February 1977.12%

406. Although he never served as Minister of Commerce, surviving documents
demonstrate that KHIEU Samphan had an important role in relation to the DK
economy, presumably in his admitted capacity as the member of Office 870
responsible for commerce.'?>” In October 1976, the Commerce Committee began to
report to KHIEU Samphan instead of Doeun.'?*® Documents addressed or copied to
KHIEU Samphan included reports of discussions with foreign trade delegations and

1239

other communications relating to international trade; “ reports on the quantities of

rice sent to the state warehouses by the various Zones, and on the export of rice and

1232 commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Doeun, E3/2036, 21 August 1976; Commerce
Committee Report addressed to Bang Doeun, E3/2037, 28 August 1976; Commerce Committee Report
addressed to Brother Doeun, E3/3568, 7 September 1976, Commerce Committee Report addressed to
Bang Doeun, E3/2038, 30 September 1976. See also, T. 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), pp. 9-10.
1233 'S 71 Confession — CHEY Suon, E190.1.14, 17-20 November 1976.

1234 coe Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, fin. 1238.

1235 T 12 June 2013 (SIM Hao), p. 68; T. 31 May 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), p. 15; T. 14 August 2012
(SUONG Sikoeun), p. 102; YIN Eng Interview Record, E3/473, 5 March 2008, p. 4, ERN (En)
00223342 ; SUON Ri DC-Cam Interview, E3/4624, 2 February 2003, p. 32, ERN (En) 00699081 ; PET
Na DC-Cam Interview, E3/5647, 20 October 2004, p. 10, ERN (En) 00640145. A number of
Commerce Committee Reports bear VAN Rith’s signature. See e.g. Commerce Committee Report
concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/2507, 31 October 1977; Commerce Committee Report
concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/2527, 22 January 1978; Commerce Committee Report
concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/2510, 21 May 1978; Commerce Committee Letter to the
Embassy of Yugoslavia, E3/1640, 15 July 1978; Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140
million Yuan credit, E3/319, 4 November 1978.

1236 600 Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 392, fn. 1195.

1237 See Section 8: Roles and Functions — Khieu Samphan, para. 391.

1238 ¢, Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Doeun, E3/2038, 30 September 1976 (last
report to “Respected and Beloved Brother Doeun”); Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang
Hem, E3/2040, 29 October 1976 (first report to “Respected and Beloved Brother Hem”).

123 See e.g. Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/2040, 29 October 1976;
Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/304, 9 November 1976; Commerce
Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/1616, 18 October 1977; Commerce Committee Report
addressed to Brother Hem, E3/3510, 22 February 1977; Commerce Committee Letter to the Embassy
of Yugoslavia, E3/1640, 15 July 1978.
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other goods;1240 purchase requests from various Ministries and lists of materials
imported from China;'**! reports on the use of a line of credit extended to DK by
China;1242 and messages to, from or between FORTRA and Ren Fung.1243 The
Commerce Committee frequently sought instructions and comments from KHIEU
Samphan.l244 Reports were often copied, but not specifically addressed, to VORN
Vet, whose name generally came after KHIEU Samphan’s in the lists of recipients.l245
Very few reports were sent or copied to VORN Vet alone.'**® KHIEU Samphan

continued to receive reports and letters on trade matters after VORN Vet’s arrest.'2"’

407. KHIEU Samphan visited the state warehouses with VAN Rith, where he

inspected products destined for export and encouraged the workers to be careful and

1290 Goe e.g. Commerce Committee Report, E3/3511, 8 March 1977; DK Document: Import Statistics
(from January to September) and Export Statistics in 1978 (from January to September), E3/2059,
undated; Commerce Committee Export Statistics, E3/3533, 1978.

1241 See e.g. List of Purchase Requests, E3/3516, February 1978; Commerce Committee Report: List of
Materials Imported from China via Sieng San Vessel, E3/3413, 20 May 1977; Commerce Committee
List of Materials Imported, E3/3518, 11 May 1978; Commerce Committee List of Materials Imported,
E3/3528, 26 August 1978; Commerce Committee List of Materials Imported, E3/3534, 29 December
1978.

1292 Soe e.g. Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/325, 15
August 1977; Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/329, 4
January 1978; Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/311, 21
May 1978; Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/317, 2
September 1978; Commerce Committee Report concerning use of 140 million Yuan credit, E3/319, 4
November 1978.

1243 See e.g. Commerce Committee Letter addressed to comrade Sokh, E3/324, 31 July 1977,
FORTRA Letter, E3/2525, 9 June 1978; FORTRA Letter, E3/2521, 23 November 1978; FORTRA
Letter, E3/2520, 7 December 1978.

1244 See e.g. Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/1615, 27 September 1977, p. 2,
ERN (En) 00234312; Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/3514, 1 December
1977, ERN (En) 00634426, 00634427; Commerce Committee Report, E3/3455, 24 January 1978;
Commerce Committee Letter addressed to Bang Hem, E3/334, 3 February 1978, p. 1, ERN (En)
00647721; Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/3461, 28 April 1978, ERN (En)
00711450; Commerce Committee Report concerning an order of spare parts from Yugoslavia,
E3/1637, 12 November 1978, ERN (En) 00711513. See also, T. 4 June 2012 (SAR Kimlomouth), pp.
10-12 (confirming that VAN Rith could not make certain decisions, and had to defer to VORN Vet and
KHIEU Samphan).

1245 See e.g. Commerce Committee Report addressed to Bang Hem, E3/2054, 1 March 1977;
Commerce Committee Report: List of Materials Imported from China via Sieng San Vessel, E3/3413,
20 May 1977; Commerce Committee Report, E3/1613, 12 August 1977; Commerce Committee Report
addressed to Bang Hem, E3/327, 31 October 1977; Commerce Committee List of Purchase Requests,
E3/3516, February 1978; Report of Importation Committee to Commerce Committee, E3/3460, 25
February 1978; Commerce Committee Report on the state of commercial regulations between
Kampuchea and China, E3/3566, 3 July 1978; Commerce Committee List of Materials Imported,
E3/4548, 26 November 1978.

124 See e.g. Commerce Committee Report addressed to Committee 51, E3/3453, 6 December 1976.
1247 S0 ¢.g. Commerce Committee Minutes, E3/829, 3 December 1978; FORTRA Letter, E3/2520, 7
December 1978.
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attentive.'”*® By his own admission, he had responsibility for the distribution of goods
to the Zones.'?* Witnesses KHIEV Neou and SAO Sarun recalled making requests to
KHIEU Samphan for the delivery of particular goods to their Zones.'*” Witnesses
NORNG Sophang and PHAN Van, both of whom encoded and decoded telegrams,
saw requests for materials sent to, and distribution orders sent by, KHIEU

Samphan. 12351

8.4. Conclusions

408. KHIEU Samphan claimed that his status as an intellectual alienated him from
the inner circle of the CPK.!?*? In truth, however, his roles during the DK period
prove that he had the confidence and trust of the other members of the Party
Centre.'?> He was trusted to attend and participate in meetings of the Central and
Standing Committees, where information was shared and critical decisions were
made. He was trusted to live and work closely with the CPK senior leaders, both prior
to 1975 and subsequently at K-3 and K-1. He was trusted to represent the FUNK, the
GRUNK and the DK regime publically, not only within Cambodia but also on trips

abroad.

409. Despite holding an array of titles, the evidence suggests that KHIEU
Samphan’s decision-making power was primarily limited to matters of economics and
foreign trade. However, he had a certain amount of broader authority by virtue of his

senior position, as shown by his ability to ensure the safety of some of his family

1248 T 12 June 2013 (SIM Hao), pp. 81-82; T. 25 April 2013 (RUOS Suy), p. 33; RUOS Suy Interview
Record, E3/469, 14 March 2008, p. 7, ERN (En) 00205113; YEN Kuch Interview Record, E3/437, 2
September 2009, pp. 2-3, ERN (En) 00375484-85 .

124 T 27 May 2013 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 83-84; Book by KHIEU S.: Cambodia’s Recent History
and the Reasons Behind the Decisions I Made, E3/18, pp. 142, 154, ERN (En) 00103794, 00103800.
1250 T 21 June 2012 (KHIEV Neou), pp. 48-49; T. 7 June 2012 (SAO Sarun), p. 59; SAO Sarun
Interview Record, E3/367, 17 December 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00278696.

1251 T 29 August 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp. 50-51; T. 3 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), pp.
58-59; T. 5 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p. 49; T. 6 September 2012 (NORNG Sophang), p.
21; T. 14 December 2012 (PHAN Van), pp. 10-11. See also, T. 10 June 2013 (SO Socheat), p. 76
(stating that requests for “goods to be delivered to the base” were also made to KHIEU Samphan by
telephone).

1252113 December 2011 (KHIEU Samphan), pp. 92, 95; T. 12 January 2012 (KHIEU Samphan), p.
67 T. 22 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), p. 58; T. 23 April 2013 (CHHOUK Rin), pp. 80-86 (explaining
that the CPK secretly applied a distinction between the party members and the “FRONT” whose
members were used as diplomats for communications with foreign countries); CHHOUK Rin Interview
Record, E3/362, 29 July 2008, p. 5, ERN (En) 00268897.

1253 T 6 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), pp. 48, 49; T. 8 May 2013 (Philip SHORT), p. 33.
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members in the countryside. Through his attendance of Central and Standing
Committee meetings, his work in Office 870, his supervision of the Commerce
Committee and the content of the speeches he made, he had knowledge of the CPK’s
policies and access to information about the situation in Cambodia generally,
including knowledge of arrests of senior cadres such as KOY Thuon, Doeun and
VORN Vet.
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9. APPLICABLE LAW: CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

9.1. Murder

410. As relevant to Case 002/01, the Closing Order charges the Accused with
murder as a crime against humanity during movement of the population (phase one)

and at Tuol Po Chrey.1254

411. It is undisputed that murder was recognised as a crime against humanity under
customary international law by 1975.1%° Having regard to the development of the
crime after World War II, it was foreseeable to the Accused as members of
Cambodia’s governing authority that they could be charged with murder as a crime
against humanity from 1975. Moreover, the definition of murder as developed by
post-World War II jurisprudence was sufficiently accessible to the Accused at the

relevant time.

412. Jurisprudence clarifying the divergence between the English and French
versions of relevant contemporaneous materials has established that it is murder
(“meurtre”) and not premeditated murder (“assassinat”) which constitutes the

1256

underlying offence of a crime against humanity. ~° The elements of the crime of

murder are:

125 Closing Order, paras 1373, 1375, 1377, 1379-1380; See also, Annex: List of paragraphs and
portions of the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, as amended by the Trial Chamber’s Decision on
IENG Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include
Additional Crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3, p. 2.

1255 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 331. See also, Article 6(c) of the Nuremberg Charter
(annexed to the 1945 Agreement for the Prosecution and Punishment of the Major War Criminals of
the European Axis) listing murder (or “assassinat” in the French version of the document) as an
underlying offence falling within the definition of crimes against humanity. Murder was also included
in the definition of crimes against humanity in Article II(c) of the 1945 Law No. 10 of the Allied
Control Council, Article 5(c) of the 1946 Tokyo Charter and General Assembly Resolution 95(I)
(affirming the Nuremberg Principles and listing murder as a crime against humanity); See also, ILC
1950 Report, Principle VI(c) (affirming murder as an offence recognised within general international
law (or ‘assassinat’ in the French version of the document)) and Nuremberg Judgement, pp. 291-293,
301 (convicting the Accused Kaltenbrunner and Frick of the crime against humanity of, amongst
others, murder); See also,, Medical Judgement, pp. 198, 207, 240-241, 248, 263, 271, 290 (convicting,
under Control Council Law No. 10, the Accused Karl Brandt, Handloser, Rudolf Brandt, Mrugowsky,
Sievers, Rose and Hoven of crimes against humanity of murder for their role in medical experiments
and the euthanasia program).

1256 gkayesu Trial Judgement, para. 588; Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 216.
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(i) An act or omission of the accused, or of one or more persons for
whose acts or omissions the accused bears criminal responsibility,
that caused the death of the victim; and

(i) The intent of the accused or of the person or persons for whom he is
criminally responsible to either to kill or to cause serious bodily
harm in the reasonable knowledge that the act or omission would
likely lead to death.'*’
413. The elements of murder can be satisfied whether or not it is shown that a
victim’s body has been recovered. The fact of a victim’s death can be inferred
circumstantially from all of the evidence presented. All that is required to be
established from that evidence is that the only reasonable inference is that the victim
is dead as a result of acts or omissions of the accused or of one or more persons for

whom the accused is criminally re:sponsible.1258

9.2. Extermination

414. As relevant to Case 002/01, the Closing Order charges the Accused with
extermination as a crime against humanity during movement of the population
(phases one and two) and at Tuol Po Chrey.'? It alleges that “many people” died as a
result of the conditions imposed during phases one and two of the population
movement, specifically the deprivation of food, accommodation, medical care and

hygiene. 1260

415. Tt is undisputed that extermination was recognised as a crime against humanity
under customary international law by 1975 1281 Accordingly, it was foreseeable to the

Accused as members of Cambodia’s governing authority that they could be charged

1257 K AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, paras 331, 333; Kordi¢ and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para.
37.

1258 g AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 332; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 260.

129 Closing Order, paras 1381, 1387-1389; See also, Annex: List of paragraphs and portions of the
Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, as amended by the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG
Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional
Crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3, p. 2.

1260 Closing Order, para. 1387 (referring also to conditions imposed in security centres).

126! g AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 334. See also, Nuremberg Charter, Article 6(c); Tokyo
Charter, Article 5(c); Control Council Law No. 10, Article II(c); General Assembly Resolution 95(I);
See also, ILC 1950 Report, Principle VI(c) (affirming extermination as an offence recognised within
general international law); Nuremberg Judgement pp. 287-288, 291-293, 295-296, 300-301 (convicting
the Accused Von Ribbentrop, Kaltenbrunner, Rosenberg, Frank and Frick of, inter alia, extermination
as a crime against humanity).
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with extermination as a crime against humanity from 1975, and the definition of the

crime was sufficiently accessible to the Accused at the time of the alleged crimes.

416. The actus reus (guilty act) of extermination consists of an act, omission or
combination of each that results in the death of persons on a massive scale.'?%? There
is no minimum number of victims required to establish extermination.'”®> The
requirement of scale is to be assessed on a case-by-case basis, having regard to such
factors as the time and place of the killings, the selection of the victims and the
manner in which they were targeted, and whether the killings were aimed at the
collective group rather than victims in their individual capacity.® The perpetrator’s

1265

role may be remote or indirect, > and may include creating conditions of life aimed

at destroying part of a population, such as withholding food or medicine.'?%

417. The mens rea (criminal intent to commit an act) of extermination consists of

the intent:

(1) to kill persons on a massive scale; or

(2) to inflict serious bodily injury or create conditions of living that
lead to death, in the reasonable knowledge that such act or
omission is likely to cause the death of a large number of persons
(dolus eventualis).'?*’

While the mens rea for the crime of extermination has not been consistently defined
in the jurisprudence of the ICTY and ICTR, appeal jurisprudence from these tribunals
has seemingly evolved to exclude dolus eventualis from the definition of the mens rea

for extermination.'?®® The Chamber considers that there was no reasoned basis for a

1262 K AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 334; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 189.

1263 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 336; Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 260. The
submission by the NUON Chea Defence that that the victims “must be a numerically significant group”
is dismissed to the extent that it suggests that there must be a minimum number of victims. See NUON
Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, para. 215. The submission
by the IENG Sary Defence that “one or a limited number of killings do not constitute extermination”
need not be addressed as the scenario does not arise on the facts of this case. See Annex A: IENG
Sary’s Submission on Applicable Law in Case 002/01, E163/5/10.2, 18 January 2013, para. 16.

1264 K AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 336; Luki¢ and Luki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 538.

1265 KAING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 335; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 189.

1266 g 4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 335; Brdanin Trial Judgement, para. 389; Krsti¢ Trial
Judgement, para. 498.

1267 g AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 338; Krsti¢ Trial Judgement, para. 495.

1268 See e.g. Luki¢ and Luki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 536 (using the phrase “would lead”);
Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 522 (“would inevitably lead”).
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departure from the original approach taken in the Krsti¢ Trial Judgement, which

encompassed dolus eventualis and was based on a review of pre-1975 jurisprudence.

418. The NUON Chea Defence makes two submissions with respect to the mens rea
requirement of extermination. First, relying on the Vasiljevi¢c Trial Judgment, it
submits that customary international law in 1975 required that the Accused knew that
his action was part of ‘a vast murderous enterprise’ in which a large number of
persons were marked for killing. In the alternative, relying on the Bagosora Trial
Judgement, it submits that the proper mens rea standard is that the Accused intend to
kill persons on a massive scale, or to systematically subject a large number of people
to conditions of living that would lead to their deaths in a widespread or systematic

manner (emphasis added).'*®®

419. The Chamber notes that the Staki¢ Appeals Judgement rejected ‘knowledge of
a vast scheme of collective murder’ as a requirement for the mens rea of
extermination, finding there was no support for the alleged element in the
jurisprudence of that Tribunal.'?”® As to whether such knowledge was an element
under customary international law in 1975, a review of the Vasiljevi¢ Trial Judgement
reveals that that Chamber concluded that such a requirement existed based on the
Eichmann judgment and the Nuremberg convictions of Defendants Sauckel and
Fritzsche.'”’! To the extent that the Nuremberg tribunals set out the respective
defendants’ knowledge of the schemes in which they were involved, the Chamber is
not satisfied that those statements established a heightened mens rea requirement
rather than simply reflecting the facts of each case.'”’” The Chamber accordingly

rejects this submission.

1269 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 216-219.
1270 Staki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 258.

210 pasiljevié Trial Judgement, paras 224, 228 (fn. 588).

1272 Nuremberg Judgement, Vol. I, pp. 287 (finding Von Ribbentrop’s “diplomatic efforts were so
closely connected with war that he could not have remained unaware of the aggressive nature of
Hitler's actions.”), 293 (finding that Kaltenbrunner, as head of the RSHA, was informed of the RSHA’s
activities in scouring the occupied territories and various Axis satellites arranging for the deportation of
Jews to these extermination institutions), 295 (Rosenberg had knowledge of the brutal treatment and
terror to which the Eastern people were subjected... He had knowledge of and took an active part in
stripping the Eastern Territories of raw materials and foodstuffs”), 298 (finding “Frank was a willing
and knowing participant” in the broader programs i.e. the use of terrorism, the economic exploitation of
Poland which led to the death by starvation of a large number of people, and the deportation to
Germany of over a million Poles as slave laborers), 301 (finding that, as the Supreme Reich Authority

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public /“:/ f// 214



01005882

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

420. In its altermative submission, the NUON Chea Defence relies upon the
Bagosora Trial Judgement holding that “[t]he mens rea of extermination requires that
the accused intend to kill persons on a massive scale or to subject a large number of
people to conditions of living that would lead to their deaths in a widespread or
systematic manner.”'*” In effect, this submission seeks to reflect the contextual
elements of all crimes against humanity (which must be committed as part of a
widespread or systematic attack) within the definition of the underlying crime of
extermination. International jurisprudence clearly does not require this additional

mens rea element for extermination. Accordingly, this submission is dismissed.

421. The IENG Sary Defence submitted that there is a further element to the actus
reus of extermination, that the victims “must have been subjected to conditions
inevitably leading to death.”'?" In the relevant portion of the Ntakirutimana Appeal
Judgement, upon which the IENG Sary Defence relied, the ICTR Appeals Chamber

found:

[Tlhe crime of extermination requires proof that the Accused

participated in a widespread or systematic killing or in subjecting a

widespread number of people or systematically subjecting a number

of people to conditions of living that would inevitably lead to death,

and that the Accused intended by his acts or omissions this result."”’”*
422. While this appeal judgement clearly identifies a requirement that living
conditions “inevitably lead to death”, the Trial Chamber notes that causation was not
at issue in the case and the Ntakirutimana Appeals Chamber did not directly address

this element of this offence in its reasoning, nor did it set out a source for this

in Bohemia and Moravia, “Frick knew full well what the Nazi policies of occupation were in Europe,
particularly with respect to Jews”), 319 (finding that Von Schirach participated in deporting Jews from
Vienna after he became Gauleiter of Vienna and “knew that the best the Jews could hope for was a
miserable existence in the ghettos of the East. Bulletins describing the Jewish extermination were in his
office.”), 320-321 (as Plenipotentiary General for the Utilization of Labor, Sauckel had over-all
responsibility of the forced labour program and knew of the ruthless methods and bad conditions
involved in its implementation), 339-340 (Bormann was extremely active in the persecution of the
Jews, took part in the discussions which led to the removal of 60,000 Jews from Vienna to Poland and
signed a decree declaring that the permanent elimination of Jews in Greater German territory could
only be solved by applying “ruthless force” and an ordinance withdrawing Jews from the protection of
the law courts and placing them under the exclusive jurisdiction of Himmler's Gestapo).

123 Bagosora Trial Judgement, para. 2191 (emphasis added).

1274 Annex A: IENG Sary’s Submission on Applicable Law in Case 002/01, 18 January 2013,
E163/5/10.2, para. 16 (original emphasis).

125 Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 522 (emphasis added).
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standard.'”’® Similarly, while judgements in other cases subsequently adopted the
Ntakirutimana definition of the actus reus of extermination, none of these cases

turned on or even discussed the “inevitability” standard.'*"’

423. Several subsequent Appeals Chamber judgements from the ad hoc Tribunals,
while relying on the Staki¢ and Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgements, have since defined

the actus reus of extermination simply as the act of killing on a large scale.'*”

424. In the Chamber’s view, the “inevitability” standard articulated by the
Ntakirutimana Appeals Chamber with respect to the actus reus of extermination

appears unsupported. The Trial Chamber consequently rejects this submission by the
IENG Sary Defence.

9.3. Persecution on Political Grounds

425. As relevant to Case 002/01, the Closing Order charges the Accused with
political persecution as a crime against humanity during movement of the population
(phases one and two) and at Tuol Po Chrey. It alleges that the CPK authorities,
including the Accused, identified several groups as “enemies” based on their real or
perceived political beliefs or political opposition to those wielding power within the

CPK, and subjected them to various discriminatory policies.1279

426. The Supreme Court Chamber has affirmed the Trial Chamber’s finding that

persecution existed as a crime against humanity under customary international law by

1278 Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, paras 512-521.

1277 Sraki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 259 (concerning whether knowledge of a “vast scheme of
collective murder” is required for extermination); Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 86 (concerning
whether the Trial Chamber had applied the correct mens rea requirement in finding that the actions of
the Appellant revealed his “intention to participate in a large scale massacre in Nyarubuye.”); Marti¢
Trial Judgement, para. 62 (setting out the applicable law of extermination); Kanyarukiga Trial
Judgement, para. 658 (setting out the applicable law of extermination); Rukundo Trial Judgement, para.
586 (setting out the applicable law of extermination); Gatete Trial Judgement, para. 636 (setting out the
applicable law of extermination).

278 1uki¢ and Luki¢ Appeal Judgement, para. 536; Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement,
?ara. 394; Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para. 185.

29 (Closing Order, paras 1415-1418, 1423-1425; See also, Annex: List of paragraphs and portions of
the Closing Order relevant to Case 002/01, as amended by the Trial Chamber’s Decision on IENG
Thirith’s Fitness to Stand Trial (E138) and Decision on Co-Prosecutors’ Request to Include Additional
Crime Sites within the Scope of Trial in Case 002/01 (E163), E124/7.3, p. 2.
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1975.12% Having regard to the development of the crime after World War II, it was
foreseeable to the Accused as members of Cambodia’s governing authority that they
could be charged with persecution as a crime against humanity from 1975. Moreover,
the definition of persecution as developed by post-World War II jurisprudence was

sufficiently accessible to the Accused at the relevant time.
427. The Supreme Court Chamber has affirmed the definition of persecution:

(i) an act or omission which [...] discriminates in fact and which
denies or infringes upon a fundamental right laid down in
international customary or treaty law;'**' and

(i) deliberate perpetration of an act or omission with the intent to
discriminate on political, racial or religious grounds. 22

428. With respect to the discriminatory element of the actus reus, the Supreme
Court Chamber has held that ‘discrimination in fact’ occurs where a victim is targeted

because of the victim’s membership in a group defined by the perpetrator on specific

1283

grounds, namely on a political, racial or religious basis, “~ and the victim belongs to a

sufficiently discernible political, racial or religious group,'2%

1285

such that requisite

persecutory consequences must occur for the group.

429. With regard to mens rea, while the specific intent may not be inferred merely
by reference to the general discriminatory nature of an attack, it may be inferred from
such a context as long as, in view of the facts of the case, circumstances surrounding
the commission of the alleged acts substantiate the existence of such intent.
Circumstances which may be taken into consideration include the systematic nature of
the crimes committed against a group and the general attitude of the alleged

perpetrator as demonstrated by his behaviour.'*

1280 g 4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 374; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 225,
280 (further noting that this offence was both foreseeable and accessible to the Accused KAING Guek
Eav as a member of Cambodia’s governing authority by 1975).

1281 g 4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 376; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 257,
261-262, 271-278.

1282 g 4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 379; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 236-
240.

1283 ¥ {ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 377; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 272.

1284 g 4ING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, paras 274, 277.

1285 g AING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 377; KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, para. 276.

1286 g 4ING Guek Eav Trial Judgement, para. 380; Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, para. 184.

Case 002/01, Judgement, 7 August 2014 - Public /t’:/ ﬂ/ 217



01005885

Case File No. 002/19-09-2007/ECCC/TC
E313

430. The NUON Chea Defence submits that, contrary to the view advanced by the
Supreme Court Chamber in the KAING Guek Eav Appeal Judgement, the definition of
‘political group’ requires that individuals hold political views or be members of a
political group or party.1287 The Chamber notes that individuals who hold political
views or are members of a political group or party are the most obvious examples of
persons who may be the victims of political persecution.1238 However, while some

1289 other

international jurisprudence has construed ‘political grounds’ narrowly,
jurisprudence has found that political persecution occurred where discrimination has
been effected pursuant to political motivations or a political agenda against a group
which itself may not hold any political views.'?®® Consequently, the Chamber rejects
the narrow interpretation of ‘political groups’ put forward by the NUON Chea

Defence.

1287 NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, paras 223-225.
While the NUON Chea submission refers to paras 215-225 of the KAING Guek Eav Appeal
Judgement, the Chamber considers that it in fact intended to refer to para. 272.

1288 Goe Simié et al. Trial Judgement, para. 685; Naleteli¢ and Martinovi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 681;
Bagosora Trial Judgment, paras 2178, 2212; Hategikimana Trial Judgement, para. 711; Hategikimana
Ag)peal Judgement, para. 63. See also, Blaski¢ Trial Judgement, para. 235.

1289 Krnojelac Trial Judgement, para. 454; Semanza Trial Judgement, para. 471. However, contrary to
the submissions of the NUON Chea Defence, the Nahimana Trial Chamber does not expressly state
that Hutu moderates could not constitute a ‘political group’: NUON Chea’s Closing Submissions in
Case 002/01, E295/6/3, 26 September 2013, para. 224.

129 Soe Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 456 (in obiter, held that if the motivation for the
persecution of non-Serbs was based on the fact they supported secession, the alleged acts would be
based on political grounds and would suffice to support persecution); Tadi¢ Trial Judgement, para. 714
(found that the accused committed a range of acts against non-Serbs with the intent of furthering the
establishment of a Greater Serbia and that he shared t